
 

1 

 

 

810 Mission Avenue 

Oceanside, CA 92054 

 

(760) 966-6500 

 

(760) 967-2001 (fax) 

GoNCTD.com 

 

Agenda 
 

Thursday, June 26, 2025 
 

Regular Meeting: 2:00 P.M. 
 

Location: NCTD Administrative Offices,  
810 Mission Avenue, Oceanside, CA 92054 

 
View Live Stream at: 

https://www.youtube.com/GoNCTD 
 
 
MISSION 
North County Transit District’s mission is to operate an environmentally sustainable 
and fiscally responsible transit network that provides seamless mobility for all while 
achieving organizational and operational excellence. 
 
VISION 
North County Transit District envisions a comprehensive transit and mobility system 
that connects all North County San Diego residents and visitors to a healthy, 
economically vibrant, and thriving region. 
 
For individuals with disabilities, NCTD will provide assistive services. To obtain such 
services or copies of documents in an alternate format, please call or write, a 
minimum of 72 hours prior to the event, to request these needed reasonable 
modifications. NCTD will make every attempt to accommodate requests that do not 
give 72-hour notice.  Please contact the Clerk of the Board at (760) 966-6696 or 
clerk@nctd.org.  
 
For individuals with sensory disabilities, this document is available in alternate 
formats. For information, please contact the Clerk of the Board at 760/966-6696 or 
clerk@nctd.org. Persons with hearing impairment, please use the California Relay 
Service (CRS): 800/735-2929 TTY; 800/735-2922 voice; 800/855-3000 Spanish. 
CRS Customer Service:  877/632-9095 English or 877/419-8440 Spanish. 
 
Agenda materials can be made available in alternative languages upon request. To 
make a request, please call (760) 966-6696 or email clerk@nctd.org at least 72 hours 
in advance of the meeting.  
 
Los materiales de la agenda de NCTD están disponibles en otros idiomas. Para 
hacer una solicitud, llame al (760) 966-6696 o por correo electrónico a 
clerk@nctd.org al menos 72 horas antes de la reunión. 

REVISED

https://www.youtube.com/GoNCTD
mailto:clerk@nctd.org
mailto:clerk@nctd.org
mailto:clerk@nctd.org
mailto:clerk@nctd.org


 

2 

 
Any writings or documents provided to a majority of the members of the NCTD Board 
of Directors regarding any item on this agenda will be made available for public 
inspection at the office of the Clerk of the Board located at 810 Mission Avenue, 
Oceanside, CA 92054, during normal business hours. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
IN-PERSON PARTICIPATION AT THE BOARD MEETINGS: All persons wishing to 
address the Board of Directors during the meeting can do so in-person. Speakers 
must complete a “Request to Speak” form provided before entering the Board Room 
at NCTD, 810 Mission Avenue, Oceanside, CA. The completed form must be given 
to the Clerk of the Board before that agenda item is called. Members of the public 
may also submit their comments via email at publiccomment@nctd.org. All 
comments received prior to the start of the Board or Committee meeting will be 
provided to the Board/Committee and made available for public inspection on the 
NCTD website at: https://gonctd.com/about-nctd/board-information/ prior to the 
meeting and included in the record of the Board/Committee Meeting.  
 
VIRTUAL PARTICIPATION AT THE BOARD MEETINGS: Pursuant to Government 
Code section 54953, NCTD is providing alternatives to in-person attendance for 
viewing and participating in NCTD Board and/or Committee meetings.  
 
Zoom Participation: 
Members of the public may view or participate in the meeting through Zoom from a 
PC, MAC, iPad, iPhone, or Android device, at the following URL: 
https://nctd.zoom.us/j/82846871954?pwd=ePwWP5oOePYu8jLGGr4qBW7AVaTH9h.1  
Passcode: 507406 
 
Phone Participation: 
To join the meeting by phone, dial 669-900-6833 
Webinar ID: 828 4687 1954 
Passcode: 507406 
 
If you would like to speak on an agenda item via Zoom during the meeting, you must 
email the Clerk of the Board at clerk@nctd.org. Please provide the Clerk your name 
and item number you wish to comment on. If you plan on calling into the Zoom 
meeting rather than videoconferencing, you must also provide the telephone number 
you will be using. You must be logged on to the Zoom meeting by phone or online to 
speak. When it is your turn to comment, the Clerk of the Board will call you by name 
or phone number. Members of the public may register with the Clerk of the Board to 
speak on an agenda item until the public comment period for that item is closed. 
 
The public may also provide oral comments on agenda items by calling (760) 966-
6560. When prompted, the caller should identify the agenda item they wish to speak 
about and leave a message not to exceed three minutes. All telephonic comments 
received prior to the start of the Board or Committee meeting will be provided to the 
Board/Committee prior to the meeting and made available for public inspection on 
the NCTD website at: https://gonctd.com/about-nctd/board-information/.  
 

mailto:publiccomment@nctd.org
https://gonctd.com/about-nctd/board-information/
https://nctd.zoom.us/j/82846871954?pwd=ePwWP5oOePYu8jLGGr4qBW7AVaTH9h.1
mailto:clerk@nctd.org
https://gonctd.com/about-nctd/board-information/


 

3 

REGULAR MEETING BEGINNING AT 2:00 PM 

• CALL TO ORDER 

• ROLL CALL OF BOARD MEMBERS 

• PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

• SAFETY BRIEF & EVACUATION PROCEDURES – Suheil Rodriguez, Director of 
Administration/Clerk of the Board 

• CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 

• PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 

There is a time limit of 15 minutes for this section of Public Communications and each speaker is limited to 
three minutes for their presentation. 

All written and/or telephonic comments received by 5:00 p.m. the day before the meeting will be 
shared with the Board of Directors and made available for public inspection prior to the meeting. 
Written and/or telephonic comments may not be read aloud or played for the Board of Directors 
during the meeting. All telephonic and written comments will be made part of the record. 

A.  MINUTES 
 Approve Minutes for NCTD’s Regular Board Meeting of May 15, 2025 

(Suheil Rodriguez, Director of Administration/Clerk of the Board) 

B.  CONSENT ITEMS 1 – 13 

Items reviewed and recommended for approval by the Executive Committee (EXEC), Marketing, Service 
Planning and Business Development Committee (MSPBD), Performance, Administration and Finance 
Committee (PAF), Staff (S), or Board (B) 

All matters listed under CONSENT are considered by the Board to be routine and will be enacted by one motion. 
There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Board votes on the motion, unless 
members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, or the public, request specific items to be discussed and/or 
removed from the Consent Calendar for separate action. A request from the public to discuss an item must be 
filed with the Clerk of the Board on the “Request to Speak” form before that agenda item is called. 

ITEMS PULLED FROM CONSENT WILL BE MOVED TO THE END OF THE AGENDA 

1.  Receive the Monthly Intergovernmental Affairs Report (S) (Attachments 1A – 1C) 
(Mary Dover, Chief of Staff) 

2.  Receive the Monthly Transit Operations Performance Report for April 2025 (S)  
(Attachment 2A) 
(Katie Persons, Director of Service Planning) 

3.  Receive the Marketing, Service Planning and Business Development Committee Report for the 
Meeting held on June 11, 2025 (MSPBD) (Attachments 3A and 3B) 
(Mary Dover, Chief of Staff) 

4.  Receive the Unaudited Quarterly Investment Report for the Third Quarter of FY2025 (S) 
(Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer) 

5.  Receive the Unaudited Quarterly Financial Report for the Third Quarter of FY2025 (S) 
(Attachment 5A) 
(Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer) 

6.  Receive the Quarterly Safety Report for the Third Quarter of FY2025 (S) (Attachment 6A) 
(Lori A. Winfree, Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief General Counsel) 



 

4 

7.  Receive the Quarterly Security Report for the Third Quarter of FY2025 (S) (Attachment 7A) 
(Lilia Montoya, Chief Operating Officer) 

8.  Receive the Quarterly Customer Experience Report for the Third Quarter of FY2025 (S) 
(Attachment 8A) 
(Alicia Peat-Watson, Director of Customer Experience) 

9.  Receive the Quarterly Report of Contract Actions Under the Chief Executive Officer’s Authority 
for the Third Quarter of FY2025 (S) (Attachment 9A) 
(Alex Denis, Chief Operating Officer) 

10.  Receive the Quarterly Report of Ratification of Contract Items for the Bus Transition for the Third 
Quarter of FY2025 (S) (Attachment 10A) 
(Alex Denis, Chief Operating Officer) 

11.  Approve the Memorandum of Understanding Between NCTD and Palomar College Concerning 
the Accelerate Clean Public Transit Program (S) (Attachment 11A) 
(Nick Sofoul, Director of Strategic Planning) 

12.  Authorize the Chief Executive Officer to Finalize and Execute an Employment and Training 
Agreement with The Arc of San Diego for Interior Vehicle Detailing Services and Job Coaching 
Support (S) (Attachment 12A) 
(Joy Freeman, Chief People Officer) 

13.  Adopt Resolution No. 25-04 Approving Revisions to Board Policy No. 24 – Drug and Alcohol 
Program (S) (Attachments 13A and 13B) 
(Joy Freeman, Chief People Officer) 

D.  OTHER BUSINESS ITEMS 14 AND 15 

14.  Conduct Public Hearing and Adopt the FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026-2030 Capital 
Improvement Plan and Related Documents and Approve the FY2026-FY2030 Service 
Implementation Plan (Attachments 14A – 14G) 
(Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer) 

15.  Set Public Hearing and Authorize Staff to Receive Public Comment for the Proposed Elimination 
of BREEZE Route 323 (Attachment 15A) 
(Katie Persons, Director of Service Planning) 

• CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

• BOARD MEMBER REPORTS, COMMENTS, AND CORRESPONDENCE 

• REMAINING PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 

➢ For any remaining speakers who have completed a “Request to Speak” form. 

• ADJOURNMENT 

➢ CERTIFICATIONS AND RULES (FOR BOARD AND PUBLIC INFORMATION) 

➢ Posting of Board Agenda (Page 6) 

➢ Rules for Public Speakers at meetings of the North County Transit District (Page 7) 

➢ Quorum and Voting Information (Page 8) 

 

Upcoming Meetings: 

• Regular Board Meeting: Thursday, July 17, 2025 at 2:00 p.m.  

 



 

5 

 

 

MAP OF NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT OFFICES 

 

The NCTD Board Chambers is located at NCTD Administrative Offices, 
810 Mission Avenue, Oceanside, CA 92054 and is accessible by the 
COASTER (NCTD Commuter Rail), SPRINTER (NCTD Hybrid Rail), and 
the BREEZE (NCTD Bus). 

Please log onto www.goNCTD.com to check our current routes and 
schedules, or call 1-800-COMMUTE. 

 
 



 

6 

 

 

 

June 18, 2025 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

North County Transit District Board Members 

Suheil Rodriguez, Clerk of the Board 

POSTING OF REGULAR BOARD AGENDA 

In Compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act, as Amended, the following 
information is provided. 
 
The Agenda for this Regular meeting of the Board was posted as 
follows: 

 
Regular Meeting: 

Posted At: 

Posted Online At: 

Date & Time of Posting: 

Posted By: 

June 26, 2025 at 2:00 p.m. 

810 Mission Avenue, Oceanside, CA 

www.goNCTD.com  

June 18, 2025 by 5:00 p.m. 

Suheil Rodriguez, Clerk of the Board 

 

  



 

7 

 

 
Rules for Public Speakers at Meetings of the North County Transit District 
 
Per Board policy, all public communications at meetings of the North County Transit District shall 
be made and received in accordance with the following procedures:  
 

1. COMMENTS FOR MATTERS NOT ON AGENDA 
 

A. Total time limit for telephonic comments: 

• Beginning of meeting: 15 minutes 

• End of meeting: No time limit. 

B. Time limit per speaker per meeting: Three minutes, with no donation of time allowed. 

C. Priority: First come, first served. Speakers who registered to speak with the Clerk will be 
able to address the Board of Directors in the order they were received. 

D. Order on agenda: Comments for matters not on the agenda will be heard at the beginning 
of the meeting and if the time limit stated in Paragraph A is exhausted, comments that 
were unable to be heard due to time limit stated above, will be heard at the end of the 
meeting under “Remaining Public Communications.” 

 

2. TIME LIMITS FOR ADDRESSING MATTERS ON THE AGENDA 
 

A. Total time limit: None. 

B. Time limit per speaker: Three minutes, with one donation of three minutes, for a maximum 
of six minutes. 

C. These rules apply to both public hearing and non-public hearing items listed on the 
agenda. 

D. Comments made not germane to the subject matter of the agenda item being considered 
are out of order. 
 

3. CUTOFF FOR TURNING IN SPEAKER SLIPS 
 

A. Members of the public may register with the Clerk to speak on an agenda item up until 
the public comment period is closed. 
 

4. MODIFICATION OF RULES BY CHAIR 
 

A. The Board Chair may, in his or her absolute discretion, relax the requirements of these 
rules. However, a decision of the Chair to do so in one instance shall not be deemed a 
waiver of the rules as to any other instance or matter. 

  



 

8 

 

 
 

 
Quorum and Voting 
 
Pursuant to Public Utilities Code § 125102, a majority of the Board members eligible to vote shall 
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business and all official acts of the Board shall require 
the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Board eligible to vote; however, after a 
vote of the members is taken, a weighted vote may be called by any two members eligible to 
vote. 
 
In the case of a weighted vote, the County of San Diego and each city (with exception of the City 
of San Diego), shall, in total, exercise 100 votes to be apportioned annually based on population. 
Approval under the weighted vote procedure requires the vote of the representatives of not less 
than three jurisdictions representing not less than 51 percent of the total weighted vote to 
supersede the original action of the Board.  When a weighted vote is taken on any item that 
requires more than a majority vote of the Board members eligible to vote, it shall also require the 
supermajority percentage of the weighted vote. County population: The population of the County 
of San Diego shall be the population in the unincorporated area of the county within the area of 
jurisdiction of the Board pursuant to Public Utilities Code § 125052. 
 
Jurisdiction 2023 Estimate Percentage Vote 

Carlsbad 115,045 12.1% 12 

Del Mar 3,918 0.4% 1 

Encinitas 61,254 6.4% 6 

Escondido 150,571 15.8% 16 

Oceanside 172,186 18.1% 18 

San Marcos 94,823 10.0% 10 

San Diego County 240,653 25.3% 25 

Solana Beach 12,831 1.3% 1 

Vista 100,113 10.5% 11 

Total 951,394 100.0% 100 

Source: 2023 Estimate via SANDAG Open Data Portal – Updated November 2024 

 

 
 

 



 
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT BOARD OF DIRECTORS HELD ON MAY 15, 2025 

 

 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Board Chair Priya Bhat-Patel called the Regular Meeting to order at 2:00 p.m.  
 
ROLL CALL OF BOARD MEMBERS 
 

1. Priya Bhat-Patel (City of Carlsbad) 

2. Mike Sannella (City of San Marcos) 

3. Tracy Martinez (City of Del Mar) – arrived at 2:12 p.m. 

4. Jim O’Hara (City of Encinitas) - Absent 

5. Joe Garcia (City of Escondido)  

6. Eric Joyce (City of Oceanside) 

7. Jim Desmond (County of San Diego) - Absent 

8. Jewel Edson (City of Solana Beach)  

9. Corinna Contreras (City of Vista)  

10. Madison Coleman (City of San Diego) – Board Alternate, arrived at 2:01 p.m. 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 
 
Board Member Martinez led the Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag.  
 
SAFETY BRIEF AND EVACUATION PROCEDURES 
 
Suheil Rodriguez, Clerk of the Board, reviewed emergency evacuation procedures. 
 
CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
 
None 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Chris Kolek, Carlsbad, spoke regarding the Board discussing Transit Orientated Development 
(TOD) at a future meeting. He believes the cities of Oceanside and Carlsbad would benefit from 
a TOD and future improvements at their respective stations.  
 
  



 
Page 2 of 5 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE MARCH 20, 2025 REGULAR BOARD MEETING  
 
ON THE MOTION OF BOARD VICE-CHAIR SANNELLA TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE 
MARCH 20, 2025 REGULAR BOARD MEETING, SECONDED BY BOARD MEMBER EDSON. 
 
AYES: BHAT-PATEL, SANNELLA, MARTINEZ, GARCIA, JOYCE, EDSON, 

CONTRERAS 

NOES: NONE 

ABSENT: DESMOND, O’HARA 

ABSTAIN: NONE  

MOTION PASSES. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE APRIL 17, 2025 SPECIAL BOARD MEETING  
 
ON THE MOTION OF BOARD MEMBER JOYCE TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE APRIL 
17, 2025 SPECIAL BOARD MEETING, SECONDED BY BOARD MEMBER EDSON. 
 
AYES: BHAT-PATEL, SANNELLA, MARTINEZ, GARCIA, JOYCE, EDSON, 

CONTRERAS 

NOES: NONE 

ABSENT: DESMOND, O’HARA 

ABSTAIN: NONE  

MOTION PASSES. 
 
APPROVAL OF CONSENT ITEMS 1 – 7  
 

1. Receive the Monthly Intergovernmental Affairs Report 
2. Receive the Monthly Transit Operations Performance Report for February and March 2025  

3. Receive the Marketing, Service Planning, and Business Development Committee Report  

4. Approve Supplemental Agreement No. 05 to Agreement No. 20015 with Swiftly, Inc. for 
Ridership Analytics and Automatic Passenger Counter Certification Services  

5. Authorize the Chief Executive Officer to Execute Change Order No. 01 to Agreement No. 
25013 with Vincor Construction, Inc. for the General Administration Office Building Third 
Floor Improvements  

6. Approve the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan for Bus and the Combined Public 
Transportation Agency Safety Plan/System Safety Plan for COASTER and SPRINTER 
Services 

7. Adopt Resolution No. 25-03 Authorizing the Execution of the Certifications, Assurances, and 
Authorized Agent Forms for the Low Carbon Transit Operations Program for the Purchase 
of Zero Emission Hydrogen Replacement Buses 

 

 
  



 
Page 3 of 5 

ON THE MOTION OF BOARD MEMBER CONTRERAS TO APPROVE CONSENT ITEMS 1 – 
7, SECONDED BY BOARD MEMBER EDSON. 
 
AYES: BHAT-PATEL, SANNELLA, MARTINEZ, GARCIA, JOYCE, EDSON, 

CONTRERAS 

NOES: NONE 

ABSENT: DESMOND, O’HARA 

ABSTAIN: NONE  

MOTION PASSES. 
 
INFORMATION ITEM 8 
 
8. Receive an Update Regarding the Development of the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget 

and FY2026-2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 
 
Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer, and Mary Dover, Chief of Staff, presented an overview 
of the development of the FY2026 Operating Budget that will be considered for adoption by the 
Board in June 2025.  
 
Board Member Contreras commented that she would like to see connectivity improvements 
between Vista Transit Center and Downtown Vista.  
 
Board Member Edson asked about funds for the Youth Opportunity Pass. CEO Donaghy 
responded that NCTD is looking for a long-term revenue solution for the continuation of this 
program. She further asked about the budget line item for the paratransit service taxi services. 
CEO Donaghy responded that NCTD’s Bus Operations team is looking to see what can be 
absorbed by its current paratransit employees but there may still be a need for contracted 
same-day paratransit service. Board Member Edson also asked what is considered non-
transportation costs. Park-Lynch responded that NCTD receives credits for using 100% 
renewable natural gas (CNG). However, as the District transitions to hydrogen fuel, it will lose 
those credits. The District also receives revenue for investment income, totaling $2 million in 
FY2025.   
 
Vice-Chair Sannella asked about the $9 million difference in the budget compared to last year’s 
budget. Park-Lynch responded that NCTD will be using prior year’s capital reserve funding as 
opposed to local dollars to cover the match needed for NCTD’s CIP. She further commented 
that although using capital reserve funding is acceptable for this year’s budget NCTD may face 
future financial challenges if it doesn’t find operating dollars to sustain operations. Vice-Chair 
Sannella encouraged NCTD staff to have a future Board workshop to discuss any potential 
impacts that NCTD may encounter if service is reduced due to limited funding availability and 
how to maximize available funding to serve its riding public.  
 
Board Member Martinez asked if NCTD has sufficient capital reserve funding to cover the 
needs of the District. Park-Lynch responded affirmatively. 
 
Board Alternate Coleman asked if NCTD is obligated to have a minimum level of reserves 
available. Park-Lynch responded that the current Board Policy states that NCTD must keep a 



 
Page 4 of 5 

minimum of $15 million as reserves or have sustainable cash to maintain up to six months of 
operations; NCTD is meeting this requirement.  
 
Board Member Joyce asked if the projections for passenger fares for FY2026 are on track per 
the budget. Park-Lynch responded that the projections are on track and added that partnerships 
with local universities and colleges will allow for NCTD to receive reimbursements for students 
that take public transit, which will increase passenger fare revenue in the coming years. 
 
Board Chair Bhat-Patel asked how the budget will be impacted due to impending state and 
federal budget cuts. Park-Lynch responded that aside from NCTD’s conservative approach, any 
funding that is derived from SANDAG or the Federal Transit Administration is projected to be 
received based on their assumptions. Chair Bhat-Patel further asked how the Board can help 
NCTD advocate for more funding. Ms. Dover responded that NCTD will visit the capitol to speak 
to the state Legislature regarding transportation funding availability. Her and CEO Donaghy will 
also visit the nation’s capital to talk about the federal surface transportation reauthorization bill, 
specifically how federal dollars can be used for safety and security purposes. A fact sheet is 
being drafted to provide talking points for the Board Members to lobby for NCTD. She also 
invited Board Members to be present when NCTD meets with their respective city’s 
jurisdictional representatives.  
 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
 
CEO Donaghy provided the Board with the following updates:  
 

• Fare Study workshop and Transit Oriented Development Project items will be added to the 
Board agenda for discussion in the coming months.  

• His visit to Sacramento was productive and was an opportunity to discuss how state 
policies may impact NCTD. Future visit to DC will allow NCTD to speak to federal 
legislators regarding how federal policies may impact local funding. 

• Caltrans discussions continue regarding SPRINTER long-term plans.  

• The FTA Triennial Review is complete and NCTD achieved a perfect score. He stated that 
less than 7% of transit agencies nationally have zero findings during an FTA review. He 
thanked staff for their hard work during the entire process.  

 
BOARD MEMBER REPORTS, COMMENTS, AND CORRESPONDENCE 
 

Board Member Edson mentioned that Metrolink will complete the rehabilitation project in San 
Clemente by June 10, 2025. She also invited all to attend the Solana Beach Fiesta del Sol Festival 
at Fletcher Cove Park on May 31 and June 1, easily reached by taking the COASTER. 
 
Board Member Joyce asked when the NCTD+ app will be available in Spanish. Katie Persons, 
Director of Service Planning, responded that the user’s phone native language setting must be 
set to Spanish in order for the app to be available in Spanish. He also added that El Camino High 
School students will be presenting an ethnic studies project regarding bus safety. The students 
were able to ride the bus and use their Youth Opportunity Passes. NCTD is invited to see their 
presentation and findings on Monday, May 19th from 8:30 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 
 
Board Member Garcia asked why a bus that was labeled “Not in Service” but was full of 
passengers. CEO Donaghy mentioned that this happens when Dispatch designates a bus as 
“drop-off” mode only when it is at full capacity.  



 
Page 5 of 5 

 
Board Chair Bhat-Patel mentioned that she attended a meeting with NCTD and the City of 
Carlsbad constituents regarding safety at at-grade crossings. CEO Donaghy stated he is always 
delighted to speak to members of the public regarding safety matters in their communities. 
Additionally, Board Chair Bhat-Patel thanked NCTD staff on their social media presence, the 
highlights to employees and raising awareness on different groups in our communities.  
 

REMAINING PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS 
 
None 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Board Chair Bhat-Patel adjourned the meeting at 3:03 p.m. Submitted by Suheil Rodriguez, Clerk 
of the Board, for the North County Transit District. 
 

 
 

_______________________ 
BOARD CHAIR 
North County Transit District 

 

 
CERTIFICATION 
 

I, Suheil Rodriguez, duly appointed and qualified, Clerk of the Board of the North County Transit 
District, do hereby certify that the above is a true and correct copy of the Minutes of the Regular 
Board Meeting held on May 15, 2025 approved by the Board of Directors of the North County 
Transit District adopted at a legally convened meeting of the Board of Directors of the North 
County Transit District held on June 26, 2025. 
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
CLERK OF THE BOARD 
North County Transit District 

 
For individuals with sensory disabilities, this document is available in alternate formats. For information, please 
contact the Clerk of the Board at 760/966-6553. For persons with hearing impairment, please use the California 
Relay Service (CRS): 800/855-7100 TTY; 800/855-7100 voice; 800/855-7200 Spanish. CRS Customer Service: 
877/546-7414 or 800-867-4323 TTY. 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-001 

 

Agenda  
Item # 

1 

 

RECEIVE THE MONTHLY INTERGOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS REPORT  
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Monthly Intergovernmental Affairs Report for May 2025. 

 
BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

 

Attached are the Monthly Intergovernmental Affairs Reports for May as well as the 
Status of Tracked Legislation Report for May 2025 (Attachments A, B, and C) 
submitted by Holland & Knight and Townsend Public Affairs. The monthly reports 
provide updates on federal and state legislative activity impacting the North County 
Transit District (NCTD). Highlights of the May reports include: 
 
Legislative Activity and Updates – Federal: 
 
Federal Budget Update – On May 30, President Trump released his Fiscal Year 
(FY) 2026 Budget request. The request includes $21.2 billion for public transit and 
$16.5 billion for passenger rail in FY2026 when combined with advance 
appropriations in the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA). For passenger 
and freight rail, the Budget provides $7.2 billion for Federal-State Partnership for 
Intercity Passenger Rail grants, $1.5 billion for Consolidated Rail Infrastructure and 
Safety Improvements (CRISI) grants, and $600 million for Railroad Crossing 
Elimination (RCE) grants. The President’s budget also proposes new policy 
provisions for these grant programs. For CRISI, the President proposes to expand 
eligibility for trespassing prevention projects to any State, county, municipal, local 
and regional law enforcement agency, and waive the maximum Federal share for 
these projects. The proposal also would eliminate the preference for projects that 
maximize benefits (pursuant to a cost-benefit analysis) for certain CRISI-eligible 
projects. For the RCE grant program, the President’s Budget proposes to expand 
applicant eligibility to nonprofit organizations. The President’s Budget also requests 
$2.5 billion for the Department of Transportation’s Better Utilizing Investments to 
Leverage Development (BUILD) and Mega competitive grant programs. 
 
House Passes Budget Reconciliation Bill – On May 22, the House passed the 
“One Big Beautiful Bill Act” budget reconciliation package. The transportation 
portions of this package include $21 billion to the Coast Guard for drug and 
immigration enforcement and $12.5 billion to the Federal Aviation Administration 
for air traffic control improvements. The bill rescinds unobligated funds from the 
Neighborhood Access and Equity, Environmental Review Implementation, and 
Low-Carbon Transportation Materials grant programs. The measure also includes 
a $250 annual fee on zero emissions personal vehicles and $100 fee on 
hybrids.  Proceeds from these fees would be deposited in the Highway Trust Fund. 
However, the proposal does not include an allocation specified to the Mass Transit 
Account of the fund, which supports public transportation projects.   
 
Bus Discretionary Grants Notice of Funding Opportunity – The Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) released the FY 2025 Notice of Funding Opportunity (NOFO) 
for the Low or No Emissions program (Low-No) and the Bus and Bus Facilities 
program. The total funding under the NOFO is $1.5 billion, with $398 million for the 
Bus and Bus Facilities program and the remainder for the Low-No program. NCTD 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-001 

will apply to both grant programs to request federal funding for new compressed 
natural gas (CNG) buses to replace existing CNG buses nearing the end of their 
useful life. Applications are due July 14, 2025. The FTA expects to announce grant 
awards in the fall. 
 
Legislative Activity and Updates – State: 
 
State Budget Update – Governor Newsom released his updated budget proposal, 
or May Revise, which seeks to address an estimated $12 billion deficit in the 2025-
26 budget year. To manage the deficit, the Governor’s proposal suggests a 
combination of fund shifts, borrowing, reserve spending, and cost reductions. The 
May Revise also proposes a 15-year extension of the state’s cap-and-trade 
program, which expires in 2030. The Governor’s proposal would rename the 
program “Cap-and-Invest” and create annual funding commitments from the 
Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund (GGRF) of $1 billion and $1.5 billion to the 
California High Speed Rail Authority and the California Department of Forestry and 
Fire Protection (CalFire), respectively. The proposal shifts funding away from 
existing funding commitments to public transportation agencies through the Transit 
and Intercity Rail Capital program (TIRCP), Low Carbon Transit Operations 
Program (LCTOP), and through SB 125 formula distributions. These three 
programs represent a significant source of capital and operations funding for 
NCTD. If the Legislature passes the budget as the Governor has outlined, NCTD 
would lose nearly $200 million in funding for the San Dieguito Double Track project, 
the Eastbrook to Shell Double Track project, additional stabilization for the Del Mar 
Bluffs, and other capital and operating expenses. The Legislature must finalize the 
budget before the June 15 constitutional deadline. 
 
Appropriations Committees Suspense File Hearings – On May 23, the 
Assembly and Senate Appropriations Committees held Suspense File hearings to 
evaluate proposed bills with fiscal implications. Bills that advance from these 
hearings are sent to the floor in their house of origin for final consideration. In total, 
there were 1,098 bills in the Suspense Files between both Committees; 742 passed 
to their House Floors, with 356 measures held in committee. Bills notable to NCTD 
that advanced from the Assembly and Senate Appropriations Committees include: 
 

• SB 71 (Wiener) would make permanent the statutory CEQA exemption for 
certain public transportation and active transportation projects and expand 
this exemption to include bus shelter and lighting, microtransit, paratransit, 
shuttle ferry, transit comprehensive operational analyses, and transit 
infrastructure maintenance. SB 71 passed the Senate floor on June 3, 
2025. 

• SB 79 (Wiener) would streamline approval of certain housing 
developments located near transit-oriented development (TOD) stops. This 
bill received amendments in the Appropriations Committee that removed 
proposed changes to the Surplus Land Act, eliminated provisions that 
would have allowed housing projects on “qualified light industrial sights,” 
clarified standards for residential developments, and added a severability 
clause to the bill. SB 79 passed the Senate on June 3, 2025. 

• AB 394 (Wilson) expands the existing crime of battery against a 
transportation official to include acts against additional types of transit 
workers and makes changes to the scope and enforcement of temporary 
restraining orders (TROs) sought due to violence against transit workers. 
AB 394 passed the Assembly floor on June 2, 2025. 

 
 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-001 

Grant Activity 
 
Below is an overview of successful grant awards in Calendar Year (CY) 2024, as 
well as successful and pending awards year-to-date in CY 2025. NCTD was the 
lead applicant for these grant applications, except where otherwise noted. 
 
 

CY 2024  CY 2025 

Successful Awards 
 

Pending Awards Successful Awards 

San Dieguito Double Track 
Phase 2 (INFRA)  

$53.9 million 

 SPRINTER Infrastructure 
Investment Program (BUILD) 

$3.2 million  

 

Battery Electric Buses 
(Community Project Funding) 

$500,000 

 Bus Network Redesign 
(Caltrans)  
$446,307 

 

San Dieguito Double Track 
Phase 2 (SANDAG – ITIP) 

$62 million 

 
Buena Creek Grade Separation 

(Caltrans) $262,467 

 

SPRINTER Double Tracking – 
East (RAISE) 
$10.2 million 

 Bus Stop Improvements 
(Community Project Funding) 

$715,200 

 

San Dieguito Double Track 
Phase 2 (SB 125) 

$36.4 million 

 SPRINTER Platform and Track 
Design (Community Project 

Funding) 
$1.2 million 

 

Eastbrook to Shell Double 
Track and DMB5 (TIRCP) 

$38.5 million 

 Sorrento Valley Signal 
Modernization (Community 

Project Funding) 
$3,816,000 

 

Gender Action Plan (Caltrans) 
$367,591 

 LOSSAN PTC  
(Community Project Funding) 

$1,880,000 

 

Transit Signal Priority – 303 
(Caltrans) 
$344,521 

 Buena Creek PSR (Community 
Project Funding) 

$240,000 

 

 

Total Successful: 
$202,212,112 

Total Pending: $11,759,974 
 

 
ATTACHMENT: 

 
1A – Federal Monthly Legislative Report (Holland & Knight) – May 2025 
1B – State Monthly Legislative Report (Townsend) – May 2025 
1C – Status of Tracked Legislation Report (Townsend) – May 2025 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

 
This staff report has no fiscal impact. 

 
COMMITTEE 

REVIEW: 

 
None 

 
STAFF CONTACT: 

 
Mary Dover, Chief of Staff  

        E-mail: mdover@nctd.org Phone: 760-967-2895 



 
 

800 17th Street, NW, Suite 1100 | Washington, DC 20006 | T 202-955-3000 | F 202-955-5564 

Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com 

1 

 

ATTACHMENT 1A 

 

Memorandum  

 

Date: June 17, 2025 

 

To: North County Transit District 

From: Holland & Knight LLP 

 

Re: Federal Update – May 2025  

 

This memorandum provides an overview of federal policy developments of importance to the 

North County Transit District, including those related to: 

• NCTD Leadership Visits Washington, D.C. 

• House Passes “One Big, Beautiful Bill” Act; Sends Reconciliation Package to Senate 

• Senate Committees Release Reconciliation Bill Text 

• House Appropriations Leadership Sets Summer Schedule for Appropriations Markups  

• FY26 DOT Budget Request  

• FTA Releases Nearly $1.5 Billion in Grant Funding to Support Buses and Transit 

Operations; Includes New Considerations Aligned with Administration’s Priorities   

 

NCTD Leadership Visits Washington, D.C. 

• During the week of May 19, NCTD CEO Shawn M. Donaghy and Chief of Staff Mary 

Dover visited Washington, D.C., for the annual American Public Transportation 

Association (APTA) legislative conference. During the visit, NCTD conducted meetings 

with members of the Trump Administration and the federal delegation to update them on 

NCTD’s priorities and other federal matters. 

• NCTD met with the following offices/individuals: 

o Department of Transportation – Office of Intergovernmental Affairs 

o Office of Rep. Darrell Issa (R-CA): Mark Este, Senior Policy Advisor 

o Federal Railroad Administration: Michael York, Office of Governmental Affairs 

o House Transportation & Infrastructure Highways and Transit Subcommittee: 

Democratic Staff Director Jackie Schmitz 

o Senate Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs Committee: Homer Carlisle, 

Democratic Professional Staff 

o Office of Sen. Adam Schiff (D-CA): Olivia Oo, Policy Advisor 

o Rep. Mike Levin (D-CA) 

 



 
 

800 17th Street, NW, Suite 1100 | Washington, DC 20006 | T 202-955-3000 | F 202-955-5564 

Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com 

2 

 

 

House Passes “One Big, Beautiful Bill” Act; Sends Reconciliation Package to Senate 

• On May 22, the House passed the “One Big, Beautiful Bill Act” (H.R. 1), the budget 

reconciliation measure to enact President Trump’s domestic policy agenda. The House 

passed the bill by a narrow 215-214 vote.  

 

• The bill includes a permanent extension of many of the tax cuts included in the Tax Cuts 

and Jobs Act (TCJA) of 2017, including over $ 4 trillion in tax cuts, elimination of 

several Inflation Reduction Act (IRA) clean energy tax credits, and investment in 

Opportunity Zones. 

 

• The bill also includes substantial cuts and restrictions to the Medicaid program, including 

new Medicaid work requirements on able-bodied adults and new out-of-pocket costs on 

low-income Medicaid enrollees.  

 

• Despite being suggested as an initial pay-for, the bill does not remove the tax-exempt 

status for municipal bonds, and thereby preserves the ability for local governments to 

finance infrastructure at lower costs. The bill also increases the volume of Low-Income 

Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC) by 12.5 percent and lowers the private activity bond 

financing required to access the credit to 25 percent through calendar year 2029. 

 

• The bill now heads to the Senate for consideration under budget reconciliation measures. 

The Senate is able to consider this bill under the “budget reconciliation” process, wherein 

only a simple majority is required for passage rather than the normal 60-vote majority.  

 

Senate Committees Release Reconciliation Bill Text 

 

• Last week, Senate committees began to release their portions of the reconciliation bill, 

where they outlined new domestic spending cuts and funding increases for border 

security and immigration enforcement. The Senate Finance Committee released its much-

awaited bill text for its tax and safety net portion of the Senate’s reconciliation bill on 

June 16, which includes changes to the nation’s tax code as well as critical safety net 

programs. The bill would raise the federal debt ceiling by $5 trillion.  

 

• Key divisions remain relating to the scope and inclusion of the State and Local Tax 

(SALT) deduction cap, energy tax credit elimination/phaseout, and Medicaid cuts. 

Additionally, each provision in the Senate’s bill will need to undergo the “Byrd Bath,” 

where the Senate Parliamentarian will scrutinize all aspects of the bill to determine 

whether they have a budgetary impact and whether portions could be removed or altered 

to comply with Senate rules. 

 

House Appropriations Leadership Sets Summer Schedule for Appropriations Markups  

https://www.congress.gov/119/bills/hr1/BILLS-119hr1rh.pdf


 
 

800 17th Street, NW, Suite 1100 | Washington, DC 20006 | T 202-955-3000 | F 202-955-5564 

Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com 

3 

 

• On May 21, House Appropriations Committee Chair Tom Cole (R-OK) released the 

committee’s schedule to mark up all 12 Fiscal Year (FY) 2026 appropriations bills and 

advance them to the House floor. Chair Cole has stated that he intends for the House 

Appropriations Committee to mark-up all 12 bills before the August congressional recess.  

 

• Below is the House Appropriations committee’s markup schedule:  

Appropriations Bill Subcommittee Markup  Full Committee Markup 

Agriculture-FDA Thursday, June 5th  Wednesday, June 11th 

Commerce-Justice-Science Monday, July 14th  Thursday, July 17th 

Defense Tuesday, June 10th Friday, June 13th 

Energy and Water  Monday, July 7th  Thursday, July 10th  

Financial Services and 

General Government  

Monday, June 23rd Thursday, June 26th 

Homeland Security  Monday, June 9th Thursday, June 12th  

Interior-Environment  Monday, June 23rd Thursday, June 26th  

Labor, Health and Human 

Services, and Education  

Monday, July 21st  Thursday, July 24th  

Legislative Branch  Tuesday, June 24th  Friday, June 27th 

Military Construction-VA  Thursday, June 5th  Tuesday, June 10th 

National Security-Department 

of State  

Tuesday, June 24th Friday, June 27th  

Transportation-HUD Monday, July 7th  Thursday, July 10th 

 

FY26 DOT Budget Request  

• President Trump’s FY26 budget request for the Department of Transportation (DOT) 

requests a total of $111.3 billion in funding. This request, combined with $35.8 billion in 

advance appropriations from the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), results in a $147.1 

billion request to Congress – approximately a 1.6 percent increase compared to FY25.  

 

• The request proposes to rescind almost $5.7 billion in National Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure (NEVI) funding included in BIL – specifically including FY26 funding and 

unobligated balances from prior years – to build out electric vehicle (EV) charging 

stations nationwide.  

 

https://www.transportation.gov/sites/dot.gov/files/2025-05/DOT_FY_2026_Budget_Highlights_508c.pdf


 
 

800 17th Street, NW, Suite 1100 | Washington, DC 20006 | T 202-955-3000 | F 202-955-5564 

Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com 

4 

 

• The request calls for an additional $770 million for the Infrastructure for Rebuilding 

America Program (INFRA), in addition to $1.5 billion in advance appropriations from 

BIL.  

 

• DOT’s request also includes the following:  

o Federal Highway Administration (FHWA): $72.6 billion ($64.1 billion + $8.2 

billion in advance appropriations)  

▪ Railroad Grade Crossing Improvement Program: $245 million  

▪ Bridge Investment Program: $700 million  

o Federal Transit Administration (FTA): $21.2 billion ($16.9 billion + $4.2 billion 

in advance appropriations) 

▪ Transit Infrastructure Grants (formula funding): $14.6 billion  

▪ Capital Investment Grants (CIG): $2.2 billion (when combined with $1.6 

billion from BIL, the total sums to $3.8 billion) 

▪ Buses and Bus Facilities: $1.2 billion (When combined with $1.1 billion 

in advanced appropriations, the total sums to $2.3 billion) 

▪ $3.9 billion for State of Good Repair - $300 million set-aside for Rail 

Vehicle Replacement Competitive Grant Program 

o Federal Railroad Administration: $16.4 billion ($3.2 billion + $13.2 billion in 

advance appropriations) 

▪ Consolidated Rail Infrastructure and Safety Improvements (CRISI): $500 

million (when combined with $1 billion from BIL, the total sums to $1.5 

billion) 

▪ Amtrak: $1.6 billion for the Amtrak national network 

▪ The budget does not call for new funding for the Railroad Crossing 

Elimination Grant Program, as it cites the $600 million in advanced 

appropriations from BIL for FY26 

 

FTA Releases Nearly $1.5 Billion in Grant Funding to Support Buses and Transit Operations; 

Includes New Considerations Aligned with Administration’s Priorities   

• On May 14, FTA announced $1.5 billion in available funding for the FY25 Buses and 

Bus Facilities and Low-or-No Emission Grant Programs. The Buses and Bus Facilities 

program provides funding to assist with replacing, purchasing, or leasing buses, bus-

related equipment, or bus facilities. The Low-or-No Emission Grant Program provides 

funding for purchasing or leasing zero-emission and low-emission transit buses and the 

acquisition, construction, and leasing of related facilities.  

 



 
 

800 17th Street, NW, Suite 1100 | Washington, DC 20006 | T 202-955-3000 | F 202-955-5564 

Holland & Knight LLP | www.hklaw.com 

5 

 

• This round of funding includes new, additional considerations in the review and selection 

process that align with multiple Trump Administration priorities, including:  

o Location of projects in Opportunity Zones and how they will impact the area;  

o Commitment for vehicle projects to strengthen the U.S. vehicle manufacturing 

industry through advance or progress payments; and 

o Ability of projects to improve access to transportation for families with young 

children and improved access to jobs, healthcare facilities, recreational activities, 

and commercial activity.  

 

• All applications are due by July 14, 2025. For more information, please refer to the Buses 

and Bus Facilities and Low-and-No Emission grant funding opportunities posted to 

Grants.gov.  

 

https://grants.gov/search-results-detail/358956
https://grants.gov/search-results-detail/358956
https://grants.gov/search-results-detail/358957


1 
 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
To:  North County Transit District Board of Directors 
  Mary Dover, Chief of Staff 
 
From:  Townsend Public Affairs 
  Casey Elliott, Vice President 
  Spencer Street, Senior Associate 
 
Date:  June 4, 2025 
 
Subject: May 2025 Legislative Monthly Report  

 
STATE UPDATES 

 
The month of May was marked by key statutory deadlines for both the State Budget and the 
Legislature. On May 14, Governor Newsom released the 2025-26 May Revision to his January 
budget proposal, reflecting updated revenue projections influenced by tax returns, inflation, and 
federal monetary policy. These adjustments may lead to additional spending cuts or the 
restoration of previously reduced programs. 
 
Meanwhile, the Legislature faced two major deadlines: the Appropriations Committees’ Suspense 
File hearings and the House of Origin deadline. On May 23, both Appropriations Committees 
considered hundreds of bills with fiscal impacts, using the Suspense File process to determine 
which measures would advance. Bills may be held for various reasons, including duplicative 
proposals, shifting author priorities, or political or fiscal infeasibility, especially in light of the state’s 
projected budget deficit. 
 
Looking ahead, both houses are scheduled for daily floor sessions only during the first week of 
June, as they work to pass the remaining bills by the June 6 House of Origin deadline. 
 
Below is an overview of pertinent state actions from the month of May. 
 
STATE BUDGET 
 
On May 14, Governor Newsom provided a presentation overview of the state’s updated budget 
proposal. The May Revision, or “May Revise,” is an update to the January budget proposal that 
reflects new revenue projections, economic trends, caseload updates, and evolving policy 
priorities. The May Revise provides the Governor with an opportunity to modify funding proposals 
and strategies ahead of final budget negotiations with the Legislature. By law, the Legislature 
must pass and send to the Governor a balanced budget by June 15. The 2025 May Revise 
responds to significant fiscal pressures and broader macroeconomic uncertainty, particularly in 
light of federal policy developments and inflationary pressures affecting state program costs. 
 
With a combination of fund shifts, borrowing, reserve spending, and cost reductions, the May 
Revise mitigates a purported $12 billion deficit in the 2025-26 budget year, while the Department 
of Finance forecasts annual shortfalls of $14 billion in 2026-27, $19 billion in 2027-28, and $13 

ATTACHMENT 1B



2 
 

billion in 2028-29. The Health and Human Services piece of the budget saw the largest cost 
reductions across Medi-Cal premiums and eligibility, long-term care benefits, payments to health 
centers and rural health clinics, and In-Home Supportive Services, among others. The May 
Revise also proposes a 15-year extension (to 2045) of the state’s cap-and-trade program, to be 
redubbed Cap-and-Invest, with a dedicated $1 billion annual commitment to the High-Speed Rail 
project, and a shift in funds from the Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund for CAL FIRE operations. 
 
While the May Revise does not propose new large-scale housing funding, the Governor signaled 
support for the housing and infrastructure bond considered by the Legislature for placement on 
the November 2026 ballot. To streamline housing production, the Governor emphasized reducing 
permitting delays and stronger accountability for local jurisdictions, even suggesting that future 
budget trailer language could build upon CEQA and permit streamlining efforts already underway 
this session. On the homelessness front, the May Revise includes limited new funding for 
homelessness programs, but reiterates the Administration’s focus on accountability and 
performance outcomes. The revised budget proposal does not include a renewed round of the 
Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention program, which typically provides $1 billion in 
flexible funding to local governments to address homelessness. The future of this program is likely 
to be hashed out through negotiations with the Legislature. A full summary of the May Revise can 
be found here.  
 
Following the release of the May Revise, the Legislature will undertake intensive hearings and 
negotiations to finalize the state budget by the constitutional deadline of June 15.  
 
Cap-and-Trade Auction Revenue Declines Amid Market Uncertainty 
 
California’s cap-and-trade program, a key tool in the state’s climate strategy, is facing growing 
fiscal and policy pressures. The latest joint auction with Québec, held on May 21, generated 
approximately $595 million for California’s Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund (GGRF), marking a 
significant drop from the $851 million raised in February and well below the $1.1 billion brought in 
during the same auction last year. 
 
The auction sold 43.9 million current vintage allowances at a settlement price of $25.87, just 
above the program’s price floor, while 6.8 million future vintage allowances (usable in 2028) 
cleared at $26.15. The reduced revenue and lower prices are widely viewed as signs of market 
uncertainty, driven by questions surrounding the long-term direction of the program. 
 
Prior to the auction, Governor Gavin Newsom proposed extending the cap-and-trade program 
through 2045 to help stabilize the market and secure ongoing funding for major climate initiatives, 
including the state’s High-Speed Rail project. However, legislative negotiations remain in 
progress, and a lack of near-term clarity has continued to dampen investor confidence. The lower 
than anticipated auction revenues dampen stakeholders’ hopes for a stable investment in key 
programs. As a part of the Governor’s May Revision, he proposes a dedicated $1 billion annually 
to the High-Speed Rail from the GGRF as opposed to the historical 25% of the fund.  
 
Additionally, in April 2025 President Trump issued an executive order directing legal challenges 
to state-level climate programs such as California’s. While state officials argue the order lacks 
enforceability, it has contributed to the cautious outlook among stakeholders. 
 
With the state facing a projected $12 billion budget deficit, the decline in auction revenue 
heightens pressure on lawmakers to solidify the program’s future and protect the state’s broader 
climate investments. 

https://ebudget.ca.gov/2025-26/pdf/Revised/BudgetSummary/FullBudgetSummary.pdf


3 
 

 
STATE LEGISLATURE  
 
Appropriations Committees Consider the Fate of Hundreds of Bills  
 
On May 23, the Assembly and Senate Appropriations Committees held their respective Suspense 
File hearings to evaluate legislation from their house of origin with fiscal implications. This process 
serves as a “fiscal filter” for active bills before they are sent to the floor for final consideration. 
Typically, any bill with a fiscal impact drawing on state budget resources is placed on the fiscal 
committee’s “Suspense File.”  
 
The Suspense File is essentially an accumulation of bills that have passed through their policy 
committee process to assess their fiscal impact to ensure their draw on state resources isn’t 
unbudgeted or duplicative of existing efforts. Pursuant to statutory deadlines, fiscal committees 
must pass these bills by May 23, before they are passed onto their first house floor for 
consideration by the entire legislative body by June 6. 
 
Suspense File hearings are known for their brisk pace, with Committee Chairs announcing the 
outcomes of hundreds of bills in rapid succession. Traditionally, the first suspense hearings of a 
legislative session happen in May, when lawmakers and their staff have a better idea of the budget 
picture for that year. Given the recent budget projections of an increasing budget deficit, 
lawmakers exercised prudence in moving forward bills with big price tags.  
 
Of the 666 bills considered during the Assembly Appropriations Committee’s Suspense File 
hearing, 435 passed, and 231 were held and deemed inactive for the remainder of the Session. 
Similarly, the Senate Appropriations Committee’s Suspense File Agenda featured 432 total bills 
307 of which were passed, and 114 were held and deemed inactive, and 11 became “2-Year” 
measures.  
 
In total, there were 1,098 bills in the Suspense Files between both Committees; 742 passed to 
their House Floors, with 356 measures held in committee, for a 32.4% hold rate.  
 
Notably, many of the bills passed onto the floor received significant amendments, which were 
published the following week. The outcomes of priority bills are outlined in the attached report, 
organized by issue area.  
 
Senate Bill 79 (Wiener) Latest Amendments Released 
 
In May, significant amendments were made to SB 79 (Wiener), which proposes to streamline the 
approval of certain housing developments located near transit-oriented development (TOD) 
stops. The bill would require qualifying housing projects on residential, mixed-use, or commercial 
sites to be allowed by right if they meet specified criteria. It also establishes height and density 
standards based on proximity to TOD stops and presumes that local denial of eligible projects in 
high-resource areas violates the Housing Accountability Act. Additionally, qualifying 
developments would be eligible for streamlined ministerial approval. 
 
Key Amendments Include: 
 

• Revising the definition of “urban transit county” to mean a county with more than 15 rail 
stations, instead of 15 or more. 

• Adding a severability clause. 

https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202520260SB79


4 
 

• Removing proposed changes to the Surplus Land Act, thereby reverting that section to 
current law. 

• Eliminating provisions that would have made housing projects within one-half mile of a 
TOD stop allowable on “qualified light industrial sites.” 

o As a result, the definition of “qualified light industrial site” was removed, along with 
related provisions that would have allowed local ordinances or plans to exempt 
such sites from the bill’s requirements. 

• Clarifying standards for residential developments located more than one-quarter mile but 
within one-half mile of a Tier 3 TOD stop: 

o In urban transit counties, such developments may be built up to 45 feet high or up 
to the local height limit, whichever is greater. 

o In non-urban transit counties, developments may be built up to the local height 
limit. 

 
SB 79 (Wiener) is currently pending consideration on the Senate Floor.   
 
Assembly Bill 379 Moves Forward Following Policy Debate and Bipartisan Support 

The State Capitol saw an intense debate in early May over AB 379 (Krell), a measure focused on 
strengthening California’s laws against the commercial sexual exploitation of minors. The 
measure, introduced by Assembly Member Maggy Krell (D-Sacramento), a former sex crimes 
prosecutor, initially proposed making the purchase of sex from 16- and 17-year-olds a felony 
offense. The bill sparked a public policy debate between Assembly Members Krell and Nick 
Schultz (D-Burbank), both freshmen legislators and former prosecutors with experience handling 
trafficking cases. 

When the bill was first heard in the Assembly Public Safety Committee, chaired by Assembly 
Member Schultz, certain provisions, including the felony enhancement, were removed, consistent 
with the committee’s prior approach to similar issues. However, following negotiations, a 
compromise was reached: the revised bill grants prosecutors and judges’ discretion to charge a 
felony if the purchaser is more than three years older than the minor.  

Assembly Member Stephanie Nguyen (D-Elk Grove) joined Schultz as a joint author of the 
amended measure. Although Krell was briefly removed as the author, she has since rejoined as 
a co-author, signaling renewed alignment among supporters. 

AB 379 passed the Assembly with unanimous bipartisan support on May 15 (74-0) and is now 
advancing in the Senate. The bill was referred to the Senate Public Safety Committee and is 
scheduled for a hearing on June 10. 
 
Proposition 1 Funding Update  
 
The California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) has announced a significant new 
funding opportunity through the Behavioral Health Continuum Infrastructure Program (BHCIP) as 
part of Proposition 1, approved by voters in March 2024. This next phase—Round 2: Unmet 
Needs—makes more than $800 million available in competitive grants to support the development 
of behavioral health facilities across the state.  
 
Funded through the Behavioral Health Infrastructure Bond Act of 2024, this round of BHCIP aims 
to close critical gaps in California’s behavioral health care system. The funding will support the 
construction, acquisition, or rehabilitation of facilities that expand access to mental health and 



5 
 

substance use disorder treatment, particularly for underserved and high-need populations. These 
include Medi-Cal beneficiaries, individuals experiencing homelessness, veterans, older adults, 
people with disabilities, and children and youth. 
 
In keeping with the state’s broader priorities, eligible projects must promote equity, support 
community-based alternatives to incarceration or hospitalization, and help individuals receive 
care in the least restrictive and most cost-effective settings. Regional partnerships, public-private 
collaborations, and service models that build new capacity are strongly encouraged. 
 
Who Can Apply? 
 
Eligible applicants include cities, counties, tribal entities, nonprofit organizations, and for-profit 
organizations. Notably, for-profit entities without prior behavioral health experience must apply in 
partnership with an experienced service provider, such as a local government or nonprofit agency. 
All applicants must commit to serving Medi-Cal members and demonstrate project readiness at 
the time of application. 
 
What Types of Facilities Qualify? 
 
The program will fund a range of community-based behavioral health settings, such as: 
• Crisis residential treatment centers 
• Peer respite programs 
• Outpatient and residential substance use disorder treatment facilities 
• Crisis stabilization units 
• Behavioral health urgent care clinics 
• Short-term and long-term psychiatric residential programs 
 
Projects must result in new or expanded capacity; funding will not support renovation of existing 
services or cover cost overruns from prior BHCIP awards. Correctional settings and school-based 
facilities are not eligible. 
 
Match Requirements 
 
Applicants must also contribute a financial match, which varies by organization type: 
• 10% for local governments and nonprofit organizations 
• 25% for for-profit organizations 
• 5% for tribal entities 
 
Cash is the preferred match source, but in-kind property equity or certain pre-development sunk 
costs may be considered with proper documentation.  
 
Timeline and Process 
 
To be eligible, applicants must participate in a mandatory Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) 
process. Registration for PACs opens June 2, 2025, and all consultations must be completed by 
October 1, 2025. Applications are due no later than October 28, 2025, at 5:00 p.m. Pacific Time. 
Award announcements are expected in Spring 2026. Applications will be evaluated on several 
criteria, including alignment with state priorities, demonstrated expansion of behavioral health 
services, financial and operational readiness, and local stakeholder support. Preference will be 
given to projects that serve high-need populations and regions with limited existing behavioral 
health infrastructure. 



6 
 

 
For full application materials, technical assistance resources, and updates, prospective applicants 
should visit the official BHCIP website: https://infrastructure.buildingcalhhs.com. 
 
EXECUTIVE BRANCH 
 
New Local Government Funding: State Invests $56 Million to Expand Local Youth 
Homelessness Programs  
 
On May 23, Governor Newsom announced an additional $56 million in state funding to support 
local efforts aimed at reducing youth homelessness. The funds will be distributed to 52 counties 
to bolster programs that assist young people, particularly those exiting foster care or probation, in 
securing stable housing and accessing supportive services. 
 
The funds will be administered through the Department of Housing and Community Development 
and allocated to three key initiatives: the Transitional Housing Program, Housing Navigation and 
Maintenance Program, and the Transitional Housing Plus Housing Supplement Program. These 
efforts aim to provide stable living environments and individualized support services to help 
vulnerable youth build self-sufficiency and avoid long-term homelessness. This latest funding 
round builds on ongoing state efforts to strengthen local capacity and improve outcomes for at-
risk young adults. 
 
State Officials Challenge Federal Action on Clean Air Policy 
 
On May 22, Governor Gavin Newsom and Attorney General Rob Bonta announced plans to 
challenge a recent U.S. Senate vote aimed at revoking California's longstanding authority to set 
its own vehicle emissions standards under the Clean Air Act. The Senate, in a 51-44 vote, 
approved a measure to nullify the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) waivers that allow 
California to enforce stricter emissions regulations, including its requirement that all new vehicles 
sold be electric by 2035. California’s authority to implement its own emissions standards, granted 
in the 1970s, has played a critical role in the state's efforts to combat air pollution. State officials 
argue that eliminating this authority could pose significant environmental and public health risks, 
especially in areas already burdened by poor air quality.  
 
Although the Senate action has not yet become law and is expected to face legal challenges and 
a potential presidential veto, it marks a notable escalation in federal resistance to state-led clean 
transportation policies. 
 
If the effort to revoke or limit EPA waiver authority succeeds, it would: 
 

• Invalidate the waiver needed for the private and drayage fleet portions of the ACF 
regulation; 

• Prevent California from requiring manufacturers to sell ZEV trucks; and 
• Potentially stall or unwind similar regulations in other states that follow California’s lead.  

 
Public fleets remain subject to ACF regardless of the waiver status. Because local agencies are 
governed directly by state law, the state retains the authority to require public fleets — cities, 
counties, special districts, and state departments — to transition to zero-emission vehicles under 
the ACF timeline. 
 
Local governments should expect the following: 

https://infrastructure.buildingcalhhs.com/
https://www.gov.ca.gov/2025/05/23/state-sends-more-money-to-local-governments-governor-newsom-funds-additional-56-million-to-reduce-youth-homelessness/
https://www.gov.ca.gov/2025/05/23/state-sends-more-money-to-local-governments-governor-newsom-funds-additional-56-million-to-reduce-youth-homelessness/
https://www.gov.ca.gov/2025/05/22/make-america-smoggy-again-governor-newsom-responds-to-illegal-senate-vote-aiming-to-undo-states-clean-air-policies/


7 
 

• Continued compliance obligations under the public fleet provisions of ACF (e.g., 50% ZEV 
procurement in 2024; 100% by 2027); 

• Ongoing reporting, procurement planning, and grant-seeking responsibilities; and 
• Potential reprioritization of state incentives and support programs if private sector 

enforcement is delayed due to federal actions.  
 
At the same time, local agencies may face: 
 

• Supply chain impacts if manufacturer ZEV sales obligations are halted;  
• Shifting market dynamics that could increase costs or delay the availability of compliant 

fleet vehicles; and  
• Uncertainty for joint procurement efforts with private sector partners or regional 

collaboratives.  
 
While the recent Senate vote introduces uncertainty regarding the future of California’s zero-
emission truck regulations for the private sector, local government fleets remain subject to the 
ACF regulation and are still expected to comply. TPA Advocates will continue to monitor 
developments and provide updates as the situation evolves. With the Governor and Attorney 
General initiating legal action in response to the potential revocation of the state’s federal 
waivers, the matter is now expected to proceed through the courts. 
  
Governor Newsom Issues Model Ordinance and Executive Order on Homeless 
Encampments 
 
Following the U.S. Supreme Court’s recent Grants Pass v. Johnson decision affirming that 
jurisdictions may regulate encampments when adequate shelter is available, Governor Newsom 
issued Executive Order N-1-24, directing state agencies to adopt and encourage humane, 
enforceable protocols for addressing encampments on public property. In response, the state has 
released a model ordinance that offers a flexible framework for cities and counties to manage 
encampments while ensuring access to shelter and services. 
 
The model ordinance reflects three foundational principles: 
 

1. No criminalization of unsheltered individuals when adequate shelter options are 
unavailable. 

2. Prioritization of shelter and supportive services in all enforcement actions, with respect for 
the dignity and property of those affected. 

3. Preservation of local authority to address public health, safety, and accessibility concerns 
in public spaces. 

 
Supporting those principles, the model ordinance would prohibit semi-permanent structures and 
long-term encampment (3+ nights in the same spot or within 200 feet), particularly near sensitive 
areas like schools, sidewalks, and rights-of-way. Notice and outreach are required 48 hours 
before clearing an encampment, and offers of shelter and services must precede enforcement. 
Items of value and personal belongings are required to be stored for at least 60 days, but items 
posing health or safety hazards may be disposed of immediately. 
 
Governor’s 2025 Reorganization Plan Could Reshape State Housing and Homelessness 
Delivery 
 

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__mclist.us7.list-2Dmanage.com_track_click-3Fu-3Dafffa58af0d1d42fee9a20e55-26id-3Daf2941ca3e-26e-3D04fda78f87&d=DwMFaQ&c=euGZstcaTDllvimEN8b7jXrwqOf-v5A_CdpgnVfiiMM&r=k-6T8oeMN0FxecWg26sEKj4B_TpRjTq3il7o0hCl45w&m=QMEjlvVIEc794WAQjeYdnllGApqdsRJun7K3XwErLpe4FOIkQdqyI1b2zCckLiPf&s=A6szTWPsNy16_tzCCFvy9aXY9hgk3d6sIl6If2FlYYM&e=


8 
 

Governor Newsom has proposed a 2025 Reorganization Plan that would significantly restructure 
the state’s housing and homelessness functions by creating a new California Housing and 
Homelessness Agency (CHHA). The plan would consolidate key departments currently under the 
Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency (BCSH)—including HCD, CalHFA, and 
elements of the Civil Rights Department—into CHHA, and establish a new Housing Development 
and Finance Committee to coordinate housing-related funding and asset management statewide. 
 
For local agencies, the reorganization is intended to streamline access to state programs, reduce 
administrative burdens, and improve policy coordination across departments. However, the 
transition could also affect how housing and homelessness resources are administered, 
particularly around grant oversight, compliance, and funding allocations. 
 
The Little Hoover Commission has reviewed the proposal, and formal legislative consideration 
will begin Monday, May 13 at 9:00 AM with a joint hearing of the Assembly Business and 
Professions Committee and the Assembly Housing and Community Development Committee. 
The Legislature has 60 days to review, amend, or reject the plan. If no action is taken, the 
reorganization will take effect automatically. 
 
Local governments are encouraged to track the process closely, engage with their legislative 
delegations, and submit input to ensure that implementation priorities reflect on-the-ground 
realities. More information, including the full plan, is available here.   
 
California Joins Suit Defending Federal Funding 
 
Twenty Attorneys General have filed a lawsuit against the Trump administration, challenging the 
constitutionality of new conditions imposed on federal funding. Led by California and Illinois, but 
filed in federal court in Rhode Island, the suit contends the administration's policy of tying federal 
grants to compliance with specific immigration enforcement measures infringes upon states' rights 
and autonomy. The plaintiff states assert these conditions could lead to significant financial losses 
for states that do not align with the federal government's immigration policies, thereby 
undermining their ability to govern effectively. 
 
At the center of the legal challenge is the administration's requirement that states and localities 
cooperate with federal immigration authorities as a prerequisite for receiving certain federal funds. 
Critics argue this approach forces states to choose between upholding their own policies and 
securing essential funding for programs such as law enforcement, public health, and education. 
The Attorneys General emphasize such conditions disrupt the balance of power between state 
and federal governments, violating principles enshrined in the Constitution. 
 
This lawsuit reflects ongoing tensions between the Trump administration and states with differing 
views on immigration enforcement. At the end of the legal battle, any decision could have 
significant implications for federal-state relations, enforcement of immigration laws, and the 
distribution of federal funds.  
 
Attorney General Bonta Issues Legal Alert on Housing Law Compliance  
 
Addressed to cities, counties, local agencies, and other interested parties, Attorney General Rob 
Bonta released a legal alert regarding compliance with Senate Bill 1037 (Wiener, 2024) related to 
civil remedies against local governments that fail to update their housing element or ministerially 
approve housing development projects. Over opposition from local governments, SB 1037 was 
signed into law in September 2024 and became effective January 1 of this year. 

https://lhc.ca.gov/report/governors-reorganization-plan-2025
https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-docs/Legal%20Alert%20-%20SB%201037.pdf


9 
 

The alert walks through various definitions and processes set forth in SB 1037, including the 
penalties themselves, additional penalties, and the ministerial approval process by which 
municipalities are expected to abide. If not, however, the legal alert stipulates specific penalties 
that may be imposed on covered municipalities that do not comply with the housing element or 
ministerial approval requirements enacted by the bill. These penalties accrue from the date of the 
violation until the violation is cured, but the penalties may even capture violations pre-dating the 
bill’s effective date (with the penalties accruing from January 1, 2025 onward). 
 
Upon collection of any penalty assessed, the funds are deposited into the “Building Homes and 
Jobs Trust Fund” created to streamline housing production, support affordable housing, increase 
home ownership opportunities, and provide other income-related housing grants and programs 
as specified. According to the Manual of State Funds, the majority of funds to flow to local 
governments upon appropriation by the Legislature. 
 
 
 

https://funds.dof.ca.gov/app/download/3317


North County Transit District
2025-26 Legislative Report

AB 76   Alvarez (D)   HTML   PDF

Surplus land: exempt surplus land: sectional planning area.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated Impact - may facilitate streamlined processes for developing land in sectional planning areas,
potentially expediting projects with a mix of affordable housing and academic institution-affiliated housing.
This could enhance opportunities for transit-oriented developments that integrate educational facilities,
housing, and transportation infrastructure. This bill is sponsored by the City of Chula Vista and, according to
the author's office, "Chula Vista’s university effort is positioned to benefit the region greatly. A university
presence in the South County would be a key player within the regional economy, producing graduates who
occupy regional jobs, employing thousands of local workers, and contributing to the regional and state
economies...The change in AB 76 is needed to build a much-needed four-year university in South County
and provide the housing necessary for the university’s students, faculty, and staff."

Bill information

Status: 05/21/2025 - Referred to Com. on L. GOV.
Summary: Current law prescribes requirements for the disposal of surplus land by a local agency.

Current law defines “exempt surplus land” to mean, among other things, land that is
subject to a sectional planning area document, as described, and meets specified
requirements, including that at least 25% of the units are dedicated to lower income
households, as specified, and that is developed at an average density of at least 10
units per acre calculated with respect to the entire sectional planning area. This bill
would change those requirements so that at a minimum, 25% of units that are
proposed by the sectional planning area document as adopted prior to January 1,
2019, and are not designated for students, faculty, or staff of an academic institution
must be dedicated to lower income households, as specified, and that the land must
be developed at an average density of at least 10 units per acre, in accordance with
certain requirements and calculated with respect to the entire sectional planning area
and inclusive of housing designated for students, faculty, and staff of an academic
institution. (Based on 04/21/2025 text)

Location: 05/21/2025 - Senate  L. GOV. Current Text: 04/21/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/21/2025

AB 259   Rubio, Blanca (D)   HTML   PDF

Open meetings: local agencies: teleconferences.
 
Progress bar

Page 1/16

ATTACHMENT 1C

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=UJi6GoKwNCAXmg3ZvY/2L7kxoUc4hxA5N/XC2vzMdJOApCFKRcK9+jluq1Zg46ox8+q+YtfogIRBkgzmbdE/KSJ4GlEOrtGZvHpO2uqdp8A=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/504
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0051-0100/ab_76_97_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0051-0100/ab_76_97_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=tklc+OHIqKvJEnJpOQymHzZV53zqzGdBtjrfJq7Dg4jTUn86trsMnAhIsAurTOFTOmHjXLjwX+KjEAmHTN9dGrC7bHurZKBWWAYf5ki/T04=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/323
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0251-0300/ab_259_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0251-0300/ab_259_98_A_bill.pdf


Notes
Notes 1 
Positive
Anticipated impact - would allow board members to participate in board meetings via teleconference, under
certain conditions, until 2030.

Bill information

Status: 05/14/2025 - Referred to Coms. on L. GOV. and JUD.
Summary: The Ralph M. Brown Act, requires, with specified exceptions, that all meetings of a

legislative body, as defined, of a local agency be open and public and that all persons
be permitted to attend and participate. Current law, until January 1, 2026, authorizes
the legislative body of a local agency to use alternative teleconferencing if, during the
teleconference meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body
participates in person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda
that is open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the territory over which
the local agency exercises jurisdiction, and the legislative body complies with
prescribed requirements. Current law requires a member to satisfy specified
requirements to participate in a meeting remotely pursuant to these alternative
teleconferencing provisions, including that specified circumstances apply. Current law
establishes limits on the number of meetings a member may participate in solely by
teleconference from a remote location pursuant to these alternative teleconferencing
provisions, including prohibiting such participation for more than 2 meetings per year if
the legislative body regularly meets once per month or less. This bill would extend the
alternative teleconferencing procedures until January 1, 2030. (Based on 04/21/2025
text)

Location: 05/14/2025 - Senate  L. GOV. Current Text: 04/21/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/21/2025

AB 339   Ortega (D)   HTML   PDF

Local public employee organizations: notice requirements.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated impact - would require the district to provide a recognized employee organization written notice
regarding contracts to perform services that are within the scope of work of existing job classifications
represented by the employee organization.

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - In Senate. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment.
Summary: The Meyers-Milias-Brown Act contains various provisions that govern collective

bargaining of local represented employees and delegates jurisdiction to the Public
Employment Relations Board to resolve disputes and enforce the statutory duties and
rights of local public agency employers and employees. Current law requires the
governing body of a public agency to meet and confer in good faith regarding wages,
hours, and other terms and conditions of employment with representatives of
recognized employee organizations. Current law requires the governing body of a
public agency, and boards and commissions designated by law or by the governing
body, to give reasonable written notice, except in cases of emergency, as specified, to
each recognized employee organization affected of any ordinance, rule, resolution, or
regulation directly relating to matters within the scope of representation proposed to be
adopted by the governing body or the designated boards and commissions. This bill
would require the governing body of a public agency, and boards and commissions
designated by law or by the governing body of a public agency, to give the recognized
employee organization no less than 120 days’ written notice before issuing a request

Page 2/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=26xswBqV6LD9bMCb4F1IrY2E/uE+yWsSNZ5kQiXCBe5o2B4xvyqPkPwGlHWzwSITXKHqY3FuXlOJwHsW6zIShQRbFN8kRJtUCYE2XbjwPxI=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/361
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0301-0350/ab_339_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0301-0350/ab_339_98_A_bill.pdf


for proposals, request for quotes, or renewing or extending an existing contract to
perform services that are within the scope of work of the job classifications
represented by the recognized employee organization. The bill would require the
notice to include specified information, including the anticipated duration of the
contract. The bill would also require the public agency, if an emergency or other
exigent circumstance prevents the public agency from providing the written notice
described above, to provide as much advance notice as is practicable under the
circumstances. (Based on 05/23/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Senate  RLS. Current Text: 05/23/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/23/2025

AB 340   Ahrens (D)   HTML   PDF

Employer-employee relations: confidential communications.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - would prohibit an employer from questioning an employee or employee representative
from an employee organization regarding communications between the employee and their representative

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - Read third time. Passed. Ordered to the Senate.
Summary: Current law that governs the labor relations of public employees and employers,

including, among others, the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act, the Ralph C. Dills Act,
provisions relating to public schools, and provisions relating to higher education,
prohibits employers from taking certain actions relating to employee organization,
including imposing or threatening to impose reprisals on employees, discriminating or
threatening to discriminate against employees, or otherwise interfering with,
restraining, or coercing employees because of their exercise of their guaranteed
rights. Those provisions of current law further prohibit denying to employee
organizations the rights guaranteed to them by current law. This bill would prohibit a
public employer from questioning a public employee, a representative of a recognized
employee organization, or an exclusive representative regarding communications
made in confidence between an employee and an employee representative in
connection with representation relating to any matter within the scope of the
recognized employee organization’s representation. (Based on 03/05/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Senate  DESK Current Text: 03/05/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 03/05/2025

AB 394   Wilson (D)   HTML   PDF

Public transportation providers.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Positive
Anticipated impact - promotes safer transit environments for both riders and workers by expanding existing
Penal Code to protect all transit employees against battery, and clarifies that a transit agency may seek a

Page 3/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=Lv/Qb0M4ctq+20IDvAwQE9m+xJDt0pNmp26qIrEPv8HQoxIPgX8SNhtNEwx1CWoFEFbDWUq+Zh0N/JyDsPjx0awrqXiWE4o9FIFiUW9yiqA=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/437
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0301-0350/ab_340_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0301-0350/ab_340_98_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=mxTreOQnwZCuB7qUk5LOLiuaUjG2aUecf+3it+wVK0j9mWGBJm8NSggA0bwsZQBz63bLi1e9IVlFoW/85jIgaGSEbrpwCPegjTXnFpa56uE=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/502
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0351-0400/ab_394_95_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0351-0400/ab_394_95_A_bill.pdf


temporary restraining order against a perpetrator for battery against a transportation provider or employee or
contractor thereof, and that the restraining order shall apply across the entirety of the transit system where
the offense occurred.
Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - In Senate. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment.
Summary: Current law defines a battery as any willful and unlawful use of force or violence upon

the person of another. Current law provides that when a battery is committed against
the person of an operator, driver, or passenger on a bus, taxicab, streetcar, cable car,
trackless trolley, or other motor vehicle, as specified, and the person who commits the
offense knows or reasonably should know that the victim is engaged in the
performance of their duties, the penalty is imprisonment in a county jail not exceeding
one year, a fine not exceeding $10,000, or both the fine and imprisonment. Current
law also provides that if the victim is injured, the offense would be punished by a fine
not exceeding $10,000, by imprisonment in a county jail not exceeding one year or in
the state prison for 16 months, 2, or 3 years, or by both that fine and imprisonment.
This bill would expand this crime to apply to an employee, public transportation
provider, or contractor of a public transportation provider. (Based on 04/23/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Senate  RLS. Current Text: 04/23/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/23/2025

AB 476   González, Mark (D)   HTML   PDF

Metal theft.
 
Progress bar

Notes

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - Read third time. Passed. Ordered to the Senate.
Summary: Current law governs the business of buying, selling, and dealing in secondhand and

used machinery and all ferrous and nonferrous scrap metals and alloys, also known as
“junk.” Current law requires junk dealers and recyclers to keep a written record of all
sales and purchases made in the course of their business, including the place and
date of each sale or purchase of junk and a description of the item or items, as
specified. Current law requires the written record to include a statement indicating
either that the seller of the junk is the owner of it, or the name of the person they
obtained the junk from, as shown on a signed transfer document. Current law prohibits
a junk dealer or recycler from providing payment for nonferrous materials until the junk
dealer or recycler obtains a copy of a valid driver’s license of the seller or other
specified identification. Current law requires a junk dealer or recycler to preserve the
written record for at least 2 years. This bill would require junk dealers and recyclers to
include additional information in the written record, including the time and amount paid
for each sale or purchase of junk made, and the name of the employee handling the
transaction. The bill would revise the type of information required to be included in the
description of the item or items of junk purchased or sold, as specified. (Based on
05/01/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Senate  DESK Current Text: 05/01/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/01/2025

AB 1051   Davies (R)   HTML   PDF

Route 76: Payómkawish Highway.
 

Page 4/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=x564qs+qnAu+jI0G8gcsq49MeTz/tNUMdgUJ0T0RE4VWQr8t9lbayiWNf13qOQRKVxVO6A/gJILP97nWFn9ZW0NheqfwjDuUqMc9S4BFvsg=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/494
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0451-0500/ab_476_96_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0451-0500/ab_476_96_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=N4u13KK6Mp+fZ3IqMAnDcg86G8xU4b6Bx2/aeeq+mYaUTkXUcr3cpQt2S3MRMMblrODlewbkzW3/Mxsqc/bq+UiOLdHwXtThh1POiwopWSE=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/455
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_1051-1100/ab_1051_97_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_1051-1100/ab_1051_97_A_bill.pdf


Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - In Senate. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment.
Summary: Current law provides for the California Transportation Commission to adopt locations

for state highways on routes authorized by law, and describes the authorized routes in
the state highway system, including that for Route 76, as provided. This bill would
name and designate specified portions of Route 76 as the “Payómkawish
Highway.” (Based on 04/24/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Senate  RLS. Current Text: 04/24/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/24/2025

AB 1250   Papan (D)   HTML   PDF

Transit operators: paratransit: recertification of eligibility.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - would prohibit the district from requiring a person who is eligible to receive paratransit
services (that has a condition that is not reasonably expected to improve) to recertify their eligibility.

Bill information

Status: 05/23/2025 - Read third time. Passed. Ordered to the Senate. (Ayes 71. Noes 0.) In
Senate. Read first time. To Com. on RLS. for assignment.

Summary: Under the Mills-Alquist-Deddeh Act, also known as the Transportation Development
Act, revenues from a 1/4 percent sales tax in each county are, among other things,
available for allocation by the transportation planning agency to transit operators and
for community transit services. Current law requires a transit operator that receives
funds through the Mills-Alquist-Deddeh Act and that provides dial-a-ride or paratransit
service to provide those services consistent with certain requirements. This bill would
prohibit, on and after January 1, 2027, those transit operators from requiring a person
who receives, or is eligible to receive, paratransit services based on a disability or
medical condition, and whose condition cannot reasonably be expected to improve, to
recertify their eligibility, unless the person has a temporary eligibility or there is a
review to broaden the person’s eligibility, as specified. The bill would require a
temporary eligibility to be valid for 180 days or until the date indicated by the person’s
medical professional, as specified. The bill would prohibit renewal of temporary
eligibility more than 6 consecutive times. To the extent the bill would impose additional
duties on a local agency, it would impose a state-mandated local program. (Based on
04/10/2025 text)

Location: 05/23/2025 - Senate  RLS. Current Text: 04/10/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/10/2025

ACA 1   Valencia (D)   HTML   PDF

Public finance.

Page 5/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=hcL2Oi+2JDw+afiB/dcabHjiSOKlVVkVz/nt2k91REcMwf864Nhu/dTOIlNnLzqOJJ3VPMznX1JQRzeXBTtNu836yw+AuKjyMDuMhkjUV4Q=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/362
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_1201-1250/ab_1250_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_1201-1250/ab_1250_98_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=oZCzExgAJpmDD5JJXeaVGPxT4Uc7n5RlDYDTMovXR6LshMrXRLGQi7FS6tI6NkG19grC/d6bGx9YKQeQF7OJMGvCFoZ5fChCzV5jBcZ79x4=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/327
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0001-0050/aca_1_99_I_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0001-0050/aca_1_99_I_bill.pdf


 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated impact - Unknown direct impact on NCTD. The ACA would change the required amount of
funding transferred from the state General Fund to the Budget Stabilization Account (BSA) to an undefined
amount, and would increase the balance limit of the BSA.

Bill information

Status: 01/29/2025 - Introduced measure version corrected.
Summary: The California Constitution prohibits the total annual appropriations subject to

limitation of the State and of each local government from exceeding the appropriations
limit of the entity of government for the prior year adjusted for the change in the cost of
living and the change in population. The California Constitution defines “appropriations
subject to limitation” of the State for these purposes. This measure would change the
1.5% required transfer to an undetermined percentage of the estimated amount of
General Fund revenues for that fiscal year. The measure would change the 10% limit
on the balance in the Budget Stabilization Account to 20% of the amount of the
General Fund proceeds of taxes for the fiscal year estimate, as specified. The
measure would specify that funds transferred under these provisions to the Budget
Stabilization Account do not constitute appropriations subject to the above-described
annual appropriations limit. (Based on 12/02/2024 text)

Location: 12/02/2024 - Assembly 
PRINT

Current Text: 12/02/2024 - Introduced

ACA 4   Jackson (D)   HTML   PDF

Homelessness and affordable housing.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated impact - could fund affordable housing projects that may lead to the development of housing
near transit corridors, however, would earmark 5% of the state's General Fund for housing, which would
reduce flexibility in the state budget to allocate funding to other areas, including transportation. The bill would
not directly reduce funding for transportation.

Bill information

Status: 05/23/2025 - Coauthors revised. In committee: Hearing postponed by committee.
Summary: The California Constitution authorizes the development, construction, or acquisition of

developments composed of urban or rural dwellings, apartments, or other living
accommodations for persons of low income financed in whole or in part by the federal
government or a state public body, or to which the federal government or a state public
body extends assistance, if a majority of the qualified electors of the city, town, or
county in which the housing is proposed to be located approves the project by voting
in favor thereof, as specified. This measure, the Housing Opportunities Made Equal
(HOME) Act, would create an account in the General Fund into which, beginning in the
2027–28 fiscal year, and each fiscal year thereafter until September 30, 2036, a sum
would be transferred from the General Fund equal to or greater than 5% of the
estimated amount of General Fund revenues for that fiscal year, as specified. The
measure would require the moneys in the account to be appropriated by the
Legislature to the Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency, and would
authorize that agency to expend the moneys to fund prescribed matters related to

Page 6/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=ao+u/hrNXMrZP/NDheS/o4GquDNnasIdfBBaDBQ1tp+ht+Gh+RCrB5RcNBNJG47i9ZUOLbtqiKLZW/wOxnYJY9pTRxVniiddup+UGKNkmVU=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/379
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0001-0050/aca_4_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//asm/ab_0001-0050/aca_4_98_A_bill.pdf


homelessness and affordable housing, including housing and services to prevent and
end homelessness. (Based on 05/05/2025 text)

Location: 05/14/2025 - Assembly 
APPR. SUSPENSE FILE

Current Text: 05/05/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/05/2025

SB 30   Cortese (D)   HTML   PDF

Diesel-powered on-track equipment: decommissioning: resale and transfer restrictions.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Negative
Anticipated impact - prohibits the district from selling or transferring diesel-powered on-track rail equipment.

Bill information

Status: 05/28/2025 - Read third time. Passed. (Ayes 28. Noes 10.) Ordered to the Assembly.
In Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.

Summary: Would prohibit a public entity that owns diesel-powered on-track equipment from
selling, donating, or otherwise transferring that equipment for continued use after the
public entity decommissions the equipment. The bill would exempt the sale, donation,
or transfer of that equipment from the prohibition if certain criteria are satisfied,
including, among others, that the equipment is deemed to be in one of specified
categories of emissions standards designated by the federal government for
locomotives and the public entity certifies that the transaction will lead to a net air
quality benefit where the receiving entity will be using the equipment. (Based on
05/05/2025 text)

Location: 05/28/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 05/05/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/05/2025

SB 63   Wiener (D)   HTML   PDF

San Francisco Bay area: local revenue measure: transportation funding.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - No direct impact on the district. The bill creates the Transit Revenue Measure District
(TRMD) to include Alameda, Contra Costa, and San Francisco counties, and allows the TRMD to impose a
district tax in specific counties directly or by voter initiative.

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - In Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.
Summary: (1)Existing law creates the Metropolitan Transportation Commission as a local area

planning agency for the 9-county San Francisco Bay area with comprehensive
regional transportation planning and other related responsibilities. Existing law creates
various transit districts located in the San Francisco Bay area, with specified powers
and duties relating to providing public transit services. This bill would establish the
Transportation Revenue Measure District with jurisdiction extending throughout the
boundaries of the Counties of Alameda and Contra Costa and the City and County of

Page 7/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=Zxj8t1ue9NqQEIfapqlPqi6g+Ser6anOvCJgYpBL3dLiHdXz0wiurqSmwpiHoNIbWNIj7iYMIXVtDEMf1Z3t0TmpxhogeOr8tx/4Pys6yUw=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/393
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0001-0050/sb_30_96_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0001-0050/sb_30_96_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=2lM0yUDVso4r/OtHVXS1ki5yirwQmlIKrc33Kv2QhkJ0hhCaW6bRpP/tuBs6Q9R/NfS3lImGbD5Z+vfI+nrJByyj25fouFm5Pr2aK7X0spk=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/257
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_63_96_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_63_96_A_bill.pdf


San Francisco and would require the district to be governed by the same board that
governs the commission, thereby imposing a state-mandated local program. The bill
would authorize a retail transactions and use tax applicable to the entire district to be
imposed by the board of the district or by a qualified voter initiative for a duration of 10
to 15 years, inclusive, and generally in an amount of 0.5%, subject to voter approval at
the November 3, 2026, statewide general election. After allocations are made for
various administrative expenses, the bill would require an unspecified portion of the
proceeds of the tax to be allocated by the commission to initiatives included in a
specified commission plan and to the Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District, the
Peninsula Rail Transit District, commonly known as Caltrain, the San Francisco Bay
Area Rapid Transit District, and the San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency
for operating expenses, and would require the remaining proceeds to be subvened
directly to the counties comprising the district for public transportation expenses, as
prescribed. This bill contains other related provisions and other existing laws. (Based
on 05/23/2025 text)

Location: 06/02/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 05/23/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/23/2025

SB 71   Wiener (D)   HTML   PDF

California Environmental Quality Act: exemptions: environmental leadership transit projects.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated impact - would exempt various district projects from CEQA. Specifically, the bill permanently
exempts various active transportation plans from CEQA and expands the exemption to include a transit
comprehensive operational analysis (a plan that redesigns or modifies a transit operator’s or local agency’s
public transit service network, including the routing of fixed route and microtransit services). The bill also
permanently exempts from CEQA pedestrian and bicycle facilities, transit prioritization projects, public
projects for the institution or increase of bus rapid transit, bus, or light rail service, including the construction
or rehabilitation of stations, terminals, or existing operations facilities, and public projects for the construction
or maintenance of infrastructure of facilities to charge, refuel, or maintain zero-emission public transit buses,
trains, or ferries. Extends the CEQA exemption for projects using near-zero emission, natural gas, or low-
NOx technology until 2032.

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - Read third time. Passed. (Ayes 36. Noes 0.) Ordered to the Assembly.
Summary: The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires a lead agency to prepare a

mitigated negative declaration for a project that may have a significant effect on the
environment if revisions in the project would avoid or mitigate that effect and there is
no substantial evidence that the project, as revised, would have a significant effect on
the environment. CEQA, until January 1, 2030, exempts from its requirements active
transportation plans, pedestrian plans, or bicycle transportation plans for the restriping
of streets and highways, bicycle parking and storage, signal timing to improve street
and highway intersection operations, and the related signage for bicycles, pedestrians,
and vehicles. This bill would extend the operation of the above-mentioned exemption
indefinitely. The bill would also exempt a transit comprehensive operational analysis,
as defined, a transit route readjustment, or other transit agency route addition,
elimination, or modification, from the requirements of CEQA. Because a lead agency
would be required to determine whether a plan qualifies for this exemption, the bill
would impose a state-mandated local program. (Based on 05/29/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 05/29/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/29/2025

Page 8/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=WwgYG7jPd+txPHc75wbumdPStBBoSdGdgnUfgsRor+U1kAN5pIpzcmtBHsp2ogf1YpbRw5v2mr+CsEhG5TmvE8kfZ/MRX1pUZx4Iv+4434E=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/257
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_71_95_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_71_95_A_bill.pdf


SB 74   Seyarto (R)   HTML   PDF

Office of Land Use and Climate Innovation: Infrastructure Gap-Fund Program.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - would expand funding opportunities for the district to develop and construct
infrastructure projects under the Infrastructure Gap-Fund Program. Transit districts in California, if organized
as special districts, are eligible to apply for SB 74 grants if they are undertaking qualifying infrastructure
projects (such as road projects that decrease vehicle miles traveled and improve public health and safety),
have met the local tax contribution threshold, and are facing unforeseen costs after construction has begun.

Bill information

Status: 05/29/2025 - Read third time. Passed. (Ayes 38. Noes 0.) Ordered to the Assembly. In
Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.

Summary: Current law establishes the Office of Land Use and Climate Innovation in the
Governor’s office for the purpose of serving the Governor and the Governor’s cabinet
as staff for long-range planning and research and constituting the comprehensive
state planning agency. Current law authorizes a local agency to finance infrastructure
projects through various means, including by authorizing a city or county to establish
an enhanced infrastructure financing district to finance public capital facilities or other
specified projects of communitywide significance that provide significant benefits to the
district or the surrounding community. This bill would require the office, upon
appropriation by the Legislature, to establish the Infrastructure Gap-Fund Program to
provide grants to local agencies for the development and construction of infrastructure
projects, as defined, facing unforeseen costs after starting construction. The bill would
authorize the office to provide funding for up to 20% of a project’s additional projected
cost, as defined, after the project has started construction, subject to specified
conditions, including, among other things, that the local agency has allocated existing
local tax revenue for at least 45% of the initially budgeted total cost of the
infrastructure project. When applying to the program, the bill would require the local
agency to demonstrate challenges with completing the project on time and on budget
and how the infrastructure project helps meet state and local goals, as
specified. (Based on 04/07/2025 text)

Location: 05/29/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 04/07/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/07/2025

SB 79   Wiener (D)   HTML   PDF

Housing development: transit-oriented development: California Environmental Quality Act: public
transit agency land.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - would make transit-oriented development an allowable use on specified sites, gives
transit agencies more flexibility under the Surplus Land Act, and exempts certain projects from CEQA. The
bill is intended to make it easier to develop housing near major public transportation stops and on land
owned by transit agencies.

Page 9/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=CuNCyJsIlVm9Ylc4M9lgTvVNA82+kMsPoUDOM2+3E2rA5IDnuo5/fMAYX0Qq1H78a7xWB4leXMjY9Kb6GzaujvlVILe+RC2BCK7sw8c0XRM=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/476
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_74_96_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_74_96_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=4ZKkywHrD4oEVc3OgP4/DELSCRNBOEsU14G45m0QPRE6cqQlfBL/BB4nqjt//7lv0wpnS9KzkuD1sM8NzEzPOC7IuOfJMQ9nei799Mp6cYI=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/257
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_79_93_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_79_93_A_bill.pdf


Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - Read third time. Passed. (Ayes 21. Noes 13.) Ordered to the Assembly.
Summary: The Planning and Zoning Law requires each county and city to adopt a

comprehensive, long-term general plan for the physical development of the county or
city, and specified land outside its boundaries, that contains certain mandatory
elements, including a land use element and a housing element. Current law requires
that the land use element designate the proposed general distribution and general
location and extent of the uses of the land, as specified. Current law requires that the
housing element consist of an identification and analysis of existing and projected
housing needs and a statement of goals, policies, quantified objectives, financial
resources, and scheduled programs for the preservation, improvement, and
development of housing, as specified. Current law requires that the housing element
include, among other things, an assessment of housing needs and an inventory of
resources and constraints that are relevant to the meeting of these needs, including an
inventory of land suitable for residential development, as provided. Current law, for the
4th and subsequent revisions of the housing element, requires the Department of
Housing and Community Development to determine the existing and projected need
for housing for each region, as specified, and requires the appropriate council of local
governments, or the department for cities and counties without a council of
governments, to adopt a final regional housing need plan that allocates a share of the
regional housing need to each locality in the region. This bill would require that a
housing development project, as defined, proposed within a specified distance of a
transit-oriented development (TOD) stop, as defined, be an allowed use on any site
zoned for residential, mixed, or commercial development, if the development complies
with applicable requirements, as specified. The bill would establish requirements
concerning height limits, density, and floor area ratio in accordance with a
development’s proximity to specified tiers of TOD stops, as provided. The bill would
provide that, for the purposes of the Housing Accountability Act, a proposed
development consistent with the applicable standards of these provisions shall be
deemed consistent, compliant, and in conformity with prescribed requirements, as
specified. (Based on 05/29/2025 text)

Location: 06/03/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 05/29/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/29/2025

SB 86   McNerney (D)   HTML   PDF

California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transportation Financing Authority Act: sales and use
tax exclusion.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated impact - permanently extends and increases the allocation for the California Alternative Energy
Advanced Transportation Authority's sales and use tax exclusion program. This program administers a sales
and use tax exclusion for manufacturers of alternative energy source technology used for renewable
electricity generation or advanced transportation. SB 86 may provide greater opportunities for transit
agencies to invest in advanced transportation technologies and infrastructure improvements.

Bill information

Status: 06/02/2025 - Ordered to special consent calendar.
Calendar: 06/04/25 #98 S-SPECIAL CONSENT CALENDAR NO. 10
Summary: Existing sales and use tax laws impose taxes on retailers measured by the gross

receipts from the sale of tangible personal property sold at retail in this state, or on the
storage, use, or other consumption in this state of tangible personal property
purchased from a retailer for storage, use, or other consumption in this state. The

Page 10/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=2+R1s3FESXrDXsjsGfalq70Q7opvkQLPY7FXQCwjEO2RqK/DDHrxh+ThSWnvvIL9TjpCnfb4Y6zPT72YQT8h9QstqeyDOSFAzIZ05rAaiK0=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/391
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_86_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0051-0100/sb_86_98_A_bill.pdf


California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transportation Financing Authority Act
establishes the California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transportation Financing
Authority. The act authorizes, until January 1, 2026, the authority to provide financial
assistance to a participating party by authorizing exclusions from sales and use tax for
certain projects, including those that promote California-based manufacturing,
California-based jobs, advanced manufacturing, reduction of greenhouse gases, or
reduction in air and water pollution or energy consumption. The act prohibits the sales
and use tax exclusions from cumulatively exceeding $100,000,000 for each calendar
year, except as provided. The Sales and Use Tax Law, for the purposes of the taxes
imposed pursuant to that law, until January 1, 2026, excludes the lease or transfer of
title of tangible personal property constituting one of those projects to any contractor
for use in the performance of a construction contract for a participating party that will
use that property as an integral part of the approved project. This bill would extend to
January 1, 2031, the authorization to provide financial assistance in the form of a sales
and use tax exclusion for projects approved by the authority. The bill would increase
the maximum cumulative amount of the sales and use tax exclusions authorized under
these provisions to $200,000,000 per calendar year. The bill would add electrical
generation facilities using nuclear fusion technology to the types of projects qualifying
for this sales and use tax exclusion. The bill would make other conforming changes.
This bill contains other related provisions. (Based on 05/23/2025 text)

Location: 06/02/2025 - Senate 
CONSENT CALENDAR

Current Text: 05/23/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/23/2025

SB 273   Grayson (D)   HTML   PDF

Surplus land.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipated impact - unknown. This measure is currently a nonsubstantive spot bill related to the Surplus
Land Act.

Bill information

Status: 02/14/2025 - Referred to Com. on RLS.
Summary: Current law declares that surplus government land should be made available for

affordable housing, including near transit stations, and for parks and recreation or
open-space purposes. This bill would make a nonsubstantive change to this
provision. (Based on 02/04/2025 text)

Location: 02/04/2025 - Senate  RLS. Current Text: 02/04/2025 - Introduced

SB 359   Niello (R)   HTML   PDF

Use Fuel Tax Law: Diesel Fuel Tax Law: exempt bus operation.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Anticipate impact - no direct impact on the district, as transit districts are already eligible for an exemption
from the Use Fuel Tax Law state excise tax on gasoline.

Page 11/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=Vs7FpUXDOHRe18gCOt0QQzq9s2+mHjdFYL/JRVKwmzVGKCjiw9S1goBMdZWTAkamDp1bdrI8Rtebj70mIkBrZKacVxndf39q7Wdp2zWB4nU=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/433
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0251-0300/sb_273_99_I_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0251-0300/sb_273_99_I_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=SE9KTGZOUFbFMHLaTsDntFfnhnM5G5Cyq/e/jd/HTbDgM0xO6H/3bqnUdvZoQNR5EhNzhJtVg+2BqDAyXKfcv39MGgcp1sZ7Bs0Z6mMbWCo=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/419
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0351-0400/sb_359_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0351-0400/sb_359_98_A_bill.pdf


Bill information

Status: 05/29/2025 - Read third time. Passed. (Ayes 38. Noes 0.) Ordered to the Assembly. In
Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.

Summary: The Use Fuel Tax Law imposes a state excise tax at specified rates, generally $0.18
per gallon, on the use of fuel, as defined, and establishes various exemptions from
those taxes, including an exemption for any transit district, transit authority, or city
owning and operating a local transit system, as provided. This bill would additionally
apply this exemption to a county that owns and operates a local transit system, as
provided. This bill would additionally apply this exemption to a county that owns and
operates a local transit system, as provided. (Based on 04/08/2025 text)

Location: 05/29/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 04/08/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/08/2025

SB 419   Caballero (D)   HTML   PDF

Hydrogen fuel.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Positive
Anticipated impact - would provide the district an exemption from sales and use tax on the sale, storage,
use, and consumption of hydrogen fuel.

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - In Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.
Summary: Current state sales and use tax laws impose a tax on retailers measured by the gross

receipts from the sale of tangible personal property sold at retail in this state or on the
storage, use, or other consumption in this state of tangible personal property
purchased from a retailer for storage, use, or other consumption in this state. This bill
would, on and after July 1, 2026, provide an exemption from the taxes imposed by the
Sales and Use Tax Law for the gross receipts from the sale in this state of, and the
storage, use, or other consumption in this state of, hydrogen fuel, as defined. (Based
on 05/05/2025 text)

Location: 06/02/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 05/05/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/05/2025

SB 445   Wiener (D)   HTML   PDF

Transportation: planning: complete streets facilities: sustainable transportation projects.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - would require Caltrans to develop and adopt a project intake, evaluation, and
encroachment permit review process for complete streets facilities that are sponsored by a transit agency.

Bill information

Status: 05/28/2025 - Read third time. Passed. (Ayes 34. Noes 1.) Ordered to the Assembly. In
Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.

Page 12/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=sgniRTwhWcH3CEBeQg5U2T45MSaHYwEdCRAKztM8sTqPL1hvtkH6okUKBAaeegwCYIRTAXEJQ13m5gdaDeP1+HBbiOBd4ZN+H3MhJ5dJGrs=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/403
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0401-0450/sb_419_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0401-0450/sb_419_98_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=C67lX+lMl/RwZBohui3AtGjL9XD6ZuKgTLItcDiBb1K0IQr68RZOBMSDVKg1/z2n7mgFGJVilvubBuvBmIixvt1rSAI1zf9KKeyAbU1/9g8=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/257
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0401-0450/sb_445_97_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0401-0450/sb_445_97_A_bill.pdf


Summary: This bill would instead require the Department of Transportation to develop and adopt
the above-described project intake, evaluation, and encroachment review process on
or before February 1, 2027. The bill would also state the intent of the Legislature to
amend this bill with legislation that accelerates and makes more reliable third-party
permits and approvals for preconstruction and construction activities on sustainable
transportation projects. (Based on 04/10/2025 text)

Location: 05/28/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 04/10/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/10/2025

SB 544   Laird (D)   HTML   PDF

Railroad crossings: permit applications: review.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Positive/neutral
Anticipated impact - provides a more efficient review process for uncontested rail crossing applications,
minimizing delays that could jeopardize time-sensitive funding.

Bill information

Status: 05/19/2025 - Referred to Com. on U. & E.
Summary: The bill would require an application for a railroad crossing to include, at a minimum,

certain information concerning the proposed railroad crossing. The bill would authorize
the commission to partially or completely exempt railroad crossing applications that
meet certain requirements from review under otherwise applicable adjudication
procedures and would authorize the commission to establish an expedited review and
approval process for those applications. (Based on 02/20/2025 text)

Location: 05/19/2025 - Assembly  U. &
E.

Current Text: 02/20/2025 - Introduced

SB 545   Cortese (D)   HTML   PDF

High-speed rail: economic opportunities.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - Requires certain infrastructure districts that use their revenues to finance the
construction of the high-speed rail project to dedicate a majority of its revenue to infrastructure projects
within the jurisdiction of the local agencies that establish the district. This would include enhanced
infrastructure financing districts, community revitalization and investment authorities, Mello-Roos Community
Facilities Districts, and any other district or agency established by a local agency for the primary purpose of
financing infrastructure projects, including those with a state agency member, which can include the High
Speed Rail Authority.

Bill information

Status: 06/03/2025 - In Assembly. Read first time. Held at Desk.
Summary: Existing law establishes the Office of Land Use and Climate Innovation with specified

powers and duties related to long-range planning and research. Existing law creates

Page 13/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=We+bxNuTT8gYOXC8xuRXFdxvkR2/xApdOR7bivf1ZwXS5iZ+xN20PpwsiKDgG+7pWTSCXPc8V/keycJfzpPQ3D1jf5PIdOQZGnLN0zxf/h4=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/394
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0501-0550/sb_544_99_I_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0501-0550/sb_544_99_I_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=gRA6ZlnuQ0ziaV7Xz2BJmnMaKCWGiKkTTXMObbMXqJuks13N1GL7k1dHUc5658e6mgPT3iWVWCHkAdbYgsZVxz6QQ1VRXY5gEJ2BASU+ccI=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/393
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0501-0550/sb_545_95_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0501-0550/sb_545_95_A_bill.pdf


the High-Speed Rail Authority, with specified powers and duties related to the
development and implementation of a high-speed train system. This bill would require
the Office of Land Use and Climate Innovation, on or before January 1, 2027, to
commission a study on economic opportunities along the corridor of the California
high-speed rail project, as defined, and other high-speed rail projects in California that
are planned to directly connect to the California high-speed rail project, as provided,
and to submit a progress report to the chairpersons of the Senate Committee on
Transportation and the Assembly Committee on Transportation for input. The bill would
require, on or before January 1, 2028, the study to be completed and a report on the
study’s findings and recommendations to be submitted to the appropriate policy and
fiscal committees of the Legislature. The bill would require an infrastructure district, as
defined, that uses its revenue to finance the construction of the high-speed rail project
to dedicate a majority of its revenue to infrastructure projects within the jurisdiction of
the local agencies that establish the district. (Based on 05/23/2025 text)

Location: 06/02/2025 - Assembly  DESK Current Text: 05/23/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/23/2025

SB 569   Blakespear (D)   HTML   PDF

Department of Transportation: homeless encampments.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - directs the Caltrans to establish a dedicated liaison to facilitate the removal of homeless
encampments on Caltrans’ right-of-way and authorizes Caltrans to negotiate specified terms for Delegated
Maintenance Agreements with local jurisdictions.

Bill information

Status: 05/23/2025 - From committee: Do pass. (Ayes 5. Noes 1.) (May 23). Read second
time. Ordered to third reading.

Calendar: 06/04/25 #27 S-SENATE BILLS -THIRD READING FILE
Summary: Current law authorizes the Department of Transportation to establish maintenance

programs related to highway cleanup, as specified. This bill would require the
department to establish a dedicated liaison to, among other things, facilitate
communication with local governments and relevant state agencies with regard to
addressing homeless encampments within the state highway system and to oversee
the development and implementation of delegated maintenance agreements between
local agencies and the department in which both work together to reduce and remove
homeless encampments within the department’s jurisdiction. The bill would authorize
the department to grant a single general entry permit for the duration of a delegated
maintenance agreement to conduct activities authorized by the bill. The bill would
require the department to submit an annual report to the Legislature summarizing
specified information and recommendations regarding homeless
encampments. (Based on 04/21/2025 text)

Location: 05/23/2025 - Senate  THIRD
READING

Current Text: 04/21/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 04/21/2025

SB 607   Wiener (D)   HTML   PDF

California Environmental Quality Act:Infrastructure Projects.
 
Progress bar

Page 14/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=fbvlpJyJqKR9lBPeyP1mE+OzJlRQ/UsNFrCSVoYdpFRkyiZ0n7cKcRfIpMX32GUSm925YMoN9VC5E4vt/n+aJ5Qfou3xD7pbDucJKuzeppw=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/342
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0551-0600/sb_569_98_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0551-0600/sb_569_98_A_bill.pdf
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=yQYBkCaSBY108VoTflf8mdMnONceKilw6+tsuh2FcjWpUVz0oBt09mJhbTy6EAZIQJTgJ4M0ajmhwwLddR7fEbUXbWwZ17vWd/GZkV6Caj4=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/257
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0601-0650/sb_607_95_A_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0601-0650/sb_607_95_A_bill.pdf


Notes
Notes 1 
Neutral
Anticipated impact - this measure makes numerous changes to CEQA. Some provisions that could impact
the district include:
SB 607 creates a new environmental review process for projects that do not meet the eligibility criteria for a
CEQA exemption based on a single eligibility condition, and changes the criteria and legal standard by which
lead agencies evaluate whether to prepare an mitigated negative declaration, negative declaration, or
environmental impact report.

Bill information

Status: 05/28/2025 - Read second time and amended. Ordered to third reading. (Corrected
May 28).

Calendar: 06/04/25 #68 S-SENATE BILLS -THIRD READING FILE
Summary: The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires a lead agency to prepare a

mitigated negative declaration for a project that may have a significant effect on the
environment if revisions in the project would avoid or mitigate that effect and there is
no substantial evidence that the project, as revised, would have a significant effect on
the environment. Current law, the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta Reform Act of 2009,
declares that the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta is a critically important natural
resource for California and the nation and it serves as both the hub of the California
water system and the most valuable estuary and wetland ecosystem on the west coast
of North and South America. This bill would state the intent of the Legislature that,
among other things, no revisions shall be made to CEQA for purposes of the Delta
Conveyance Project. (Based on 05/28/2025 text)

Location: 05/28/2025 - Senate  THIRD
READING

Current Text: 05/28/2025 - Amended
Last Amend: 05/28/2025

SB 752   Richardson (D)   HTML   PDF

Sales and use taxes: exemptions: California Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher
Incentive Project: transit buses.
 
Progress bar

Notes
Notes 1 
Positive
Anticipated impact - would continue the sales and use tax exemption for zero-emission transit buses for the
district until 2028.

Bill information

Status: 05/23/2025 - May 23 hearing: Held in committee and under submission.
Summary: Existing state sales and use tax laws impose a tax on retailers measured by the gross

receipts from the sale of tangible personal property sold at retail in this state or on the
storage, use, or other consumption in this state of tangible personal property
purchased from a retailer for storage, use, or other consumption in this state. The
Sales and Use Tax Law provides various exemptions from those taxes, including, until
January 1, 2026, an exemption from those taxes with respect to the sale in this state
of, and the storage, use, or other consumption in this state of, specified zero-emission
technology transit buses sold to specified public agencies that are eligible for specified
incentives from the State Air Resources Board. This bill would extend the exemption
for specified zero-emission technology transit buses until January 1, 2028. This bill
contains other related provisions. (Based on 02/21/2025 text)

Page 15/16

https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/public/25/report/bill?id=dDihO6SNmSwcCc9WCuZXkBlwUTm/ziCFDRhmiky3JTKw02f//D1etkcr20DzIVFC8gY7EcKP992WVw24Vgn4YC8jeNPpt5VgmQHbvL46ZY8=
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/Member/Index/456
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0751-0800/sb_752_99_I_bill.htm
https://ct35.capitoltrack.com/25/bill/ViewDoc?doc=//sen/sb_0751-0800/sb_752_99_I_bill.pdf


Location: 05/19/2025 - Senate  APPR.
SUSPENSE FILE

Current Text: 02/21/2025 - Introduced

 

Page 16/16



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-002 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

2 

 

RECEIVE THE MONTHLY TRANSIT OPERATIONS PERFORMANCE 
REPORT FOR APRIL 2025 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Monthly Transit Operations Performance Report for April 2025.  
 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

The Monthly Transit Operations Performance Report (TOPR) provides an 
overview of NCTD’s performance trends by mode as they relate to budgeted 
goals and minimum performance standards for each month of the fiscal year. 
NCTD’s performance goals are developed as part of the annual operations 
budget development process. Minimum performance standards are set forth in 
each modal operations and maintenance contract. 
 
The monthly TOPR is intended to provide performance reporting on key 
performance indicators without the detailed analysis of trends that are included in 
the annual TOPR. The data contained in this staff report is unaudited and subject 
to change. Starting in FY2025, staff removed certain metrics from the TOPR 
attachment to improve legibility and allow for the inclusion of the NCTD+ mode. 
Metrics removed include passengers per revenue mile and metrics related to LIFT 
response time and pick-up windows. These metrics will continue to be tracked 
internally for performance management purposes. Attached to this staff report is 
a table that provides information on NCTD’s modal performance compared to the 
established goals or standards, as well as a comparison to the previous fiscal 
year. The monthly TOPR uses the same symbology from the annual TOPR and 
is explained below:  

 
Systemwide Performance 

April 2025 systemwide ridership was 769,478, which is 10.5% above the 
budgeted goal and 10.9% above the April 2024 ridership of 693,883. April 2025 
was also at 83.8% of FY19 pre-pandemic levels. 
 
BREEZE Performance 

BREEZE boardings for April totaled 492,512, above the budgeted goal of 427,705 
by 15.2% and a 10.8% increase compared to April 2024. April 2025 was also 
88.1% of FY19 pre-pandemic levels. BREEZE on-time performance (OTP) was 
84.6% for the month, below the minimum performance standard of 88%. 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-002 

 

COASTER Performance 

COASTER boardings for April totaled 87,950, above the budgeted goal of 80,100 
by 9.8% and a 21.5% increase compared to April 2024. April 2025 was also 
75.1% of FY19 pre-pandemic levels. COASTER OTP was 92.3% for the month, 
below the minimum performance standard of 95%. 
 
SPRINTER Performance 

SPRINTER boardings for April totaled 168,807, above the budgeted goal of 
167,009 by 1.1% and a 3.6% increase compared to April 2024. April 2025 was 
also 74.9% of FY19 pre-pandemic levels. SPRINTER OTP was 96.6% for the 
month, above the minimum performance standard of 95%. 
 
FLEX Performance 

FLEX boardings for April totaled 9,577, above the budgeted goal of 5,831 by 
64.2% and a 125.8% increase compared to April 2024. April 2025 was also 
340.7% of FY19 pre-pandemic levels. FLEX OTP was 88.4% for the month, below 
the performance standard of 88%. 
 
LIFT Performance 

LIFT boardings for April totaled 8,533, below the budgeted goal of 10,234 by 
16.6% and a 13.5% increase compared to April 2024.  April 2025 was also 62.2% 
of FY19 pre-pandemic levels. LIFT OTP was 89.2% for the month, below the 
minimum standard of 92%. LIFT productivity, measured by passengers 
transported per revenue hour, was 2.02 for the month, which is above the 
minimum performance standard of 1.80 passengers per revenue hour. 
 

NCTD+ Performance 

NCTD+ boardings for April totaled 2,099, below the budgeted goal of 5,670 by 
63%. The budgeted goal includes ridership projections for NCTD+ Vista which 
launched in May to align with NCTD’s spring service change. April 2025 ridership 
projections for the San Marcos zone were 1,980. NCTD+ OTP was 85.5% for the 
month, below the minimum standard of 92%.  
 
Youth Opportunity Pass (YOP) Performance 

Youth pass usage for April 2025 totaled 85,528, a 19.5% decrease compared to 
April 2024. April 2025 data reflects the first month in which riders who had 
previously received temporary approval for YOP reduced fare were required to 
provide a document that proves they qualify for a Youth PRONTO account by 
March 31, 2025 to continue riding with the discount. If the deadline was missed, 
the account was converted back to standard Adult pricing.  
 

ATTACHMENT: 2A – Monthly Transit Operations Performance Report, April 2025 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: None 
 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Katie Persons, Director of Service Planning 
Email: kpersons@nctd.org Phone: 760-966-6683 



SYSTEM Performance (All Modes) Budget Goal1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 696,549 769,478 10.5% 693,883 10.9%

Average Weekday Boardings 24,421 28,687 17.5% 26,489 8.3%

Average Saturday Boardings 22,883 19,704 -13.9% 15,419 27.8%

Average Sunday Boardings 16,936 14,890 -12.1% 12,369 20.4%

BREEZE Performance
Budget Goal / 

Performance Standard1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 427,705 492,512 15.2% 444,397 10.8%

Average Weekday Boardings 15,363 18,463 20.2% 17,053 8.3%

Average Saturday Boardings 12,842 12,357 -3.8% 9,642 28.2%

Average Sunday Boardings 9,590 9,227 -3.8% 7,667 20.3%

Boardings per Revenue Hour 11.7 13.5 15.5% 12.7 6.8%

Percent of Scheduled Service Operated 99.98% 99.76% -0.2% 99.59% 0.2%

Major Mechanical Failures 35 30 -14.3% 50 -40.0%

Other Mechanical Failures 0 16 1600.0% 5 220.0%

Chargeable Accidents 5 17 240.0% 10 70.0%

On-time Performance 88.0% 84.6% -3.8% 83.3% 1.6%

Passenger Concerns 84 74 -11.9% 92 -19.6%

COASTER Performance
Budget Goal / 

Performance Standard1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 80,100 87,950 9.8% 72,390 21.5%

Average Weekday Boardings 2,391 3,019 26.2% 2,654 13.8%

Average Saturday Boardings 4,294 3,268 -23.9% 2,023 61.5%

Average Sunday Boardings 2,579 2,113 -18.1% 1,479 42.9%

Boardings per Revenue Hour 73.8 84.6 14.7% 68.6 23.5%

Percent of Scheduled Service Operated 100.0% 98.8% -1.2% 99.9% -1.1%

Major Mechanical Failures 2 0 -100.0% 0 0.0%

Other Mechanical Failures 0 0 0.0% 1 -100.0%

Chargeable Accidents 0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

On-time Performance 95.0% 92.3% -2.9% 96.2% -4.1%

Passenger Concerns 6 10 66.7% 7 42.9%

SPRINTER Performance
Budget Goal / 

Performance Standard1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 167,009 168,807 1.1% 162,993 3.6%

Average Weekday Boardings 5,857 6,406 9.4% 6,211 3.1%

Average Saturday Boardings 5,201 3,712 -28.6% 3,539 4.9%

Average Sunday Boardings 4,339 3,257 -24.9% 3,051 6.8%

Boardings per Revenue Hour 85.6 87.8 2.6% 85.2 3.1%

Percent of Scheduled Service Operated 100.0% 98.7% -1.3% 98.6% 0.1%

Major Mechanical Failures 1 5 400.0% 29 -82.8%

Other Mechanical Failures 0 0 0.0% 2 -100.0%

Chargeable Accidents 0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

On-time Performance 95.0% 96.6% 1.7% 96.0% 0.6%

Passenger Concerns 8 10 25.0% 11 -9.1%

FLEX Performance
Budget Goal / 

Performance Standard1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 5,831 9,577 64.2% 4,242 125.8%

Average Weekday Boardings 198 362 83.2% 156 132.1%

Average Saturday Boardings 218 217 -0.5% 112 93.8%

Average Sunday Boardings 153 185 20.7% 91 103.3%

Passengers per Revenue Hour 2.81 4.27 52.1% 3.01 41.6%
Major Mechanical Failures 2 1 -50.0% 0 100.0%

Other Mechanical Failures 0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

Chargeable Accidents 0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

On-time Performance 88.0% 88.4% 0.5% 86.8% 1.9%

Passenger Concerns 5 3 -40.0% 0 300.0%

LIFT Performance
Budget Goal / 

Performance Standard1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 10,234 8,533 -16.6% 9,861 -13.5%

Average Weekday Boardings 424 353 -16.8% 415 -14.9%

Average Saturday Boardings 140 117 -16.1% 103 13.6%

Average Sunday/Holiday Boardings 86 76 -11.6% 81 -6.2%

Passengers per Revenue Hour 1.80 2.02 12.1% 1.80 12.1%

Major Mechanical Failures2 2 4 100.0% 0 400.0%

Other Mechanical Failures2 0 2 200.0% 1 100.0%

Chargeable Accidents 1 0 -100.0% 0 0.0%

On-Time Performance 92.0% 89.2% -3.1% 93.9% -5.0%

Passenger Concerns 13 17 30.8% 13 30.8%

NCTD+ Performance
Budget Goal / 

Performance Standard1 April 2025
Variance from 
Goal/Standard

April 2024
Variance from 

Prior Year

Total Boardings 5,670 2,099 -63.0% 0 100.0%

Average Weekday Boardings 189 84 -55.6% 0 100.0%

Average Saturday Boardings 189 33 -82.5% 0 100.0%

Average Sunday Boardings 189 32 -83.1% 0 100.0%

Passengers per Revenue Hour 1.80 3.68 104.3% 0.00 100.0%

Chargeable Accidents 0 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

On-time Performance 92.0% 85.5% -7.1% 0.0% 100.0%

Passenger Concerns 3 1 -66.7% 0 100.0%

Median Wait Time (minutes) 20:00 15:29 -22.6% 00:00 0.0%

Transit Performance Report - April 2025

1 Budgeted goals are developed every fiscal year within budget documents and are based upon ridership projections and past performance while minimum performance standards are generally set forth in each 
modal operations and maintenance contract. Rail standards continue to adhere to the minimum performance standards established in past contracts.

ATTACHMENT 2A



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-003 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

3 

 

RECEIVE THE MARKETING, SERVICE PLANNING, AND BUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE CHAIR REPORT FOR THE JUNE 11, 
2025 MEETING 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☒ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Marketing, Service Planning, and Business Development Committee 
Chair Report for the June 11, 2025 meeting.  

 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

On June 11, 2025, at 12:00 p.m., the Marketing, Service Planning, and Business 
Development (MSPBD) Committee met as scheduled with a quorum of appointed 
members in attendance.  
 
MSPBD Committee Agenda Item No. 1 – Receive Marketing and 
Communications Program Update 

 
Mary Dover, Chief of Staff, provided an update of the FY25 Marketing and 
Communications program results and an overview of the FY26 Marketing and 
Communications strategy. 
 
Committee Member O’Hara was delighted to hear that NCTD has such a strong 
presence on social media. CEO Donaghy thanked the Marketing and 
Communications team for their efforts to engage with the community on 
informational and social media trends. O’Hara asked how many new 
viewers/followers NCTD gained. Ms. Dover responded that NCTD gained 5,000 
new Instagram followers and 8,000 link clicks on LinkedIn. O’Hara further asked 
of the 2,000 Youth Opportunity Passes (YOP) distributed at an outreach event, 
how many were actually activated and used. Ms. Dover responded that the 
Customer Experience team visits local schools and makes a concerted effort to 
engage with the youth and teach them about taking public transit. O’Hara also 
asked if NCTD is looking into new social media platforms or even an NCTD 
podcast to include members of the community and staff interviews and their 
experiences in riding transit. CEO Donaghy responded that this endeavor is 
already in the works.  
 
Committee Member Joyce commented that he would like to see NCTD partner 
with local radio podcasts and local filmmakers to highlight positive riding 
experiences. He suggested that NCTD be involved in the Dia de los Muertos 
Festival in the fall and perhaps include a SPRINTER ride as part of the event. Ms. 
Dover responded that NCTD has been leaning into celebrating the communities 
it serves and attending events each month and will continue to look for 
opportunities to be more involved. Committee Member Joyce also asked if there 
is any partnership with Frontwave Arena to potentially drive more ridership on the 
SPRINTER. CEO Donaghy added that NCTD continues to have conversations 
with Frontwave Arena staff to encourage riders to take the SPRINTER to their 
events.  
 
Committee Vice-Chair Garcia commented about Dia de los Muertos in Escondido 
and the possibility of connecting with the Oceanside event. He thanked NCTD for 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-003 

the direct community engagement that has helped an Escondido customer with a 
disability take transit. He encouraged NCTD to seek Board Member engagement 
at any of the city’s community events.  
 
MSPBD Committee Agenda Item No. 2 – Receive Update on Customer 
Feedback Trends and Initiatives 
 
Alicia Peat-Watson, Director of Customer Experience, and Mary Dover, Chief of 
Staff, presented a summary of the trends and observations from feedback 
received from customers to date for FY2025.  
 
Committee Member O’Hara commented on the different variables in the customer 
feedback report. He is glad NCTD is not just looking at statistics, rather, is being 
proactive in addressing customer concerns. Ms. Peat-Watson added that NCTD 
appreciates receiving all feedback from customers as it helps staff gain insight 
into ways to improve the District’s services. 
 
Committee Vice-Chair Garcia shared a personal experience on the SPRINTER 
with his family. He mentioned that there is a feeling of safety at the Escondido 
Transit Center. He encourages security and staff to be ambassadors and help out 
the community.  
 
 

ATTACHMENT(S): 3A – Marketing and Communications Program Update Presentation 
3B – Customer Feedback Trends and Initiatives Presentation 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

 
This staff report has no fiscal impact. 

  

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Mary Dover, Chief of Staff 
E-mail: mdover@nctd.org Phone: 760-967-2895 

 



Receive 
Marketing and 

Communications 
Program Update

MSBPD Committee
June 11, 2025

ATTACHMENT 3A 



Marketing and Communications 
Program

Social Media Advertising

1

Outreach and Events

Media Relations



2
2

FY 2025



3

CY 2024 Advertising Deliverables

23+ 
million

Impressions

24% -
35%

Click through rate 
(Google)

6+ 
million

Video views

10+ 
million
Users reached

36%-
53%

Engagement rate 
(YouTube)

$0.03-
$0.54

Cost per completed 
view/cost per click

96%-
98%

Completion rate 
(CTV/OTT)



4

Social Media Trends



5

Informational 
Social Media



6

Social Media Growth

26% 
increase
Instagram followers

152% 
increase

LinkedIn engagement

43% 
increase

Instagram impressions

222% 
increase

Link clicks 
(LinkedIn)



7

Service Utilization

8% 
increase

Ridership 
(FY24 vs. FY23)

2,000+
new

YOP passes 
issued/verified

7.7% 
increase

Weekday avg. ridership 
(Padres season 24 vs. 23)

183% 
increase
Fair Tripper passes 

sold since 2022

6.1% 
increase

Weekday avg. ridership 
(SD Fair 24 vs. 23)



FY 2026



Questions?

9



MSPBD Committee

June 11, 2025

ATTACHMENT 3B 
 

Receive Update on 
Customer Feedback 
Trends and Initiatives 



1

Compliments by Department

Compliments for FY25 are trending higher this year when compared to FY24. 
The increase is due to more compliments for BREEZE operators.  

FY25 vs FY24 Compliments by Department Quarter Comparison by Department



2

FY25 Feedback by Department

Of the 1,604 customer feedback reports received in FY25, roughly 67% (1,069) are 
specific to modal operations. The remaining 33% (535) pertain to ROW/MOW, 
Security, Customer Service, Facilities, Service Planning and to a lesser extent, Safety. 

Our reporting methodology is department-based instead of mode based to avoid unfairly attributing feedback not directly related to the service operations to a 

particular mode. 



3

Customer Feedback by Mode Weighted 
Ridership

BREEZE / COASTER / SPRINTER 100k trips

LIFT / FLEX / NCTD+ 1k trips



4

Core Category Definitions 
• Claims and Accidents - Feedback related to any claims or accidents in various departments.

• Equipment – Feedback involving faulty equipment, damaged or dirty vehicles, automated announcements, door 
malfunctions, HVAC, ADA ramp deployment, signal issues and IT requests.

• Facilities – graffiti removal , station cleanliness, electrical, landscaping, plumbing  issues. 

• Operator – Feedback involving refusal of service, rude, dangerous driving, off-route, closed door on passenger, 
left before passenger seated.

• Paratransit – Issues with EZ-wallet, Information requests, mobility device, MTS Access transfer point, 
Reservationist/Dispatch, Service Area, Time Onboard Vehicle Violation.

• Planning – Bus Stop Amenities request, Bus Stop request, Marketing request, Service Request, Wayfinding 
signage. 

• Policy – Feedback related to E-bikes, Horns-trains, Policy disputes, PRONTO/Fare Issue.

• Safety – Feedback safety issues. 

• Security – Customer altercations involving verbal or physical altercations with each other or staff members, 
trespassers, security issues such as break ins, dangerous items & weapons, and other security related incidents.

• Service – Feedback involving transit services including late, or early service, pass-by, missed stop requests, no-
shows, cancelations.  



5

Systemwide Customer Feedback 

Systemwide FY25 feedback is trending slightly higher this fiscal year when compared to 
last year. The increase is due to more service-related complaints, security concerns, facility 
issues and service planning requests. Conversely, there have been reductions regarding 
Operator behavior and equipment issues. 

FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Core Category FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Sub-Code



6

BREEZE Customer Feedback 

FY25 feedback is trending lower than FY24 quarter over quarter. Majority of the feedback 
received is regarding service issues and operator behavior. The top five sub-codes continue 
to remain the same year over year.

FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Core Category FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Sub-Code



7

COASTER Customer Feedback 

FY25 feedback is trending slightly higher than FY24. The increase is due to more feedback 
regarding capacity issues, rude conductors and timeliness of service. 

FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Sub-CodeFY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Core Category 



8

SPRINTER Customer Feedback 

FY25 feedback is trending higher than FY24 quarter over quarter. The increase in feedback 
is due to capacity concerns and service cancelations. 

FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Core Category FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Sub-Code



9

LIFT Customer Feedback 

FY25 feedback is trending lower than FY24 quarter over quarter, with 161 this year versus 
192 last year. Issues with Reservationist and or Dispatch as well as late service make up 
most of the feedback received this year. 

FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Core Category FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Sub-Code



10

FLEX Customer Feedback 

FY25 feedback is trending higher than FY24 quarter over quarter. Late service and pass-
by/left passenger make up 44% of the feedback this year. 

FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Core Category FY25 vs FY24 Comparison by Sub-Code



11

Customer Experience Enhancement
• Customer Experience conducts monthly meetings with NCTD’s modal operation 

teams. The meetings are intended to increase the focus on improving the 
customer experience and to ensure areas of improvement are addressed.
• Identify areas of concern and trends
• Discuss resolution of individual cases 
• Support with training

• Community Outreach
• Senior Community Centers
• Senior Living Homes
• Recovery Centers

• School Campus Events
• 42 on Campus events in FY25
• 10 -150 PRONTO cards each event 



Questions?

12



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-004 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

4 

 

RECEIVE THE UNAUDITED QUARTERLY INVESTMENT REPORT 
FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF FY2025 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Unaudited Quarterly Investment Report (unaudited) for the Third 
Quarter of FY2025 (January 1, 2025 through March 31, 2025). 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

Pursuant to the North County Transit District’s (NCTD) Board Policy No. 9, 
Investment Policy (Board Policy No. 9), the Chief Financial Officer, acting as 
NCTD’s Treasurer, submits a Quarterly Investment Report to the Board. The 
Quarterly Investment Report provides unaudited information on investment 
portfolio performance and includes a listing of the current investment portfolio, the 
compliance or non-compliance of the investments with the investment policy, and 
the ability of the investment portfolio to provide the necessary liquidity to meet the 
expenditure requirements of NCTD for the next six months. The table below lists 
NCTD's cash and investment balances as of March 31, 2025: 

Cash and Investments Book Value Market Value 
Annual 
Yield 

State of California Local Agency 
Investment Fund (LAIF) $74,540,037 $74,540,037 4.58% 

County of San Diego 
Investment Pool $43,737,505 $43,737,505 3.69% 

JPMorgan Chase Checking  $6,399,498 $6,399,498 3.40% 

Total Cash and Investments $124,677,040 $124,677,040 4.21% 

 
The LAIF and County of San Diego investments are liquid and funds may be 
accessed for immediate needs. As required by Board Policy No. 9, the Chief 
Financial Officer, as Treasurer, certifies that the investment portfolio is in 
compliance with NCTD’s Board of Directors’ investment policy. The Treasurer 
also certifies that the investment portfolio provides the necessary liquidity to meet 
NCTD’s expenditures for the next six months, provided that grant-funding 
authorities continue to disburse funds to NCTD on a timely basis. 

The variance between cash and investments per this report and the Statement of 
Financial Position amount as of March 31, 2025, for Cash and Investments, is 
related to cash held in ticket vending machines, petty cash, cash in transit held 
by armored services, and cash managed by third parties for payment of workers’ 
compensation claims. The table below summarizes the balance of cash and 
investments and annual investment yield on March 31, 2025, compared to March 
31, 2024. 

 3/31/2025 3/31/2024 Change % 

Cash and Investments  $124,677,040 $102,550,498 21.58% 

Annual Investment Yield  4.21% 3.97% 6.05% 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-004 

For the quarter ended March 31, 2025, LAIF reported a quarterly yield of 4.34% 
and the San Diego County Investment Pool reported an annualized yield of 3.75% 
for their entire portfolios.  
 

ATTACHMENT: None 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: None 
 

STAFF CONTACT: Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer 
E-mail: eparklynch@nctd.org Phone: 760-967-2858 

 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-005 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

5 

 

RECEIVE THE UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL REPORT FOR 
THE THIRD QUARTER OF FY2025 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the unaudited Quarterly Financial Report for the third quarter of FY2025 
(FY2025-Q3) (January 1, 2025 through March 31, 2025). 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

The attached Financial Report provides unaudited financial information that 
includes the Statements of Net Position; Statements of Revenue, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position; Statements of Revenues and Expenses by Department; 
Fare Recovery Ratios; Sources of Operating Grants Revenue; Ridership by 
Mode; and a financial performance narrative explaining the significant variances 
between actual results compared to the same period in the prior year and to the 
budget. Below are some of the financial highlights for FY2025-Q3: 
 

• Cash and investments of $125 million as of March 31, 2025 

• Operating income of $2.5 million for the nine months of FY2025 (excluding 
depreciation and loss on disposal of assets) 

• Operating expenses lower by $21.9 million compared to the budget 
(excluding depreciation) for the nine months of FY2025 

• Capital projects expenditures of $40.7 million for the nine months of 
FY2025 

 

ATTACHMENT: 5A – FY2025-Q3 Financial Report 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 
 

None 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer 
E-mail: eparklynch@nctd.org Phone: 760-967-2858 

 



For the Period 
January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 

(FY2025-Q3) 

FINANCIAL REPORT 

ATTACHMENT 5A



Table of Contents

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ...................................................................................................................... 1 

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION ............................................................................................................. 2 

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION .................................. 5 

FY2025-Q3 OVERVIEW ............................................................................................................................... 8 

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES BY DEPARTMENT ...................................................... 9 

FARE RECOVERY RATIOS ....................................................................................................................... 10 

SOURCES OF OPERATING GRANTS REVENUE.................................................................................... 11 

RIDERSHIP BY MODE (FY2022 – FY2025-Q3) ........................................................................................ 12



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 1

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

Economic Environment 

According to the estimate released by the U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis on May 29, 2025, 
the US Real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) decreased at an annual rate of 0.2% in the first 
quarter of 2025. The World Bank predicts that the U.S economy will grow 1.4% in 2025, down 
from a projected 2.3%.  

The San Diego region is experiencing a significant decline in the labor force with one of the main 
reasons being a growing affordability crisis due to the high cost of living in the region. San Diego's 
job growth is lagging behind the state, with a trend of young people leaving due to high living 
costs. A May 2025 inflation report showed the San Diego region having one of the highest inflation 
rates in the nation.  

After experiencing extraordinary growth in the three years following the onset of the COVID-19 
public health emergency (FY2021-FY2023), sales tax revenue recorded negative growth in 
FY2024. SANDAG initially anticipated the dip in FY2024 to be a one-time occurrence; however, 
sales tax data in the first half of FY2025 pointed to another year of negative growth. In February 
2025, SANDAG lowered its forecast for sales tax collections for FY2025, which represented a 
reduction of $1.7 million for FY2025 and $19.4 million in the next five years. 

Report Highlights 

For the nine months ended March 31, 2025 (FY2025-Q3), customer ridership increased by 10.9% 
compared to the same period in the prior year. The most significant recovery (in terms of individual 
riders) was for BREEZE, which was higher by 12.8%. For the nine months ended March 31, 2025, 
net operating income was $2.5 million (excluding depreciation and loss on disposal of assets) and 
operating expenses (excluding depreciation, which is not budgeted) were lower by $21.9 million 
compared to the budget.  



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 2

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

June 30, 

2024

(Audited)

September 30, 

2024

(Unaudited)

December 31, 

2024

(Unaudited)

March 31, 

2025

(Unaudited)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and investments 109,036,254$  93,948,334$    118,575,754$  125,002,887$  

Investments with fiscal agent 1,839,741 1,806,851 1,814,313 1,830,008

Accounts receivable 6,715,342 7,457,868 3,958,229 5,668,872

Grants receivable 40,446,699 49,518,838 37,723,588 22,606,343

Lease receivables 221,180 221,180 221,180 221,180

Parts and supplies inventory 1,916,454 1,916,454 1,916,454 1,916,454

Prepaid expenses 3,054,473 4,157,666 3,850,391 5,755,137

Restricted assets 4,501,679 3,154,650 6,330,523 61,107,486

        Total current assets 167,731,822 162,181,841 174,390,432 224,108,367

Noncurrent assets

Lease receivables - due in more than one year 17,335,998 17,335,998 17,335,998 17,335,998

Capital assets

Nondepreciable capital assets 237,803,541 250,331,812 243,727,597 244,325,205

Depreciable capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 528,481,392 510,933,072 505,783,139 500,911,484

Right-to-use assets, net of accumulated amortization 5,756,467 5,756,467 5,756,467 5,756,467

            Total capital assets 772,041,400 767,021,351 755,267,203 750,993,156

    Total assets 957,109,220$  946,539,190$  946,993,633$  992,437,521$  

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Accumulated decrease in fair value of interest rate swap 527,574 926,385 509,471 657,985

Outflows of resources as related to pension 11,671,972 11,671,972 11,671,972 11,671,972

Outflows of resources as related to OPEB 382,900 382,900 382,900 382,900

    Total deferred outflows of resources 12,582,446 12,981,257 12,564,343 12,712,857

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities payable from current assets

Accounts payable 27,204,365$    20,993,175$    21,884,689$    19,037,152$    

Accrued liabilities 887,296 2,405,009 1,875,927 2,998,116

Deposits payable 325,094 331,696 78,941 193,558

Lease payable - due within one year 397,746 397,746 397,746 397,746

SBITA payable - due within one year 1,052,997 1,052,997 1,052,997 1,052,997

Unearned grant revenue - due within one year 19,831,521 23,314,326 28,724,942 28,345,453

Certificates of participation - due within one year 1,400,000 - -                       --

Claims payable - due within one year 2,256,957 2,256,957 2,256,957 1,256,957

Compensated absences - due within one year 2,017,176 1,847,919 2,010,328 1,830,664

        Total current liabilities payable from current assets 55,373,152 52,599,825 58,282,527 55,112,643

Noncurrent liabilities

Certificates of participation - due in more than one year 16,350,000 16,350,000 16,350,000 16,350,000

Lease payable - due in more than one year 352,282 352,282 352,282 352,282

SBITA payable - due in more than one year 3,937,953 3,937,953 3,937,953 3,937,953

Claims payable - due in more than one year 1,428,717 1,428,717 1,428,717 1,428,717

Compensated absences due in more than one year 32,019 32,019 32,019 32,019

Net other post employment benefits obligation 4,165,725 4,165,725 4,165,725 4,165,725

Unearned grant revenue - due in more than one year 54,031,450 55,045,272 60,200,620 112,317,940

Net Pension liability 44,686,566 40,043,980 40,043,980 40,043,980

Negative fair value of interest rate swap 527,574 926,385 509,471 657,985

        Total noncurrent liabilities 125,512,286 122,282,333 127,020,767 179,286,601

    Total liabilities 180,885,438$  174,882,158$  185,303,294$  234,399,244$  

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Inflows of resources related to leases 16,092,825 16,092,825 16,092,825 16,092,825

Inflows of resources related to OPEB 656,282 656,282 656,282 656,282

    Total deferred inflows of resources 16,749,107 16,749,107 16,749,107 16,749,107

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 749,605,848$  746,737,224$  734,990,538$  730,732,186$  

Unrestricted 22,451,273 21,151,958 22,515,037 23,269,841

    Total net position 772,057,121$  767,889,182$  757,505,575$  754,002,027$  



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 3

Significant Balances 

Significant balances as of each period are as follows: 

As of March 31, 2025, cash and investments increased primarily as result of cash receipts from 
receivables that were outstanding in the prior quarter.   

Accounts Receivable 

The balances in accounts receivable are comprised of the following amounts: 

As of March 31, 2025, the outstanding balance past 90 days was $191,800. 

June 30, 

2024

(Audited)

September 30, 

2024

(Unaudited)

December 31, 

2024

(Unaudited)

March 31, 

2025

(Unaudited)

Assets

Cash and investments 109,036,254$  93,948,334$    118,575,754$  125,002,887$  

Receivables 47,383,221 57,197,886 41,902,997 28,496,395

Capital assets, net 772,041,400 767,021,351 755,267,203 750,993,156

Liabilities

Accounts payable 28,091,661 23,398,184 23,760,616 22,035,268

Unearned grant revenue 73,862,971 78,359,598 88,925,562 140,663,393

Certificates of participation 17,750,000 16,350,000 16,350,000 16,350,000

Net pension liability 44,686,566 40,043,980 40,043,980 40,043,980

Net position 772,057,121 767,889,182 757,505,575 754,002,027

June 30, 

2024

 (Audited)

September 30, 

2024

 (Unaudited)

December 31, 

2024

 (Unaudited)

March 31, 

2025

 (Unaudited)

Shared Use Agreements 1,573,073 1,602,336 526,064 1,943,716

Interest 1,159,142 1,074,569 1,191,196 1,370,744

Fare Revenue 978,412 942,038 804,984 914,472

San Diego Association of Governments 906,638 2,742,757 86,887 596,069

Compressed Natural Gas and

   Low Carbon Fuel Standards credits 1,538,135 636,586 826,114 383,000

Leases 287,564 143,322 205,489 82,300

Other 272,378 316,260 317,495 378,571

6,715,342$     7,457,868$     3,958,229$     5,668,872$     



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 4

Grants Receivable 

Grants Receivable represents reimbursement requests for projects being funded by federal, state, 
and local grants. The balances in grants receivable are comprised of the following amounts: 

Accounts Payable  

The balances in accounts payable are comprised of the following amounts: 

June 30, 

2024

 (Audited)

September 30, 

2024

 (Unaudited)

December 31, 

2024

 (Unaudited)

March 31, 

2025

 (Unaudited)

Federal Transit Administration 29,394,060 34,639,057 25,031,169 8,687,235

California Department of Transportation 3,568,892 5,623,307 3,580,801 4,974,662

San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District 3,199,968 3,199,968 3,200,000 3,200,000

California State Transportation Agency 341,143 1,361,511 1,714,711 2,093,998

California Energy Commission 307,477 307,477 307,477 1,520,043

San Diego Association of Governments 2,423,474 2,748,227 2,559,540 1,511,699

Federal Railroad Administration 556,483 417,325 154,889 487,386

Other 550,884 933,390 927,569 131,321

California Transportation Commission 104,318 288,576 247,432 -

40,446,699$ 49,518,838$   37,723,588$  22,606,343$  

June 30, 

2024

 (Audited)

September 30, 

2024

 (Unaudited)

December 31, 

2024

 (Unaudited)

March 31, 

2025

 (Unaudited)

Purchased Transportation 11,302,244$   11,242,148$   11,309,545$   8,933,915$     

Maintenance Contracts 3,452,614 2,131,712 2,329,608 3,983,878

Capital Projects 5,428,321 1,190,763 1,740,388 1,697,879

Security 750,014 966,936 920,136 1,076,670

Utilities 1,258,760 856,911 994,999 1,046,068

Fuel 512,660 525,750 635,428 813,617

IT, Software, and Licenses 1,333,192 2,836,183 933,368 638,988

Flagging 344,010 13,078 102,547 81,478

Payroll Liabilities 509,654 29,601 95,642 16,148

Insurance - - 1,466,933 -

Other 2,312,896 1,200,093 1,356,095 748,511

27,204,365$   20,993,175$   21,884,689$   19,037,152$   



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 5

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

These statements are presented in three sections: 

(1) Operating income or loss, which is operating revenues (fare revenues, lease and 
advertising, right-of-way auxiliary revenues, and other operating revenue) minus operating 
expenses and depreciation. 

(2) Income or loss before capital contributions, which is operating income or loss plus/minus 
other nonoperating revenues and expenses, such as grant revenues, investment income, 
and debt related expense. 

(3) Change in net position is income or loss before capital contributions plus additions of grant 
revenues used for capital programs resulting in the net income or loss. 

(4) This financial report provides the unaudited Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position for the first nine months of FY2025 (YTD) compared to the same 
period in the prior fiscal year.



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 6

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
CURRENT YEAR VS. PRIOR YEAR 

FY2025-Q1 

Actual

(Unaudited)

FY2025-Q2 

Actual

(Unaudited)

FY2025-Q3 

Actual

(Unaudited)

YTD

March 31, 

FY2025 

Actual

(Unaudited)

YTD

March 31, 

FY2024 

Actual

(Unaudited)

Variance

($)

Variance

(%)

OPERATING REVENUES

Fare Revenue 2,928,074$   2,704,664$    2,635,508$   8,268,246$     7,828,357$       439,889$       5.6%

Advertising and right-of-way 3,150,618 3,198,475 2,813,694 9,162,787 9,339,104 (176,317) -1.9%

Lease and sublease revenue 726,517 730,979 401,428 1,858,924 1,851,514 7,410 0.4%

Other revenue 610,728 873,325 524,161 2,008,214 1,756,558 251,656 14.3%

Total operating revenues 7,415,937 7,507,443 6,374,791 21,298,171 20,775,533 522,638 2.5%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Bus operations

Vehicle operations 9,287,857 10,164,579 9,813,546 29,265,982 29,548,880 (282,898) -1.0%

Vehicle maintenance 2,863,102 2,953,284 3,031,470 8,847,856 7,259,955 1,587,901 21.9%

Non-vehicle maintenance 1,666,839 1,669,331 1,733,876 5,070,046 4,169,490 900,556 21.6%

Administration 4,609,934 4,761,273 4,707,236 14,078,443 12,682,924 1,395,519 11.0%

Rail operations

Vehicle operations 5,511,541 4,755,869 5,422,184 15,689,594 15,007,852 681,742 4.5%

Vehicle maintenance 3,067,396 4,096,860 2,987,561 10,151,817 9,265,024 886,793 9.6%

Non-vehicle maintenance 3,543,688 3,492,467 4,096,496 11,132,651 8,406,770 2,725,881 32.4%

Administration 5,973,622 5,981,266 5,091,774 17,046,662 17,724,659 (677,997) -3.8%

Right-of-way operations 2,643,611 2,468,344 2,544,043 7,655,998 7,313,257 342,741 4.7%

Depreciation 17,503,332 23,392,345 20,353,239 61,248,916 61,062,809 186,107 0.3%

Total operating expenses 56,670,922 63,735,618 59,781,425 180,187,965 172,441,620 7,746,345 4.5%

Operating loss (49,254,985) (56,228,175) (53,406,634) (158,889,794) (151,666,087) (7,223,707) 4.8%

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)  

Operating grants 32,143,292 33,216,780 32,995,941 98,356,013 92,932,758 5,423,255 5.8%

Investment income 598,204 737,692 883,737 2,219,633 1,772,921 446,712 25.2%

Debt related expense (157,421) (126,914) (121,137) (405,472) (456,327) 50,855 -11.1%

Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets (36,079) 33,075 (1,591) (4,595) (25,444) 20,849 -81.9%

Total non-operating revenues 32,547,996 33,860,633 33,756,950 100,165,579 94,223,908 5,941,671 6.3%

Loss before capital contributions (16,706,989) (22,367,542) (19,649,684) (58,724,215) (57,442,179) (1,282,036) 2.2%

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Capital grants 12,539,050 11,983,935 16,146,136 40,669,121 36,193,422 4,475,699 12.4%

Total capital contributions 12,539,050 11,983,935 16,146,136 40,669,121 36,193,422 4,475,699 12.4%

Change in Net Position (4,167,939)$  (10,383,607)$ (3,503,548)$  (18,055,094)$  (21,248,757)$    3,193,663$    -15.0%

Operating income excluding depreciation 

and loss on disposal of assets

832,422$      991,728$       705,146$      2,529,296$     3,646,074$       (1,116,778)$   -30.6%



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 7

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
ACTUAL VS. BUDGET 

YTD

March 31, 

FY2025 

Actual

YTD

March 31, 

FY2025 

Budget

Over (Under) 

Budget ($)

Over (Under) 

Budget (%)

OPERATING REVENUES

Fare Revenue 8,268,246$       7,351,042$       917,204$          12.5%

Advertising and right-of-way 9,162,787 8,743,222 419,565 4.8%

Lease and sublease revenue 1,858,924 1,771,497 87,427 4.9%

Other revenue 2,008,214 995,200 1,013,014 101.8%

Total operating revenues 21,298,171 18,860,961 2,437,210 12.9%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Bus operations

Vehicle operations 29,265,982 32,689,901 (3,423,919) -10.5%

Vehicle maintenance 8,847,856 8,964,305 (116,449) -1.3%

Non-vehicle maintenance 5,070,046 5,137,739 (67,693) -1.3%

Administration 14,078,443 18,833,596 (4,755,153) -25.2%

Rail operations

Vehicle operations 15,689,594 18,786,648 (3,097,054) -16.5%

Vehicle maintenance 10,151,817 10,931,402 (779,585) -7.1%

Non-vehicle maintenance 11,132,651 11,408,099 (275,448) -2.4%

Administration 17,046,662 22,071,750 (5,025,088) -22.8%

Right-of-way operations 7,655,998 11,847,159 (4,191,161) -35.4%

Depreciation 61,248,916 - 61,248,916 N/A

Total operating expenses 180,187,965 140,670,599 39,517,366 28.1%

Operating loss (158,889,794) (121,809,638) (37,080,156) 30.4%

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)  

Operating grants 98,356,013 121,591,781 (23,235,768) -19.1%

Investment income 2,219,633 750,000 1,469,633 196.0%

Debt related expense (405,472) (555,200) 149,728 -27.0%

Loss on disposal of capital assets (4,595) - (4,595) N/A

Total non-operating revenues 100,165,579 121,786,581 (21,621,002) -17.8%

Loss before capital contributions (58,724,215) (23,057) (58,701,158) NCM

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

    Capital grants 40,669,121 - 40,669,121 NCM

Total capital contributions 40,669,121 - 40,669,121 NCM

Change in Net Position (18,055,094)$   (23,057)$          (18,032,037)$   NCM

Operating income excluding depreciation 

and loss on disposal of assets

2,529,296$       (23,057)$          2,552,353$       NCM



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 8

FY2025-Q3 OVERVIEW 

COMPARISON TO THE PRIOR YEAR  

Operating revenues for the first nine months of FY2025 were higher by $0.5 million compared to 
the same period in FY2024, which was due to higher fare revenues and higher credits from the 
District’s Renewable Identification Number (RIN) and state Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS) 
programs.  

Total operating expenses, excluding depreciation, were higher by $7.6 million for the first nine 
months of FY2025 compared to the same period in FY2024. Major drivers for the increase in 
expenses included $4.0 million for salaries and wages due to the insourcing of facilities 
custodians, district-wide cost of living wage adjustments, and filled vacancies; $0.9 million from 
rail vehicles maintenance costs; $1.5 million for contractual adjustment in purchased 
transportation with MV Transportation; and $1.7 million increased law enforcement and security 
costs.  

Non-operating revenues and expenses consist primarily of federal, state, and local grants utilized 
to fund transit operations and preventive maintenance. Operating grant revenues for the first nine 
months of FY2025 were higher by $5.4 million compared to the same period in FY2024 due to 
increased reimbursements from federal funds for maintenance expenses. 

COMPARISON TO BUDGET 

Operating revenues were higher than budget by $2.4 million mainly due to higher fare revenues 
driven by increased ridership and higher RIN/LCFS program revenues.  

Operating expenses (excluding depreciation which is not budgeted) for the first nine months of 
FY2025 were lower than budget by $21.9 million. Employee payroll expenses, including benefits, 
were lower than budget by $2.9 million due to position vacancies. Professional and consulting 
services across all departments (mainly in engineering, maintenance of way and signals, service 
planning, bus operations, development services, facilities, and information technology) were 
under budget by $9.2 million due to budgeted expenses that have not yet materialized in the fiscal 
year.  Fuel budget was under budget by $3.5 million as market prices have been below budgeted 
assumptions for diesel, compressed natural gas (CNG), and unleaded gasoline. Final costs 
associated with purchased transportation for the MV contract will be determined at the end of the 
fiscal year upon completion of the quarterly true-up audits.  

Reimbursements from federal preventive maintenance funds are directly associated with the level 
of expenditures as reimbursements cannot exceed costs incurred. Lower revenues than budgeted 
are due to lower expenses than budgeted. 



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 9

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES BY DEPARTMENT 
ACTUAL VS. PRIOR YEAR AND BUDGET 

DEPARTMENT

Actual

FY2024 

Q3 YTD

Actual

FY2025 

Q3 YTD

Budget **

FY2025 

Q3 YTD

Over (Under)

Budget

($)

Over (Under)

Budget

(%)

REVENUE

FAREBOX REVENUES 7,828,357 8,268,246 7,351,042 917,204 12.5%

GRANT REVENUE

FEDERAL GRANTS 20,138,614 41,530,017 44,364,373 (2,834,356) -6.4%

STATE GRANTS 6,858,711 5,763,410 14,172,025 (8,408,615) -59.3%

LOCAL GRANTS 65,935,433 51,062,586 63,055,383 (11,992,797) -19.0%

OTHER REVENUES 2,858,140 2,804,408 1,549,245 1,255,163 81.0%

INVESTMENT INCOME 1,772,922 2,219,633 750,000 1,469,633 196.0%

REVENUES - MAINTENANCE OF WAY 8,231,013 8,361,221 8,189,177 172,044 2.1%

REVENUES - REAL ESTATE 1,858,022 1,864,296 1,771,497 92,799 5.2%

REVENUE TOTAL 115,481,212 121,873,817 141,202,742 (19,328,925) -13.7%

EXPENSES

130 - BUS OPERATIONS AND FLEET MAINTENANCE 38,393,616 40,286,188 44,292,000 (4,005,812) -9.0%

150 - COASTER OPERATORS * - 3,144,471 3,928,545 (784,074) -20.0%

155 - SPRINTER OPERATORS * - 2,367,097 2,591,352 (224,255) -8.7%

160 - RAIL OPERATIONS 10,605,191 4,525,101 6,753,309 (2,228,208) -33.0%

165 - OPERATIONS CONTROL CENTER 1,967,310 2,212,849 2,291,094 (78,245) -3.4%

175 - RAIL VEHICLES MAINTENANCE 9,678,867 9,570,151 10,537,927 (967,776) -9.2%

180 - NON-REVENUE VEHICLES AND SPECIALITY EQUIPMENT 441,970 814,909 1,322,564 (507,655) -38.4%

185 - MAINTENANCE OF SIGNAL 2,614,151 4,987,399 5,554,557 (567,158) -10.2%

220 - FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 7,920,050 9,462,765 10,526,423 (1,063,658) -10.1%

230 - SECURITY OVERSIGHT 4,589,723 6,182,459 5,568,215 614,244 11.0%

240 - DEVELOPMENT SERVICES OVERSIGHT 1,397,995 2,279,527 2,980,143 (700,616) -23.5%

245 - PROJECT MANAGEMENT OFFICE * - 353,072 458,071 (104,999) -22.9%

250 - RAIL TECHNOLOGIES 1,446,629 583,349 1,140,694 (557,345) -48.9%

260 - SERVICE PLANNING 1,534,165 1,072,573 2,189,342 (1,116,769) -51.0%

261 - SAFETY OVERSIGHT 6,873,810 1,151,434 1,370,232 (218,798) -16.0%

270 - COMMUNICATIONS AND MARKETING 1,471,906 1,020,570 1,970,788 (950,218) -48.2%

280 - TRANSIT SYSTEMS MANAGEMENT * - 374,517 728,212 (353,695) -48.6%

290 - ACCOUNTING 475,889 518,500 603,275 (84,775) -14.1%

300 - REVENUE COLLECTION 502,242 313,158 574,762 (261,604) -45.5%

320 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 4,743,183 5,076,499 5,842,467 (765,968) -13.1%

330 - PROCUREMENT AND CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION 1,009,777 1,185,366 1,158,804 26,562 2.3%

335 - GOVERNMENT RELATIONS 377,445 676,850 758,062 (81,212) -10.7%

337 - GRANTS 313,333 215,402 300,645 (85,243) -28.4%

339 - ADMINISTRATION 616,901 440,316 856,412 (416,096) -48.6%

340 - FINANCIAL OVERSIGHT 903,617 904,954 1,162,402 (257,448) -22.1%

350 - HUMAN RESOURCES 1,106,255 1,354,372 1,774,832 (420,460) -23.7%

351 - TRAINING 872,255 1,157,577 1,341,388 (183,811) -13.7%

356 - ENGINEERING 1,519,795 1,373,989 2,503,408 (1,129,419) -45.1%

357 - GENERAL COUNSEL 1,822,591 7,884,506 9,239,949 (1,355,443) -14.7%

359 - DEVELOPMENT SERVICES SUPPORT SERVICES 435,833 314,310 387,264 (72,954) -18.8%

360 - OFFICE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 634,100 366,914 777,876 (410,962) -52.8%

365 - CUSTOMER SERVICE 1,207,720 1,010,933 1,202,958 (192,025) -16.0%

370 - BOARD OF DIRECTORS 33,716 27,585 65,995 (38,410) -58.2%

400 - OPERATIONS SUPPORT SERVICES 261,143 203,168 291,406 (88,238) -30.3%

510 - MAINTENANCE OF WAY 4,406,330 4,358,750 5,728,905 (1,370,155) -23.9%

515 - RAIL RIGHT OF WAY OVERSIGHT 277,114 400,241 875,304 (475,063) -54.3%

520 - REAL ESTATE 924,189 767,228 1,021,017 (253,789) -24.9%

600 - DEBT 456,327 405,472 555,200 (149,728) -27.0%

OPERATING EXPENSE TOTAL 111,835,138 119,344,521 141,225,799 (21,881,278) -15.5%

OPERATING INCOME EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION

AND LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 3,646,074$       2,529,296$       (23,057)$           2,552,353$       NCM

* New departments in FY25.

** Includes budget transfers during the fiscal year.



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 10

FARE RECOVERY RATIOS 

Fare Recovery Ratio as Reported to the California State Controller's Office (With Local Support) (a)

BREEZE, FLEX, COASTER, 

SPRINTER, and NCTD+

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q2 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q3 

YTD

Fare revenue and local support 35,631,103$    39,423,871$    44,562,602$    Not reported Not reported Not reported

Operating Costs 107,448,402$  120,329,443$  130,519,772$  Not reported Not reported Not reported

Fares plus Local Funds Recovery Ratio: 33.2% 32.8% 34.1% Not reported Not reported Not reported

LIFT (PARATRANSIT)

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q2 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q3 

YTD

Fare revenue and local support 1,087,970$      1,789,172$      1,675,401$      Not reported Not reported Not reported

Operating Costs 8,735,519$      10,682,711$    12,913,004$    Not reported Not reported Not reported

Fares plus Local Funds Recovery Ratio: 12.5% 16.7% 13.0% Not reported Not reported Not reported

Fare Recovery Ratio as Reported to the California State Controller's Office (Without Local Support) 
(b)

BREEZE, FLEX, COASTER, 

SPRINTER, and NCTD+

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q2 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q3 

YTD

Fare Revenue 8,153,922$      10,646,706$    11,157,611$    Not reported Not reported Not reported

Operating Costs 107,377,052$  120,329,443$  130,519,772$  Not reported Not reported Not reported

Fare Recovery Ratio 7.6% 8.8% 8.5% Not reported Not reported Not reported

LIFT (PARATRANSIT)

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q2 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q3 

YTD

Fare Revenue 621,970$         574,994$         808,434$         Not reported Not reported Not reported
Operating Costs 8,717,490$      10,682,711$    12,913,004$    Not reported Not reported Not reported

Fare Recovery Ratio 7.1% 5.4% 6.3% Not reported Not reported Not reported

Pure Fare Recovery Ratio
 (c)

BREEZE, FLEX, COASTER, 

SPRINTER, and NCTD+

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q2 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q3 

YTD

Fare Revenue 8,153,922$      10,646,706$    11,157,611$    2,736,863$      5,284,249$      7,745,782$      
Operating Costs 116,656,005$  127,019,759$  137,272,434$  33,598,642$    67,938,103$    101,994,332$  

Fare Revenue to Operating Costs 7.0% 8.4% 8.1% 8.1% 7.8% 7.6%

LIFT (PARATRANSIT)

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q2 

YTD

Actual

FY2025-Q3 

YTD

Fare Revenue 621,970$         574,994$         808,434$         191,211$         348,489$         522,464$         
Operating Costs 9,127,233$      11,238,341$    13,312,686$    3,082,758$      6,460,806$      9,694,190$      

Fare Revenue to Operating Costs 6.8% 5.1% 6.1% 6.2% 5.4% 5.4%

(c) Fares divided by Operating Costs (excludes interest, depreciation, GASB 68 and GASB 75 actuarial adjustments, and non-cash expenses)

(a) Fare recovery ratios with local support include other local revenue sources and exclude allowable operating costs

(b) Fare recovery ratios without local support include fares only and exclude allowable operating costs



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 11

SOURCES OF OPERATING GRANTS REVENUE 

Federal Grant Program

Actual

FY2022

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1

Actual

FY2025-Q2

Actual

FY2025-Q3

5304 - State Planning and Research Program 38,720$            174,106$          13,441$            -$                      -$                      -$                      

5307 - Urbanized Area Formula 2,223,162 19,866,495 25,706,331 7,100,084 8,067,981 4,615,665

5311 - Rural Area Formula Grant - 677,635 641,568 - - -

5311 - Rural Area Formula Grant (ARPA) - - 480,520 - - -

5311 - Rural Area Formula Grant (CARES) 1,055,187 - - - - -

5311 - Rural Area Formula Grant (CRRSAA) - 988,024 - - - -

5337 - State of Good Repair Formula Grants 1,458,136 5,792,142 1,590,495 - - 2,943,326

5337 - American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 15,670,887 13,044,836 16,505,472 11,372,743 7,419,811 -

5337 - Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act 31,935,750 1,663,555 1,050,069 - - -

5338 - Transit-Oriented Development Planning - - 125,134 3,464 6,943 -

Medi-Cal 244,647 60,672 (54,964) - - -

Total Federal Grants 52,626,489$     42,267,465$     46,058,066$     18,476,291$     15,494,735$     7,558,991$       

State Grant Program

 Actual

FY2022 

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1

Actual

FY2025-Q2

Actual

FY2025-Q3

State Transit Assistance (STA) 4,058,481$       8,029,564$       7,929,927$       -$                      -$                      3,107,728$       

STA State of Good Repair (SGR) 759,757 2,539,107 2,006,437 31,069 739,507 642,233

State TIRCP SB-125 391,957

California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) 87,121 90,246 88,683 - - -

Other State Grants - - 31,284 866 735,943 114,107

Total State Grants 4,905,358$       10,658,917$     10,056,331$     31,935$            1,475,450$       4,256,025$       

Local Grant Program

 Actual

FY2022 

Actual

FY2023

Actual

FY2024

Actual

FY2025-Q1

Actual

FY2025-Q2

Actual

FY2025-Q3

TDA - Transportation Development Act 30,167,244$     44,264,061$     47,059,669$     8,338,403$       9,209,385$       14,669,487$     

Transnet 18,146,000 17,725,000 20,124,438 3,250,000 4,870,500 4,645,000

Transnet 8.1% 5,529,392 7,210,257 7,444,809 1,738,353 1,858,400 1,558,128

SANDAG Youth Opportunity Pass 205,540 1,233,240 1,233,240 308,310 308,310 308,310

Total Local Grants 54,048,176$     70,432,558$     75,862,156$     13,635,066$     16,246,595$     21,180,925$     

Total Operating Grants 111,580,024$   123,358,940$   131,976,553$   32,143,292$     33,216,780$     32,995,941$     



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 12

RIDERSHIP BY MODE (FY2022 – FY2025-Q3) 

398,207 

444,703 

473,648 

523,588 

451,607 

426,527 
439,832 

421,193 

462,473 

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

500,000

550,000

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

BREEZE  RIDERSHIP

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025

9,205 9,540 9,568 

10,926 

9,022 
8,713 

9,104 8,964 

9,544 

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

11,000

12,000

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

LIFT  RIDERSHIP

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 13

6,798 

4,835 

7,004 

8,283 8,037 

7,379 

8,266 8,104 

8,996 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

FLEX  RIDERSHIP

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025

96,894 89,930 

74,412 76,711 

62,045 61,913 
57,543 58,361 

66,683 

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000

110,000

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

COASTER  RIDERSHIP

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 14

155,231 
158,947 

168,172 

187,546 

164,399 

138,008 
147,145 

137,410 

162,785 

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

SPRINTER  RIDERSHIP

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025

266 

460 

1,124 

2,018 

1,810 

2,002 
2,161 

2,083 

2,265 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

NCTD+ RIDERSHIP

FY2025



Financial Report 
FY2025-Q3 

P a g e  | 15

666,601 

708,415 
733,928 

809,072 

696,920 

644,542 
664,051 

636,115 

712,746 

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

800,000

900,000

J U L Y A U G S E P T O C T N O V D E C J A N F E B M A R A P R I L M A Y J U N

SYSTEM  RIDERSHIP

FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-006 

 Agenda  
Item #  

6 

 

RECEIVE THE QUARTERLY SAFETY REPORT FOR THE THIRD 
QUARTER OF FY2025 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Quarterly Safety Report for the third quarter of FY2025 (January 
1, 2025 – March 31, 2025). 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

Safety is a core value at North County Transit District (NCTD). The Safety 
Department provides the Board of Directors with quarterly updates on safety 
performance trends and metrics aligned with NCTD’s Public Transportation 
Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) and System Safety Plan (SSP). 
 
SAFETY REPORT: 
 
The Quarterly Safety Report (Safety Report) analyzes NCTD’s safety 
performance using the performance targets and goals listed in the District’s 
Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTSAP), and the System Safety 
Plan (SSP). The areas where the safety performance targets and goals are 
not achieved guide NCTD in its risk-reduction strategies and allocation of 
resources.   Because safety performance is tracked on a calendar year basis, 
the Q3 FY2025 report presents data and trends for the first quarter of 
Calendar Year 2025 (Q1 CY2025). Highlights are summarized below: 
 
Rail Performance Overview: 
 

• Trespasser Activity: COASTER and SPRINTER experienced a 
combined total of 5 trespasser strikes and 37 near misses in Q1 
CY2025. This trend continues to present significant safety and 
operational challenges. 

• System Reliability: SPRINTER exceeded its system reliability goal, 
reporting 2,887 mean miles between major mechanical failures (target 
= 2,500 miles). 

• Safety Metrics: SPRINTER met targets for all safety performance 
measures except for vehicular collisions (1 event; target = 0).  No 
transit worker injuries or fatalities were reported. 

• Regulatory Compliance: 8 external rail safety inspections were 
completed with zero noted defects. 
 

Bus Performance Overview: 
 

• Safety Metrics: The bus system met most targets, including zero 
fatalities and low injury/assault rates. However, pedestrian collisions 
and overall major event rates slightly exceeded thresholds. 

• System Reliability: BREEZE, FLEX, and LIFT are not currently on 
track to meet system reliability goals due to equipment age of many 
vehicles beyond their Useful Life Benchmark.  However, new 
equipment for LIFT and FLEX is scheduled for delivery later this year, 
and once the hydrogen fueling station for BREEZE opens, NCTD will 
be able to retire several of its oldest buses, and reliability will increase. 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-006 

• Regulatory Inspections: No bus-related external safety inspections 
or defects were reported this quarter. 

• Bus Transition: NCTD anticipates an improvement of overall safety 
and system reliability for bus operations once the service has fully 
transitioned to direct operations in 1st Quarter of FY2026. 
 

System-Wide Safety Activities: 
 

• Safety Committees: Rail and Bus Safety Committees met regularly 
to review incidents, rule compliance, injury trends, and efficiency 
testing.  All PTASP and SSP modifications were reviewed and 
approved as required. 

• Voluntary Reporting: The Safety Department tracks voluntary 
hazard reports submitted by rail and bus personnel. Reports are 
reviewed at monthly Safety Committee meetings, assessed for risk, 
and assigned corrective actions as appropriate. The Safety 
Department, and respective Committee, monitors each report 
through resolution. 
 

NCTD’s Safety and Operations teams for rail and bus will continue to monitor 
and assess key elements impacting system reliability and will continue to 
endeavor to manage and recover expected target goals over the remainder 
of the reporting year. 
 

ATTACHMENT: 6A – Quarterly Safety Report Q3-FY2025 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE 
REVIEW: 

 

None 
 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Lori A. Winfree, Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief General Counsel 
E-mail: lwinfree@nctd.org Phone: 760-966-6532 

 



 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
            

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the Period 
January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 

 

 

Quarterly Safety Report 
 



 
  

 

Table of Contents 

SAFETY DEPARTMENT REPORT ................................................................................. 1 

SAFETY PLAN PERFORMANCE: .................................................................................. 1 

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION AGENCY SAFETY PLAN ................................................ 2 

SYSTEM SAFETY PLAN (SSP) ...................................................................................... 4 

COASTER & SPRINTER 2025 SAFETY PERFORMANCE ............................................ 4 

SAFETY COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES – BUS AND RAIL................................................... 5 

 

 

 



January 1, 2020 – March 31, 2020 
  

Page 1 of 5 

SAFETY DEPARTMENT REPORT 
 

SAFETY PLAN PERFORMANCE: 
 
This report details the metrics used to measure the safety performance of North County 
Transit District’s (NCTD) various operating modes. The performance measures are those 
listed in NCTD’s Safety Plans. The Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) is 
applicable to NCTD’s Bus modes and SPRINTER Operations and specific safety metrics 
are required by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). The System Safety Plan (SSP) 
and its broader goals is applicable to COASTER and SPRINTER as part of Federal 
Railroad Administration (FRA) regulations.  All data is tracked on a calendar year basis 
to align with FTA and FRA requirements. 
 

Definitions: 
 
• Reportable Injuries are employee and passenger injuries that are reported to 

National Transit Database (NTD). The threshold for what is considered reportable 
injuries according to NTD are those requiring medical transportation from the scene.  

• Major Events are documented using the S&S-40 Major Event Report form and must 
be reported within 30 days of the incident. 
Major Event Reporting Thresholds for Rail Modes 
o An event qualifies as a Major Event if it meets the general definition of a reportable 

event and satisfies one or more of the following criteria: 
o Fatality: A death confirmed within 30 days of the incident, including suicides. 
o Injury: An injury requiring immediate medical attention away from the scene for 

one or more individuals. 
o Serious Injury: An injury that may not involve transport from the scene but meets 

the criteria for seriousness. 
o Substantial Property Damage: Damage that includes the towing of any vehicle 

due to disabling damage. 
o Evacuation: An evacuation conducted for life safety reasons or to the rail right-

of-way. 
o Runaway Train: An uncontrolled movement of a train. 
o Collisions: 

▪ Between a rail transit vehicle and an individual. 
▪ At a grade crossing or intersection. 
▪ With another rail vehicle (revenue or non-revenue). 

o Derailment: A mainline or yard derailment involving revenue or non-revenue 
vehicles. 

• System Reliability reflects calculations based on major mechanical failures as 
defined by the NTD, as compared to revenue vehicle miles.  

• Assault on a Transit Worker is a circumstance in which an individual knowingly, 
without lawful authority or permission, and with intent to endanger the safety of any 
individual, or with a reckless disregard for the safety of human life, interferes with, 
disables, or incapacitates a transit worker while the transit worker is performing the 
duties of the transit worker.   



January 1, 2020 – March 31, 2020 
  

Page 2 of 5 

PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION AGENCY SAFETY PLAN  
 

The Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) is required by the Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) in accordance with 49 CFR Part 673.  The PTASP is a 
comprehensive document outlining how NCTD manages safety risks and ensures the 
effectiveness of its safety measures; it provides a roadmap for NCTD’s implementation 
of its Safety Management System (SMS), which details District efforts to proactively 
identify hazards, assess risks, and implement strategies to reduce the likelihood and 
severity of safety events. An essential component of the PTASP is annual target-setting 
for specified safety performance measures as identified in the National Safety Plan. 
NCTD establishes its annual calendar year goals for SPRINTER and 
BREEZE/FLEX/LIFT modes under FTA regulations.   
 

SPRINTER PTASP CALENDAR YEAR 2025 SAFETY PERFORMANCE 
 

Safety Performance 
Measure 

Q1 2025 
(Jan-Mar) 

Cumulative 
CY2025 

Goal for 
2025 

On Track for 
Goal? 

Measure 1a – Major 
Events 

3 3 7 YES 

Measure 1b – Major Event 
Rate 

0.58 0.58 1.36 YES 

Collisions 3 3 3 YES 

Measure 1.1 – Collision 
Rate  

0.58 0.58 0.58 YES 

Pedestrian Collisions 2 2 3 YES 

Measure 1.1.1 – 
Pedestrian Collision Rate  

0.39 0.39 0.58 YES 

Vehicular Collision 1 1 0 NO 

Measure 1.1.2 – Vehicular 
Collision Rate  

0.19 0.19 0.00 NO 

Measure 2a – Fatalities 1 1 2 YES 

Measure 2b – Fatality Rate 0.19 0.19 0.39 YES 

Measure 2.1 – Transit 
Worker Fatality Rate  

0.00 0.00 0.00 YES 

Measure 3a – Injuries 2 2 3 YES 

Measure 3b – Injury Rate 0.39 0.39 0.58 YES 

Transit Worker Injuries 0 0 2 YES 

Measure 3.1 – Transit 
Worker Injury Rate  

0 0 0.39 YES 

Measure 4a – Assaults on 
Transit Workers 

7 7 15 YES 

Measure 4b – Rate of 
Assaults on Transit 
Workers 

0.46 0.46 2.91 YES 

Measure 5 – System 
Reliability 

2,887 2,887 2,500 YES 

All rates are based on 100,000 Vehicle Revenue Miles (VRM); 2025 VRM for SPRINTER is 
projected at 515,614 
  



January 1, 2020 – March 31, 2020 
  

Page 3 of 5 

 BUS PTASP CALENDAR YEAR 2025 SAFTEY PERFORMANCE 
 

Safety Performance 
Measure 

Q1 2025 
(Jan-Mar) 

Cumulative 
CY2025 

Goal for 
2025 

On Track for 
Goal? 

Measure 1a – Major 
Events 

3 3 2 NO 

Measure 1b – Major Event 
Rate 

0.05 0.05 0.03 NO 

Collisions 1 1 1 YES 

Measure 1.1 – Collision 
Rate  

0.02 0.02 0.02 YES 

Pedestrian Collisions 1 1 0 NO 

Measure 1.1.1 – 
Pedestrian Collision Rate  

0.02 0.02 0 NO 

Vehicular Collision 0 0 1 YES 

Measure 1.1.2 – Vehicular 
Collision Rate  

0 0 0.02 YES 

Measure 2a – Fatalities 0 0 0 YES 

Measure 2b – Fatality Rate 0 0 0 YES 

Measure 2.1 – Transit 
Worker Fatality Rate  

0 0 0 YES 

Measure 3a – Injuries 3 3 15 YES 

Measure 3b – Injury Rate 0.05 0.05 0.24 YES 

Transit Worker Injuries 0 0 2 YES 

Measure 3.1 – Transit 
Worker Injury Rate  

0 0 0.03 YES 

Measure 4a – Assaults on 
Transit Workers* 

2 2 20 YES 

Measure 4b – Rate of 
Assaults on Transit 
Workers 

0.03 0.03 0.32 YES 

Measure 5 – System 
Reliability BREEZE 

10,753 10,753 14,000 NO 

Measure 5 – System 
Reliability LIFT 

 
24,400 

 
24,400 37,000 NO 

Measure 5 – System 
Reliability FLEX 

19,155 19,155 50,000 NO 

 
All rates are based on 100,000 Vehicle Revenue Miles (VRM); 2025 VRM for BREEZE, LIFT 
and FLEX is projected at 6,316,912 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  



January 1, 2020 – March 31, 2020 
  

Page 4 of 5 

SYSTEM SAFETY PLAN (SSP)  
 
The System Safety Plan (SSP) is developed in accordance with Federal Railroad 
Administration (FRA) regulations as detailed 40 CFR Part 270.  The purpose of the SSP 
is to improve railroad safety through structured, proactive processes and procedures 
developed and implemented by NCTD that: supports risk management and provides 
methods for evaluating and responding to all safety issues.  NCTD develops annual 
safety performance goals which are critical to operational safety improvements. The 
SSP covers both COASTER and SPRINTER; while SPRINTER operations and 
maintenance fall under FTA regulations, because the track on which it operates is 
regulated by the FRA, it is covered under both PTASP and SSP requirements. 

 

COASTER & SPRINTER 2025 SAFETY PERFORMANCE 

1. Zero Fatalities, Serious Injuries, and Significant Accidents: This goal helps 
ensure mitigation of any risks with a severity level that could result in the death of a 
passenger or employee, serious injury to a passenger or employee, or an accident 
that would trigger an independent investigation by a regulator (FRA or FRA) or the 
NTSB. A year-end status report will be provided upon completion of CY2025. 

  Jan Feb March 
Death of a passenger or employee 0 0 0 
Serious injury to a passenger or employee 0 0 0 
Accident that would trigger an independent 
investigation by a regulator (FRA or FRA) or the 
NTSB 

0 0 0 

 

2. Reduce Employee Injury Rate This aim of this goal is to reduce the employee injury 
by at least 5% year-over-year. A year-end comparison report will be provided upon 
completion of CY2025. 

  Jan Feb March 
Employee Injuries - COASTER 0 0 0 
Employee Injuries - SPRINTER 0 0 0 
Employee Injuries – DISPATCH/MOS/MOW 0 0 0  

3. Reduce Near Misses and Trespasser Strikes: This goal aims to reduce near-miss 
events and trespasser strikes by 5% year-over-year. Near misses and other 
trespasser events are not only safety issues, but they also create unnecessary 
stress for employees and unnecessary delays for passengers. A year-end 
comparison report will be provided upon completion of CY2025. 

  Jan Feb March 
Near Misses - COASTER 6 5 14 
Near Misses - SPRINTER 5 3 4 
Trespasser Strikes - COASTER 1 1 0 
Trespasser Strikes - SPRINTER 1 0 2  

  



January 1, 2020 – March 31, 2020 
  

Page 5 of 5 

4. Voluntary Hazard Reporting: This goal aims to increase the number of hazards 
reported by 20% year-over-year. A year-end comparison report will be provided 
upon completion of CY2025. 

  Jan Feb March 
Rail Related Hazard 

Reports 
0 3 0 

 
  

EXTERNAL REGULATORY INSPECTIONS 
 

External Safety Inspection 
Activity 

Number of Inspections 
Completed 

(January - March) 

Number of Defects 
(January - March) 

Bus Compliance  0 0 

Rail Compliance  8 0 

Construction/Facilities 0 0 

Total  8 0 

 

 
SAFETY COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES – BUS AND RAIL 

 
NCTD maintains two separate Safety Committees, one for Bus and one for Rail.  These 
Committees fulfill essential oversight functions as required under the Federal Transit 
Administration’s Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) regulations (49 
CFR Part 673), the Federal Railroad Administration’s operational testing rules (49 CFR 
Part 217), and the California Public Utilities Commission’s General Order 164-E. Each 
committee includes 14 appointed members with designated alternates, as well as two 
local union representatives, providing a diverse and representative forum for safety 
oversight. 
 
During Q3 – FY2025, the Committees met regularly to review recent safety incidents, 
analyze trends in preventable collisions, passenger injuries, and rule violations, and 
monitor efficiency testing performance. Members also evaluated the implementation of 
corrective actions stemming from internal hazard reports, audits, and field observations. 
For rail operations, discussions included regulatory compliance and incident prevention 
strategies, while bus committee activities emphasized operator safety programs and 
injury reduction efforts. Importantly, the Committees are also responsible for reviewing 
and approving all modifications to the PTASP and System Safety Program (SSP), 
ensuring that policy updates align with current operational needs and evolving 
regulatory standards. These meetings support NCTD’s commitment to a proactive 
safety culture and continuous improvement across all transit modes. 
 

 
 
 

 



June 26, 202-5 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-007 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

7 

 

RECEIVE THE QUARTERLY SECURITY REPORT FOR THE THIRD 
QUARTER OF FY2025 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Security Department Quarterly Report for the third Quarter of FY2025 
(January 1, 2025 through March 31, 2025). 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

Fostering and maintaining safe and secure operations is one of the North County 
Transit District’s (NCTD) primary goals. Staff provides the NCTD Board of 
Directors with a quarterly update covering law enforcement and security-related 
activities, including crimes, arrests, and citations.  
 
During the third quarter of FY2025 (FY2025-Q3) security incidents related to 
quality-of-life issues such as loitering/vagrancy decreased by 4%, Ordinance No. 
3 - An Ordinance Establishing NCTD Code of Regulations violations increased 
by 5%, and law enforcement activity/contact decreased by 4%. Trespassing 
decreased by 7% and homeless encampments increased by 15%, as compared 
to the second quarter of FY2025 (FY2025-Q2).  
 
Disturbances decreased by 7% compared to FY2025-Q2. Transit Stations/Stops 
made up 34% of total disturbances during FY2025-Q2.  Overall crimes, which 
include misdemeanor crimes, decreased by 47% compared to FY2025-Q2. 
Misdemeanor crimes made up 95% of the total crimes reported to security. 
 
Law Enforcement Activities:  
The SDSO Transit Enforcement Unit (TESU) focused its efforts on both 
SPRINTER and BREEZE details during FY2025-Q3. Overall final numbers for 
TESU resulted in 255 arrests and 201 citations across The District. This resulted 
in a 44% decrease in total enforcement for FY2025-Q3 as compared to the 
previous quarter.   
 
Assaults on Employees: 
During the month of January 2025, there were three reported Assaults – Physical 
against transit employees. In February, there were four reported Assaults – 
Physical against transit employees and one Assault - Non-Physical.  In March, 
there were four reported Assaults – Physical against transit employees and two 
Non - Physical Assaults. 
 
The attached Security Department Quarterly Report provides the details and 
statistics of the performance metrics for the quarter. 
 

ATTACHMENT: 7A – FY2025-Q3 Security Department Quarterly Report 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This Staff Report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 
 

None 
 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Chris Carrillo, Director of Security 
E-mail: cgcarrillo@nctd.org Phone: 760-966-6793 

 



 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
            

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

For the Period 
January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 

(Q3 of FY2025)

Quarterly  
Security Report 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 7A



 
  

 

Table of Contents 

SECURITY DEPARTMENT REPORT ................................................................................. 1 

TRANSIT ENFORCEMENT SERVICES UNIT:..................................................................... 1 

LOITERING / VAGRANCY: ................................................................................................ 2 

HOMELESS ENCAMPMENTS: .......................................................................................... 3 

CRIMES ........................................................................................................................... 4 

ASSAULTS/BATTERY ....................................................................................................... 5 

 

 

 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 1 of 5 

SECURITY DEPARTMENT REPORT 

 

The North County Transit District (NCTD) places a high priority on providing a safe and secure 
environment for employees, contractors, passengers, and members of the public. To support this 
effort, NCTD contracts with the San Diego Sheriff’s Department for law enforcement services and 
with Inter-Con Security for on-call security officers. NCTD Security also collaborates with local 
law enforcement agencies within the various jurisdictions it serves. Additionally, NCTD directly 
employs Control Center Technicians who provide 24-hour CCTV monitoring, as well as field-
based Code Compliance Inspectors who support ordinance enforcement.   

NCTD Security incorporates several data-driven processes to analyze a wide range of safety and 
security-related issues. Using this data, the NCTD Security Department formulates solutions to 
existing problems, anticipates future challenges, and develops programs and initiatives aimed at 
continuous improvement. The following sections provide an overview of the data NCTD utilizes 
to support system-wide security.  

 

TRANSIT ENFORCEMENT SERVICES UNIT: 
 
The Transit Enforcement Services Unit (TESU) is staffed through a contract with the San Diego 
County Sheriff’s Department. This dedicated team of deputies provides proactive patrols, 
responds to reported crimes throughout the transit system, and conducts investigations of rail 
related incidents. The unit is composed of 1 Sergeant, 2 Corporals, and 8 Deputies.  

The following chart shows TESU’s arrests, field investigations and citations for the first quarter of 
Q3-FY2025. 

 
 
 

 
  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 2 of 5 

LOITERING / VAGRANCY: 
 

The following charts represent reported loitering and vagrancy incidents during Q3–FY2025. The 
first chart displays the number of incidents for the quarter, alongside data from FY2024 for 
comparison. 
 

 
 

NCTD’s direct and contracted security personnel continue to focus their efforts on reducing overall 
incidents, with particular attention to high-activity areas such as the Oceanside Transit Center 
(OTC) and the Escondido Transit Center (ETC), both of which are staffed 24/7 by Inter-Con 
Security. During Q3–FY2025, Inter-Con Security handled 64% of all loitering and vagrancy 
contacts, the majority of which occurred at OTC and ETC. 

The second chart highlights the top five locations where incidents were reported.  

 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 3 of 5 

HOMELESS ENCAMPMENTS: 
 

The following charts show reported homeless encampments across the NCTD system during Q3–
FY2025. The first chart presents the total number of encampments identified during the quarter, 
along with comparative data from FY2024. 

 

 
 
NCTD Security aims to have encampments removed within 72 hours after a notice to vacate has 
been issued to the occupants. NCTD Code Compliance Inspectors and TESU Deputies work 
collaboratively to identify encampments, issue notices, and coordinate their removal. TESU 
Deputies also conduct ongoing directed patrols along the San Diego Subdivision, which continues 
to experience the highest concentration of encampments.  
 
The second chart provides a breakdown of encampments by location.  

 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 4 of 5 

CRIMES 
 

The following charts represent major felony crimes reported to NCTD and its contracted law 
enforcement agencies that occurred on NCTD property during Q3–FY2025. Reported crimes 
include assault, battery, robbery, burglary, arson, theft, vandalism, and vehicle theft. All felony 
crimes are referred to local law enforcement agencies for investigation.  

The first chart displays the total number of felony crimes reported during Q3–FY2025. 

 

 

The second chart compares the year-to-date total of felony crimes in FY2025 with the same period 
in FY2024. 

 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 5 of 5 

ASSAULTS/BATTERY 
 

The following chart represents incidents of assault and battery that occurred on NCTD property 
or transit modes during Q3 of FY2025. The data is categorized by victims: employees/contractors 
and passengers/patrons. All assault and battery incidents are reported to security and referred 
either to local law enforcement or to TESU for further investigation when the victim chooses to 
pursue charges.  

In January, there were eight (8) reported assaults involving passengers and three (3) involving 
transit employees. In February, seven (7) passenger assaults and five (5) employee assaults 
were reported. In March, there were two (2) passenger assaults and six (6) employee assaults.  

 

 
 

The second chart compares the total number of Transit Employee Assaults/Battery — both 
physical and non-physical — for FY2025 to the same period in FY2024.  

 

 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-008  

 

Agenda  
Item #  

8 

 

RECEIVE THE QUARTERLY CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE REPORT FOR 
THE THIRD QUARTER OF FY2025 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the quarterly Customer Experience Report for the Third Quarter (Q3) of 
FY2025 (January 1, 2025 through March 31, 2025). 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

Providing a positive customer experience is a key component of the North County 
Transit District’s (NCTD) misison. Staff provides the NCTD Board of Directors 
(Board) with a report on a quarterly basis to identify trends in customer feedback, 
and to affirm positive actions. 
 
To help our operational teams identify areas of concern, and develop actions to 
improve the overall customer experience, the Customer Experience and 
operational teams meet monthly to review customer feedback trends and discuss 
reccomendations.  
 
Q3 FY2025 Results 
A total of 33 compliments were received, an increase of 10 when compared to Q3 
FY24. The reports were made to acknowledge a positive interaction with a Bus 
Operator, train crew member, customer service agent, or NCTD staff. 
 
Overall, systemwide NCTD received a total of 512 customer feedback reports. An 
increase of 71 when compared to Q3 FY24. All core categories saw increases with 
the exception of equipment and operator feedback. Of the total customer feedback 
reports, 372 were associated with the five modes of transit (BREEZE, LIFT, FLEX, 
COASTER, and SPRINTER). The remaining feedback is across other  
departments, including facilities (cleanliness, graffiti), right-of-way (graffiti or 
debris), and to a lesser extent, safety, claims and accidents. 
 
The following graphs and charts show Q3 FY25 Systemwide Customer feedback 
by Department and the rolling quarterly breakout of Customer feedback by Core 
Category. 
 

 
BREEZE

LIFT

FLEXCOASTER

SPRINTER

Other Departments

Q3 FY25 Systemwide Customer Feedback by Department 

BREEZE LIFT FLEX COASTER SPRINTER Other Departments



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-008  

 
 

 
Mystery Rider Scores – Overall Score by Mode 
 
During the third quarter, NCTD’s contracted Mystery Rider vendor performed a 
total of 169 rides on BREEZE, COASTER, and SPRINTER. Of the 169 rides, 
BREEZE received 120 evaluations, SPRINTER 30, and COASTER 19.  
 

Overall BREEZE COASTER SPRINTER GOAL 

FY2025-Q3 88.96% 91.42% 86.47% 95%  
 

  
 

ATTACHEMENT: 8A - FY2025-Q3 Customer Experience Report 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE 
REVIEW: 

 
None 
 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Alicia Peat-Watson, Director of Customer Expereince  
E-mail: apeatwatson@nctd.org Phone: 760-967-2813 



 
  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
            

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

For the Period 
January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 

 

 

Customer Experience 
Quarterly Report 

 

ATTACHMENT 8A



 
  

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 1 

Core Categories .............................................................................................................. 1 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 Systemwide Feedback by Core Category ................................ 2 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 Systemwide feedback by top Sub-Codes ................................. 3 

FY25 Systemwide feedback by Weighted Ridership ............................................. 3 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 Systemwide Compliments by Department ................................ 4 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 BREEZE feedback by Core Category ....................................... 5 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 BREEZE feedback by top Sub-Codes ...................................... 5 

BREEZE feedback by Weighted Ridership ............................................................ 6 
LIFT ............................................................................................................................. 7 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 LIFT feedback by Core Category ............................................. 7 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 LIFT feedback by top Sub-Codes ............................................. 7 
LIFT feedback by Weighted Ridership ......................................................................... 8 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 FLEX feedback by top Sub-Codes ........................................... 9 
FLEX feedback by Weighted Ridership ..................................................................... 10 
COASTER ................................................................................................................. 11 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 COASTER feedback by Core Category .................................. 11 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 COASTER feedback by top Sub-Codes ................................. 11 
COASTER feedback by Weighted Ridership ............................................................. 12 
SPRINTER ................................................................................................................ 13 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 SPRINTER feedback by Core Category ................................. 13 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 SPRINTER feedback by top Sub-Codes ................................ 13 
SPRINTER feedback by Weighted Ridership ............................................................ 14 
Mystery Rider ............................................................................................................ 14 
Q3 FY25 Systemwide Results ................................................................................... 15 
Q3 FY25 BREEZE Results ........................................................................................ 15 
Q3 FY25 COASTER Results ..................................................................................... 15 
Q3 FY25 SPRINTER Results .................................................................................... 15 

 

 

 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 1 of 16 

Introduction  
 
The Customer Experience department supports the NCTD mission and vision by 
identifying trends, highlighting opportunities for improvement, and collaborating on 
actionable solutions to ensure the customer has a positive experience when using our 
services and or facilities.  
 
NCTD receives feedback from customers via phone, email, website, and in-person. All 
feedback is entered into NCTD’s customer relationship management software (CRM) and 
forwarded to the appropriate department personnel for review, investigation, and potential 
action. Most customer feedback reports are related to modal service, security, or facilities. 
Tools like operator interviews, video, GPS data, and other technology are used to 
complete all investigations where applicable. NCTD’s Customer Experience department 
has a goal of responding back to customer within ten (10) business days of receipt.  
 
In addition to customer feedback, NCTD’s Customer Experience department also utilizes 
a third-party vendor to conduct ‘mystery rides’ on BREEZE, FLEX, COASTER, and 
SPRINTER. These mystery rides provide an additional independent assessment of the 
customer experience. The data collected from mystery riders is then examined against 
customer feedback complaint results and other data points to paint an overall picture of 
the customer experience on the modal services or at our facilities. 

 
Core Categories 

 
To provide insight into customer feedback trends, feedback is assigned to a core 
category via a sub-code. Each of the 10 core categories are defined below.  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 2 of 16 

 
 

Note: Our reporting methodology is department-based instead of mode based, so as not 
to unfairly represent a mode for complaints not directly related to the mode.  

 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 Systemwide Feedback by Core Category  

 

 

Core Category Definition 

Claims and Accidents Feedback related to any claims or accidents in various departments.

Equipment Feedback involving faulty equipment, damaged or dirty vehicles, automated 

announcements, door malfunctions, HVAC, ADA ramp deployment, signal issues and IT 

requests.Facilities graffiti removal , station cleanliness, electrical, landscaping, plumbing  issues. 

Operator Feedback involving refusal of service, rude, dangerous driving, off-route, closed door on 

passenger, left before passenger seated.

Paratransit Issues with EZ-wallet, Information requests, mobility device, MTS Access transfer point, 

Reservationist/Dispatch, Service Area, Time Onboard Vehicle Violation.

Planning Bus Stop Amenities request, Bus Stop request, Marketing request, Service Request, 

Wayfinding signage. 

Policy Feedback related to E-bikes, Horns-trains, Policy disputes, PRONTO/Fare Issue.

Safety Feedback safety issues. 

Security Customer altercations involving verbal or physical altercations with each other or staff 

members, trespassers, security issues such as break ins, dangerous items & weapons, 

and other security related incidents.Service Feedback involving transit services including late, or early service, pass-by, missed stop 

requests, no-shows, cancelations.  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 3 of 16 

 

Overall systemwide feedback for Q3 FY25 is higher than Q3 FY24. All core categories 
experienced increases, except for equipment and operator related feedback, which 
experienced a decrease this quarter.  
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 Systemwide feedback by top Sub-Codes 
 

 
  

FY25 Systemwide feedback by Weighted Ridership  
 

 
 

Adjusted ridership count is based on mode. The ridership count is normalized based on the 
following breakout. BREEZE/COASTER/SPRINTER are by 100k passengers and FLIFT/FLEX are 
adjusted by 1K passengers.  

19.22
16.95 17.17 17.91

16.39
16.63

10.78

14.55
12.46

14.24

0.24 0.56 0.75
0.88 0.69

1.67 1.6 2.07 1.54 2.14

3.8
6.33 5.8

7.35
5.7

0

5

10

15

20

25

Q3 FY24 Q4 FY24 Q1 FY25 Q2 FY25 Q3 FY25

BREEZE COASTER FLEX LIFT SPRINTER



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 4 of 16 

 
In Q3 FY25 systemwide feedback weighted by ridership is trending lower for BREEZE, 
SPRINTER and FLEX, while trending slightly higher for LIFT and COASTER.  
 

 
Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 Systemwide Compliments by Department 

 

 
 

Systemwide compliments for Q3 FY25 were higher than Q3 FY24. Overall, NCTD 
received 33 compliments versus 23 in Q3 FY24. The increase is due to BREEZE 
operations receiving significantly more positive feedback as well as FLEX and 
SPRINTER operations and the Service Planning department.  
  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 5 of 16 

BREEZE 
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 BREEZE feedback by Core Category 
 

 
 

 
Feedback for BREEZE is lower this quarter than when compared to Q3 last year. This is 
due to fewer concerns involving Service and Operator issues.    
 

 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 BREEZE feedback by top Sub-Codes 
 

 
 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 6 of 16 

In Q3 FY25, BREEZE operations received fewer concerns regarding operator behavior 
such as rude, refusal of service and service issues such as pass-by/ left passenger. 
Conversely, there were increases in policy disputes, left before seated, dangerous 
driving. 
 

 BREEZE feedback by Weighted Ridership 
 

 
 
The FY25 goal for BREEZE is a maximum of 17 feedback reports per every 100,000 
rides. Q3FY25 is the lowest this metric has been in the past five rolling quarters.  

 
 

 
  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 7 of 16 

LIFT 
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 LIFT feedback by Core Category 
 

 
 

Feedback for LIFT is higher this quarter than when compared to Q3 last year. This is 
due to an increase in concerns involving Service, Paratransit related feedback and 
Safety and Security issues.    
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 LIFT feedback by top Sub-Codes 
 

 
 

In Q3 FY25, the increase in LIFT feedback was specific to late service, time-on-board 
vehicle violations, pass-by’s / left passenger as well as concerns for safety and security 
issues involving customer altercations. Conversely, there were decreases in dangerous 



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 8 of 16 

driving concerns, Policy disputes, rude operators and issues with the 
reservations/dispatchers.  
 

LIFT feedback by Weighted Ridership 
 

 
 

The FY25 goal for LIFT is a maximum of 1.5 feedback reports per every 1,000 rides. Q3 
FY25 results are trending above our target goal.   

 
 
 

 

 

 

  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 9 of 16 

FLEX 
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 FLEX feedback by Core Category 
 

 
 

Feedback for FLEX is higher this quarter than when compared to Q3 last year. This is 
due to an increase in concerns involving Service, Operator related feedback and Safety, 
Equipment, Paratransit and Policy issues.    

 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 FLEX feedback by top Sub-Codes 
 

 
 

  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 10 of 16 

In Q3 FY25, the increase in FLEX feedback was specific to several issues, majority of 
which were late service and service cancellations. It’s important to note, FLEX 
operations expanded service in June of Q4 of FY24 adding the COASTER Connection 
FLEX routes 471, 472, 473, 478 and 479. 
 

FLEX feedback by Weighted Ridership 
 

 
 
The FY25 goal for FLEX is a maximum of .5 feedback reports per every 1,000 rides. Q3 
FY25 results are trending above the target goal.   
 

 

  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 11 of 16 

COASTER 
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 COASTER feedback by Core Category 
 

 
 
 
Feedback for COASTER is less this quarter than when compared to Q3 last year. This 
is due to a decrease in concerns involving equipment, Operator related feedback. 
Conversely, Service related issues and Security concerns were higher this quarter than 
when compared to Q3 last year. 
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 COASTER feedback by top Sub-Codes 
 

 
 
 
  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 12 of 16 

In Q3 FY25, the increase in COASTER feedback was specific to capacity issues, and to 
a lesser extent, service related concerns, Wi-Fi connectivity and ADA ramp issues. 
Conversely, there were decreases in equipment damaged and dirty, rude operators, 
and announcements.  
 

COASTER feedback by Weighted Ridership 
 

 
 
 
The FY25 goal for COASTER is a maximum of seven feedback reports per every 
1000,000 rides. Q3 FY25 results are trending above the target goal.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 13 of 16 

SPRINTER 
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 SPRINTER feedback by Core Category 
 

 
 
Feedback for SPRINTER is higher this quarter than when compared to Q3 last year. 
This is due to an increase in Service issues, Policy related concerns, Equipment and 
Security concerns.   
 

Q3 FY25 vs Q3 FY24 SPRINTER feedback by top Sub-Codes 
 

 
 
In Q3 FY25, the increase in SPRINTER feedback was specific to capacity concerns, 
complaints regarding pass-by/Left passenger, and to a lesser extent, claims and 
accidents, customer altercations and issues with HVAC. Conversely, there were 
decreases in service cancelations, service early and graffiti.  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 14 of 16 

 

SPRINTER feedback by Weighted Ridership 
 

 
 
The FY25 goal for SPRINTER is a maximum of five feedback reports per every 
1000,000 rides. Q3 FY25 results are trending slightly above the target goal.   
 

 

Mystery Rider  
 

NCTD contracts with A Customer’s Point of View (ACPOV) to provide ‘mystery rider’ 
services. ACPOV hires individuals to take a certain number of trips on BREEZE, 
COASTER, and SPRINTER on a quarterly basis to record their experiences on board 
and at transit stations. NCTD Customer Experience staff provides itineraries for routes on 
each mode as well as an extensive questionnaire to be filled out for each trip.  
 
This method allows for an independent, objective perspective on NCTD’s service delivery. 
While the standard protocols and procedures are observed and reported on, ACPOV 
mystery riders are also asked to provide a brief narrative of each trip, in their own words, 
to describe their experiences. Having a non-transit professional provide these insights, 
combined with the general public’s feedback, gives NCTD and its contractor additional 
perspective of trends and or perceptions of service that would otherwise go unnoticed. 
Further, the scores represented, in conjunction with customer feedback data, offer better 
insight to where we apply resources that will best support NCTD’s goals. 
 
Given the unique nature of each mode, the questionnaires and guidelines for mystery 
riders are slightly different. 

 

  



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 15 of 16 

Q3 FY25 Systemwide Results 
 

In the third quarter, 169 trips on BREEZE, COASTER, and SPRINTER were evaluated. 
Of the 169 rides, BREEZE received 120 evaluations, SPRINTER 30 evaluations, and 
COASTER 19 evaluations.  
 

Overall BREEZE COASTER SPRINTER GOAL 

FY2025-Q3 88.96% 91.42% 86.47% 95%  

 
 

Q3 FY25 BREEZE Results 
 

Summary Evaluation Criteria:  

• Operator Conduct: Overall behavior of the Operator; uniform condition; timepoint 

and bus stop callouts; potential operator safety violations 

• Ride Information: On-Time performance; weather conditions; ordinance violations 

• ADA: ADA ramp usage; mobility device tie-down procedures 

• Equipment/Vehicle: Exterior cleanliness; interior cleanliness; customer 

information on board  

 
 

Q3 FY25 COASTER Results 
 

Summary Evaluation Criteria:  

• Rail Station: station cleanliness; safety hazards; customer information 

• Ride Information: On-time performance  

• Announcements: ADA announcements for arrivals and departures 

• Rail Ride: Conductor interaction (including fare enforcement); vehicle cleanliness; 

customer information on board  

 

 
Q3 FY25 SPRINTER Results 

 

BREEZE
Operatot 
Conduct

Ride 
Information 

ADA
Equipmnet / 

Vehcile
Overall 

Score out of 
100%

77.55% 91.68% 96.35% 100% 88.96%

COASTER Announcements
Ride 

Information 
Rail Ride Rail Station Overall 

Score out of 
100%

84.21% 89.47% 94.74% 100% 91.42%



January 1, 2025 – March 31, 2025 
  

Page 16 of 16 

Summary Evaluation Criteria:  

• Rail Station: station cleanliness; safety hazards; customer information 

• Ride Information: On-time performance  

• Announcements: ADA announcements for arrivals and departures 

• Rail Ride: Conductor interaction (including fare enforcement); vehicle 

cleanliness; customer information on board  

 

SPRINTER Announcements
Ride 

Information 
Rail Ride Rail Station Overall 

Score out of 
100%

96.67% 90.00% 83.33% 87% 88.47%



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-009 

 Agenda  
Item #  

9 

 

RECEIVE THE QUARTERLY REPORT OF CONTRACT ACTIONS ISSUED  
UNDER THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S AUTHORITY FOR THE THIRD 
QUARTER OF FY2025 (FY2025-Q3) 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the quarterly report of contracts and/or contract modifications for the third 
quarter of FY2025 (January 1, 2025 to March 31, 2025) issued pursuant to the 
delegation of authority provided by the Board of Directors to the Chief Executive 
Officer in Board Policy No. 19 – Delegation of Authority of the Chief Executive 
Officer. 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

Pursuant to North County Transit District’s (NCTD) Board of Directors (Board) 
Policy No. 19 – Delegation of Authority to the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief 
Executive Officer or their designee may:  
 

• Amend a contract of any value within the Board-adopted budget if the 
amendment does not exceed $250,000, singular or cumulative value, and 
if the amendment does not involve a major change in scope, unless the 
amendment costs are reimbursable by a third party and an agreement for 
reimbursement is in place, in which event, the amendment may be of any 
value. 

• Award a contract if the initial contract value does not exceed $500,000 
and is within the Board-adopted budget. 

 

The Chief Executive Officer must: 
 

• Report contract actions and amendments made in accordance with this 
authority to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis.  

 

The Chief Executive Officer has delegated authority for the execution of contracts 
to the Chief Operating Officer – General Services, following review and approval 
by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief General Counsel. The list of contract 
actions for FY2025-Q3 is included in Attachment 9A. 
 

Staff recommends that the Board of Directors receive the quarterly report of 
contracts and/or contract modifications for the third quarter of FY2025 (January 
1, 2025 to March 31, 2025), issued pursuant to the delegation of authority 
provided by the Board of Directors to the Chief Executive Officer in Board Policy 
No. 19.  
 

ATTACHMENT: 9A – Original Commitments $500,000 in Value or Less and Change Order  
Commitments $250,000 in Value or Less  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 
 

None 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Alex Denis, Chief Operating Officer – General Services 
E-mail: adenis@nctd.org Phone:  760-966-6537 

 



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 1 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

37049 X   TechSmith Snagit Maintenance FY25  $                   27.72  N   

37055 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Fireproof 3 Ring Binder  $                   31.39  N   

37078 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Label Printer  $                   35.70  N   

36939 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Learning & Development Supplies  $                   42.02  N   

37022 X   Global Industrial SOF Hand Soap/Sanitizers  $                   46.06  N   

37042 X   Hudson Printing Business Cards - A. Denis  $                   47.42  N   

37071 X   Hudson Printing Business Cards - G. Singh  $                   49.63  N   

37077 X   Mega Depot Key Blanks  $                   53.93  N   

36919 X   Hudson Printing Business Cards-SR Transit Plan  $                   59.18  N   

36922 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Monitor Stands - GAO  $                   69.80  N   

36923 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Desk Footrests - GAO  $                   72.86  N   

36937 X   Hudson Printing Custom Certificates  $                   73.72  N   

37021 X   DirecTV Subcriptions--Direct TV  $                   79.80  N   

36949 X   Fastenal Company SPRINTER Parts & Supplies  $                   81.12  N   

37026 X   Accurate Translation Bureau DBA Acutrans Legal Notice - Spanish Translation  $                   82.84  N   

36994 X   Hudson Printing COASTER-Christmas Animal Holiday  $                   84.88  N   

37085 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                   95.41  N   

36886 X   Hudson Printing Business Cards - HR  $                 103.60  N   

37084 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 112.93  N   

37081 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Supplies - MOW  $                 121.19  N   

37062 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC ODP - GAO Admin  $                 130.72  N   

36958 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 142.06  N   

36989 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Garment Steamers - Marketing  $                 147.41  N   

36925 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. USB Drives - GAO  $                 155.88  N   

36986 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 163.87  N   

36921 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 164.77  N   

36906 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - MOF  $                 168.56  N   

36897 X   MakeStickers BREEZE Glossy Die Cut Stickers  $                 170.17  N   

ATTACHMENT 9A



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 2 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

36942 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. USA and California Flags - GAO  $                 176.88  N   

36971 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Sweetener, Creamer, Cups, Sugar  $                 184.63  N   

36998 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Office Door Signs - COF & SOF  $                 189.26  N   

36943 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 217.80  N   

37095 X   Harbor Freight Well Pump  $                 227.31  N   

37061 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Pens, Notebooks, Clipboards - GAO  $                 231.26  N   

37087 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Scissors, Markers, Creamer, Folders  $                 232.97  N   

36944 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 235.81  N   

37031 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot  - OTC Sercurity  $                 239.04  N   

36984 X   LinkedIn LinkedIn  $                 239.88  N   

37064 X   Hudson Printing YOP Business Cards  $                 244.36  N   

37086 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 251.47  N   

37032 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - ETC-ADA  $                 256.19  N   

36904 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Coffee Creamer, Pencils, Labels - GAO  $                 259.16  N   

37009 X   Hudson Printing 30th Anniversary Customer Alert  $                 261.13  N   

37006 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Badge Holders, WhiteBoard, Lanyards - HR  $                 270.49  N   

36927 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Five (5) Flag Spreaders - GAO  $                 277.05  N   

37008 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER 30th Anniv. Press Conf. Entry Posters  $                 285.78  N   

37044 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Gloss Finished Paper - GAO  $                 288.60  N   

36885 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - OTC  $                 295.82  N   

37083 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SMMF  $                 296.31  N   

37048 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Two-Way Radio Batteries  $                 304.56  N   

36913 X   Grainger, Inc Way Oil 5 Gallon Lube  $                 319.10  N   

37056 X   Sean Twomey DBA 2meart.com Rail Emergency Contact Magnet  $                 321.50  N   

37003 X   US Bank/IMPAC Govt. Services SkyXoft Technologies Renewal  $                 324.00  N   

36972 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 327.57  N   

37000 X   Best Materials Roof Hatch Replacement at ETC  $                 331.23  N   

37004 X   Ultratec - Weitbrecht Telephone-Ultratec Minicom IV  $                 334.33  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 3 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

36974 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $                 339.31  N   

37043 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - BOW  $                 341.86  N   

37045 X   SoCal Radar-Laser Certification Lab California Radar Laser Certification  $                 350.00  N   

36962 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - OTC  $                 371.17  N   

36941 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Wire Hooks, Privacy Screen, Calendar - GAO  $                 371.60  N   

37053 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER - Padres A-Frame Sign  $                 374.11  N   

37091 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Cisco VOIP Replacements  $                 378.88  N   

36948 X   Airgas USA, LLC Sprinter-Calibration Tools  $                 384.99  N   

36928 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SMMF  $                 390.86  N   

36892 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Dry Erase Board, Command Hooks, Lanyards - HR  $                 398.23  N   

37069 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. Title VI Bus Placards & Decals  $                 404.10  N   

37023 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Honey Packets, Coffee Organizer, Creamer - GAO  $                 407.25  N   

36993 X   Hudson Printing COASTER - 30th Anniversary Water Bottles  $                 412.60  N   

36975 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - MOW  $                 413.79  N   

36905 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SMMF  $                 420.79  N   

36898 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - Learning & Development  $                 424.74  N   

36983 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Strengths Finder Books-Learning & Development   $                 426.75  N   

36833 X   Fastenal Company SPRINTER Parts & Supplies  $                 432.58  N   

37082 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 436.15  N   

37036 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 448.55  N   

36982 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Check Printer Toners  $                 455.25  N   

36907 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $                 461.08  N   

37047 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $                 466.31  N   

37035 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SMMF  $                 467.49  N   

36970 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER-30th Anniversary Feather Banners  $                 471.97  N   

37098 X   Secure by Design, Inc. Ninite Pro Renewal  $                 480.00  N   

36987 X   CDW Government, Inc. IT Equipment  $                 482.22  N   

36959 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - ETC-ADA  $                 523.58  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 4 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

36992 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER 30th Anniversary Display Poster   $                 532.59  N   

37097 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER Schedule - Station and Platform Signs  $                 607.28  N   

36920 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - GAO  $                 608.24  N   

36946 X   Pacific Metrology and Engineering Sprinter-Calibration Tools  $                 608.68  N   

37079 X   Pacific Metrology and Engineering Wheel Calibration Services  $                 614.00  N   

36961 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - OTC  $                 648.62  N   

37033 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $                 649.00  N   

36977 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Pulling and Dry Film Lubricants  $                 665.52  N   

36951 X   Fastenal Company  COASTER Parts & Supplies  $                 674.74  N   

36996 X   Harsco Rail Track Stabilizer Equipment Manuals  $                 676.57  N   

36934 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. IT - CAT Phones  $                 703.55  N   

36973 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $                 730.28  N   

37013 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Wired Computer Keyboards & Mouse  $                 762.57  N   

37066 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. Apple Pay Bus Placards and Train Decals 2025  $                 809.71  N   

36929 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - OTC  $                 819.43  N   

37015 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Headsets & Monitor Desk Mount Stands  $                 882.44  N   

37010 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SMMF  $                 891.31  N   

36956 X   Hudson Printing Bus - Schedule Problem Report Form  $                 923.42  N   

37034 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $                 971.46  N   

35034 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot -GAO  $                 971.46  N   

36976 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. 2-4-Stroke Fuel, Solar Panels, Inverter, Organizer  $                 985.92  N   

37076 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Sockets, LED Light, DEF Pump - MOW  $             1,037.19  N   

37030 X   CDW Government, Inc. IT - Bus Transition Monitors  $             1,059.59  N   

37002 X   Autolift Services, Inc. Potentiometer for Vehicle Lift  $             1,183.66  N   

36917 X   Hudson Printing Free Ride Rosa Parks Alert Flyer  $             1,203.87  N   

37005 X   B&H / FS.com/My Asset Tag IT -  Axis Connector Pins, Cisco Transceiver, Asset Tags  $             1,209.68  N   

37090 X   Light Pole Systems, Inc. Lightpole  $             1,267.61  N   

36960 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Office Depot - SOF  $             1,314.43  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 5 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

37018 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. Black History Month Flags  $             1,363.95  N   

37063 X   HJR Equipment Rental, Inc Way Lube Manifold Assembly  $             1,387.92  N   

36938 X   Balco Holdings Inc. dba Bay Alarm Alarm Monitoring  $             1,396.68  N   

36955 X   Air Health Air Purifier, Replacement Lamps and Filters  $             1,415.55  N   

37080 X   SSS Hot Off the Press NCTD Blank Badges  $             1,445.14  N   

36896 X   Linh Phan Wong DBA Phantastic Bus ROADEO Promotional items  $             1,452.13  N   

37016 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Retransfer Film and Color Ribbon  $             1,478.53  N   

36924 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. American Flags and Flag Accessories - GAO  $             1,545.54  N   

36979 X   Superior Cleaning Equipment, I Pump Replacement - BOE  $             1,636.94  N   

36987/ 
37005 X   B&H/FS.com/My Asset Tag IT Equipment for Repairs throughout District  $             1,691.90  N   

36940 X   Bluebeam, Inc. IT - Bluebeam Subscription  $             1,980.00  N   

37058 X   Cable, Pipe & Leak Detection Fiber and Utilities Survey  $             2,000.00  N   

36899 X   Graffiti Shield, Inc. Signage installation at GAO  $             2,026.09  N   

37096 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. LED Lights, Diamond Blades - MOW  $             2,154.78  N   

37017 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. International Women's Day Flag  $             2,235.90  N   

37070 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. AAPI Heritage Month Flag  $             2,235.90  N   

36915 X   Industry-Railway Suppliers, Inc. Hydraulic Grinder  $             2,251.98  N   

36894 X   Fuelhawk Equipment, Ltd. Fuel Nozzle for SOF  $             2,252.43  N   

36887 X   Deluxe Small Business Sales Laser Bottom Blank Checks  $             2,297.23  N   

36902 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. IT Monthly Order - January 2025  $             2,306.06  N   

37059 X   Hudson Printing COASTER Padres Customer Alert  $             2,331.25  N   

36893 X   Troy Group, Inc. IT - Tyler Printer  $             2,363.27  N   

36918 X   Grainger, Inc Padlocks  $             2,384.92  N   

37028 X   Grainger, Inc COASTER Parts  $             2,384.92  N   

36908 X   CDW Government, Inc. Laptop Batteries  $             2,444.48  N   

36935 X   B&H Photo Video Audio Yealink Parts for GAO Conference Room  $             2,488.67  N   

37065 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Battery Booster Pack  $             2,538.07  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 6 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

37001 X   EdgeTech, Inc. Speaker and Armada Subscription  $             2,596.09  N   

37052 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. Transit Workers Zero Tolerence Decals  $             2,690.01  N   

37019 X   2meart.com COASTER - 30th Anniversary Giveaway Shirts  $             2,771.20  N   

37046 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. USB Hub, Headset, Antennas, Google Pixel Phones - IT   $             2,817.13  N   

36967 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Jump Box, Microphone, Oil, Notebooks, Heaters  $             2,910.91  N   

36965 X   Zuza BREEZE Die Cut CNG Bus  $             2,922.75  N   

37027 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Running Boards, Light Pods, Tie Downs, Cabinets  $             3,090.07  N   

37074 X   PCH Litho, Inc. COASTER Pocket Schedules  $             3,091.62  N   

37075 X   PCH Litho, Inc. SPRINTER Pocket Schedules  $             3,132.76  N   

37037 X   Decked Truck Drawer system (qty - 2)  $             3,199.98  N   

36957 X   Hudson Printing SPRINTER - LRV Checklist Carbonless  $             3,213.64  N   

37012 X   Covenant Security Equipment BOW Security Window  $             3,240.45  N   

36981 X   Cerberus by Redwood Cerberus FTP Server Renewal  $             3,299.00  N   

36909 X   Neyenesch Printers, Inc. COASTER Standard Die Cut Train  $             3,314.39  N   

36969 X   Neyenesch Printers, Inc. COASTER - 30th Anniversary Die Cut Train  $             3,314.39  N   

37051 X   EC America, Inc. CBT Nuggets Training Licenses  $             3,430.26  N   

37038 X   Zones Damaged Laptop Replacement  $             3,447.00  N   

36910 X   Grainger, Inc Water Dispenser, Ball Valves, Water Filters -  SOF  $             3,452.90  N   

36952 X   Corodata Records Management  Record Storage  $             3,500.00  N   

37099 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. System Map Kiosk Posters  $             3,768.18  N   

36985 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Computer Cleaner, 5 Google Pixel Phones, Cat6 Cable  $             3,868.57  N   

37073 X   IBM IBM Software Renewal  $             3,917.20  N   

37068 X   Konecranes, Inc. Radio Parts for Overhead Crane at SOF  $             3,942.46  N   

36950 X   OmniSTAR Omnistar Renewal  $             4,020.00  N   

36895 X   Linh Phan Wong DBA Phantastic Bus ROADEO Promotional Items  $             4,143.34  N   

36978 X   2meart.com COASTER 30th Anniversary Hats   $             4,218.50  N   

36891 X   PRISM Employee Assistance Program  $             4,238.85  N   

37089 X   Cal Systems, Inc. HID MultiProx Card Readers  $             4,425.00  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 7 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

36964 X   Railroad Tools and Solutions, Inc. Track Measuring Tools  $             4,524.32  N   

37014 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. 4K Expanded I-O Players - Bus Transition - IT  $             4,568.16  N   

36995 X   WVCO Spikefast Cartridges and Mixers  $             4,587.19  N   

36911 X   Grainger, Inc Extendable Pry Bar, Faucets, Toilet dispenser - MOF  $             4,600.64  N   

36997 X   Lanier Plans Inc. dba Korkat Bench Sleep inhibitors  $             4,813.15  N   

37072 X   Draycor Inc. Devolutions Remote Desktop Server Licenses  $             4,828.86  N   

37060 X   ODP Business Solutions, LLC Lockers - SOF   $             4,868.10  N   

36990 X   2meart.com COASTER 30th Anniversary - Mens Polo Shirts  $             4,869.63  N   

36991 X   US Bank/IMPAC Govt. Services COASTER 30th Anniversary - Womens Polo Shirts  $             4,869.63  N   

37093 X   Amazon Capital Services, Inc. Tow Straps, Pod Lights, Shackles, Breakers  $             4,887.26  N   

36947 X   FiberOptic.com Certified Fibor Optic Installation Training  $             4,900.00  N   

37025 X   Cal Systems, Inc. Windshield Tag Scanner  $             4,900.00  N   

36914 X   Waxie Enterprises, LLC Sanitary Supplies - MOF    $             4,975.91  N   

36980 X   Waxie Enterprises, LLC Janitorial Supplies  $             4,975.91  N   

36889 X   Raymond Allen Furniture L-Shaped Desk, Credenza, Conference Table, Bookshelf  $             4,980.84  N   

37054 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. NCTD ZEB Emissions Decal 2025  $             4,981.67  N   

36966 X   Grainger, Inc Janitorial supplies for NCTD   $             4,993.96  N   

37088 X   Araya Construction Inc OTC Customer Service Wet Drywall Removal  $             4,994.61  N   

36963 X   Cal Systems, Inc. Renewal-LiNC-NXG Service Main  $             4,995.00  N   

36916 X   Grainger, Inc Janitorial Supplies - MOF  $             4,996.44  N   

36890 X   Escondido Metal Supply Material for Metal Fabrication throughout District   $             4,999.00  N   

36900 X   Cal Systems RFID Reader Programming at BOW  $             4,999.00  N   

36936 X   Network Industries DBA Hotsy Pressure Washer Parts  $             4,999.00  N   

36954 X   Akeso Occupational Health Physicals and Screenings - Q3   $             4,999.00  N   

37057 X   Canva Canva Pro for Teams  $             4,999.00  N   

37067 X   Araya Construction Inc Asbestos Survey  $             4,999.00  N   

37100 X   CertaPro Painters GAO Painting  $             4,999.00  N   

36879 X   Impact Designs As-needed Signs throughout District  $             4,999.00  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 8 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

36999 X   Kept Companies DBA Fleetwash Bus Stop Power Washing  $             4,999.99  N   

37029 X   The Sherwin-Williams Company As Needed Paint for NCTD Facilities  $             4,999.99  N   

36945 X   SHI International Corp Monitors, UPS Batteries and UPS Replacements - IT  $             8,239.95  N   

23064 X   Hendrickson Del Mar Encroachment Appraisal  $             8,500.00  N   

36968 X   Cart Mart Inc. Cart Repair - MOF   $             8,791.20  N   

36903 X   Vertex Inc. Vertex Renewal  $             8,861.00  N X 

37050 X   The Glass Company, Inc.  Glass Replacement - GAO  $             9,000.00  N   

37020 X   Saitech Inc Cisco Umbrella FY25  $             9,490.75  N   

36932 X   Traffic Supply, Inc. As-needed District Wide Signs  $             9,513.14  N   

36988 X   GovConnection, Inc dba Connect VMWare Workspace ONE  $             9,942.00  N   

36309 X   HERC Rentals As-needed Equipment Rentals  $           10,000.00  N   

36901 X   Insight Public Sector, Inc. IT-Sios DataKeeper  $           11,539.77  N   

34011 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER/SPRINTER Bilingual Decals  $           14,045.86  N   

37011 X   Dimensional Silk Screen, Inc. COASTER - Bilingual Decals  $           16,913.27  N   

22025 X   Siemens Safety Arm Bar Threads  $           22,822.00  Y   

36930 X   SHI International Corp Cisco SMARTNet Renewals -  IT  $           26,506.60  N   

37092 X   CA Business Centers Office Furniture Install  $           29,273.00  N   

36931 X   Kronos Incorporated Telestaff Licenses  $           36,800.00  N   

37041 X   City of Culver City So. Cal. Regional Bus Roadeo Participation Fee  $           36,861.00  N   

23065   X Roma Engineering BOW and SOF Solar Interter Replacements  $           44,650.00  Y   

18007 X   STV Incorporated COASTER Vehicle Fire Safety Assessment   $           47,616.64  Y   

36888 X   Nordco, Inc. Surfacing Equipment Operator Training  $           50,000.00  N X 

36865 X   myCOI Certificate of Insurance Management Services  $           52,250.00  N   

37039 X   Techmaster Electronics, LLC Meter Calibration Services - MOS   $           55,256.06  N   

25024 X   Skaggs Co., Inc. Security Uniforms  $           62,192.80  N   

25029 X   Euna Solutions, Inc. E-Procurement Marketplace  $           67,500.00  N   

25031 X   Dudek Plant Replacement Project   $           76,174.49  Y   

20032   X Alstom Transportation Change Order Locomotive Control Unit  $        118,342.50  N   



Original Commitments 500K in Value or Less and Change Order Commitments 250K in Value or Less 
January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025 

 
 

Page 9 of 9 

 

Order 
Number 

Original 
Order 

Change 
Order Supplier Description Service/Product Description Extended Cost 

Fed 
Funds 

Sole 
Source 

20032   X Alstom Transportation Change Order 03 COASTER Bi-Level Car Repaint  $        129,722.83  N   

37094 X   CDW Government, Inc. IT Equipment - Bus Transition  $        131,018.05  N   

25042 X   Sherwin-Williams Paint for Throughout District Use  $        187,000.00  N   

37024 X   Downtown Ford of Sacramento Non-Revenue Vehicles - 5 Medium SUVs  $        239,614.78  N   

25035 X   Gafcon PM-CM LLC LC - PTC Lab HVAC  $        244,901.48  N   

36953 X   Carahsoft Technology Corp SMART Sheets SW  $        287,906.15  N   

36850 X   Balfour Beatty Pedestrian Grade Crossing Panels   $        308,809.23  Y   

36926 X   Downtown Ford of Sacramento Non-Revenue Vehicles - 13 Mavericks  $        401,500.68  N   

36167 X   New Flyer Fuel Cell Electric Buses Equipment Additions  $        447,438.20  Y   

36933 X   EdgeTech, Inc. Radio Equipment  $        459,837.81  N   

25030 X   Thompson Coburn LLP Labor Relation Issues  $        499,999.00  N   

 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-010 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

10 

 

RECEIVE THE QUARTERLY REPORT OF RATIFICATION OF CONTRACT 
ITEMS FOR THE BUS TRANSITION FOR THE THIRD QUARTER OF FY2025 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the quarterly report of contract items ratified under the Chief Executive 
Officer’s authority for the bus operations transition for the third quarter of FY2025 
(January 1 – March 31, 2025). 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

 
To support the timely execution of agreements necessary for the insourcing of 
bus operations, the Board, on November 21, 2024, authorized the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO), with the concurrence of the Chief General Counsel, to 
award agreements related to goods and services necessary for the bus transition. 
This authority extends from November 22, 2024, through June 30, 2025 (Agenda 
Item No. 14). 
 
In accordance with the delegated authority, staff is submitting the attached 
quarterly report for Board review and ratification. The report outlines all 
agreements executed under this authority during the reporting period. 
 

ATTACHMENT: 10A – Quarterly Report of Ratified Contract Items for the Bus Transition 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 
 

None 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Alex Denis, Chief Operating Officer – General Services 
E-mail: adenis@nctd.org Phone:  760-966-6537 

 



Quarterly Report of Ratified Contract Items for the Bus Transition

January 31, 2025 to March 31, 2025

Supplier Description Service/Product Description Fed Funds Or Ty Buyer Name

Purchase Order/

Contract No. Order Date Extended Cost

Downtown Ford FY25 Non-Revenue Vehicles (Ford Mavericks) N OP TOVAR, SUZANNE 36926 1/15/2025 $401,500.68

Trapeze Software Group Trapeze EAM Implementation Y OS ATKINSON, ALESIA S 25025 2/13/2025 $1,366,625.00

CDW Government, Inc. IT Equipment - Bus Transition N OP TOVAR, SUZANNE 37094 3/26/2025 $131,018.05

ATTACHMENT 10A



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-011 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

11 

 

APPROVE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN NCTD 
AND PALOMAR COLLEGE CONCERNING THE ACCELERATE 
CLEAN PUBLIC TRANSIT PROGRAM  
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☒ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Memorandum of Understanding with Palomar College concerning the 
Accelerate Clean Public Transit Program including the establishment of a Zero 
Emission Vehicles Technologies (ZEV Tech) Certificate Program, ZEV Bus 
Technician Apprenticeship Program, and for the Purchase of Specialized Training 
Equipment and Tools.  
   

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

In June 2023, the North County Transit District (NCTD) was awarded a $29.3 
million grant (Grant) from the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Low or No 
Emission Grant Program for the purchase of 23 hydrogen fuel cell electric buses. 
NCTD’s successful grant application included a commitment to workforce 
development via partnership with Palomar College; $1.7 million of the $29.3 million 
FTA grant was awarded for the implementation of a three-year year 
heavy/Moderate Zero Emission Vehicle Technologies (ZEV Tech) certificate 
program, the development of a ZEV Bus Technician Apprenticeship Program, and 
for the purchase of specialty training equipment and tools (Program).  
 
The Accelerate Clean Public Transit Program Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) formalizes a partnership between NCTD and Palomar College to satisfy 
the workforce development components of the Grant. Under the schedule set in 
the MOU, the first semester of classes in the ZEV Tech certificate program would 
commence in the Fall of 2026. NCTD and Palomar College anticipate 
continuation of the Program after the grant, creating a workforce pipeline of 
qualified technicians to ensure state-of-good-repair of NCTD’s investment in 
Zero-Emission Buses.   

 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the Memorandum of Understanding 
between NCTD and Palomar College concerning the Accelerate Clean Public 
Transit Program including the establishment of a Zero Emission Vehicles 
Technologies (ZEV Tech) Certificate Program, ZEV Bus Technician Apprenticeship 
Program, and for the Purchase of Specialized Training Equipment and Tools.  
 

ATTACHMENT: 11A – Accelerate Clean Public Transit Memorandum of Understanding 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: The three (3)-year Program was awarded $1,737,429 from FTA Grant No. CA-
2024-166. The three (3)-year program’s budgeted operating costs total 
$1,203,558, including $242,812 in-kind match from Palomar College. Capital 
costs are budgeted for $970,856; of which NCTD will contribute $194,173 in state 
or local funds.  
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 
 

None 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Nicholas Sofoul, Director of Strategic Planning  
E-mail: nsofoul@nctd.org Phone: 760-435-9114 

 



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
BETWEEN

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT
AND PALOMAR COLLEGE

CONCERNING THE ACCELERATE
CLEAN TRANSIT PROJECT

ThisMemorandum ofUnderstanding (MOU) ismadeandentered intobyandbetween North
County Transit District (NCTD), apublicagency existingunder thelawsoftheStateofCalifornia,  
pursuant toCalifornia PublicUtilities Codesections 125000, etseq., andPalomar College
PALOMAR), individually referred toasa “Party” andcollectively referred toherein as “Parties.”   

RECITALS

Thefollowing recitals areasubstantive partofthisMOU:   

WHEREAS, thepurpose ofthisMOUistodocument theParties' understanding and
responsibilities withrespect totheAccelerate Clean Transit Project (PROJECT), whichwill
advance NCTD’stransition tozero-emission busoperations through thepurchase of23hydrogen
fuelcellelectric busesandtheimplementation ofanapprenticeship program withPALOMAR;  
and,  

WHEREAS, workforce training isintegral tothesuccess ofNCTD’stransition tozero-emission
busoperations; and,  

WHEREAS, PALOMAR isaleader incollege apprenticeship programs andisfullyaccredited by
theAccrediting Commission forCommunity andJuniorColleges oftheWestern Association of
Schools andColleges (ACCJC/WASC), aninstitutional accrediting bodyrecognized bythe
Council ofHigher Education Accreditation andtheDepartment ofEducation; and,  

WHEREAS, thePROJECT award included $1,737,429fromtheFederal Transit Administration’s
FTA) LoworNoEmission GrantProgram awarded toNCTD fortheimplementation ofathree- 

year Heavy/Moderate ZeroEmissions Vehicle Technologies (ZEVTech) certificate program
PROGRAM), thedevelopment ofaZEVBusTechnician Apprenticeship Program
APPRENTICESHIP), andforthepurchase oftraining equipment andtools (EQUIPMENT). The

funding support fromtheFTAisreferred tohereinasthe “GRANT”; and,   

WHEREAS, NCTDisaFTAdirect recipient andwillmanage theGRANT; and,  

WHEREAS, tosupport thePROGRAM, NCTDwillusein-kindmatchprovided byPALOMAR as
defined in2CFR200.1. CodeofFederal Regulations 2CFR200.1defines third-party in-kind
contributions asthevalueofnon-cashcontributions (i.e., property orservices) that benefita
federally-assisted projectorprogram and arecontributed bynon-Federal thirdparties, without
charge, toanon-Federal entityunderaFederal award; and,  

WHEREAS, in-kindcontribution valuation forPALOMAR contributions willbecalculated in
accordance with2CFR200.306forthedetermination ofPALOMAR’sin-kindcontribution. Code
ofFederal Regulations 2CFR200.306allows third-party in-kindcontributions aspartofthenon- 

Page1of60

ATTACHMENT 11A



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Federal entity'scostsharing ormatching whensuchcontributions meetallofthefollowing criteria:  
1) verifiable fromthenon-Federal entity'srecords; (2) anotincluded ascontributions forany

otherFederal award; (3) necessary andreasonable foraccomplishment ofprojectorprogram
objectives; (4) allowable undersubpartEof2CFR200; (5) notpaidbytheFederal Government
underanother Federal award, except where theFederal statute authorizing aprogram specifically
provides thatFederal fundsmadeavailable forsuchprogram canbeapplied tomatching orcost
sharing requirements ofotherFederal programs; (6) provided forintheapproved budgetwhen
required bytheFederal awarding agency; and (7) conform tootherprovisions of2CFR200, as
applicable; and,  

WHEREAS, PALOMAR willactasaContractor toNCTDandwillberesponsible forimplementing
thePROGRAM and submitting approval foranAPPRENTICESHIP tothe California Divisionof
Apprenticeship Standard; and,  

WHEREAS, thePartieswillsubsequently enterintoanEquipment LoanAgreement, whereNCTD
will loancertain PROGRAM EQUIPMENT forusebyPALOMAR viaaseparate agreement; and,   

WHEREAS, theParties agreeandacknowledge thatthePROGRAM cannotbeimplemented
without thepurchase andloanoftherequired EQUIPMENT; and,  

WHEREAS, theParties wishtomemorialize theiragreement inthisMOUtocarryoutthe
purposes setforthabove.  

NOW THEREFORE, inconsideration ofthemutual promises setforthherein, theParties agree
asfollows:   

I. PALOMAR AGREES TO:   

1. Establish thePROGRAM andsubmitapproval fortheAPPRENTICESHIP totheCalifornia
Division ofApprenticeship Standards, whichwillprovide students withwork-to-learn
opportunities intheheavy/moderate dutyzeroemission vehicle sector. Activities funded
bytheGRANT will include faculty training, marketing toprospective students, recruitment
outreach, material purchases, andimplementation ofthePROGRAM.   

2. Provide anin-kindmatchof20% ($242,812) towards $960,746ofFTAfunds. Thein-kind
contribution isPalomar’scontribution towards thePROGRAM andis noteligible for
reimbursement byNCTDorFTAfunds. Unused FTAfundsattheendofthethree-year
PROGRAM mayberepurposed byNCTDatitssolediscretion.  

3. Follow2CFR200forthedetermination ofPALOMAR’sin-kindcontribution match and
provide detailed calculations supporting PALOMAR’sin-kindcontribution matchamount.   

4. Submit invoices andsupporting calculations fordirectprogram expenses andthein-kind
contribution match, notmorefrequently thanmonthly, forreimbursement ofdirectprogram
expenses andFTAeligible costs, assubmitted inthebudget (seeExhibitD) associated
withtheestablishment ofthePROGRAM. Allinvoicesandin-kindcontribution matchmust
havepropersupporting documentation attached, suchasbutnot limited to, adetailed
reportofhoursandratesforstaffandconsultant personnel thathaveperformed services
including timesheets ifavailable), travelexpense reports withreceipts, andvendor

invoices formaterials. Thereshallbenomark-upapplied toanychargeorcost.   

Page2of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

5. AgreetoutilizeEQUIPMENT purchased withFTAfundsandloanedtoPALOMAR through
aseparate Equipment LoanAgreement tobeexecuted bythePartiesforthesolepurpose
ofthePROGRAM andhaveprocedures inplace toprevent loss, damage, ortheftof
EQUIPMENT. TheSAMPLE EQUIPMENT LOANAGREEMENT shallbesubstantially in
theformattached heretoasExhibitF, subject toanymutually agreed-uponmodifications.   

6. AssistNCTDinmeeting FTAgrantadministration requirements onatimelybasis. Provide
andkeepacurrent PROGRAM schedule withmilestones, deliverables, anddates. The
Milestone Activity isattached heretoasExhibitC.   

7. ProvideaPROGRAM activities report toNCTDwithin20calendar daysattheendofeach
quarter endingonSeptember 30, December 31, March31, andJune30 (QUARTER), that
includes thefollowing information (asapplicable):   

Statusofeachmilestone activity thathasoccurred during thereporting period,  
including theactual completion datesforanyactivities andrevised completion dates
foranymilestones goalsnotmet.   
Narrative ofactivitystatusandanyproblems encountered inimplementation,  
specification preparation, bidsolicitation, resolution ofprotests, orthird-party
contract awards.   
Detailed discussion ofbudgetorschedule changes.   
Explanation ofwhyscheduled milestones orcompletion dateswerenotmet.   
Identification ofproblem areasandanarrative onhowtheproblems willbesolved.   
Discussion oftheexpected impacts andtheefforts torecover fromthedelays.  
Analysis ofeachsignificant project costvariance: completion andacceptance of
construction orotherwork, breakout ofthecosts incurred, andthosecostsrequired
tocomplete theprojectusingquantitative measures, suchashoursworked,  
sections completed, orunitsdelivered.   

8. Uponcompletion ofthethree-yearPROGRAM, either (a) exercise PALOMAR’spurchase
option fortheEQUIPMENT, or (b) ifPALOMAR electsnottopurchase theEQUIPMENT
andatransfer ofownership isnotapproved bytheFTA, returnallsuchEQUIPMENT to
NCTD inaccordance withthetermsoftheEquipment LoanAgreement. Ifreturnofthe
EQUIPMENT isrequired, itshallbesolely responsible forallcostsassociated withthe
disconnection, preparation, packaging, transportation, anddelivery oftheEQUIPMENT to
alocation designated byNCTD, unlessotherwise agreed inwritingbytheParties. The
EQUIPMENT shallbereturned ingoodworking condition, normal wearandtearexcepted
seeExhibitF).  

9. Agrees thatitistheresponsibility ofPALOMAR toensure thatallclauses andcertifications
applicable totheGRANT areadhered tobyPALOMAR anditssubcontractors when
applicable. Attached asExhibitAistheFederal Transit Administration Required Clauses
andCertifications.   

10. Adhere toNCTD’sStandard ofConductPolicyandProcedure (GM-0008), attachedhereto
asExhibitB.  

II. NCTD AGREES TO:   

1. Apply fortheFTAGRANT through theTransit AwardManagement System (TrAMS) and
administer theGRANT.   

Page3of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

2. Coordinate andworkincollaboration withPALOMAR onthedevelopment and
implementation ofthePROGRAM including supporting future grantapplications tofund
potential ongoing needsofthePROGRAM.   

3. Ensure thatNewFlyerprovide training onrelevant partsofthefuel-celledbussystems to
PALOMAR faculty involved inthedelivery ofthePROGRAM.   

4. Purchase EQUIPMENT utilizing FTAfundsneeded forthePROGRAM (identified in
ExhibitE).   

5. Coordinate withPALOMAR onEQUIPMENT purchasing anddelivery toensure that
EQUIPMENT isavailable inatimelymannerforPROGRAM schedule. NCTDunderstands
thatdelays intraining EQUIPMENT delivery mayresult indelays inPROGRAM schedule
seeExhibitC).  

6. Collaborate withPALOMAR todevelop APPRENTICESHIPS (e.g., including pursuing
additional funding opportunities, suchasthrough theCalifornia Apprenticeship Council).  

7. Reimburse PALOMAR fordirectPROGRAM costsasidentified inthebudget (Exhibit D)  
within30calendar daysafterNCTDreceives aproper invoice (asdescribed inSection4
underSection Iabove). Anincomplete orincorrectly billed invoicewillberejected byNCTD
andPALOMAR willberequired toresubmit acorrected invoice, whichwillbepaidwithin
30calendar daysafter receiptofthecorrected invoice.   

8. Submit theQUARTER financial andmilestones reports forthePROJECT totheFTA.   
9. Accept theEQUIPMENT loaned toPALOMAR under thisMOUandtheEquipment Loan

Agreement (seeExhibitF) attheendofthethree-yearPROGRAM term, provided that
PALOMAR hasnotelected toexercise itspurchase option, andtheFTAhasnotapproved
atransfer ofownership toPALOMAR. IfreturnoftheEQUIPMENT isrequired, PALOMAR
shallberesponsible forreturning theEQUIPMENT toNCTD ingoodworking condition,  
normal wearandtearexcepted, andforallassociated costsofreturn. NCTD’Sobligation
toaccept thereturned EQUIPMENT issubject totheseconditions andtheapplicable
termssetforth intheEquipment LoanAgreement.  

10. NCTDagrees totransfer ownership oftheEQUIPMENT toPALOMAR attheconclusion
ofthethree-yearPROGRAM, subject to (1) priorwritten approval bytheFederal Transit
Administration (FTA), and (2) PALOMAR’scontinuation ofthePROGRAM. Should
PALOMAR discontinue thePROGRAM atanypoint thereafter, PALOMAR shall return the
EQUIPMENT toNCTDatitsowncostandexpense, unlessNCTDdetermines that the
EQUIPMENT hasreached theendofitsuseful lifeinaccordance withNCTD’spolicies
andapplicable FTAguidance, including FTACircular 5010.1Eoranysuccessor guidance.  
IfNCTDmakessuchadetermination, PALOMAR shallnotbeobligated toreturn the
EQUIPMENT toNCTD.  

III. THE PARTIES MUTUALLY AGREE AS FOLLOWS:   

1. TheaboveRecitals aretrueandcorrectandareintegrated aspartofthisMOU.   
2. Anycorrespondence required orpermitted under thisMOUmaybepersonally servedon

theotherPartybythePartygiving notice, ormaybeservedbyemail, fax, orprepaid
registered orcertified USPSmail, return receipt requested, tothefollowing addresses:   

ForNCTD: ForPalomar College:   
NorthCounty TransitDistrict Palomar College
810Mission Avenue 1140WestMission Road
Oceanside, CA92054 SanMarcos, CA92069
Attn: Derrick Wojcik-Damers Attn: Contract Services
Phone: 760-966-6558

Page4of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

E-mail: dwojcikdamers@nctd.org Phone: 760-744-1150
E-mail: contracts@palomar.edu

3.    Unless itisamended bytheParties inwriting, thisMOUshall terminate onDecember 31,  
2028, oronsuchearlierorlaterdateastheParties mayagreetoinwriting.   

4.   ThisMOUshallbeinterpreted inaccordance withthelawsoftheStateofCalifornia. Ifany
action isbrought tointerpret orenforce anytermofthisMOU, theaction shallbebrought
inastateorfederal courtsituated intheCounty ofSanDiego, StateofCalifornia.   

5.    All terms, conditions, andprovisions hereofshall inuretoandshallbindeachoftheParties
hereto, andeachoftheirrespective heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and
assigns.  

6.   Intheeventanamed party tothisMOUother thanNCTDelectstouseacontractor, it
shallensure thatthecontract meets therequirements ofFTACircular4220.1.F. by
providing NCTD with (1) acopyofthecontract thatshows thatthecurrent FTAclauses
andrequired certifications areincluded; (2) thatoriginal copiesofthecertificates madeout
toNCTD, signedbythecontractors; and (3) proof thatacompetitive process wasused in
theselection ofacontractor. Iftheworkexceeds $10,000.00invalue, thesealedbid
method musthavebeenused. Thesearerequirements forNCTDtoutilizeitsfederal funds
andmakepayment toPALOMAR forworkperformed onNCTD’sbehalf. Nopayment can
bemadetoPALOMAR ifthecontracting requirements outlined hereinhavenotbeen
followed andevidence ofsuchisnotonrecordatNCTD. TheentireCircular 4220.1Fcan
beprovided uponrequest. FTACircular 4220.1F canalsobefoundat
https://www.transit.dot.gov/sites/fta.dot.gov/files/docs/Third%20Party%20Contracting%2
0Guidance%20%28Circular%204220.1F%29.pdf Foranyquestions orconcerns about
FTAcompliance, contact theNCTD contact named initem2, above.    

7.   Neither PartynoranyBoardofDirector, contract management andstaff, agents, and
member agencies thereof shallberesponsible foranydamage orliabilityoccurring by
reasonofanything doneoromitted tobedonebyanyotherPartyunderorinconnection
withanywork, authority, orjurisdiction delegated thereto under thisMOU. Itisunderstood
andagreed thatpursuant toGovernment Codesection 895.4, theParties shallmutually
defend, indemnify andsaveharmless oneanother, including allofficers andemployees,  
fromallclaims, suits, oractionsofeveryname, kind, anddescription brought fororon
account ofinjury (asdefined inGovernment Codesection 810.8) occurring byreasonof
anything doneoromitted tobedonebyanother Partyunderorinconnection withany
work, authority orjurisdiction delegated thereto underthisMOU.  

8. Theindemnification provisions ofthisMOUshallsurvive termination oftheMOUandapply
until thelastapplicable statuteoflimitations expires.   

9. Forpurposes ofthisMOU, therelationship oftheParties isthatofindependent entities
andnotasagents ofeachotherorasjointventures orpartners. TheParties shallmaintain
soleandexclusive control overtheirpersonnel, agents, consultants, andoperations,  
including independent useandownership ofalltrademarks, service marks, domain
names, patents, copyrights, tradedress, tradesecrets, business names, rightsofpublicity,  
inventions, proprietary know-howandinformation ofanytype, whether ornotinwriting,  

Page5of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

bytheparty thatcreated themortheassigned intellectual property owner ofthird-party
intellectual property.  

10. Noalteration orvariation ofthetermsofthisMOUshallbevalidunless madeinwriting
andsignedbytheParties hereto, andnooralunderstanding oragreement not
incorporated hereinshallbebinding onanyofthePartieshereto.   

11. Nothing intheprovisions ofthisMOUisintended tocreatedutiesorobligations toorrights
inthirdparties tothisMOUoraffect thelegalliabilityoftheParties tothisMOU.   

12. EachPartydeclares that, priortoexecution ofthisMOU, ithasconsulted withitsattorney
inorder thatitmayintelligently exercise itsownjudgment indeciding whether toexecute
thisMOU.   

13. EachPartydeclares that ithasreadthisMOUandunderstands andknows thecontents
thereof andrepresents andwarrants thateachoftheParties executing thisMOUis
empowered todosoandhereby bindstherespective Party.   

14. ThisMOUmaybeexecuted inanynumber ofidentical counterparts, eachofwhichshall
bedeemed tobeanoriginal, andallofwhich together shallbedeemed tobeoneandthe
sameinstrument wheneachpartyhassignedonesuchcounterpart. TheParties further
agree thatafacsimile copyoftheexecuted counterparts shallhavethesame forceand
effectasanoriginal.   

INWITNESS WHEREOF, theParties havecaused thisMOUtobeexecuted anddelivered
asofthelastdateoftheParties’ signature.   

APPROVALS ON THE NEXT PAGE

Page6of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT PALOMAR COLLEGE

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________  
ShawnM. Donaghy AnnJensen
ChiefExecutive Officer Director ofBusiness Services

DateDate

APPROVED ASTOFORM:    

By: _____________________________  
LoriA. Winfree
Deputy ChiefExecutive Officer / Chief
General Counsel

Date

Page7of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

EXHIBIT “A”  

FEDERALTRANSITADMINISTRATIONREQUIREDCLAUSES

1. ACCESSTORECORDS, REPORTS, & SITES. ( APPLICABLE TOALL
CONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

a. RecordRetention.  Contractor shall retainandwillrequire itssubcontractors of
alltierstoretain, complete andreadily accessible records related inwholeorin
parttotheunderlying agreement, including, butnotlimited to, data, documents,  
reports, statistics, sub-agreements, leases, subcontracts, arrangements, other
third-partyagreements ofanytype, andsupporting materials related tothose
records.  

b. RetentionPeriod.  Contractor shall comply withtherecord retention requirement
inaccordance with2C.F.R.§ 200.333.  Contractor shallmaintain allbooks,  
records, accounts andreports required under thisAward, theaccompanying
underlying agreement, andanyamendments thereto mustberetained fromthe
daytheunderlying agreement wassignedbytheauthorized Agency official
through thecourse oftheaward, accompanying underlying agreement, andany
amendments thereto until threeyearsafter theContractor hassubmitted itslast
orfinalexpenditure report, andother pending matters areclosed, except inthe
eventoflitigation orsettlement ofclaims arising fromtheperformance ofthis
Contract, inwhichcaserecords shallbemaintained untilthedisposition ofallsuch
litigation, appeals, claimsorexceptions related thereto.    

c. AccesstoRecords.  Contractors, atalltiers, shallprovide sufficient access to
inspect andaudit records andinformation, including suchrecords andinformation
theContractor andSubcontractors myregard asconfidential orproprietary, related
toitsAward, theaccompanying underlying agreement, andanyamendments
thereto totheU.S. Secretary ofTransportation, theComptroller General ofthe
United States, FTA, NCTD anditssubrecipients, andtheirdulyauthorized
representatives.   Permit those individuals listed abovetheinspect allworkand
materials related toitsAward, andtoauditanyinformation related toitsAward
under thecontrol ofNCTDorContractors withinbooks, records, accounts, orother
locations.  Comply with49U.S.C. § 5325(g), andother federal access torecords
requirements assetforthintheapplicable U.S. DOTCommon Rules.  

d. AccesstotheSitesofPerformance.  Contractor shallpermit FTA, NCTD, and
theirdulyauthorized representatives, access tothesitesofperformance ofits
Award, accompanying underlying agreement, andanyamendments thereto, and
make sitevisitsasneeded incompliance withU.S. DOTCommon Rules.  

2. ADAACCESS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

TheContractor shallcomply withallapplicable requirements oftheAmericans with
Disabilities Actof1990 (ADA), 42U.S.C. Section 12101etseq; Section 504ofthe

Page8of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Rehabilitation Actof1973, asamended, 29U.S.C. Section 794; 49U.S.C. Section
5301(d)., whichprohibit discrimination onthebasisofhandicaps, withtheAmericans
withDisabilities Actof1990 (ADA), asamended, 42U.S.C. §§ 12101 etseq., which
requires thataccessible facilities andservices bemadeavailable topersons with
disabilities, including anysubsequent amendments tothatAct, andwiththe
Architectural Barriers Actof1968, asamended, 42U.S.C. §§ 4151etseq., which
requires thatbuildings andpublic accommodations beaccessible topersons with
disabilities, including anysubsequent amendments tothatAct.  

3. CHANGESTOFEDERALREQUIREMENTS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

TheContractor shallatalltimescomply withallapplicable FTAregulations, policies,  
procedures, anddirectives, including without limitation those listeddirectlyorby
reference intheMaster Agreement between NCTDandFTA, astheymaybeamended
orpromulgated fromtimetotimeduring thetermofthiscontract.  Contractor shallalso
ensure compliance bysubcontractors atanytierofanyapplicable change tofederal
requirements.   

4. CIVILRIGHTS (EEO, TITLEVI, ADA) (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

a. Federal Requirements andGuidance.  Contractor mustprohibit discrimination
based onrace, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, ornational
origin.  Contractor mustalsocomply with: (a) TitleVIoftheCivilRights Actof1964,  
asamended, 42U.S.C. 2000e, etseq., (b) TitleIoftheAmericans withDisabilities
Actof1990, asamended, 42U.S.C. 12101, etseq., (c) Executive Order11246,  
EqualEmployment Opportunity” September 24, 1965 (42U.S.C. 2000e note), as

amended byanylaterExecutive Order thatamends orsupersedes itinpartandis
applicable tofederal assistance programs; (d) federal transit law, specifically 49
U.S.C. 5332, asprovided insection 12oftheMaster Agreement; and (e) FTA
Circular 4704.1 “EqualEmployment Opportunity (EEO) Requirements and
Guidelines forFederal Transit Administration Recipients.” 29C.F.R. Part1630, 41
C.F.R. Part60, 29U.S.C. § 623, 42U.S.C. § 2000e, 42U.S.C. § 12112, California
Government Code § 12900 – 12996.  49U.S.C. § 5325 (k). Fixing America’s
Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, PublicLawNo: 114-94, asmaybeamended.  

b. Further, Contractor must followother federal guidance pertaining toEEOlaws,  
regulations, andrequirements.  

c. Affirmative Action.  Ifrequired todosobyUSDOTregulations (49C.F.R. Part21)  
orUSDepartment ofLabor regulations (41C.F.R. Ch60), Contractor musttake
affirmative action thatincludes, butnotlimited to: (a) recruitment advertising,  
recruitment, andemployment; (b) ratesofpayandotherformsofcompensation;  
c) selection fortraining, including apprenticeship, andupgrading; and (d)  

transfers, demotions, layoffs andterminations.  
d. Indian Tribe.  Contractor recognizes thatTitleVIIoftheCivilRights Actof1964, as

amended, exempts Indian Tribesunder thedefinition of “Employer.”  

Page9of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

e. EqualEmployment Opportunity forConstruction Activities.  When undertaking
construction” asrecognized bytheUSDepartment ofLabor (USDOL), Contractor

mustcomply with: (a) USDOL regulations, “OfficeofFederal Contract Compliance
Programs, EqualEmployment Opportunity, Department ofLabor,” 41C.F.R. Ch
60; and (b) Executive Order11246, “EqualEmployment Opportunity inFederal
Employment,” September 24, 1965, 42U.S.C. 2000e note (30Fed. Reg. 12319,  
12935), asamended byanylaterExecutive Order thatamends orsupersedes it,  
referenced in42U.S.C. 2000e note.  

f. EqualEmployment Opportunity – Thefollowing equalemployment opportunity
requirements apply totheAgreement:  
1. Race, Color, Ancestry, Marital Status, Medical Condition, Genetic Information,  

Religion, National Origin, Sex, Sexual Orientation, Gender Identity, Gender
Expression – Inaccordance withTitleVIIoftheCivilRights Act, asamended,  
42U.S.C. § 2000e, 49U.S.C. § 5332,  FTACircular 4704.1, “EqualEmployment
Program Guidelines forGrantRecipients”, and , theContractor agrees to
comply withallapplicable equalemployment opportunity requirements ofU.S.  
Department ofLabor (U.S. DOL) regulations, including “OfficeofFederal
Contract Compliance Programs, EqualEmployment Opportunity, Department
ofLabor,” 41C.F.R. Parts60, etseq., (which implement Executive OrderNo.  
11246, “EqualEmployment Opportunity,” asamended byExecutive OrderNo.  
11375, “Amending Executive Order 11246Relating toEqualEmployment
Opportunity,” 42U.S.C. § 2000e note), FairEmployment andHousing Act,  
California Government Code Sections 12900 – 12996 andwithanyapplicable
Federal statutes, executive orders, regulations, andFederal policies thatmay
inthefutureaffectContractor agrees totakeaffirmative action toensure that
applicants areemployed, andthatemployees aretreated during employment,  
without regard totheir race, color, ancestry, religion, marital status, medical
condition, genetic information, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender
identity, gender expression, orage.  Suchactionshall include, butnotbelimited
to, thefollowing: employment, upgrading, demotion ortransfer, recruitment or
recruitment advertising, layoffortermination; ratesofpayorother formsof
compensation; andselection fortraining, including apprenticeship.  Inaddition,  
theContractor agrees tocomply withanyimplementing requirements thatDOT
orFTAmayissue, andanyotherapplicable Federal statutes thatmaybesigned
intolaworFederal regulations thatmaybepromulgated.  

2. Sex – TheContractor agrees tocomply withallapplicable requirements ofTitle
IXoftheEducation Amendments of1975, asamended, 20U.S.C. § 1681, and
49C.F.R. part25. Inaddition, theContractor agrees tocomply withany
implementing requirements thatDOTorFTAmayissue.   

3. Age - TheContractor agrees tocomply withallapplicable requirements ofthe
AgeDiscrimination Actof1975, asamended, 42U.S.C. § 6101, 45C.F.R. part
90, theAgeDiscrimination inEmployment Act, 29U.S.C. §§ 621-634, and
EqualEmployment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) implementing regulations
29C.F.R. part1625. Inaddition, theContractor agrees tocomply withany
implementing requirements thatDOTorFTAmayissue.    

Page10of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

4. Disabilities – TheContractor agrees tocomply withSection 504ofthe
Rehabilitation Actof1973, asamended, 29U.S.C. § 794, Section 508ofthe
Rehabilitation Actof1973, asamended, 29U.S.C. § 794(d), 36C.F.R. part
1194, theAmericans withDisabilities Actof1990, asamended, 42U.S.C. §  
12101, 49C.F.R. parts27, 37, 38, and39, andFTACircular 4710.1, “Americans
withDisabilities Act: Guidance”. Inaddition, theContractor agrees tocomply
withanyimplementing requirements thatDOTorFTAmayissue.    

g. TheContractor agrees toinclude these requirements ineachsubcontract financed
inwholeorinpartwithFederal assistance provided byFTA, modified onlyif
necessary toidentify theaffected parties.  

5. CLEANAIRACT (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS GREATER THAN $150,000)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

a. TheContractor agrees tocomply withallapplicable standards, ordersor
regulations issuedpursuant totheCleanAirAct, asamended, 42U.S.C. §§ 7401

7601(q) et seq. TheContractor agrees toreporteachviolation toNCTD and
understands andagrees thatNCTD, inturn, reporteachviolation asrequired to
assure notification toFTAandtheappropriate EPARegional Office.  

b. TheContractor alsoagrees toinclude these requirements ineachsubcontract
exceeding $100,000financed inwhole orinpartwithFederal assistance provided
byFTA.  

6. CLEANWATERACT (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS GREATER THAN
150,000)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

a. TheContractor agrees tocomply withallapplicable standards, ordersor
regulations issued pursuant totheCleanWaterAct, asamended, 33U.S.C. 1251

1377etseq.  
b. TheContractor agrees toreporteachviolation toNCTD andunderstands and

agrees thatNCTDwill, inturn, reporteachviolation asrequired toassure
notification toFTAandtheappropriate EPARegional Office incompliance withthe
noticeofviolating facility provisions insection 508oftheCleanWaterAct, as
amended, 33U.S.C. 1368

c. TheContractor agrees toprotect underground sources ofdrinking water in
compliance withtheSafeDrinking WaterActof1974, asamended, 42U.S.C. 300f

300j-6.  
d. TheContractor alsoagrees toinclude these requirements ineachsubcontract

exceeding $100,000financed inwhole orinpartwithFederal assistance provided
byFTA.  

7. DEBARMENTANDSUSPENSION (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS AND
SUBCONTRACTS EXCEEDING $25,000)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Page11of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

TheContractor shallcomply andfacilitate compliance withU.S. DOTregulations,  
Non-procurement Suspension andDebarment,” 2C.F.R. part1200, which adopts and

supplements theU.S. OfficeofManagement andBudget (U.S. OMB) “Guidelines to
Agencies onGovernment wideDebarment andSuspension (Non-procurement),” 2
C.F.R. part180.  Contractor shallverify thatitsprincipals, affiliates, andsubcontractors
areeligible toparticipate inthisfederally funded contract andarenotpresently
declared byanyFederal department oragency tobe: a) Debarred fromparticipation
inanyfederally assisted Award; b) Suspended fromparticipation inanyfederally
assisted Award; c) Proposed fordebarment fromparticipation inanyfederally assisted
Award; d) Declared ineligible toparticipate inanyfederally assisted Award; e)  
Voluntarily excluded fromparticipation inanyfederally assisted Award; orf)  
Disqualified fromparticipation inayfederally assisted Award.  TheContractor agrees
toinclude aprovision requiring compliance tothissection initslower tiercovered
transactions.     

8. DISADVANTAGEDBUSINESSENTERPRISE ( APPLICABLE TOALL
CONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Totheextentauthorized byapplicable federal laws, regulations, orrequirements, the
Recipient agrees tofacilitate, andassures thateachThird-PartyParticipant will
facilitate, participation bysmallbusiness concerns owned andcontrolled bysocially
andeconomically disadvantaged individuals, alsoreferred toas “Disadvantaged
Business Enterprises” (DBEs), intheUnderlying Agreement asfollows:  

a. Statutory andRegulatory Requirements. TheRecipient agrees tocomply with: (a)  
Section 11101(e) ofIIJA; (b) U.S. DOTregulations, “Participation by
Disadvantaged Business
Enterprises inDepartment ofTransportation Financial Assistance Programs,” 49
C.F.R. Part26; and (c) Federal transit law, specifically 49U.S.C. § 5332, as
provided in
section 12ofMaster Agreement #31, May2024.  

b. DBEProgram Requirements. ARecipient thatreceives planning, capital and/or
operating assistance andthatwillaward prime third-partycontracts exceeding
250,000inafederal fiscalyearmusthaveaDBEprogram that isapproved by

FTAandmeets therequirements of49C.F.R. Part26.  
c. Special Requirements foraTransit Vehicle Manufacturer (TVM). TheContractor

agrees that: (a) TVMCertification. EachTVM, asacondition ofbeing authorized
tobidorpropose onFTA-assisted transit vehicle procurements, mustcertify thatit
hascomplied withtherequirements of49C.F.R. Part26; and (b) Reporting TVM
Awards. Within30daysofanythird-partycontract award foratransit vehicle
purchase, theRecipient mustsubmit toFTAthenameoftheTVMcontractor and
thetotaldollarvalueofthethird-partycontract using theTransit Vehicle Award
Reporting FormonFTA’swebsite. TheRecipient mustalsosubmit additional

Page12of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

notifications ifoptions areexercised insubsequent years toensure thattheTVM
isstill ingoodstanding.  

d. Assurance. Asrequired by49C.F.R. 26.13(a): TheRecipient agrees andassures
that: (a) Itmustnotdiscriminate basedonrace, color, national origin, orsexinthe
awardandperformance ofanyFTAorUSDOT-assisted contract, orinthe
administration ofitsDBEprogram ortherequirements of49C.F.R. Part26; (b)  
must takeallnecessary andreasonable stepsunder49C.F.R. Part26toensure
nondiscrimination intheawardandadministration ofUSDOT-assisted contracts;  
c) ItsDBEprogram, asrequired under49C.F.R. Part26andasapproved by

USDOT, isincorporated byreference andmade partoftheUnderlying Agreement;  
and  (d) Implementation ofitsDBEprogram approved byUSDOT isalegal
obligation andfailure tocarryoutitstermsshallbetreatedasaviolation ofthe
Master Agreement.  

e. ThirdPartyContractor/Subcontractor Assurance.  Mustnotdiscriminate basedon
race, color, notional origin, orsexintheawardandperformance ofanyFTAor
U.S. DOTassisted sub-agreements, thirdpartycontract, andthirdparty
subcontract, asapplicable, andtheadministration ofitsDBEprogram or the
requirements of49CFRPart26.  Musttakeallnecessary andreasonable steps
under49CFRPart26toensure nondiscrimination intheawardandadministration
ofU.S. DOTassisted sub-agreements, thirdpartycontracts, andthirdparty
subcontracts, asapplicable.  Failure tocarryouttherequirements ofabove isa
material breach ofthissub-agreement, thirdpartycontract, orthirdparty
subcontract, asapplicable.  Remedies include, butnotlimited to, withholding
monthly progress payments, assessing sanctions, liquidated damages, and/or
disqualifying theContractor orSubcontractor fromfuturebidding asnon- 
responsible.  

9. ENERGYCONSERVATION (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdown toallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

TheContractor andanySubcontractor agrees tocomply withthemandatory energy
efficiency standards andpolicies within theapplicable stateenergy conservation plans
issued incompliance withtheEnergy PolicyandConservation Act, 42U.S.C. §§ 6321
etseqand49C.F.R. Part622, subpart C.  

10. ENVIRONMENTALPROTECTIONS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  

a. General. Contractor agrees tocomply withallapplicable environmental and
resource uselaws, regulations, andrequirements, andfollowapplicable guidance,  
nowineffectorthatmaybecome effective inthefuture, including stateandlocal
laws, ordinances, regulations, andrequirements andfollowapplicable guidance.  

b. National Environmental PolicyAct. AnAward offederal assistance requires thefull
compliance withapplicable environmental laws, regulations, andrequirements.  
Accordingly, theContractor agrees that itwill: (1) Comply andfacilitate compliance
withfederal laws, regulations, andrequirements, including, butnotlimited to: (a)  

Page13of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Federal transit laws, suchas49U.S.C. § 5323(c)(2), and23U.S.C. § 139, (b) The
National Environmental PolicyActof1969 (NEPA), asamended, 42U.S.C. §§  
4321etseq., aslimited by42U.S.C. § 5159, andCEQ’simplementing regulations
40C.F.R. part1500 – 1508, (c) JointFHWA andFTAregulations, “Environmental
Impact andRelated Procedures,” 23C.F.R. part771and49C.F.R. part622, (d)  
Executive OrderNo. 11514, asamended, “Protection andEnhancement of
Environmental Quality,” March5, 1970, 42U.S.C. § 4321note, and (e) Other
federal environmental protection laws, regulations, andrequirements applicable to
theRecipient ortheAward, theaccompanying Underlying Agreement, andany
Amendments thereto. (2) Follow thefederal guidance identified herein totheextent
thattheguidance isconsistent withapplicable authorizing legislation: (a) Joint
FHWA andFTAfinalguidance, “Interim Guidance onMAP-21Section 1319,  
Accelerated Decision making inEnvironmental Reviews,” January 14, 2013, (b)  
JointFHWA andFTAfinalguidance, “SAFETEA-LUEnvironmental Review
Process (Pub. L. 109-59),” 71Fed. Reg. 66576, November 15, 2006, and (c) Other
federal environmental guidance applicable totheRecipient ortheAward, the
accompanying Underlying Agreement, andanyAmendments thereto.  

c. Environmental Justice. Contractor agrees topromote environmental justiceby
following: (1) Executive OrderNo. 12898, “Federal Actions toAddress
Environmental Justice inMinority Populations andLow-Income Populations,”  
February 11, 1994, 42U.S.C. § 4321note, aswellasfacilitating compliance with
thatExecutive Order, (2) U.S. DOTOrder5610.2, “Department ofTransportation
Actions ToAddress Environmental Justice inMinority Populations andLow- 
Income Populations,” 62Fed. Reg. 18377, April15, 1997, and (3) Themost recent
edition ofFTACircular 4703.1, “Environmental Justice Policy Guidance forFederal
Transit Administration Recipients,” August 15, 2012, totheextent consistent with
applicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, andguidance.   

d. OtherEnvironmental Federal Laws. Contractor agrees thatitwillcomply or
facilitate compliance withallapplicable federal laws, regulations, and
requirements, andwill followapplicable guidance, including, butnotlimited to, the
CleanAirAct, CleanWaterAct, WildandScenicRiversActof1968, Coastal Zone
Management Actof1972, theEndangered Species Actof1973, Magnuson
Stevens Fishery Conservation andManagement Act, Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act, Executive OrderNo. 11990 relating to “Protection ofWetlands,” and
Executive OrderNos. 11988 and13690 relating to “Floodplain Management.”   

e. UseofCertain Public Lands. Contractor agrees itwillcomply withU.S. DOTlaws,  
specifically 49U.S.C. § 303 (oftenreferred toas “section 4(f)), andjointFHWA
andFTAregulations, “Parks, Recreation Areas, Wildlife andWaterfowl Refuges,  
andHistoric Sites,” 23C.F.R. part774, andreferenced in49C.F.R. part622.   

f. Historic Preservation. TheContractor agrees that itwill: (1) Comply withU.S. DOT
laws, including 49U.S.C. § 303 (often referred toas “section 4(f)”), which requires

Page14of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

certain findings bemadebefore anAward maybeundertaken ifitinvolves theuse
ofanylandfromahistoric sitethatisonoreligible forinclusion ontheNational
Register ofHistoric Places. (2) Encourage compliance withthefederal historic and
archaeological preservation requirements ofsection 106oftheNational Historic
Preservation Act, asamended, 54U.S.C. § 306108. (3) Comply withthe
Archeological andHistoric Preservation Actof1974, asamended, 54U.S.C. §  
312501 etseq. (4) Comply withU.S. Advisory Council onHistoric Preservation
regulations, “Protection ofHistoric Properties,” 36C.F.R. part800. (5) Comply with
federal requirements andfollow federal guidance toavoidormitigate adverse
effects onhistoric properties.   

g. Indian Sacred Sites. TheContractor agrees thatitwillfacilitate compliance with
federal efforts topromote thepreservation ofplaces andobjects ofreligious
importance toAmerican Indians, Eskimos, Aleuts, andNative Hawaiians, and
facilitate compliance withtheAmerican IndianReligious Freedom Act, 42U.S.C.  

1996, andExecutive OrderNo. 13007, “Indian Sacred Sites,” May24, 1996, 42
U.S.C. § 3161note.  

11. FEDERALTAXLIABILITYANDRECENTFELONYCONVICTIONS (APPLICABLE
TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision will flowdown toallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

a. Transactions Prohibited. TheRecipient agrees that, priortoentering intoanyThird
Party
Agreement withanyprivate corporation, partnership, trust, joint-stockcompany,  
soleproprietorship, orotherbusiness association, theRecipient willobtain from
theprospective ThirdPartyParticipant acertification thattheThirdParty
Participant: (a) Doesnothaveanyunpaid Federal taxliability thathasbeen
assessed, forwhichalljudicial andadministrative remedies havebeenexhausted
orhave lapsed, andthatisnotbeingpaid inatimelymanner pursuant toan
agreement withtheauthority responsible forcollecting thetaxliability; and (b) as
notconvicted ofthefelony criminal violation underanyFederal lawwithin the
preceding 24months.  

b. Iftheprospective Third-Party Participant cannotsocertify, theRecipient agrees to
refer thematter toFTAandnottoenter intoanyThird-PartyAgreement with the
Third-PartyParticipant without FTA’swritten approval.  

c. Flow-Down. TheRecipient agrees torequire allThird-PartyParticipants toflowthis
requirement downtoparticipants atalllower tiers, without regard tothevalueof
anysub-agreement.  

12. FLYAMERICA (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdown toallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]   

Contractor shallcomply with49U.S.C. 40118 (the “FlyAmerica” Act) inaccordance
withGeneral Services Administration regulations 41C.F.R. 301-10, stating that
recipients andsubrecipients ofFederal fundsandtheircontractors arerequired touse

Page15of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

U.S.-Flagaircarriers forU.S. Government-financed international airtraveland
transportation oftheirpersonal effectsorproperty, totheextentsuchservice is
available, unless travelbyforeignaircarrier isamatterofnecessity, asdefined bythe
FlyAmerica Act. Contractor shallsubmit, ifaforeign aircarrier wasused, an
appropriate certification ormemorandum adequately explaining whyservice byaU.S.  
flagaircarrier wasnotavailable orwhyitwasnecessary touseaforeign aircarrier
and shall, inanyevent, provideacertificate ofcompliance withtheFlyAmerica
requirements. Contractor shall include therequirements ofthissection inall
subcontracts thatmayinvolve international airtransportation.  

13. INCORPORATIONOFFEDERALTRANSITADMINISTRATION (FTA) TERMS
APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Thepreceding provisions include, inpart, certain Standard Terms andConditions
required bytheDepartment ofTransportation ( DOT), whether expressly setforthin
thepreceding contract provisions.  Allcontractual provisions required byDOT, asset
forthinFTACircular 4220.1F, arehereby incorporated byreference.  Notwithstanding,  
allFTAmandated termsshallbedeemed tocontrol intheeventofaconflict withother
provisions contained inthisContract.  TheContractor shallnotperform anyact, fail to
perform anyact, orrefuse tocomply withanyNCTD requests whichwouldcause
NCTDtobeinviolation oftheFTAtermsandconditions.  

14. LOBBYINGRESTRICTIONS (APPLICABLE TOCONTRACTS GREATER THAN
100,000)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

TheContractor andtheirsubcontractors atevery tier, agrees thatneither itnorany
ThirdPartyParticipant willusefederal assistance toinfluence anyofficeroremployee
ofafederal agency, member ofCongress oranemployee ofamember ofCongress,  
orofficeroremployee ofCongress onmatters thatinvolve theUnderlying Agreement,  
including anyextension ormodification, according tothefollowing: ByrdAnti-Lobbying
Amendment (31U.S.C. § 1352, asamended); U.S. DOT “NewRestrictions on
Lobbying” (49CFRPart20, totheextent consistent with31U.S.C. § 1352, as
amended); andotherapplicable federal laws, regulations, requirements, andguidance
prohibiting theuseoffederal assistance foranyactivity concerning legislation or
appropriations designed toinfluence Congress orState legislature.  TheContractor
andtheirsubcontractors atevery tiermustalsodisclose anylobbying withnon-Federal
funds thattakesplace inconnections withobtaining anyFederal award.  

15. METRICREQUIREMENTS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  

Asrequired byU.S. DOTorFTA, NCTD agrees tousethemetricsystem of
measurement initsproject activities, pursuant totheMetric Conversion Act, as
amended bytheOmnibus Trade andCompetitiveness Act, 15U.S.C. §§ 205aetseq.;  
Executive OrderNo. 12770, "Metric Usage inFederal Government Programs," 15

Page16of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

U.S.C. § 205anote; andotherU.S. DOTorFTAregulations, guidelines, andpolicies.  
Totheextent practicable andfeasible, theNCTD agrees toaccept products and
services withdimensions expressed inthemetric system ofmeasurement.  

16. NOFEDERALGOVERNMENTOBLIGATIONTOTHIRDPARTIES (APPLICABLE
TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

NCTD andcontractor acknowledge andagree that, notwithstanding anyconcurrence
bytheFederal Government inorapproval ofthesolicitation ofthisContract, absent
theexpress written consent bytheFederal government, theFederal Government is
notapartytothisContract andshallnotbesubject toanyobligations orliabilities to
NCTD, Contractor oranyotherparty (whether ornotaparty totheContract).   
Contractor shall include theabove clause ineachsubcontract financed inwholeorin
partwithFederal assistance provided bytheFTA. Itisfurther agreed thattheclause
shallnotbemodified, except toidentify thesubcontractor whowillbesubject toits
provisions.  

17. NOTIFICATIONTOFTAandU.S. DOTIG (APPLICABLE TOCONTRACTS
GREATER THAN $25,000)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Ifacurrentorprospective legalmatter thatmayaffect theFederal Government
emerges, Contractor mustpromptly notify NCTD, whichmust thenpromptly notify the
FTAChiefCounsel andtheFTARegional Counsel forRegion 9.  Contractor must
include anequivalent provision initssubagreements atevery tierforanyagreement
thatisa “covered transaction” according to2C.F.R. §§ 180.220and1200.220.  

1. TypesofLegalMattersRequiringNotification.  Thetypesoflegalmatters that
require notification include, butnotlimited to, amajordispute, breach, default,  
litigation, ornaming theFederal Government asaparty tolitigation oralegal
disagreement inanyforumforanyreason.  

2. MattersAffectingtheFederalGovernment.  Matters thatmayaffect theFederal
Government include, butnot limited to, theFederal Government’sinterests inthe
Award, theContract, andanyAmendments thereto, ortheFederal Government’s
administration ofenforcement offederal laws, regulations, andrequirements.    

3. AdditionalNoticetoU.S. DOTInspectorGeneral.  Contractor mustpromptly
notify NCTD, withmust thenpromptly notify theU.S. Inspector General inaddition
totheFTAChiefCounsel orRegional Counsel forRegion9ifContractor has
knowledge ofpotential fraud, waste, orabuse occurring onaProject receiving
assistance fromFTA.  Thenotification provision applies ifaperson hasormay
havesubmitted afalseclaimunder theFalseClaims Act, 31U.S.C. 3729, etseq.,  
orhasormayhavecommitted acriminal orcivilviolation oflawpertaining tosuch
matters asfraud, conflict ofinterest, bidrigging, misappropriation or
embezzlement, briber, gratuity, orsimilarmisconduct involving federal assistance.   
Thisresponsibility occurs whether theProject issubject tothisContract oranother

Page17of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

agreement between NCTD andFTA, oranagreement involving aprincipal, officer,  
employee, agent, orthird-partyparticipant ofNCTD.  Italsoapplies to
subcontractors atanytier.  Knowledge, asusedinthisparagraph, includes, butnot
limited to, knowledge ofacriminal orcivil investigation byaFederal, state, orlocal
lawenforcement orother investigative agency, acriminal complaint, orprobable
cause thatcouldsupport acriminal indictment, oranyothercredible information in
thepossession ofContractor.  Inthisparagraph, “promptly” means torefer
information without delayandwithout change.  Thisnotification provision also
applies toalldivisions ofNCTD, including divisions tasked withlawenforcement
orinvestigatory functions.  

18. PRIVACYACTREQUIREMENTS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Thefollowing requirements apply totheContractor anditsemployees thatadminister
anysystem ofrecords onbehalfoftheFederal Government underanycontract:   
1. TheContractor agrees tocomply with, andassures thecompliance ofits

employees with, theinformation restrictions andotherapplicable requirements of
thePrivacy Actof1974, 5U.S.C. § 552a. Among other things, theContractor
agrees toobtain theexpress consent oftheFederal Government before the
Contractor, oritsemployees operate asystem ofrecords onbehalfoftheFederal
Government. TheContractor understands thattherequirements ofthePrivacy Act,  
including thecivilandcriminal penalties forviolation ofthatAct, apply tothose
individuals involved, andthat failure tocomply withthetermsofthePrivacy Act
mayresult intermination oftheunderlying contract.  

2. TheContractor alsoagrees toinclude these requirements ineachsubcontract to
administer anysystem ofrecords onbehalfoftheFederal Government financed
inwhole orinpartwithFederal assistance provided byFTA.  

19. PROGRAMFRAUDANDFALSEORFRAUDULENTSTATEMENTSANDRELATED
ACTS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

TheContractor acknowledges thattheprovisions oftheProgram FraudCivil
Remedies Actof1986, asamended, 31U.S.C. section 3801etseq., andUSDOT
regulations, “Program Fraud CivilRemedies,” 49C.F.R. part31, apply toitsactions
pertaining tothisContract. Uponexecution ofthisContract, theContractor certifies or
affirms thetruthfulness andaccuracy ofanystatement ishasmade, itmakes, itmay
make, orcauses tobemade, pertaining tothisContract ortheFTA-assisted project
forwhich thisworkisbeingperformed. Inaddition tootherpenalties thatmaybe
applicable, theContractor further acknowledges thatifitmakes, orcauses tobemade,  
afalse, fictitious, orfraudulent claim, statement, submission, orcertification, the
Federal Government reserves therighttoimpose thepenalties oftheProgram Fraud
CivilRemedies Actof1986ontheContractor totheextent theFederal Government
deems appropriate. TheContractor alsoacknowledges thatifitmakes, orcauses to
bemade, afalse, fictitious, orfraudulent claim, statement, submission, orcertification

Page18of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

totheFederal Government underacontract connected withaproject thatisfinanced
inwholeorinpartwithFederal assistance originally awarded byFTAunder the
authority of49U.S.C. chapter 53, theFederal Government reserves theright to
impose thepenalties of18U.S.C. section 1001and49U.S.C. section 5323(l) onthe
Contractor, totheextent theFederal Government deems appropriate. TheContractor
agrees toinclude theabove language ineachsubcontract under thiscontract,  
modified onlytoidentify thesubcontractor thatwillbesubject totheprovisions.  

20. PROHIBITEDINTERESTS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)   

NoBoard member, officer, oremployee ofNCTD, during their tenureorforoneyear
thereafter, shallhaveanyinterest, directorindirect, inthiscontract ortheproceeds
thereof. Nomember ofordelegate totheCongress oftheUnited States shallbe
admitted toashareorpartofthiscontract ortoanybenefit arising there from. If
Consultant willbepreparing anenvironmental impact statement underNational
Environmental PolicyAct, andanawarded Agreement willinclude federal funding,  
Consultant willberequired tosubmitastatement toNCTD certifying thatthe
Consultant hasnofinancial interestorother interest intheoutcome oftheProject. (40
C.F.R. 1506.5(c))  

21. PROMOTINGFREESPEECHANDRELIGIOUSLIBERTY (APPLICABLE TOALL
CONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision will flowdown toallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Promoting FreeSpeech andReligious Liberty. Contractor agrees toensure that
Federal funding isexpended infullaccordance withtheU.S. Constitution, Federal
Law, andstatutory andpublicpolicy requirements: including, butnotlimited to, those
protecting freespeech, religious liberty, publicwelfare, theenvironment, and
prohibiting discrimination.  

22. PROMPTPAYMENTS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Theprimecontractor agrees topayeachsubcontractor under thisprimecontract for
satisfactory performance ofitscontract nolater than30daysfromthereceipt ofeach
payment theprimecontract receives fromtheRecipient. Theprimecontractor agrees
further toreturn retainage payments toeachsubcontractor within30daysafterthe
subcontractors’ workissatisfactorily completed. Anydelayorpostponement of
payment fromtheabove referenced timeframe mayoccuronlyforgoodcause
following written approval oftheRecipient. Thisclause applies tobothDBEandnon- 
DBEsubcontracts.  

23. RESOLUTIONOFDISPUTES, BREACHES, DEFAULTS, ANDOTHERLITIGATION
APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS GREATER THAN $250,000)  
Thisprovision willflowdown toallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Page19of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

a. Disputes arising intheperformance ofthiscontract which arenotresolved by
agreement oftheparties shallbedecided inwriting bytherecipient’sauthorized
representative. Thisdecision shallbefinalandconclusive unless within tendays
fromthedateofreceipt ofitscopy, contractor mailsorotherwise furnishes awritten
appeal totherecipient’sCEO. Inconnection withsuchappeal, contractor shallbe
afforded anopportunity tobeheardandtoofferevidence insupport ofitsposition.  
Thedecision oftherecipient’sCEOshallbebinding uponcontractor andcontractor
shallabidebythedecision. FTAhasavested interest inthesettlement ofany
violation ofFederal lawincluding theFalseClaims Act, 31U.S.C. § 3729.   
1. Performance During Dispute. Unless otherwise directed bytherecipient,  

contractor shall continue performance under thiscontract whilematters in
dispute arebeing resolved.   

2. Claims forDamages. Should eitherparty tothecontract suffer injuryordamage
toperson orproperty because ofanyactoromission ofthepartyorofanyof
hisemployees, agents orothers forwhoseactsheislegally liable, aclaimfor
damages therefore shallbemade inwriting tosuchotherpartywithin tendays
after thefirstobservance ofsuchinjuryordamage.   

3. Remedies. Unless thiscontract provides otherwise, allclaims, counterclaims,  
disputes andothermatters inquestion between therecipient andcontractor
arising outoforrelating tothisagreement oritsbreach willbedecided by
arbitration iftheparties mutually agree, orinacourtofcompetent jurisdiction
within theresiding State.   

4. Rights andRemedies. Duties andobligations imposed bythecontract
documents andtherightsandremedies available thereunder shallbein
addition toandnotalimitation ofanyduties, obligations, rightsandremedies
otherwise imposed oravailable bylaw. Noactionorfailure toactbythe
recipient orcontractor shallconstitute awaiverofanyrightordutyafforded any
ofthemunder thecontract, norshallanysuchactionorfailure toactconstitute
anapproval oforacquiescence inanybreach thereunder, except asmaybe
specifically agreed inwriting.  

24. SAFEOPERATIONOFMOTORVEHICLES (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

DISTRACTED DRIVING (INCLUDING TEXTMESSAGING WHILE DRIVING)  
TheContractor agrees tocomply with: (a) Executive OrderNo. 13513, “Federal
Leadership onReducing TextMessaging While Driving,” October 1, 2009, 23U.S.C.  

402note, (74Fed. Reg. 51225); (b) U.S. DOTOrder3902.10, “TextMessaging
WhileDriving,” December 30, 2009; and (c) Thefollowing U.S. DOTSpecial Provision
pertaining toDistracted Driving: (a) Safety. TheRecipient agrees toadoptandenforce
workplace safety policies todecrease crashes causedbydistracted drivers, including
policies tobantextmessaging whileusinganelectronic device supplied byan
employer, anddrivingavehicle thedriverownsorrents, avehicle Recipient owns,  
leases, orrents, oraprivately-owned vehicle whenonofficial business inconnection
withtheAward, orwhen performing anyworkfororonbehalfoftheAward; (ii)  
Recipient Size. TheRecipient agrees toconduct workplace safety initiatives ina

Page20of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

manner commensurate withitssize, suchasestablishing newrulesandprograms to
prohibit textmessaging whiledriving, re-evaluating theexisting programs toprohibit
textmessaging while driving, andproviding education, awareness, andother outreach
to employees about thesafety risksassociated withtexting whiledriving; and (iii)  
Extension ofProvision. TheRecipient agrees toinclude thepreceding Special
Provision ofsection 34(b)(3)(I) – (ii) ofthisMaster Agreement initsthird-party
agreements andencourage itsThird-PartyParticipants tocomply withthisSpecial
Provision andinclude thisSpecial Provision ineachthird-partysub-agreement ateach
tiersupported withfederal assistance.  

SEATBELTUSE
TheContractor agrees toimplement Executive OrderNo. 13043, “Increasing SeatBelt
UseintheUnited States,” April16, 1997, 23U.S.C. § 402note, (62Fed. Reg. 19217),  
by: (a) Adopting andpromoting on-the-jobseatbeltusepolicies andprograms forits
employees andotherpersonnel thatoperate company-owned vehicles, company- 
rented vehicles, orpersonally operated vehicles; and (b) Including a “SeatBeltUse”  
provision ineachthirdpartyagreement related totheAward.  

25. TELECOMMUNICATIONSANDVIDEOSURVEILLANCESERVICESOR
EQUIPMENTPROHIBITIONS (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS)  
Thisprovision willflowdowntoallcontractors andsubcontractors atalltiers\]  

Inaccordance with2C.F.R. part200.216, Contractor anditssubcontractors are
prohibited fromexpending fundsunder thisContract to: procure orobtain; extend or
renewacontract toprocure orobtain; orenter intoacontract (orextend orrenewa
contract) toprocure orobtain equipment, services, orsystems thatusescovered
telecommunications equipment orservices asasubstantial oressential component of
anysystem, orascritical technology aspartofanysystem. Asdescribed inPublic
Law115-232, section 889, covered telecommunications equipment is
telecommunications equipment produced byHuawei Technologies Company orZTE
Corporation (oranysubsidiary oraffiliate ofsuchentities). This includes: forthe
purpose ofpublic safety, security ofgovernment facilities, physical security
surveillance ofcritical infrastructure, andothernational security purposes, video
surveillance andtelecommunications equipment produced byHytera
Communications Corporation, Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company, or
DahuaTechnology Company (oranysubsidiary oraffiliate ofsuchentities);  
telecommunications orvideo surveillance services provided bysuchentities orusing
suchequipment; andtelecommunications orvideosurveillance equipment orservices
produced orprovided byanentity thattheSecretary ofDefense, inconsultation with
theDirector oftheNational Intelligence ortheDirector oftheFederal Bureau of
Investigation, reasonably believes tobeanentityowned orcontrolled by, orotherwise
connected to, thegovernment ofacovered foreign.  

26. TERMINATION (APPLICABLE TOALLCONTRACTS GREATER THAN $10,000)  

Page21of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

a. Termination forcause. NCTD may, without prejudice toanyother rightorremedy,  
servewritten noticeuponContractor anditsSuretyofitsintention toterminate the
awarded Contract iftheContractor (i) refuses orfailstoprosecute theWorkorany
separable partthereof with suchdiligence aswillinsure itscompletion within the
timespecified oranyextension thereof, or (ii) failstocomplete saidWork within
suchtime, or (iii) iftheContractor should fileabankruptcy petition orbeadjudged
abankrupt, or (iv) iftheContractor should makeageneral assignment forthe
benefit ofitscreditors, or (v) ifareceiver should beappointed onaccount ofits
insolvency, or (vi) ifitshould persistently orrepeatedly refuseorshould fail, except
incases forwhichextension oftimeisprovided, tosupply enough properly skilled
workers orpropermaterials tocomplete theworkintimespecified, or (vii) ifit
should failtomakeprompt payment toSubcontractors orformaterial orlabor, or
viii) persistently disregard laws, ordinances orinstructions oftheNCTDorthose
ofNCTD’sRepresentatives, or (ix) otherwise beguiltyofasubstantial violation of
anyprovision oftheContract, or (x) ifitoritsSubcontractors should violate anyof
theprovisions ofanawarded Contract.   

Thenoticeofintent toterminate shall contain thereasons forsuchintention to
terminate. Unless within10calendar daysafter theservice ofsuchnotice, such
condition shallceaseorsuchviolation shallcease andsatisfactory arrangements
forthecorrection thereof bemade, theawarded Contract shall, upontheexpiration
ofsaid10calendar days, ceaseandterminate. Insuchcase, Contractor shallnot
beentitled toreceive anyfurtherpayment untilWork isfinished. Ineventofany
such termination, NCTD shall immediately servewritten notice thereof uponsurety
andContractor written noticeoftermination stating thatthecontract hasceased
andisterminated. Surety shallhavetheright toinvestigate,  takeoverandperform
thisAgreement, provided, however, thatifSurety, within15 calendar daysafter
service uponitofsaidnoticeoftermination, doesnotgiveNCTD written notice of
itsintention totakeoverandperform thisAgreement anddoesnotcommence
performance thereof within20calendar daysfromthedateofservice uponitof
suchnoticeoftermination, NCTDmaytakeover theWorkandprosecute sameto
completion bycontract orbyanyothermethod itmaydeemadvisable forthe
account andattheexpense ofContractor . Contractor anditsSurety shallbeliable
toNCTDforanyexcess costorotherdamages occasioned NCTD thereby. If
NCTD takesovertheWorkashereinabove provided, NCTD may, without liability
forsodoing, takepossession ofandutilize incompleting theWorksuchmaterials,  
appliances, plant, andotherproperty belonging totheContractor asmaybeonthe
siteoftheWorkandnecessary, therefore. IfSurety doesnotperform theWork
itself, theSurety shallconsult withNCTDregarding itsplanned choiceofa
Contractor orContractor tocomplete theProject, anduponrequest byNCTD,  
Surety shall provide NCTD evidence ofresponsibility ofSurety'sproposed
Contractor orContractor. NCTD shallbeentitled torejectSurety'schoiceof
Contractor orContractor ifNCTD determines inissolediscretion thatthe
Contractor orContractor arenon-responsible.  IfSurety provides NCTD written
noticeofitsintention totakeoverandperform anawarded Contract, within15
calendar daysofsuchwritten noticeofintent totakeoverandperform, Suretyor

Page22of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

itschosen Contractor orContractor (ifsuchContractor orContractor areapproved
byNCTD) shallprovide NCTDadetailed Progress Schedule. TheContractor and
itsSuretyshallbeliabletoNCTDforanyexcess costorotherdamages occasioned
NCTDasaresultofSuretyorSurety'sContractor orContractor’stakeover and
performance.  

Iftheunpaid balance oftheawarded contract priceexceeds theexpense of
finishing work, including compensation foradditional architectural, managerial, and
administrative services, suchexcess shallbepaidtoContractor.  Ifsuchexpense
shallexceed suchunpaid balance, Contractor shallpaythedifference toNCTD.  
Expense incurred byNCTDasherein provided, anddamage incurred through
Contractor default, shallbecertified bytheappropriate NCTD Representative.  

Should NCTD determine thatenvironmental considerations mandate thatthe
underlying project should notgoforward, NCTD maynotifyContractor thatthe
awarded contract isterminated duetoenvironmental considerations andNCTD
shallonlybeobligated topayContractor fortheWork thatContractor had
performed atthetimeofnotification oftermination oftheawarded Contract for
environmental considerations.  

b. Termination forconvenience. NCTD mayterminate performance oftheWorkcalled
forbytheAgreement Documents inwholeor, fromtimetotime, inpart, ifNCTD
determines thatatermination isinNCTD'sinterest.  TheContractor shall terminate
alloranypartoftheWork upondelivery totheContractor ofaNoticeofTermination
specifying thatthetermination isfortheconvenience, theextentoftermination,  
andtheEffective Dateofsuchtermination.  After receiptofNoticeofTermination,  
andexceptasdirected byNCTD, theContractor shall, regardless ofanydelay in
determining oradjusting anyamounts dueunder thisTermination forConvenience
clause, immediately proceed withthefollowing obligations:  

1. StopWorkasspecified intheNotice.  
2. Complete anyWorkspecified intheNoticeofTermination inaleast

cost/shortest timemanner whilestillmaintaining thequality calledforunder
theAgreement Documents.  

3. Leave theproperty uponwhichtheContractor wasworking anduponwhich
thefacility (orfacilities) forming thebasisoftheAgreement Documents is
situated inasafeandsanitary manner suchthat itdoesnotposeanythreat
tothepublichealthorsafety.  

4. Terminate allsubcontracts totheextent thattheyrelate totheportions of
theWork terminated.  

5. Placenofurthersubcontracts ororders, except asnecessary tocomplete
thecontinued portionoftheawarded Contract.  

6. Submit toNCTD, within 10 calendar daysfromtheEffective Dateofthe
NoticeofTermination, alloftheusualdocumentation called forbythe
Agreement Documents tosubstantiate allcosts incurred bytheContractor
forlabor, materials andequipment through theEffective DateoftheNotice

Page23of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

ofTermination.  Anydocumentation substantiating costs incurred bythe
Contractor solelyasaresultofNCTD'sexercise ofitsrighttoterminate the
awarded Contract pursuant tothisclause, whichcosts theContractor is
authorized under theAgreement Documents toincur, shall: (i) besubmitted
toandreceived byNCTDnolater than30calendar daysaftertheEffective
DateoftheNoticeofTermination; (ii) describe thecosts incurred with
particularity; and (iii) beconspicuously identified as "Termination Costs
occasioned byNCTD'sTermination forConvenience."  

Termination oftheContract shallnotrelieve Suretyofitsobligation foranyjust
claims arising outoforrelating totheWorkperformed.  Intheevent thatNCTD
exercises itsrighttoterminate anawarded Contract pursuant tothisprovision,  
NCTD shall paytheContractor, upontheContractor submission ofthe
documentation required bythisclause andother applicable provisions ofthe
Agreement Documents, allactual reimbursable costs incurred according tothe
provisions oftheawarded Contract.    

Termination ofContract byContractor:  TheContractor mayterminate theawarded
Contract upon10calendar dayswritten notice toNCTD, whenever:  (1)  theentire
Workhasbeensuspended for90consecutive daysthrough nofaultornegligence
oftheContractor, andnotice toresume theWorkortoterminate theContract has
notbeenreceived fromNCTD within thistimeperiod; or (2) NCTD should failto
paytheContractor oranysubstantial sumsdueitinaccordance withthetermsof
theContract andwithin thetimelimitsprescribed.  Intheeventofsuchtermination,  
theContractor shallhavenoclaims against NCTD except forWork performed as
ofthedateoftermination.  

Theforegoing provisions areinaddition toandnotinlimitation ofanyother rights
orremedies available toNCTD.  

Notwithstanding theforegoing provisions, theawarded Contract maynotbe
terminated ormodified whereatrustee-in-bankruptcy hasassumed theContract
pursuant to11U.S.C. section 365 (Federal Bankruptcy Act).  

ENDOFSECTION

Page24of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

AmericansWithDisabilitiesActCertification

TheContractor certifies thatthevehicles tobesupplied under thisAward willconform to
theaccessibility guidelines fortransportation vehicles asnotedin36CFRPart1192
Americans withDisabilities ActAccessibility Guidelines forTransportation Vehicles) and

49CFRPart38, which implements theAmericans withDisabilities Actof1990.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page25of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

DisadvantageBusinessEntity (DBE) Certificate

TheContractor certifies thatthefirm/company isafor-profitsmallbusiness where socially
andeconomically DBEowner(s) ownatleast51% interest andhavemanagerial and
operational controlofthebusiness operations; andisnottiedtoanother firminsucha
wayastocompromise itsindependence andcontrol.  TheDBEowner(s) possess the
power todirectorcause thedirection ofthemanagement andpolices ofthefirmandto
makeday-to-day, aswellaslong-termdecisions onmatters ofmanagement, policy and
operations.  Contractor acknowledges thattheentity isregistered asaDBEentity.  

Per49CFR § 26.13(b), theContractor shallnotdiscriminate onthebasesofrace, color,  
national origin, orsexintheperformance ofthisaward/agreement.  Contractor shallcarry
outapplicable requirements of49CFRPart26.  FailurebyContractor tocarryoutthese
requirements isamaterial breach oftheaward/agreement, whichmayresult inthe
termination oftheaward orsuchother remedy asNCTD deemappropriate, whichmay
include, butnotlimited to:  

1) Withholding ofmonthly progress payments;  
2) Assessing sanctions;  
3) Liquidated damages; and/or;  
4) Disqualifying thecontractor/bidder fromfuturebidding asnon-responsible.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page26of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

DisadvantageBusinessEntity (DBE) Certificate
Subcontractors)  

Thesubcontractor certifies thatthefirm/company isafor-profitsmallbusiness where
socially andeconomically DBEowner(s) ownatleast51% interest andhavemanagerial
andoperational control ofthebusiness operations; andisnottiedtoanother firminsuch
awayastocompromise itsindependence andcontrol.  TheDBEowner(s) possess the
power todirectorcause thedirection ofthemanagement andpolices ofthefirmandto
makeday-to-day, aswellaslong-termdecisions onmatters ofmanagement, policy and
operations.  Contractor acknowledges thattheentity isregistered asaDBEentity.  

Per49CFR § 26.13(b), thesubcontractor shallnotdiscriminate onthebasesofrace,  
color, national origin, orsexintheperformance ofthisaward/agreement.  Contractor shall
carryoutapplicable requirements of49CFRPart26.  Failurebycontractor tocarryout
these requirements isamaterial breach oftheaward/agreement, whichmayresult inthe
termination oftheaward orsuchother remedy asNCTD deemappropriate, whichmay
include, butnotlimited to:  

1) Withholding ofmonthly progress payments;  
2) Assessing sanctions;  
3) Liquidated damages; and/or;  
4) Disqualifying thecontractor/bidder fromfuturebidding asnon-responsible.  

IfaDBEsubcontractor isdecertified during thetermoftheAgreement, Amendments,  
Modifications, orTaskOrders, thedecertified subcontractor shallnotify theContractor in
writing withthedateofdecertification.  Ifthesubcontractor becomes certified during the
termoftheAgreement, Amendments, Modifications orTaskOrders, thesubcontractor will
notify theContractor inwriting withthedateofcertification.  TheContractor shall furnish
thewritten documentation, along withasigned andcertified DBECertification Status
Change form, toNCTD within90daysofchange incertification status.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page27of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

EligibilityCertificate

Federallyfunded

Iffederally funded, theaward ofthisAgreement issubject toafinancial assistance
contract between theNorthCounty Transit District andtheU.S. Department of
Transportation.  Anynameappearing ontheComptroller General’slistofineligible Offeror
forfederally-financed orassisted contracts isnoteligible forthiscontract.  

Iffederally funded, theFirmshallcertify thefollowing:   

Ihereby certify thatneither I, theOfferor, noranyofficers orholders ofa
controlling interest areontheU.S. Comptroller General’slistofineligible
Offerors forfederally-funded andassisted contracts. Intheeventanyofthe
above persons orparties become included onsuchalistduring theperformance
ofthisproject, NCTD shallbepromptly informed ofthisfact.  

Notfederallyfunded

NCTD hasdetermined thatanynameappearing ontheComptroller General’slistof
ineligible Offeror forfederally-financed orassisted contracts isnoteligible forthis
Agreement, regardless ofthefunding source.  

Ifnotfederally funded, Contractor shallcertify thefollowing:   

Ihereby certify thatneither I, theContractor, noranyofficers orholders ofa
controlling interest areontheU.S. Comptroller General’slistofineligible offerors
forfederally-fundedandassisted contracts. Intheeventanyoftheabove
persons orparties become included onsuchalistduring theperformance of
thisproject, NCTD shallbepromptly informed ofthisfact.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page28of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

EqualEmploymentOpportunity (EEO) Certificate

TheContractor hereby certifies thatthecompany  has OR   hasnotbeenfound,  
adjudicated, ordetermined tohaveviolated anylawsofExecutive Orders relating to
employment discrimination oraffirmative action including, butnotlimited to, TitleVIIof
theCivilRights Actof1964, asamended, (42U.S.C. Sections 2000eetseq.); theEqual
PayAct (29U.S.C. Section 206(d); Executive Order10925, 11114, or11246; orthe
California FairEmployment andHousing Act (Cal. Gov. Code § 12900etseq.); byany
Federal orCalifornia courtoragency, including butnotlimited totheEqualEmployment
Opportunity Commission, theOfficeofFederal Contract compliance Programs, andthe
California FairEmployment andHousing Commission.  

Ifyes, please explain thecircumstance.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page29of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

FalseClaimsandFraudulentStatementsCertificate

Theundersigned certifies thatifawarded theAgreement ofwhich thiscertificate shallbe
madeapartof, Contractor willnotviolate anyprovisions oftheFalseClaimsActorany
otherapplicable federal orstate lawsandregulations relating tothefilingoffalseclaims
against apublicagency, including lawsandregulations hereinafter enacted.  Iadditionally
certify thatintheevent itisdetermined thatContractor hasviolated theFalseClaims Act
thatsuchviolation shallbegrounds for, amongother things, debarment pursuant tothe
policies established byFederal, State, orlocal law.  

Contractor further acknowledges thatifitmakes, orcauses tobemade, afalse, fictitious,  
orfraudulent claim, statement, submission, orcertification, theFederal Government
reserves therighttoimpose thepenalties oftheProgram Fraud CivilRemedies Actof
1986ontheContractor totheextent theFederal Government deems appropriate. The
Contractor alsoacknowledges thatifitmakes, orcauses tobemade, afalse, fictitious,  
orfraudulent claim, statement, submission, orcertification totheFederal Government
underacontract connected withaproject thatisfinanced inwholeorinpartwithFederal
assistance originally awarded byFTAunder theauthority of49U.S.C. chapter 53, the
Federal Government reserves therighttoimpose thepenalties of18U.S.C. section 1001
and49U.S.C. section 5323(l) ontheContractor, totheextent theFederal Government
deems appropriate.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page30of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Non-CollusionDeclaration

Theundersigned hereby declares thatthecontract isnotmade intheinterest of, oron
behalfof, anyundisclosed person, partnership, company, association, organization, or
corporation. Thecontract isgenuine andnotcollusive orsham. TheContractor hasnot
directly orindirectly induced orsolicited anyotherContractor toputinafalseorshambid.  
TheContractor hasnotdirectlyorindirectly colluded, conspired, connived, oragreed with
anyContractor oranyone elsetoputinashambid, ortorefrain frombidding. The
Contractor hasnotinanymanner, directly orindirectly, sought byagreement,  
communication, orconference withanyone tofixthebidpriceoftheContractor orany
otherContractor, ortofixanyoverhead, profit, orcostelement ofthebidprice, orofthat
ofanyotherContractor. Allstatements contained inthebidaretrue. TheContractor has
not, directly orindirectly, submitted itsbidpriceoranybreakdown thereof, orthecontents
thereof, ordivulged information ordatarelative thereto, toanycorporation, partnership,  
company association, organization, biddepository, ortoanymember oragent thereof to
effectuate acollusive orshambid, andhasnotpaid, andwillnotpay, anypersonorentity
forsuchpurpose.  

Anyperson executing thisdeclaration onbehalfofaContractor thatisacorporation,  
partnership, jointventure, limited liability company, limited liability partnership, orany
otherentity, hereby represents thatheorshehasfullpower toexecute, anddoesexecute,  
thisdeclaration onbehalfoftheContractor.  

Ideclare underpenalty ofperjury under thelawsoftheStateofCalifornia thatthe
foregoing istrueandcorrect andthatthisdeclaration isexecuted on

date\], at ________________________ \[city\],  
state\].  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page31of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

PublicRecordsIndemnificationCertificate

TheContractor certifies thatitwill indemnify anddefend NCTD intheeventNCTD
withholds production ofanyrecords submitted inresponse tothisIFBthataremarked
Confidential”, “TradeSecret”, “Proprietary”, orsimilar designations, inresponse toa

Public RecordsActrequest (Cal. Gov. Code §7920etal) oraFreedom ofInformation Act
request (5U.S.C. § 552).  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page32of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

RestrictionsonTelecommunicationsandVideoSurveillanceEquipmentand
ServicesCertification
Applies toAllContracts\]  

TheContractor, tobestofitsknowledge, certifies oraffirms thatallproducts orservices
tobeusedunder thisAward areinfullcompliance withSection 889(a)(1)(A) oftheJohn
S. McCain National Defense Authorization ActforFiscalYear2019, whichprovides that:  

1. Prohibition. Noheadofanexecutive agency onorafterAugust 13, 2019, will
procure orobtain, orextend orrenewacontract toprocure toobtain, any
equipment, system, orservice thatusescovered telecommunications equipment
orservices asasubstantial oressential component ofanysystem, orascritical
technology aspartofanysystem.  TheContractor isprohibited fromproviding to
theGovernment anyequipment, system, orservice thatusescovered
telecommunications equipment orservices asasubstantial oressential
component ofanysystem, orascritical technology aspartofanysystem.  

2. Covered Telecommunications. Equipment produced byHuawei Technologies
Company orZTECorporation (oranysubsidiary oraffiliate ofsuchentities.  For
thepurpose ofpublic safety, security ofGovernment facilities, physical security
surveillance ofcritical infrastructure, andothernational security purposes, video
surveillance andtelecommunications equipment produced byHytera
Communications Corporation, Hangzhou Hikvision Digital Technology Company,  
orDahua Technology Company (oranysubsidiary oraffiliateofsuchentities).   
Telecommunications orvideosurveillance services provided bysuchentities or
usingsuchequipment.  

3. Reporting.  Intheevent theContractor identifies covered telecommunications
equipment orservices usedasasubstantial oressential component ofanysystem,  
orascritical technology aspartofanysystem, during thecontract performance, or
theContractor isnotified ofsuchbyasubcontractor atanytierorbyanysource,  
shall report theinformation totheContracting Officer.  
a. Within onebusiness dayfromthedateofsuch identification ornotification:  

contract number; ordernumber(s), ifapplicable; supplier name; supplier unique
entity identifier (ifknown); supplier Commercial andGovernment Entity (CAGE)  
code (ifknown); brand; model number; itemdescription; andanyreadily
available information aboutmitigation actions undertaken orrecommended.  

b. Within10business daysofsubmitting theinformation inparagraph twoabove:   
anyfurther available information aboutmitigation actions undertaken or
recommended.  Inaddition, theContractor shalldescribe theefforts it
undertook toprevent useorsubmission orcovered telecommunications
equipment orservices, andanyadditional efforts thatwillbeincorporated to
prevent future useorsubmission orcovered telecommunications equipment or
services.  

Page33of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

4. Contractor shall insert thesubstance ofthiscertification/clause inallsubcontracts
andothercontractual instruments, including subcontracts fortheacquisition of
commercial products orcommercial services.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  
Name:  _____________________________________________  
Title:  _____________________________________________  
Date:   _____________________________________________  
Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page34of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

TaxLiabilityCertification
Applies toAllContracts\]  

Contractor certifies that:  

1. Ithasnounpaid federal taxliability thathasbeenassessed, forwhichalljudicial
andadministrative remedies havebeen exhausted orhave lapsed, andthatisnot
beingpaid inatimelymanner pursuant toanagreement withtheauthority
responsible forcollecting thetaxliability; and,   

2. Ithasnotbeenconvicted ofafelony criminal violation underanyFederal lawwithin
thepreceding 24months.  

Contractor certifies oraffirms thetruthfulness andaccuracy ofthecontents ofthe
statements submitted onorwiththiscertification.  Inaddition, theContractor understands
andagrees that theprovisions of31U.S.C. §§ 3801etalareapplicable tothis
certification.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page35of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Worker’sCompensationCertificate

Contractor isawareoftheprovisions ofSection 3700oftheLaborCodewhichrequire
everyemployer tobeinsured against liability forworker’scompensation ortoundertake
self-insurance inaccordance withtheprovisions oftheLaborCode andwillcomply with
suchprovisions before commencing theperformance oftheWorkofthisAgreement.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page36of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

CERTIFICATION OF RESTRICTIONS ON LOBBYING

I, __________________________________________ hereby certifyonbehalfof
Typename)  

that:  
Nameofcompany)  

1. NoFederal appropriated fundshavebeenpaidorwillbepaid, byoronbehalfoftheundersigned,  
toanyperson forinfluencing orattempting toinfluence anofficeroremployee ofanyagency, a
MemberofCongress, anofficeroremployee ofCongress, oranemployee ofaMember of
Congress inconnection withtheawarding ofanyFederal contract, themakingofanyFederal
grant, themakingofanyFederal loan, theentering intoofanycooperative Agreement, andthe
extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, ormodification ofanyFederal contract, grant, loan,  
orcooperative Agreement.  

2. IfatanypointaftertheAgreement isexecuted, itoroneofitssubcontractors willuseanyfunds,  
whetherornottheyareFederal appropriated funds, topayanyperson forinfluencing or
attempting toinfluence anofficeroremployee ofanyagency, aMember ofCongress, anofficer
oremployee ofCongress, oranemployee ofaMember ofCongress inconnection withthis
Federal contract, grant, loan, orcooperative Agreement (i.e. lobbying), theundersigned shall
complete andsubmit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure FormtoReport Lobbying,” inaccordance
withitsinstructions, whichrequire theundersigned oranyapplicable subcontractor toreport
quarterly onanyevent thatoccurs thatrequires disclosure, orthatmaterially affects theaccuracy
oftheinformation contained inanydisclosure formpreviously filedbytheentity. Thoseevents
mayinclude: acumulative increase of $25,000beingpaidforlobbying, orachange inthe
person(s) orindividual(s) attempting toinfluence suchaction, orachange inthe officer(s),  
employee(s), ormember(s) contacted toattempt toinfluence suchaction. Theundersigned and
itssubcontractors atanytiershallpromptly provide NCTD’sContract Officerwithacopyofthe
completed Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure FormtoReportLobbying” andanyquarterly changes
thereto.  

3. Theundersigned shall require thatthelanguage ofthiscertification beincluded intheaward
documents forallsub-awardsatalltiers (including subcontractors, sub-grants, andcontracts
undergrants, loans, andcooperative Agreements) andthatallsub-recipients shallcertifyand
disclose accordingly.  Thiscertification isamaterial representation offactuponwhichreliance is
placedwhenthistransaction wasmadeorentered into.  Submission ofthiscertification isa
prerequisite formakingorentering intothistransaction imposed bysection 1352, title31, U.S.  
Code.  Anyperson whofailstofiletherequired certification shallbesubject toacivilpenaltyof
notlessthan $10,000andnotmorethan $100,000foreachsuch failure.  

Executed this _________ dayof _________________________________, 20___.  

Official, legalnameofContractor orindividual (TypeorPrint) offering theproposal

PrintName: ______________________________  Title:   

Signedby: ______________________________  Date:   

Page37of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters Certificate

1. Theprospective primary contractor certifies tothebestofitsknowledge andbelief, thatitand
itsprincipals:  

a) Arenotpresently debarred, suspended, proposed fordebarment, declared
ineligible, orvoluntarily excluded byanyFederal department oragency;  

b) Havenotwithinathree-yearperiodpreceding thisproposal beenconvicted ofor
hadacivil judgment rendered against themforcommission offraudoracriminal
offense inconnections withobtaining, attempting toobtain, performing apublic
Federal, State, orlocal) transaction orcontract underapublic transaction; violation
ofFederal orStateantitrust statutes orcommission ofembezzlement, theft, forgery,  
bribery, falsification ordestruction ofrecords, making falsestatements, orreceiving
stolenproperty;  

c) Arenotpresently indicted fororotherwise criminally orcivillycharged bya
governmental entity (Federal, Stateorlocal) withcommission ofanyoftheoffenses
enumerated inparagraph 1(b) ofthiscertification;  

d) Havenotwithinathree-yearperiodpreceding thisapplication/proposal hadoneor
morepublic transactions (Federal, Stateorlocal) terminated forcauseordefault.  

2. Where theprospective primary participant isunable tocertify toanyofthestatements inthis
certification, suchprospective participant shallattachanexplanation tothisproposal.  

3. TheawardofthisAgreement issubject toafinancial assistance contract between theNCTD
andtheU.S. Department ofTransportation.  Anynameappearing ontheComptroller
General’slistofineligible Contractor forfederally financed orassisted contracts isnoteligible
forthisAgreement.  

4. TheContractor hereby certifies thatneither itnoranyofitsofficersorholdersofacontrolling
interest areontheU.S. Comptroller General’slistofineligible contractors forfederally funded
andassisted contracts.  Intheeventanyoftheabovepersons orparties becomes included
onsuchalistduring theperformance ofthisproject, NCTDshallbepromptly informedofthis
fact.  

5. TheContractor certifiesoraffirms thetruthfulness andaccuracy ofthecontents ofthe
statements submitted onorwith thiscertification. Inaddition, theContractor understands and
agrees thattheprovisions of31USC §§ 3801etal. areapplicable tothiscertification.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _________________________________________  

Page38of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Debarment, Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters Certificate
Subcontractor)  

1. Theprospective contractor certifies tothebestofitsknowledge andbelief, thatitandits
principals:  

e) Arenotpresently debarred, suspended, proposed fordebarment, declared
ineligible, orvoluntarily excluded byanyFederal department oragency;  

f) Havenotwithinathree-yearperiodpreceding thisproposal beenconvicted ofor
hadacivil judgment rendered against themforcommission offraudoracriminal
offense inconnections withobtaining, attempting toobtain, performing apublic
Federal, State, orlocal) transaction orcontract underapublic transaction; violation
ofFederal orStateantitrust statutes orcommission ofembezzlement, theft, forgery,  
bribery, falsification ordestruction ofrecords, making falsestatements, orreceiving
stolenproperty;  

g) Arenotpresently indicted fororotherwise criminally orcivillycharged bya
governmental entity (Federal, Stateorlocal) withcommission ofanyoftheoffenses
enumerated inparagraph 1(b) ofthiscertification;  

h) Havenotwithinathree-yearperiodpreceding thisapplication/proposal hadoneor
morepublic transactions (Federal, Stateorlocal) terminated forcauseordefault.  

2. Where theprospective primary participant isunable tocertify toanyofthestatements inthis
certification, suchprospective participant shallattachanexplanation tothisproposal.  

3. TheawardofthisAgreement issubject toafinancial assistance contract between theNCTD
andtheU.S. Department ofTransportation.  Anynameappearing ontheComptroller
General’slistofineligible Contractor forfederally financed orassisted contracts isnoteligible
forthisAgreement.  

4. TheContractor hereby certifies thatneither itnoranyofitsofficersorholdersofacontrolling
interest areontheU.S. Comptroller General’slistofineligible contractors forfederally funded
andassisted contracts.  Intheeventanyoftheabovepersons orparties becomes included
onsuchalistduring theperformance ofthisproject, NCTDshallbepromptly informedofthis
fact.  

5. TheContractor certifiesoraffirms thetruthfulness andaccuracy ofthecontents ofthe
statements submitted onorwith thiscertification. Inaddition, theContractor understands and
agrees thattheprovisions of31USC §§ 3801etal. areapplicable tothiscertification.  

Company:  _____________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  _____________________________________________  

Date:   _____________________________________________  

Signature:  _____________________________________________  

Page39of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

EXHIBIT “B”  
STANDARDOFCONDUCTPOLICYANDPROCEDURE (GM-0008)  

Page40of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page41of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page42of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page43of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page44of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page45of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page46of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page47of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

EXHIBIT C – MILESTONE ACTIVITY CHART

Thefollowing timeline will inform thisagreement:  

Time Milestone/Activity Responsible
Party

Year1

Purchase equipment (seeExhibitE) tobeused intheZEVTech NCTD
training program atPalomar College andmakethisavailable intime
fortheFall2026semester schedule.  

Palomar College facultyparticipate inNewFlyer training onrelevant NCTD
partsofthefuel-celledbussystems.  

Launch theZEVTech Certificate/Degree program. Guarantee runof Palomar
courses duringYear1, regardless ofenrollment.  
Enroll selected NCTDemployees inZEVTech program. NCTD
Develop marketing materials featuring theZEVTech program tobe Palomar
distributed through thecollege’ssocialmediachannels.   
Provide outreach andrecruitment effortstothelocalcommunity, with Palomar
afocusontraditionally under-represented students.  

Year2
Develop theplanforaZEVBusTechnician apprenticeship program Both
andseekfunding opportunities (suchasthrough theCalifornia
Apprenticeship Council toimplement it)  
Develop additional employer partners withLow/NoEmission vehicle Palomar
service needsandextendapprenticeship opportunities regionally.  

Year3
Continue offering opportunities toincumbent workersorapprentices Both
fortheZEVTech program.  
Atthegrant'send, Palomar College willeither (a) exercise its Palomar
purchase optionfortheequipment, or (b) ifitelectsnottopurchase
theequipment, returnallsuchequipment toNCTD, inaccordance
withthetermsoftheMOUandEquipment LoanAgreement. .  

All
Years

Provide reimbursement toPalomar college forallinstructional and NCTD
administrative activities outlined inthisagreement.  
Provide reportsanddocumentation toNCTDforfederal reporting and Palomar
reimbursement anddetails ofin-kindmatch
Disseminate program details through college partners, regional and Palomar
stateworkforce meetings, andselected transportation-focused
conferences, suchasMobilize California Summit.  

Page48of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Partner Contacts

NCTD Palomar College
Project: Project:  
Derrick Wojcik-Damers NicholRoe,   
Director ofBusMaintenance Dean, Career, Technical & Extended
Email:  dwojcikdamers@nctd.org Education
Tel. 760-966-6558 Email: nroe@palomar.edu

Tel. 760-744-1150, ext. 3964

Fiscal: Fiscal:  
EunPark-Lynch Christopher Yatooma
ChiefFinancial Officer Interim VicePresident, Finance &  
Email: eparklynch@nctd.org Administrative Services
Tel. 760-967-2858 Tel. 760-744-1150, ext. 2109

Email: tmcdonald@palomar.edu

Authorized Signatory:  Authorized Signatory:   
ShawnM. Donaghy AnnJensen
ChiefExecutive Officer Director ofBusiness Services
Email: sdonaghy@nctd.org Email: ajensen@palomar.edu
Tel. 760-967-2869 Tel. 760-744-1150, ext. 2139

Page49of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

EXHIBIT D - BUDGET

Page50of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-09

Page51of60



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

Budget Narrative

Palomar College ZEVTech Instructional and Apprenticeship Program Costs:  

YEAR 1

Instructional Faculty Salaries. Palomar College facultywillhaverelease timetoconduct course
preparation andworkwithNCTDonpurchase ofequipment, advising asnecessary forpurchase,  
shipment, delivery, andinstallation. Faculty willalsoparticipate inselected training offered to
NCTDbustechnicians. InFall26, iftimeline ismet, facultywillteachtwooffourcourses inthe
ZEVTech program.  

Classified Salaries. AnInstructional Support Specialist (ISS) willbehiredtoworkwithfacultyon
thepurchase, inventory, andmaintenance ofsupplies andequipment foruseintheZEVTech
program andset-upandclean-upofclassactivities, andprovideadditional safetymonitoring
duringclasses, pertheISSjobdescription. TheApprenticeship Supervisor willworkwithPalomar
College andNCTDadministrators tosetupandmanage theapprenticeship program.  

Benefits. Benefits forfacultyandclassified staffarebasedonnegotiated unioncontracts.  

Supplies. Supplies includeacomputer andsoftware fortheZEVTech facultymember,  
consumable supplies andsmall tools, officesupplies, andothermaterials necessary forthe
delivery ofinstruction andoutreach intheZEVTech program.  

OtherOperating Expenses. Travel funding hasbeenestimated forfacultyandstafftomeet
PROGRAM objectives. $30,000willcoveranelectrical upgrade contract toincrease power tothe
classroom laboratory needed forthesimulators andtraining equipment. Funding forproduction
ofoutreach materials (brochures, etc.) isincluded.  

AllYears - Indirect/Overhead Costs. Palomar College willforego Indirect/Overhead Costs forthis
grantperiodastheMemorandum ofUnderstanding isreplacing thesubrecipient statusproposed
intheoriginal grantapplication.  

AllYears - Thisbudget includes anestimated increase inCOLAof3.5% andsalarysteppromotion
perPalomar College’sunioncontracts. Benefits increase by5%. Personnel costspayforfunding
ofinstructional faculty toteachthenewZEVTECH Certificate program withthesupportoftheISA.  

YEAR 2

Instructional Faculty Salaries. Palomar College facultywill teachtwooffourZEVTech courses in
rotation eachsemester. Faculty willalsoparticipate inanyapprenticeship activities (e.g.,  
participation intheApprenticeship andTraining Committee, ifapproved/funded bytheCAState
OfficeofApprenticeship).  

Classified StaffSalaries. TheISS position willcontinue tomaintain equipment, handle inventory
andordering, andsupport instruction intheclassroom. TheApprenticeship Supervisor will
continue tosupport thedevelopment andimplementation oftheZEVTech Apprenticeship
program. Faculty andstaffwillalsocontinue tosupport various outreach andrecruitment activities
oftheZEVTECH program withlocalhighschooldistricts andworkforce partners.  

Benefits. Benefits forfacultyandclassified staffarebasedonnegotiated unioncontracts.   

52



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

Supplies. Supplies forYear2willconsist primarily ofconsumable supplies andsmall tools, office
supplies, andothermaterials necessary forthedelivery ofinstruction intheZEVTech program.  

OtherOperating Expenses. Travel funding hasbeenestimated fortworegional oronenational
seminar/conference/workshop forFaculty orISStraining, asneeded. Additional fundswill cover
renewal ofequipment software andproduction ofoutreach materials (brochures, etc.)  

YEAR3

Instructional Faculty Salaries. Year3will transition thecourses fromgrantfunding tonormal
college revenue/expenses. Salaries estimated witha3% COLAincrease peryear.  

Classified StaffSalaries. TheISS position willcontinue tomaintain equipment, handle inventory
andordering, andsupport instruction intheclassroom. TheApprenticeship Coordinator will
continue tomanage theapprenticeship program. Salaries estimated witha3% COLAincrease
peryear.   

Faculty andstaffwillalsocontinue tosupport various outreach andrecruitment activitiesofthe
ZEVTECH program withlocalhighschooldistricts andworkforce partners.  

Benefits. Benefits forfacultyandclassified staffarebasedonnegotiated unioncontracts and
anticipated toincrease by5% fornextthreeyears.   

Supplies. Supplies forYear3willconsist primarily ofconsumable supplies andreplacement of
small tools, officesupplies, andothermaterials necessary forthedelivery ofinstruction inthe
ZEVTech program.  

OtherOperating Expenses. Travel funding forthethirdyearwillbeforfaculty todisseminate
program informationatregional andstateconferences/meetings. Materials forcontinued outreach
areincluded. Year3willalsofocusondeveloping furtheropportunities withotherregional
employers ofHeavy/Moderate zero-emission vehicles (suchastruckservice stations and
dealerships) andimplementing sustainability measures tocontinue theprogram beyond 2025.  

ALLYEARS

In-Kind: $242,812

Matching fundsareprimarily covered byapercentage ofthesalaries andbenefits of
administrators andclassified staff involved withthisproject, plusanallowable 30% indirect rate.  
Costsforfull-timeadministrators arecalculated at5% oftheir timeinYears1through3. This
includes theDeanofCareer, Technical, & Extended Education, whowilloversee project
development andgeneral administration oftheprogram. TheAssociate DeanforWorkforce
Development andExtended Studies (5%) willsupervise thenewZEVTECH BusTechnician
Apprenticeship program. Additionally, 15% ofthesalaryandbenefits foraCTESpecialist will
support dailyproject administration andreporting.  

53



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

EXHIBIT E – EQUIPMENT REQUEST

PALOMAR Equipment Request* andtobepurchased byNCTDforloantoPALOMAR during
thethree-yearprogram.  

Quote Equipment Item Vendor Quant Est Total Notes
Cost

1 Electromechanical Advanced 5 $ 277,504.76 120daysto
Training System Technologies delivery –  

Consultants order now
2 EVTraining Systems Cummins 1 $ 204,323.47 120daysto

delivery –  
order now

3 HVACTraining Daktic 1 $ 71,129.19 120daysto
System delivery – order

now
4 EVHighVoltage Tools SnapOn 4 $ 216,933.35 120daysto

delivery
5 EVCharging Station Keysight 1 $ 204,323.47 120daysto

Training System delivery
6 Hydrogen FuelCell Progressive 1 $ 127,175.64 120daysto

Training System delivery
7 EVHVAC Tools SnapOn 1 $ 73,789.05 120daysto

delivery – order
now

TOTAL   $ 970,855.46

Note: Additional shipping, insurance, warranty additions, installation costs, etc., maynotfully
shown inthequote. Quotesmayhaveexpired andmayalsoincludeadiscount forPalomar
College, asaneducational institution whichmaynottransfer ifNCTDisabuyer.  

54



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

EXHIBIT F – EQUIPMENT LOAN AGREEMENT TEMPLATE

EQUIPMENT LOANAGREEMENT

ThisEquipment LoanAgreement (“Agreement”) ismadeandentered intoasof _____ dayof
2025 (“Effective Date”), byandbetween theNORTH COUNTY TRANSIT

DISTRICT, apublicagency existingunder thelawsoftheStateofCalifornia, pursuant toCalifornia
PublicUtilityCodesections 125000, etseq. (“NCTD” or “Lender”) andPALOMAR COLLEGE

Borrower”), individually referred toasa “Party” andcollectively referred toherein as “Parties.”   

RECITALS

WHEREAS, NCTD hascommitted toproviding support fortheimplementation ofathree-year
ZeroEmissions Vehicle (“ZEV”) Technologies certificate program (“Program”), thedevelopment
ofaZEVBusTechnician Apprenticeship Program, andthepurchase oftraining equipment and
tools (“Equipment”) undertheFederal Transportation Agency’s (“FTA”) LoworNoEmission Grant
Program (“Grant”); and

WHEREAS, NCTDisaFTAdirect recipient andwillmanage theGrant; and

WHEREAS, Borrower willactasaContractor toNCTDandwillberesponsible forimplementing
theProgram; and

WHEREAS, theParties haveentered intoaMemorandum ofUnderstanding (“MOU”), which
references andincorporates thetermsofthisAgreement; and

WHEREAS, aspartoftheMOU, NCTDwill loancertain Program Equipment forusebyBorrower,  
andtheParties wishtomemorialize thetermsofsuchloan; and

NOW, THEREFORE, inconsideration ofthemutual promises andcovenants contained herein,  
theParties agreeasfollows:  

1. EQUIPMENT DESCRIPTION

Lender agrees toloantoBorrower theEquipment, asfurtherdescribed inExhibit A attached
heretoandincorporated byreference.  

2. LOAN TERM

Thetermofthisloanshallbeforaperiodofthree (3) years, commencing on ___________, 2025,  
andendingon ___________, 2028 (“LoanTerm”), unless earlier terminated inaccordance with
theprovisions ofthisAgreement.  

3. LOAN FEE

Thisloanisprovided toBorrower fornominal consideration, atafeeof $1.00peryearduring the
LoanTerm.  

4. EQUIPMENT USAGE

55



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

Borrower shallusetheEquipment solelyforthepurposes oftheProgram andinaccordance with
allapplicable lawsandregulations. Borrower shallmaintain theEquipment ingoodworking
condition, subject tonormal wearandtear.  

5. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR

Borrower shallberesponsible forallroutine maintenance andrepairoftheEquipment during the
LoanTerm, except formanufacturer defectsorissuescovered under warranty.  

6. TITLE TO EQUIPMENT

TitletotheEquipment shallremainwithLender during theLoanTerm. Borrower shallhaveno
ownership interest intheEquipment.  

7. EQUIPMENT PROTECTION AND LOSS

A. Protection Procedures: Borrower agrees toimplement andmaintain procedures to
prevent theloss, damage, ortheftoftheEquipment while itisinBorrower’spossession.  

B. Reimbursement forLossorTheft: Intheevent thatanyEquipment islostorstolen,  
Borrower shallpromptly notifyLender andreimburse Lender forthenetbookvalueofsuch
Equipment atthetimeofthelossortheft, asdetermined according tothedepreciation schedule
setforthinExhibitB.  

8. OPTION TO RETURN OR PURCHASE EQUIPMENT

Upontheexpiration oftheLoanTerm, Borrower shallhavethefollowing options:   

A. Purchase Option: Borrower maypurchase theEquipment fromLenderatits
depreciated value, asdetermined inaccordance with therequirements of2CFR200.313 and
subject toFTAapproval, asattached heretoasExhibitB.  

B. Return Option: Borrower shall, atitssolecostandexpense, return theEquipment
toLender ingoodworking condition, normalwearandtearexcepted. Borrower shallbe
responsible forallcostsrelated tothedisconnection, packaging, transportation, anddelivery of
theEquipment toalocation designated byLender. Thereturnshallbecompleted nolater than30
daysfollowing theendoftheLoanTerm, unless otherwise agreed inwritingbytheParties.  

Borrower shallnotifyLender inwritingofitsdecision toexercise either thePurchase Optionor
theReturn Optionnolater thansixty (60) daysprior totheexpiration oftheLoanTerm.  

9. INDEMNIFICATION

Borrower agreestoindemnify, defend, andholdharmless Lender andeachofLender’s
employees, agents, attorneys, successors andassigns, fromandagainst anyandallclaims,  
damages, liabilities, orexpenses arising fromBorrower’suseoftheEquipment, except tothe
extentcaused bythegrossnegligence orwillfulmisconduct ofLender.  

10. INSURANCE

56



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

Borrower shallmaintain general liability insurance andproperty insurance covering theEquipment
during theLoanTerm, inamounts andcoverage typesreasonably acceptable toLender.  

11. TERMINATION

EitherPartymayterminate thisAgreement uponninety (90) days’ writtennotice totheotherParty
foranyreason. Intheeventofearly termination, Borrower shall, atitssolecostandexpense,  
return theEquipment toLender ingoodworking condition, normal wearandtearexcepted.  
Borrower shallberesponsible forallcostsassociated withthedisconnection, preparation,  
packaging, transportation, anddelivery oftheEquipment toalocation designated byLender,  
unlessotherwise agreed inwriting bytheParties.  

12. NOTICES

Allnotices under thisAgreement shallbeinwritingandsenttotheParties attheaddresses set
forthbelow:  

ForLender: ForBorrower:   
NorthCounty TransitDistrict Palomar College
810Mission Avenue 1140WestMission Road
Oceanside, CA92054 SanMarcos, CA92069
Attn: Derrick Wojcik-Damers Attn: Contract Services
Phone: 760-966-6558 Phone: 760-744-1150
E-mail: dwojcikdamers@nctd.org E-mail: contracts@palomar.edu

13. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. EntireAgreement. ThisAgreement, together withallattached addenda, and
exhibits attached tothisAgreement, constitutes theentireagreement between NCTDand
Borrower withrespect tothesubjectmatteroftheEquipment, andallpriororcontemporaneous
agreements, understandings andrepresentations, oralorwritten, aresuperseded.  

B. Severability.  Every provision ofthisAgreement isintended tobeseverable. Ifany
provision ofthisAgreement ortheapplication ofanyprovision hereof toanypartyorcircumstance
isdeclared tobeillegal, invalidorunenforceable foranyreason whatsoever byacourtof
competent jurisdiction, suchinvalidity shallnotaffect theothertermsandprovisions hereoforthe
application oftheprovision inquestion toanyotherpartyorcircumstance, allofwhichshall
continue infullforceandeffect.  

C. Assignment.  ThisAgreement shallnotbeassignable byeither Partywithout the
priorwritten consentoftheotherParty. NCTDshallhave therighttoterminate thisAgreement if
Borrower assigns thisAgreement orifthereisanymaterial change inthemanagement orcontrol
oftheBorrower.   

D. Governing LawandVenue.  Thetermsandconditions ofthisAgreement shallbe
interpreted andenforced inaccordance withthelawsoftheStateofCalifornia. ThisAgreement
ismadeandentered intointheCountyofSanDiego, California, andanylegalactionsor

57



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

proceeding brought byanypartyagainst anyotherpartyarisingoutoforrelated tothisAgreement
shallbebrought intheCounty ofSanDiego.  

E. Waivers; Amendments.  Noalterations tothisAgreement orvariance fromthe
provisions hereofshallbevalidunlessmadeinwritingandexecuted bybothoftheParties hereto.  

F. Authority toEnterAgreement.  EachofthePartiessigning thisAgreement warrants
totheother thatithasthefullauthorityoftheentityonbehalfofwhich itssignature ismade.  

G. Counterparts.  TheAgreement maybeexecuted incounterparts withthesame
forceandeffectasifexecuted inonecomplete document byallParties.  

INWITNESS WHEREOF, theParties hereto haveexecuted thisAgreement ofthedateset
opposite theirsignatures.  

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT PALOMAR COLLEGE

By: _____________________________ By: _____________________________  
Shawn Donaghy AnnJensen
ChiefExecutive Officer Director ofBusiness Services

Date Date

APPROVED ASTOFORM:    

By: _____________________________  
LoriA. Winfree
Deputy ChiefExecutive Officer / Chief
General Counsel

Date

58



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

EXHIBIT A

EQUIPMENT

59



NCTD Document No. 2025-XX

EXHIBIT B

DEPRECIATION SCHEDULE

60



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-012 

 Agenda  
Item #  

12 

 

AUTHORIZE THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO FINALIZE 
AND EXECUTE AN EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING 
AGREEMENT WITH THE ARC OF SAN DIEGO FOR INTERIOR 
VEHICLE DETAILING SERVICES AND JOB COACHING 
SUPPORT 

 Time Sensitive:  ☐ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Authorize the Chief Executive Officer to finalize and execute a new 
Employment and Training Agreement with The Arc of San Diego to 
provide interior vehicle detailing services and job coaching support 
for adults with developmental disabilities at the Oceanside and 
Escondido Bus Operations Facilities, with a not-to-exceed amount 
of $133,944 annually ($11,162 per month), subject to annual budget 
approvals and adjustments as necessary due to regulatory changes. 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

The North County Transit District’s (NCTD) is committed to 
fostering inclusive, safe, and high-performing transit operations 
throughout its service area. This commitment includes partnering 
with community-based organizations to enhance services and 
support regional workforce development goals. 

Since 2017, The Arc of San Diego has successfully partnered with 
MV Transportation, NCTD’s current contracted bus operator, to 
provide employment and vocational training services for adults with 
developmental disabilities. Through this initiative, The Arc of San 
Diego provided supervised job coaching and hands-on training in 
bus cleaning and detailing at the Oceanside and Escondido 
depots.  

As NCTD transitions bus operations in-house, the proposed 
Employment and Training Agreement with The Arc of San Diego 
ensures continuity of these vital services and preserves this 
meaningful partnership. If approved by the Board, effective July 1, 
2025, The Arc of San Diego will continue delivering the same level 
of service under NCTD’s direct oversight—advancing the District’s 
strategic goals to improve service quality, strengthen community 
engagement, and promote inclusive workforce participation.  

Under the proposed agreement, The Arc of San Diego will provide 
supervised vocational training in vehicle detailing and cleanliness 
at both the Oceanside and Escondido Bus Operations Facilities. 
Each location will host three trainees under the supervision of a 
qualified Job Coach. The Arc of San Diego will be responsible for 
managing payroll, insurance, supervision, and ongoing support for 
all program participants. 

Based on the foregoing, staff recommends that the Board of 
Directors authorize the Chief Executive Officer to finalize and 
execute a new Employment and Training Agreement with The Arc 
of San Diego to provide interior vehicle detailing services and job 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-012 

coaching support for adults with developmental disabilities at the 
Oceanside and Escondido Bus Operations Facilities,  with  a not-
to-exceed amount of $133,944 annually ($11,162 per month), 
subject to annual budget approvals and adjustments as necessary 
due to regulatory changes. 
 

ATTACHMENT: 12A – Employment and Training Agreement with The Arc of San 
Diego 

  
FISCAL IMPACT: The estimated FY2026 fiscal impact is $133,944 (12 months at 

$11,162/month). This expense will be included in the FY2026 
operating budget. Future years will be budgeted accordingly and 
subject to pricing adjustments due to legislative mandates (e.g., 
changes in minimum wage laws). 
 

COMMITTEE 
REVIEW: 

 

None 
 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Joy Freeman, Chief People Officer 
E-mail: jfreeman@nctd.org Phone: 760-435-9167 

 



 
 

1 
 

 

  

  

EMPLOYMENT / TRAINING AGREEMENT 

This Employment/Training Agreement (“Agreement”) will consitute a contract between North County Transit District, a 

public agency existing under the laws of the State of California pursuant to California Public Utilities Code sections 

125000, et seq.  ( “Customer” or “NCTD”) and The Arc of San Diego for the operation of a training program at North 

County Transit District Bus Depots in Oceanside and Escondido, California, to train adults with developmental 

disabilities to work in the vehicle cleaning and detailing industry.   

1. Trainees 

The Arc of San Diego shall provide program participants (“Trainees”). Trainees shall be selected and interviewed by The 

Arc of San Diego. Customer reserves the right to interview and approve or reject any Trainee prior to participation in the 

training program and may request removal of any Trainee at any time with or without cause. 

2. Staff 

An Arc of San Diego shall assign a qualified Job Coach, who shall be present on-site during all periods that Trainees are 

working. The Job Coach shall be an employee of The Arc of San Diego and not Customer. The Job Coach shall be 

responsible for supervising Trainees, providing on-site training, ensuring compliance with work performance standards, 

and enforcing Customer’s workplace policies as applicable to the program.  

3. Work Period 

Trainees shall work according to the following schedules: 

• Oceanside Bus Depot: Trainees will work on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Fridays, from 8:00am - 3:00pm.  

• Escondido Bus Depot: Trainees will work on Tuesdays and Thursdays, from 8:00am - 4:00pm. 

 

The Arc of San Diego observes ten (10) holidays per year, during which our Trainees and Job Coach will not be present or 

working. A list of these holidays are specified in Exhibit “B,” THE ARC OF SAN DIEGO HOLIDAYS & 

OBSERVANCES.  

Trainees shall receive one unpaid 30-minute meal break and two paid 10-minute rest breaks per shift, or as otherwise 

required by applicable law. All meal and rest periods shall be provided in accordance with California labor laws. 

4. The Arc of San Diego Responsibilities 

a) Identify and provide a labor force of three (3) Trainees at Oceanside location and three (3) Trainees at Escondido 

location. 

 

b) Complete the agreed-upon work to be performed: Interior Bus Detailing. 

 

c) Provide daily training, supervision, and support through a Job Coach, who shall also enforce the Customer’s 

applicable policies. 

 

d) Compensate Trainees directly for work performed. The Arc of San Diego does not prorate the monthly fee for 

routine personnel absences. The Job Coach will function as a working member of the team. 

 

ATTACHMENT 12A 



 
 

2 
 

e) Provide worker’s compensation insurance, employee benefits, and other applicable employment coverage for 

Trainees and Job Coach. 

 

f) Maintain and provide proof of all required insurance, including general liability, workers’ compensation, and 

automobile coverage (if applicable), naming Customer as an additional insured.  

 

g) Share responsibility with Customer for ensuring a safeplace consistent with OSHA standards. The Arc of San 

Diego shall immediately notify Customer of any unsafe condition or incident. 

5. Customer’s Responsbilities 

a) Reimburse The Arc of San Diego a flate rate of $11,162.00 per month for services provided, inclusive of all 

applicable payroll taxes, benefits, and administrative costs. The Arc of San Diego shall invoice monthly in 

arrears. Proration will not occur for routine absences, but Customer reserves the right to request adjustment for 

prolonged absences.  

 

a. Please note that The Arc of San Diego's operational expenses, which influence the pricing outlined in this 

proposal, may increase due to state or local legislative mandates, particularly changes in minimum wage 

laws. Should such changes occur, The Arc of San Diego will notify Customer in writing with revised 

pricing at least 30 days before implementation. 

 

b) Provide all equipment and supplies necessary for the performance of the assigned work. 

 

c) Provide sufficient work to keep the agreed-upon number of Trainees engaged during scheduled shifts. 

6. Trainee Payment and The Arc of San Diego Reimbursement 

The Arc of San Diego shall handle all payroll adminstration for Trainees. The Job Coach shall maintain accurate time 

cards and productions records. The Arc of San Diego shall submit detailed monthly invoices to Customer with supporting 

documentation such as buses that been detailed, upon request.  

7. Hiring of Trainees 

Customer shall have the right of first refusal, but not obligation, to hire Trainees who are determined by The Arc of San 

Diego to be ready for competitive employment. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create an employment 

relationship between Customer and any Trainee, or as requiring Customer to offer or guarantee employment to any 

Trainee. 

8. Term of Agreement 

This Agreement shall commence on July 1st, 2025 and shall remain in effect until terminated by either party. Either 

party may terminate this Agreement without cause by providing at least thirty (30) calendar days’ written notice. The Arc 

of San Diego may terminate this Agreement immediately in the event of danger to the welfare of any Trainee, provided it 

gives Customer written notice of the danger and an opportunity to cure the unsafe condition where feasible.  

9. Insurance 

Without limiting The Arc of San Diego’s indemnification obligations to NCTD under this Agreement, The Arc of San 

Diego shall provide and maintain during the term of this Agreement, at The Arc of San Diego’s sole expense, insurance in 

the amounts and form specified in Exhibit “A,” INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. The Arc of San Diego shall name 

NCTD as an additional insured on each of the aforementioned insurance policies and the policies shall state that they are 

primary and that any policies NCTD maintains shall be noncontributory.  The Arc of San Diego shall provide NCTD with 



 
 

3 
 

written certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage.  Said policies shall expressly provide that the policies shall not 

be canceled or altered without at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to NCTD.  Said policies shall be with insurance 

companies with an A.M. Best rating of AVII or better.  Each policy limit herein shall be increased by The Arc of San 

Diego, upon request by NCTD, to the amount NCTD increases its policy limits for other contracts. In the event The Arc 

of San Diego reasonably believes that such an increase results in a material and documented increase in the cost of 

obtaining or maintaining the required insurance, The Arc of San Diego may request in writing an adjustment to the 

contract price. Any such adjustment shall be subject to NCTD’s prior written approval and shall not take effect until 

agreed upon in a written amendment executed by both Parties.  

10. Indemnification 

Indemnity. The Arc of San Diego shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, hold harmless, protect, defend and 

indemnify NCTD and its Board of Directors and each member of the Board, officers, agents and employees, 

representatives and their successors and assigns (“NCTD” and/or “ Indemnified Parties”), from and against any and all 

losses, liabilities, claims, suits, damages, expenses and costs, including reasonable attorney's fees and costs, and expert 

costs and investigation expenses, arising out of or attributable, in whole or in part, from the performance or failure to 

perform by The Arc of San Diego, its employees, representatives, subcontractors, or agents regardless of whether or not 

such claim, loss or liability is caused, in part by a party indemnified hereunder. Insurance amounts required by NCTD 

shall not serve as a cap on The Arc of San Diego’s liability.  

General Indemnity Provisions.  This indemnity is in addition to any other rights or remedies that NCTD may have under 

the law or this Agreement.  In the event of any claim or demand made against any party that is entitled to be indemnified 

hereunder, NCTD may, at its sole discretion, reserve, retain or apply any monies due to The Arc of San Diego under this 

Agreement for the purpose of resolving such claims; provided however, that NCTD may release such funds if The Arc of 

San Diego provides NCTD with reasonable assurances of protection of NCTD's interest.  NCTD shall, in its sole 

discretion determine whether such assurances are reasonable. 

The Arc of San Diego agrees that its duty to defend the Indemnified Parties arises upon an allegation of liability based 

upon its performance under this Agreement by The Arc of San Diego, its officers, agents, representatives, employees, 

subcontractors, or anyone for whom The Arc of San Diego is liable and that an adjudication of The Arc of San Diego’s 

liability is not a condition precedent to The Arc of San Diego’s duty to defend. The Arc of San Diego shall defend, at its 

own cost, expense and risk, with counsel of NCTD's choosing, any and all such aforesaid suits, actions or other legal 

proceedings of every kind that may be brought or instituted against the Indemnified Parties. To the extent of its liability, 

The Arc of San Diego shall pay and satisfy any judgment, award or decree that may be rendered against the Indemnified 

Parties, in any such suit, action or other legal proceeding. The Arc of San Diego shall reimburse the Indemnified Parties 

for any and all legal expenses and costs incurred by each of them in connection therewith or in enforcing the indemnity 

herein provided.  

This section of the Agreement shall apply to all liability, regardless of whether any insurance policies are applicable. The 

policy limits do not act as a limitation upon the amount of indemnification to be provided by The Arc of San Diego. This 

section of the Agreement shall survive in perpetuity. 

Comprehensive Environmental Responses, Compensation, and Liability Act: The Arc of San Diego acknowledges that the 

indemnifications contained herein are intended, in part, to operate as indemnifications under Section 9607(e)(1) of the 

Comprehensive Environmental Responses, Compensation, and Liability Act (42 USC Section 9601, et seq.) as may be 

hereinafter amended. 

Public Records: The Arc of San Diego agrees to indemnify and defend NCTD in the event NCTD withholds production of 

records that The Arc of San Diego has marked "Confidential” “Trade Secret” “Proprietary”, or similar designations, that 

are responsive to a Public Records Act request pursuant to California Government Code sections 6250, et. seq. or a 

Freedom of Information Act request.  



 
 

4 
 

Prevailing Wage: The Arc of San Diego shall defend, indemnify and hold NCTD, its elected officials, officers, employees 

and agents free and harmless from any claims, liabilities, costs, penalties or interest arising out of any failure or alleged 

failure to comply with prevailing wage laws, if applicable. 

11. Compliance with Laws 

The Arc of San Diego shall perform all obligations under this Agreement in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

and local laws, ordinances, and regulations, including wage and hour laws, anti-discrimination laws, and OSHA standards. 

12. Attorney’s Fees and Cost 

If any action at law or in equity is necessary to enforce or interpret the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall 

be entitled to reasonable attorney’s fees and the costs of such action. 

13. Headings 

The headings and titles within this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation or 

construction of any provision. 

14. Governing Law and Venue 

This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of California. This 

Agreement is made and entered into in the County of San Diego, California, and any legal actions or proceeding brought 

by any party against any other party arising out of or related to this Agreement shall be brought in the County of San 

Diego. 

15. Entire Agreement 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. All prior negotiations between the parties are 

merged into this Agreement, and there are no understandings or agreements other than those incorporated or referred to 

herein. This Agreement may not be modified except by a written instrument that is dated and signed by the duly 

authorized representatives of both parties. 

16. Notices 

All notices, requests, demands, and other communications shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given 

if delivered personally or sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, and properly 

addressed to the following address: 

  

North County Transit District 

810 Mission Ave. 

Oceanside, CA 92054 

Att:  Joy Freeman 

Phone: (760) 435-9167 

Email: jfreeman@nctd.org 

The Arc of San Diego 

3030 Market St. 

San Diego, CA 92012 

Att: Kirk Conrad Dela Cruz 

Tel: (619) 795-4129 

Email: kdelacruz@arc-sd.com 

 

 

 

SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE 

 



 
 

5 
 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement of the date set opposite their signatures. 

 

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Shawn M. Donaghy 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

__________________________________________________ 

Date Signed 

 

 

THE ARC OF SAN DIEGO 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Name/Title 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Date Signed 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Lori A. Winfree 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer/Chief General Counsel 

 

_________________________________________________ 

Date Signed 

APPROVED AS TO FORM 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Name/Title 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

Date Signed 

 

  



 
 

6 
 

EXHIBIT A – INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 

The Arc of San Diego shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement, insurance against claims for 

injuries to persons, or damages to property, which may arise from, or in connection with, the performance of the Work 

hereunder by The Arc of San Diego, its agents, representatives, or employees. Proof of insurance shall be submitted to 

NCTD within five (5) working days of NCTD’s request and is required before the commencement of Work. 

a. Acceptability of Insurers: Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than 

A-:VI. Carriers must be licensed to do business in California and maintain an agent for service of process within 

California. Exceptions may be made for insurers when not specifically rated such as the State Compensation 

Insurance Fund, conglomerates such as Lloyds of London, or for self-insured entities. 

b. Pass-Through Costs to NCTD: To the extent The Arc of San Diego elects to pass through insurance premium costs 

to NCTD, The Arc of San Diego shall not charge NCTD for any insurance costs that are not directly attributable to 

the Work. The Arc of San Diego shall not pass through insurance costs to NCTD that are attributable to, or overlap 

with, work performed for The Arc of San Diego’s other project or clients or are included in The Arc of San Diego’s 

overhead rate. 

c. Notice of Termination, Cancellation, or Change: Should any of the insurance policies be cancelled before the 

expiration date thereof, notice will be delivered in accordance with the policy provisions and sent to NCTD. The 

Arc of San Diego shall notify NCTD immediately following The Arc of San Diego’s first notice or awareness of 

any proposed or actual termination, cancellation, or change in its insurance coverage. Each insurance policy 

required by this clause shall state or be endorsed to state that coverage shall not be amended or canceled, except 

after 30 days’ prior written notice has been given to NCTD. Notice of cancellation sent by email to 

insurance@nctd.org shall be sufficient notice. 

d. Failure to Provide Insurance: Failure to provide and continue in force any insurance as described in this Insurance 

Section shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement, which NCTD may deem to constitute cause for 

immediate termination. NCTD reserves the right to withhold payments to The Arc of San Diego in the event of 

material noncompliance with the insurance requirements outlined herein. If The Arc of San Diego fails to maintain 

the insurance as set forth herein, NCTD shall have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase said insurance at 

The Arc of San Diego's expense and to withhold the expense of such insurance from any payments otherwise due 

to The Arc of San Diego. 

e. Certificates of Insurance and Endorsements: The Arc of San Diego shall furnish NCTD with Certificates of 

Insurance and any required endorsements affecting coverage required by this section. The endorsements are to be 

signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf. Endorsements must specifically state 

that they modify the policy language. All certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by NCTD 

before work commences. The Arc of San Diego shall ensure that the representations made on the Certificate of 

Insurance and Endorsements are true and correct. Complete policies of insurance shall be provided to NCTD upon 

request and no later than five (5) days after such request. Failure to provide NCTD a copy of the insurance policies 

required in this contract shall be deemed a material breach of contract, which shall be deemed at the option of 

NCTD to constitute a cause for immediate termination hereof. The coverage forms and related endorsements 

required herein required by The Arc of San Diego shall conform to the Insurance Services Office (ISO) 2013 Edition 

(or the latest revision available). 

f. Commercial General Liability and Auto Liability Endorsements: The Commercial General and Auto Liability 

policies shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions: 

NCTD, its directors, officers, agents and employees are to be covered as additional insureds with respect to liability 

arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of The Arc of San Diego including materials, parts, or 

mailto:insurance@nctd.org


 
 

7 
 

equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations. The commercial general liability policy does not 

need to cover products and completed operations when services The Arc of San Diego will perform on the Work 

are not connected to construction or maintenance. 

Commercial general liability coverage shall be provided in the form of an additional insured policy endorsement to 

the The Arc of San Diego’s insurance at least as broad as ISO CG 20 10 and CG 20 37 forms, respectively. 

For any claims related to this Work, The Arc of San Diego’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance as 

respects NCTD, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 

the entity, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of The Arc of San Diego’s insurance and 

shall not contribute with it. The Arc of San Diego shall provide NCTD a conforming ISO CG 20 01 Endorsement 

for Commercial General Liability.  

The Arc of San Diego agrees to waive all rights against NCTD and its directors, officers, agents and employees for 

recovery of damages to the extent these damages are covered by the Commercial General Liability and Auto 

Liability insurance required pursuant to this contract. The Arc of San Diego shall provide NCTD a conforming ISO 

CG 24 04 Endorsement for Commercial General Liability and ISO CA 04 43 Endorsement for Auto Liability, 

respectively.  

g. Certificate of Insurance (COI) Submittals: NCTD currently uses PlanetBids as its COI management system to track 

and verify insurance coverage. The Arc of San Diego shall include the Agreement number and/or task order number 

on all insurance-related correspondence submitted to PlanetBids (i.e., the insurance certificate itself). 

Initial COI Submittal: After The Arc of San Diego’s receipt of the Notice of Intent to Negotiate, The Arc of San 

Diego shall submit its certificates of insurance through the PlanetBids portal established for NCTD. NCTD will not 

execute the Agreement and The Arc of San Diego shall not commence work unless The Arc of San Diego has 

submitted compliant Certificates of Insurance (COIs) and endorsements have been received, and NCTD has deemed 

the The Arc of San Diego as compliant with the insurance requirements.  

Renewal Certificate Submittals: The Arc of San Diego shall cause its insurance agents to comply with requests for 

updated information from NCTD’s COI management system. The Arc of San Diego is responsible for ensuring that 

its agents send NCTD updated COIs throughout the term of the Agreement to NCTD’s COI management system. 

NCTD reserves the right to terminate this Agreement or to withhold payments to The Arc of San Diego if The Arc 

of San Diego fails to maintain compliance with the insurance requirements of this Agreement, including providing 

current certificates of insurance and endorsements to NCTD’s COI management system. 

h. No Limitation on Liabilities and Obligations: The requirements as to the types and limits of insurance coverage to 

be maintained by The Arc of San Diego, and any approval of said insurance by NCTD are not intended to and shall 

not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations otherwise assumed by The Arc of San Diego 

pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the provisions concerning indemnification. 

The specified insurance limits are minimum amounts to be provided, and any insurance maintained by The Arc of 

San Diego above such limits shall provide protection to NCTD and all additional insureds to the same extent as 

other insurance provided by The Arc of San Diego. 

i. Coverage for Subcontractors: Insurance required of The Arc of San Diego shall be provided by all subcontractors 

or by The Arc of San Diego on behalf of all subcontractors to cover their services performed under this Agreement. 

The Arc of San Diego shall not require subcontractors to maintain insurance amounts that are disproportionate to 

the risk exposure, scope of work and/or dollar value of work subcontracted. The Arc of San Diego shall be held 

responsible for all modifications, deviations, or omissions in these insurance requirements as they apply to any 

subcontractor. 



 
 

8 
 

j. No Waiver of Requirements: Acceptance by NCTD of a certificate or endorsement that varies from the requirements 

in this section shall not constitute a waiver by NCTD of strict compliance with the provisions herein. 

k. Waiver of subrogation and release of liability for auto liability and/or Workers’ Compensation insurance 

Notwithstanding the foregoing section, The Arc of San Diego may be granted a waiver of the requirements in this 

section under the following conditions: 

• If The Arc of San Diego does not purchase Workers’ Compensation insurance because it has no employees or 

it has fewer employees than is mandated by the Workers’ Compensation statutes, regulations, and applicable to 

employers in the state of California, then it will be required to sign the Workers’ Compensation Waiver and 

Release of Liability Agreement in order to be allowed to perform work or services for NCTD. The document 

is available from the Procurement and Contract Administration Division. 

• If The Arc of San Diego does not purchase Auto Liability insurance because it has no vehicles that will be used 

in the course of performing work pursuant to this Agreement, and its business will not utilize hired or non-

owned vehicles in the course of performing work pursuant to this Agreement in the state of California, then it 

will be required to sign the Automobile Liability Waiver and Release of Liability Agreement in order to be 

allowed to perform work or services for NCTD. The document is available from the Procurement and Contract 

Administration Division. Until the Waiver is signed or Auto Liability insurance consistent with this Agreement 

is purchased and approved by NCTD, The Arc of San Diego is not authorized to use a vehicle in the course of 

performing work pursuant to this Agreement. 

l. Self-Insured Retentions: Any self-insured retentions must be declared to NCTD. At the option of NCTD, the The 

Arc of San Diego shall provide a financial guarantee satisfactory to NCTD guaranteeing payment of losses and 

related investigations, claim administration and defense expenses. 

m. Claims-Made Coverages 

If any of The Arc of San Diego’s insurance is written on a claims-made form: 

• The insurance coverage period must commence before the effective date of the Agreement or the beginning of 

work performed pursuant to the Agreement. 

• Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least three years after 

completion of work under the Agreement. 

• If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy form with a 

retroactive date prior to the Agreement effective date, The Arc of San Diego must purchase an extended 

reporting coverage for a minimum of three years after completion of work under the Agreement. 

• A copy of the claims reporting requirements must be submitted to NCTD for review. 

n. Cross-Liability Coverage: If The Arc of San Diego’s liability policies do not contain the standard ISO separation 

of insured’s condition, or a substantially similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 

o. Additional Insureds: The Commercial General Liability and Auto Liability policies shall name in the endorsements 

and schedules as additional insured for ongoing and completed operations, as applicable, North County Transit 

District (NCTD) and its directors, officers, agents, employees, and designated volunteers.  

p. Minimum Policy Limits and Requirements 



 
 

9 
 

Prior to performing any Work, The Arc of San Diego shall provide proof and maintain limits no less than the 

following coverages. 

 

Insurance Type Requirements Limits 

Commercial 

General Liability 

(CGL)  

Coverage shall conform to ISO Form CG 

00 01 covering CGL on an “occurrence” 

basis. Policy shall include all elements of 

Coverages A, B and C. 

Limits no less than $2,000,000 - per 

occurrence for bodily injury, personal 

injury and property damage. The 

general aggregate limit shall be twice 

the required occurrence limit.  

The policy shall be issued on an 

occurrence basis. 

Automobile 

Liability 

Coverage shall conform to ISO Form CA 

00 01 covering any auto (Code 1). 

Limits no less than $1,000,000 - per 

accident for bodily injury and property 

damage. 

The policy shall be issued on a 

combined single limit. 

 

Workers’ 

Compensation and 

Employer’s 

Liability 

Insurance shall cover or insure under the 

applicable laws relating to workers’ 

compensation insurance, all in accordance 

with the “Workers’ Compensation and 

Insurance Act,” Division IV of the Labor 

Code of the State of California and any 

Acts amendatory thereof. 

Not required for sole proprietors or 

companies with no employees. Verifiable 

proof of exemption shall be required by 

The Arc of San Diego. 

As required by the State of California, 

with Statutory Limits, and Employer’s 

Liability Insurance with limit of no less 

than $1,000,000 per accident; 

$1,000,000 policy limit bodily injury 

by disease; and $1,000,000 each 

employee bodily injury by disease.  

 

Sexual Abuse and 

Molestation 

(SAM) Liability  

If the CGL policy is not endorsed to 

include affirmative coverage for sexual 

abuse or molestation, The Arc of San 

Diego shall obtain and maintain a separate 

policy. 

Limits no less than $1,000,000 per 

claim and annual aggregate limit of 

$1,000,000. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

10 
 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B – THE ARC OF SAN DIEGO HOLIDAYS & OBSERVANCES 

 

Month Holiday / Holiday Observed 

January New Year’s Day 

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day 

 

February President’s Day 

 

May 

 

Memorial Day 

July Independence Day 

 

September 

 

Labor Day 

November 

 

Thanksgiving Day 

Day After Thanksgiving 

 

December 

 

Christmas Eve 

Christmas Day 

 

 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-013 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

13 

 

ADOPT RESOLUTION NO. 25-04 APPROVING MODIFICATIONS TO 
BOARD POLICY NO. 24 – EMPLOYEE DRUG AND ALCOHOL 
POLICY 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☒ Consent:  ☒ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt Resolution No. 25-04 approving modifications to Board Policy No 24 – 
Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy to ensure continued compliance with 
Department of Transportation and Federal Transit Administration requirements. 
 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

 
In accordance with U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) and Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) Drug and Alcohol Program requirements, the  North  County 
Transit District must maintain compliance with the following regulations: 
 

• 49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 32 “Government-wide 
Requirements for a Drug-Free Workplace (Financial Assistance)” 

• 41 United States Code (USC) Sections 701, et. seq., as amended, Drug-
Free Workplace Act (DFWA) of 1988 

• 29 CFR {art 655 “Prevention of Alcohol Misuse and Prohibited Drug Use 
in Transit Operations” 

• 49 CFR Part 40 “Procedures  for Transportation Workplace Drug and 
Alcohol Testing Programs” 

 
Due to the upcoming transition of Bus Operations personnel coming in-house, as 
well as transitions in personnel responsible for daily program management and 
implementation, updates to Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol 
Policy, are required. Primary changes to the policy reflect inclusion of the newly 
identified DOT “safety-sensitive” positions, which are those positions covered by 
the random screening pool requirements. 
 
Staff recommends that the NCTD Board of Directors adopt Resolution No. 25-04 
approving modifications to Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol 
Policy, to ensure continued compliance with Department of Transportation and 
Federal Transit Administration requirements. 
 

ATTACHMENT: 13A – Draft Resolution No. 25-04 Approving Modifications to Board Policy No. 24 
13B – Draft Board Policy No. 24 - Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 
 

COMMITTEE REVIEW None 

STAFF CONTACT: 
 

Joy Freeman, Chief People Officer 
E-mail: jfreeman@nctd.org Phone: (760)435-9167 
 

 



 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 13A 

  
RESOLUTION NO. 25-04 

 
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT APPROVING  
MODIFICATIONS TO  

BOARD POLICY NO. 24 – EMPLOYEE DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY 
 
WHEREAS, the North County Transit District (“NCTD”) Board of Directors (“Board”) has 
adopted Board Policies 1 through 34 to guide the daily operations of NCTD; and  
 
WHEREAS, Board Policy No. 1 states that at least annually, the Board will review such 
Board Policies as previously adopted; and  
 
WHEREAS, Due to the upcoming transition of Bus Operations personnel coming in-
house, as well as transitions in personnel responsible for daily program management and 
implementation, updates to Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy, are 
required. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the North County 
Transit District hereby approves modifications to Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug 
and Alcohol Policy, set forth in full in Exhibit A to this Resolution.  
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that insofar as the provisions of any Ordinance, 
Resolution, document or previous action of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer, 
prior to the date of this Resolution, are inconsistent with the provisions of this Resolution 
or the policy adopted by this Resolution, this Resolution and the Board Policy adopted 
herein shall control.  
 
PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED at the regular meeting of the Board of Directors 
of the North County Transit District this 26th day of June 2025. 
 
 

      
BOARD CHAIR 
North County Transit District 

CERTIFICATION  
 
I, Suheil Rodriguez, duly appointed and qualified, Clerk of the Board of the North County 
Transit District, do hereby certify that the above is a true and correct copy of a resolution 
passed and approved by the Board of Directors of the North County Transit District 
adopted at a legally convened meeting of the Board of Directors of the North County 
Transit District held on the 26th day of June 2025. 
 
 

      
CLERK OF THE BOARD  
North County Transit District  



 

 
Page 2 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-04 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE  
NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT APPROVING MODIFICATIONS TO  

BOARD POLICY NO. 24 - EMPLOYEE DRUG AND ALCOHOL POLICY   
 

Exhibit A (on following page) 
 



 

 
Board Policy No. 24 
Employee Drug and Alcohol/Drug-Free Workplace Policy 
 

Page 1 of 17 

ATTACHMENT 13B 

Summary 
 
This policy applies to employees of the North County Transit District (NCTD, District), who are 
covered under U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) regulations based upon the nature of 
their job duties. Terms that are applicable per DOT regulations are identified in regular typeface, 
and terms that are applicable based on NCTD (non-DOT) authority are identified in italic typeface. 
Upon adoption by the Board, this policy supersedes the Drug & Alcohol Policy of October 20, 
2022 June 26, 2025October 17, 2024 and all other prior-adopted Drug & Alcohol policies. 
 
NCTD is a drug-free workplace in accordance with , Drug-Free Workplace statutory requirements 
(41 U.S.C. sections 8101, et seq.), as promulgated under 49 CFR Part 32.  
 
Purposes 
 

A. To maintain a safe and efficient public transportation system; 

B. To maintain a safe, healthy working environment for all employees; 

C. To reduce the incidence of accidental injury to person or property; 

D. To reduce absenteeism, tardiness and indifferent job performance; 

E. To maintain a work environment free of alcohol and drug related performance problems, 
accidents and injuries; and 

F. To comply with the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) regulations on prevention of 
alcohol misuse and prohibited drug use in transit operations (49 C.F.R. Part 655) and on 
procedures for transportation workplace drug and alcohol testing programs (49 C.F.R. Part 
40). 

 
Drug-Free Workplace 
 
The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of a controlled substance 
is prohibited while on NCTD business or on NCTD premises, property or vehicles. Further, no 
employee shall bring drug paraphernalia onto NCTD premises or property or into NCTD vehicles. 
All employees must abide by this policy statement as a condition of employment. Violation of 
these rules will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination; termination is likely 
for any violation, even a first offense. 

Under the Federal Drug Free Workplace Act, all employees are required to notify the Human 
Resources department in writing immediately, but in any event within five (5) calendar days, after 
they have been convicted of violating a criminal drug statute that occurred in the workplace or 
while working. Any employee who fails to provide such notification shall be subject to termination 
of employment under NCTD authority. 

1.1 Pursuant to 49 CFR Part 32.225, NCTD is responsible to notify the appropriate Federal 

agencies if an employee  who is engaged in the performance of an award informed NCTD 

about a conviction, or if NCTD otherwise learns of this conviction. “Award” means an 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 2 of 17 

award of financial assistance by the DOT or other Federal agency directly to a recipient 

such as NCTD. NCTD must notify every Federal agency on whose award the convicted 

employee was working. The notice must be in writing, include the employee’s position title 

and employee identification number(s) of each affected award, and must be sent within 

10 (ten) calendar days to the affected Federal agencies after NCTD has learned of a 

conviction.  It must be sent to every awarding official or  designee unless the Federal 

agency has specified a central point for the receipt of the notice. Within 30 (thirty) calendar 

days of learning about the employee’s conviction, NCTD must take appropriate personnel 

action against the employee, up to and including termination. 

 
Application of Policy 
 
This policy applies to employees of the NCTD who work in the titles listed in Appendix A and/or 
perform safety-sensitive functions as defined below. 
 
Some of the drug and alcohol testing and procedures required in this policy are mandated by FTA 
regulations preventing prohibited drug use and alcohol misuse in transit operations (49 C.F.R. 
Part 655). The drug testing and alcohol testing mandated by FTA (49 C.F.R. Part 40) is applicable 
to “safety-sensitive employees” of the District, which includes those who: 
 

A. Operate revenue service vehicles, including when such vehicles are not in revenue 
service; 

B. Operate a non-revenue service vehicle, when such vehicle is required to be operated by 
a holder of a Commercial Driver’s License; 

C. Control dispatch or movement of a revenue service vehicle; 

D. Maintain a revenue service vehicle or equipment used in revenue service; 

E. Security personnel who carry firearms; 

 
The District has reviewed the actual duties performed by employees.  The positions listed in 
Appendix A have been determined to require the performance of safety-sensitive duties as 
defined above. 
 
The District does not employ volunteers to conduct safety-sensitive duties. 
 
Illegal Drugs, Legal Drugs, and Alcohol 
 

A. Illegal Drugs 
 
Illegal drug means any drug (a) which is not legally obtainable or (b) which is legally obtainable 
but has not been legally obtained. The term includes marijuana, cocaine, opiates (codeine, 
morphine, heroin), phencyclidine (PCP), amphetamines (amphetamine, methamphetamine, 
MDMA, MDA), and semi-synthetic opioids (hydrocodone, oxycodone, hydromorphone, 
oxymorphone). Regardless of any State laws protecting the medicinal or recreational use of 
marijuana, federal regulations forbid its use by safety-sensitive employees. Employees are 
prohibited from using the six listed drugs at all times, and covered employee may be tested for 
these drugs any time while on duty as discussed below. The term “illegal drugs” also includes 
prescribed drugs not legally obtained, or prescribed drugs not being used for prescribed purposes. 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 3 of 17 

 
B. Legal Drugs 

 
The use of legal drugs at a level, or in a manner, combination or quantity which impedes an 
employee’s ability to perform his job is prohibited and will lead to disciplinary action, up to and 
including termination. District policy (not FTA regulations) also deems failure to report the use of 
legal drugs per the procedure described below as a violation of this policy that will result in 
discipline up to and including termination of employment. 
 
It is the employee’s responsibility to ensure that any legal drug(s) they are taking allow them to 
safely perform their duties. Employees have an affirmative obligation to discuss any potential 
impact a prescription drug may have upon their ability to perform their job duties with their 
physician.  If the physician feels a potential impact may exist, the employee must report any such 
prescribed drug or medication, using the “Prescription Drug Notification Form”, to the Director of 
Human Resources, to a member of the Human Resources Departmentthe Chief People Officer 
or Designee so that a determination can be made as to the ability of the employee to perform 
his/her particular job safely while using that drug or combination of drugs. If the District has 
determined that the employee does not pose a threat to his or her own safety, public safety, or 
the safety of coworkers, and that the employee’s job performance will not be significantly affected 
by the legal drug, the employee may continue to work while taking that particular legal drug. Any 
employee using a prescription legal drug must provide the prescription to the designated District 
medical facility Medical Review Officer as soon as possible (but in any case, within 24 business 
hours) after notification by District management or its physicians. 
 

C. Alcohol 
 
No employee shall consume alcoholic beverages in District vehicles, within four hours before 
performing safety-sensitive functions, or while in uniform. An employee shall not allow an open 
container of alcohol or an illegal drug to be placed or carried in an NCTD vehicle or in any vehicle 
over which an employee has control while conducting NCTD business. NCTD prohibits the 
consumption of alcohol by employees while conducting NCTD business, whether or not such 
consumption will cause the employee to be considered under the influence of alcohol. Violation 
of these rules will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination, even for a first 
offense. 
 
No employee who is on-call and therefore subject to being called in to work shall consume alcohol 
within four hours of or during those on-call hours. In the event such an employee is called and 
must report for duty, the employee has the opportunity to acknowledge that he/she has used 
alcohol and therefore is not able to perform his/her safety-sensitive function. In such a case, that 
employee shall not be required to perform work, but may be disciplined for the use of alcohol 
during on-call hours based on District policy (not FTA regulations). FTA regulations mandate that 
employees with a breath-alcohol concentration between 0.02 percent and 0.039 percent not be 
allowed to perform any safety-sensitive function until the start of the employee’s next regularly 
scheduled duty period that is at least eight hours following the administration of the alcohol test. 
FTA regulations also mandate that employees with a breath-alcohol concentration of 0.04 or 
greater not be allowed to perform any safety-sensitive function and follow additional steps before 
a return to duty as described below for a positive test. The District policy is that any employee 
who is tested for alcohol and has a breath-alcohol content of 0.02 percent or greater will be 
terminated, even for a first offense. 
 
 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 4 of 17 

Prohibition Against Employees Having Illegal Drugs or Alcohol in their Bodies During Working 
Time 
 
All employees must report for work with no illegal drugs or their metabolites or alcohol in their 
bodies. Employees must not have illegal drugs or their metabolites or alcohol in their bodies at 
any time while on the job and employees may be tested for the presence of drugs and/or alcohol 
at any time while on duty or at a District facility, under the circumstances described below. Alcohol 
tests on safety-sensitive employees who are performing, are about to perform or who have just 
completed performing safety-sensitive duties are FTA-mandated tests when they are based on 
reasonable suspicion, post-accident or random (as described below); all other alcohol tests are 
required by NCTD policy. Drug tests on safety-sensitive employees are FTA-mandated tests 
when they are pre-employment (including assuming safety-sensitive duties), based on 
reasonable suspicion, post-accident, follow-up or random (as described below); all other drug 
tests are required by NCTD policy. FTA regulations prohibit safety-sensitive employees from 
using alcohol within four hours prior to their shift or while on call, and from having a breath-alcohol 
concentration of 0.02 or higher while performing safety-sensitive duties. District policy likewise 
prohibits employees from having a breath-alcohol concentration while on duty of 0.02 percent or 
higher. Any employee with a breath-alcohol concentration of 0.02 percent or higher will be 
terminated. Compliance with these rules is considered an essential job qualification for all 
employees. Termination of employment will occur for a violation of any of these rules, even 
for a first offense. This is a zero-tolerance policy. No employee who violates this policy will 
be given a second chance. 
 
Enforcement of Rule Prohibiting Employees from Having Illegal Drugs or Alcohol in their Bodies 
During Working Time 
 

A. Pre-employment Drug Testing 

Individuals who are applying for safety-sensitive positions are subject to an FTA pre-employment 
drug test. All drug tests will be administered by a medical facility designated by the District. If the 
drug test is cancelled by the Medical Review Officer (MRO), the applicant must retake and pass 
the drug test before being hired. The District extends conditional offers of employment to 
successful candidate's contingent on their passing a pre-employment drug test; any prospective 
employee refusing to submit to the drug test will not be hired by the District. A covered employee 
or applicant, who has not performed a safety-sensitive function for ninety (90) consecutive 
calendar days regardless of the reason and has not been in the District’s random selection pool, 
shall take a pre-employment drug test with a verified negative result before being permitted to 
perform any safety-sensitive duties.  

Any prospective employee with a positive drug test will be rejected from further consideration for 
employment with the District. Further, any applicant or employee who has previously failed or 
refused a drug test must provide proof to the District, prior to being considered for employment, 
that he/she has successfully completed a referral, evaluation and substance abuse treatment plan 
compliant with the requirements in 49 CFR Parts 40 and 655. The District will provide each 
applicant or employee who fails a drug test with a list of names, addresses and telephone 
numbers of locally available Substance Abuse Professionals (SAPs) qualified under 49 CFR Part 
40 requirements. District policy, not FTA regulations, requires that all fees, other than the cost of 
the drug test itself, including but not limited to referral, counseling and treatment fees will be paid 
by the candidate/employee. 
 
 
  



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 5 of 17 

B. Reasonable Suspicion Alcohol and Drug Testing 
 
Employees who work in safety-sensitive positions are subject to an FTA alcohol test and drug 
test. Reasonable suspicion testing will be based on specific, contemporaneous, articulable 
observations concerning the appearance, behavior, speech or body odors of an employee. One 
or more supervisors or District officials trained in detecting the signs and symptoms of drug use 
and alcohol misuse must make the required observations. For FTA reasonable suspicion alcohol 
tests, the alcohol testing authorized in this section (and the observations required by the 
supervisors or District officials referred to above) must occur during, just before or just after the 
performance of safety sensitive job functions. Observations leading to FTA drug tests may occur 
any time a safety-sensitive employee is on duty. 

FTA regulations require that any employee with a positive drug test or an alcohol concentration 
measure of 0.02 percent or higher be immediately removed from service, and that an employee 
with an alcohol concentration measure of 0.02 to 0.039 percent will, at a minimum, not be allowed 
to perform a safety-sensitive function until the start of the employee’s next regularly scheduled 
duty period that is at least eight hours following the administration of the alcohol test. 

Any employee with a positive drug test or having a breath alcohol concentration measure of 0.02 
percent or higher will be terminated from employment with the District.  Any employee who has a 
positive FTA drug test or an alcohol concentration measure of 0.04 percent or higher on an FTA-
mandated alcohol test will be referred to the SAP for evaluation in accordance with 49 CFR Part 
40. District policy, not FTA regulations, requires that all costs, other than the cost of the drug test 
itself, including but not limited to, referral, counseling and treatment fees will be paid by the 
candidate/employee. 

Refusal to submit to any testing required by this section will be sufficient grounds for termination 
and will result in the employee being relieved of his or her duties immediately. 
 

C. Post-Accident Alcohol and Drug Testing 
 
FTA regulations require drug and alcohol testing following certain accidents. In addition, the 
District requires post-accident testing for accidents in circumstances when such testing is not 
required by the FTA. The following guidelines describe when a test is required by the FTA versus 
when the test is required by District policy. Employees will be informed whether the test is an FTA 
test or a District test. District tests will not be conducted using FTA testing forms. 
 

1. FTA Definition of “Accident”:  An accident, as defined by the FTA, is an occurrence 
associated with the operation of a vehicle, if as a result: 

a) An individual dies; or 

b) An individual suffers a bodily injury and immediately receives medical treatment 
away from the scene of the accident; or 

c) With respect to an occurrence in which the public transportation vehicle involved 
is a bus, van or automobile, one or more vehicles (including non-FTA funded 
vehicles) incurs disabling damage as a result of the occurrence and such vehicle 
or vehicles are transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other vehicle.  
In the case of a rail vehicle, disabling damage means that the vehicle must be 
removed from operation. 

  



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 6 of 17 

d) Disabling damage means damage that precludes departure of a motor vehicle from 
the scene of the accident in its usual manner in daylight after simple repairs. 
Disabling damage includes damage to a motor vehicle, where the vehicle could 
have been driven, but would have been further damaged if so driven. Disabling 
damage does not include damage that can be remedied temporarily at the scene 
of the accident without special tools or parts, tire disablement without other 
damage even if no spare tire is available or damage to headlights, tail lights, turn 
signals, horns, or windshield wipers that makes the vehicle inoperative. 

2. Fatal Accidents.  As soon as practicable following an accident involving the loss of 
human life, each surviving employee operating the public transportation vehicle at the 
time of the accident shall submit to an alcohol test and a drug test. Further, any other 
employee whose performance could have contributed to the accident (e.g., a 
mechanic in the case of brake failure causing the accident), as determined by the 
District using the best information available at the time of the decision, shall also be 
required to submit to an alcohol test and a drug-screen test. 

3. Non-fatal Accidents.  As soon as practicable following an accident not involving the 
loss of human life, each employee operating the public transportation vehicle (as 
defined above in item 4.F.1. – FTA Definition of “Accident”) at the time of the accident 
shall submit to an alcohol test and a drug-screen test, unless District management 
determines, using the best information available at the time of the decision, that the 
employee’s performance can be completely discounted as a contributing factor to the 
accident. In addition, any employee whose performance could have contributed to the 
accident, as determined by the District, using the best information available at the time 
of the decision, will be required to submit to an alcohol test and a drug-screen test. 

4. District Definition of “Accident”.  The District adheres to the same definition of an 
accident as the FTA definition above at 4.F.1., which extends application to any District 
vehicle, including non-revenue vehicles.  All employees involved in an accident in as 
defined in 4.F.1 will be subject to a post-accident drug and alcohol test.  The 
procedures and rules outlined in this section apply uniformly regardless of whether the 
test is a District test or an FTA test; however, the District sets the procedures for its 
own testing based on its own authority, not FTA authority. 

5. Post-Accident Testing Procedures. 

a) Any employee involved in an accident is prohibited from using alcohol for eight 
(8) hours following the accident or until he or she undergoes a post-accident 
alcohol test and drug test. Any employee involved in an accident who fails to 
remain readily available for the testing required by this section, including 
notifying District officials of his or her location if he or she leaves the scene of 
the accident prior to submission to such tests, will be deemed to have refused 
to submit to testing. 

b) Post-accident testing will occur after the employee assists in resolution of the 
accident or receives medical attention following the accident. The District will 
complete the post-accident drug testing as soon as possible, and such testing 
will occur no later than thirty-two (32) hours after the accident. The District will 
attempt to complete the post-accident alcohol testing within two (2) hours of 
the accident. If the testing is not completed within two (2) hours, the District will 
continue to attempt to complete the test and will prepare a report explaining 
why the breath specimen was not collected within two (2) hours. If the alcohol 
test is not completed within eight (8) hours of the accident, the District shall 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 7 of 17 

cease attempts to complete the test and update the report as to why the test 
was not completed. 

c) Refusal to submit to a test required by this section will be sufficient grounds for 
termination and will result in the employee being relieved of his or her duties 
immediately. Based on FTA regulations, any employee with a positive drug 
test or having an alcohol concentration measure of 0.02 percent or higher will 
be immediately removed from service. Based on District policy, any employee 
with a positive drug test and/or an alcohol concentration measure of 0.02 
percent or higher will be terminated from employment with the District. 

d) Any employee who has a positive FTA drug test or an alcohol concentration 
measure of 0.04 percent or higher on an FTA-mandated alcohol test will be 
referred to the SAP for evaluation in accordance with 49 C.F.R. Part 40. District 
policy, not FTA regulations, requires that all costs, other than the cost of the 
drug test itself, including but not limited to referral, counseling and treatment 
fees will be paid by the employee/former employee 

 
D. Random Alcohol Testing and Drug Testing 

 
All safety-sensitive employees as identified in Appendix A will be subject to unannounced, 
random alcohol testing and random drug testing in accordance with 49 CFR Part 655. The 
selection of employees for random alcohol testing and random drug testing shall be made 
randomly by the District. The selection of employees for random alcohol testing and random drug 
testing shall be by a scientifically valid method, such as a random number table or a computer-
based random number generator.  Each employee will have an equal chance of being tested 
each time selections are made. These tests will not be announced in advance and will be 
administered on all days and at during all work hours throughout the year. The minimum testing 
requirement effective January 1, 2022 is to annually perform drug tests on fifty (50) percent and 
alcohol tests on ten (10) percent of the safety-sensitive employees. The District’s Drug and 
Alcohol Program Manager (DAPM) will adjust the number of tests as needed to ensure the District 
conducts no fewer than the FTA-mandated number of tests. 
 
Each employee selected for random alcohol testing and/or random drug testing must proceed to 
the test site immediately. Refusal to submit to such testing will be deemed a positive and be 
sufficient grounds for termination and will result in the employee being relieved of his or her duties 
immediately. Based on FTA regulations, any employee failing a drug test or having an alcohol 
concentration measure of 0.02 percent or higher will be immediately removed from service. Based 
on District policy, any employee with a positive drug test and/or an alcohol concentration measure 
of 0.02 percent or higher will be terminated from employment with the District. Any employee who 
has a positive FTA drug test or a finding of an alcohol concentration measure of 0.04 percent or 
higher on an FTA-mandated alcohol test will be referred to the SAP for evaluation in accordance 
with 49 CFR Part 40. District policy, not FTA regulations, requires that all costs, other than the 
cost of the drug test itself, including but not limited to referral, counseling and treatment fees will 
be paid by the employee/former employee. 
 
Random alcohol testing is only permissible just before an employee performs safety-sensitive 
duties, during that performance, and just after an employee has performed covered duties. 
 
  



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 8 of 17 

E. Drug Testing for Employees Assuming Safety-Sensitive Duties 
 
Any employee who accepts a position with the District involving safety-sensitive duties, who has 
previously been engaged in non-safety-sensitive duties, will be required to submit to and pass a 
pre-employment drug test prior to assumption of the safety-sensitive duties. In addition, any 
employee who has not performed a safety-sensitive function for ninety (90) consecutive calendar 
days regardless of the reason, and where that employee has not been in the District’s random 
drug testing selection pool during that time, shall be required to take a pre-employment drug test 
in accordance with Section A (Pre-Employment Drug Testing) above, with a verified negative 
result before returning to duty. 
 
If the drug test is cancelled by the MRO, the employee must retake and pass the test before 
assuming safety-sensitive duties. Refusal to submit to such testing will be deemed a positive and 
are sufficient grounds for termination of employment. Any employee with a positive drug test 
result will be immediately removed from service. Further, having a positive drug test result will 
subject the employee to termination from employment with the District. Any employee who has a 
positive FTA drug test will be referred to the SAP for evaluation in accordance with 49 CFR Part 
40. District policy, not FTA regulations, requires that all costs, other than the cost of the drug test 
itself, including but not limited to referral, counseling and treatment fees will be paid by the 
employee/former employee. 
 

F. Reasonable Cause Testing – NCTD Authority – NON-DOT 
 

 

Under NCTD authority, NCTD may require any employee to submit to drug and alcohol testing 
whenever a determination is made that “Cause” exists.  Any tests done under NCTD authority 
shall be non-DOT tests and shall be conducted accordingly. 
 
In addition to the Reasonable Suspicion testing described in Section B above, the following 
circumstances constitute “Cause” for the administration of drug and/or alcohol testing:  

 

1. Safety Critical Violation: ALL FTA Regulated Employees 

• An employee directly involved in a safety critical rule or whose performance 
resulted in a violation that could possess an immediate threat to the safety of 
employees, passengers or the general public will be immediately taken out of 
service and required to submit to drug and/or alcohol testing. 

 
 

2. Operating Rule Violation: All FTA Regulated SPRINTER Operations Employees 

• An employee directly involved in one of the following Operating Rules 
violations will be required to submit to drug and/or alcohol testing:    

• Noncompliance with a Track Permit, Timetable, Signal Indication, Special 
instruction or other rule or procedure with respect to movement of a train. 

• Operation of a train at a speed that exceeds the maximum authorized speed 
by at least five (5) miles per hour or by 50 percent of such maximum authorized 
speed, whichever is less. 

• Failure to apply or stop short of derail as required. 
 
  



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 9 of 17 

G. Alcohol Testing and Drug Testing Following Injuries 
 
The alcohol testing and drug testing required in this section is required by the District; these are 
not FTA-mandated tests. Any employee who sustains an injury on the job may be required to 
submit to an alcohol test and a drug test as part of the physician’s examination of the employee 
for the injury, at Management’s discretion. Refusal to submit to such alcohol tests or drug tests 
will result in the employee being relieved of his or her duties immediately and will subject the 
employee to termination of employment. Any employee with a positive drug test or an alcohol 
concentration measure of 0.02 percent or higher will be terminated by the District. 
 
Falsification, Failure to Timely Arrive for Testing, and Failure to Notify 
 
Any employee who provides false information in connection with an alcohol test or drug test 
administered under this policy, or who attempts to falsify test results through tampering, 
contamination, adulteration or substitution, shall be terminated by the District. Any employee who 
fails to appear for a drug test or alcohol test within a reasonable time when required by this policy, 
or to remain at the testing site until the testing process is completed, or to cooperate fully in the 
testing process, will be deemed to have refused to be tested, and will be considered to have a 
positive test. 
 
Behavior Constituting a Refusal to Submit to a Test 
 
The behaviors listed in 49 CFR Part 40 apply to all tests administered under this policy regardless 
of if they are FTA-mandated or required by the District’s authority; however, District tests will not 
be conducted on DOT testing forms. The behaviors that constitute a refusal to submit to a drug 
and/or alcohol test are identified in 49 CFR Part 40 as amended, and below. Employees can 
obtain a current list from the DAPM. 
 

A. Refusal to Submit to Testing for Alcohol and/or Drug  
 

In accordance with 49 CFR Part 40 the following are considered a refusal to test if the employee:   
 

1. Fails to appear for any test (excluding pre-employment) within a reasonable time, as 
determined by the employer, after being directed to do so by the employer; 

2. Fails to remain at the testing site until the testing process is complete (an employee who 
leaves the testing site before the testing process commences for a pre-employment test 
is not deemed to have refused to test); 

3. Fails to provide a urine specimen or adequate amount of breath for any drug or alcohol 
test required by 49 C.F.R. Part 40 or DOT agency regulations; 

4. In the case of a directly observed or monitored collection in a drug test, fails to permit the 
observation or monitoring of provision of a specimen; 

5. For an observed collection fails to follow the observer’s instructions to raise your clothing 
above the waist, lower clothing and underpants, and to turn around to permit the observer 
to determine if you have any type of prosthetic or other device that could be used to 
interfere with the collection process; 

6. Possessing or wearing a prosthetic or other device that could be used to interfere with 
the collection process; 

7. Admitting to the collector or MRO that you adulterated or substituted the specimen; 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 10 of 17 

8. Fails to provide a sufficient amount of urine or breath when directed, and it has been 
determined, through a required medical evaluation, that there was no adequate medical 
explanation for the failure; 

9. Fails or declines to take a second test the employer or collector has directed you to take; 

10. Fails to undergo a medical examination or evaluation, as directed by the MRO as part of 
the verification process, or as directed by the DER as part of the “Shy Bladder” or “Shy 
Lung” procedures; 

11. Fails to sign the certification at Step 2 of the Alcohol Test Form; 

12. Fails to cooperate with any part of the testing process (e.g., refuses to empty pockets 
when so directed by the collector, behaves in a confrontational way that disrupts the 
collection process, fails to wash hands after being directed to do so by the collector); 

13. If the MRO confirms that you have a verified adulterated or substituted test result that test 
is considered a refusal to test. 

 
Any covered employee who refuses to submit to a drug or alcohol test will be immediately 
removed from performing any safety-sensitive function and in accordance with 49 C.F.R., Part 
40.285, and Subpart O will be referred to the District’s SAP. 
 
Procedures for Alcohol and Drug Testing 
 

A. Procedure for Alcohol Tests 
 
All FTA-mandated alcohol testing called for in this policy shall be conducted in accordance with 
49 CFR Part 40: Procedures for Transportation Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs, 
as amended. All District-mandated breath alcohol testing will follow the same procedures, but 
District-mandated tests are not required or governed by 49 C.F.R. Part 40. However, the results 
of FTA-mandated breath alcohol testing will be compiled on a DOT Alcohol Testing Form (ATF). 
The results of breath alcohol testing required by the District (and not FTA) will be on non-DOT 
testing forms. District management will inform the collection facility whether the test is an FTA or 
a District test. The alcohol testing in this policy applies regardless of whether the alcohol was 
ingested as beverage alcohol or in a medicinal or other preparation. 
 
The alcohol tests will be administered by a breath alcohol technician (BAT), using an evidential 
breath testing device (EBT). The BAT will be trained to proficiency in the operation of the EBT. 
The EBTs are subject to a quality assurance plan developed by the manufacturers of EBTs. In 
order to ensure that the test results are attributed to the correct employee, the BAT will require 
the employee to provide photo identification before tests are conducted. If the result of the alcohol 
screening test is an alcohol concentration of less than 0.02 percent, the employee will be deemed 
to have passed the FTA and District alcohol test. If the initial result of an FTA screening test is a 
breath alcohol concentration of 0.02 percent or higher, a confirmation test shall be performed 
under the FTA’s authority. If the initial result of a District screening test is a breath alcohol 
concentration of 0.02 percent or higher, a confirmation test shall be performed under the District’s 
authority. All alcohol confirmation tests shall be conducted within thirty (30) minutes of the 
completion of the screening test. 
 
  



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 11 of 17 

B. Procedure for Drug Tests 
 
All FTA-mandated drug tests called for in this policy shall be conducted in accordance with 49 
C.F.R. Part 40: Procedures for Transportation Workplace Drug and Alcohol Testing Programs, 
as amended. All District-mandated drug tests will follow the same procedures, but District-
mandated tests are not required or governed by 49 CFR Part 40. The DOT drug testing custody 
and control form will be used in connection with all FTA-mandated drug tests administered 
pursuant to this policy. The results of drug testing required by the District (and not FTA) will be 
on non-DOT testing forms. District management will inform the collection facility whether the test 
is an FTA or a District test.  
 
The drugs tested for will be marijuana metabolites, cocaine metabolites, opioids, phencyclidine, 
and amphetamines (amphetamine, methamphetamine, MDMA, MDA). When an employee 
arrives at the collection site, the collection site person shall positively identify the employee 
through the presentation of photo identification. Collection personnel will be trained to ensure 
employee privacy in providing the urine specimen. 
 
Urine specimens collected for drug testing will be split into two (2) containers at the collection site. 
Collection site personnel will be trained to maintain the integrity of the specimen collection and 
transfer process. In order to maintain the integrity of the urine specimen, the specimen shall 
remain under the direct control of the collection site person from delivery to its being sealed in the 
mailer to the laboratory conducting the testing on the urine specimen. A tamper-proof sealing 
system will be utilized to ensure against undetected opening. The specimen bottle shall be 
identified with a unique identifying number identical to that appearing on the urine custody and 
control form. 
 
Transfer of urine specimens will be accomplished through appropriate chain of custody 
procedures. The forms accompanying the specimens will have unique preprinted specimen ID 
numbers and the employee will sign or initial certifying that the specimen was taken from that 
employee. All drug tests that are positive will be retested in a confirmation test prior to the 
laboratory specifying a positive result on a drug test. All drug testing done under this policy will 
be done by a laboratory that has been certified by the federal Department of Health and Human 
Services (DHHS). The District’s current DHHS-certified laboratory is Pacific Toxicology and Quest 
Diagnostics, Inc. for out-of-town testing.  All confirmatory tests will be performed using CC/MS 
techniques.  
 
There are federally mandated cut-off limits for the minimum quantity of drug that must be detected 
for a positive test on the initial and confirming test. The current cut-off limits are as specified in 49 
CFR 40.87.  
 
In order to protect the District’s employees and the integrity of the drug screen testing process, 
the District has retained the services of an MRO. The District’s MRO is Dr. Kirk A. Roberts, M.D., 
of Cynergy Wellness. Dr. Weinstein’s Robert’s phone number is 844-730-7996. The MRO is a 
licensed physician with knowledge of drug abuse disorders. If the laboratory results are confirmed 
positive, the MRO will interview the employee and review all information provided by the employee 
to determine whether the results are indicative of illegal or illicit drug use. If the employee provides 
an adequate explanation, the MRO will verify the test results as negative with the Drug and 
Alcohol Program Manager and take no further action. If the test result of the primary specimen is 
positive, the employee may request that the MRO direct that the second split specimen be tested 
in a different DHHS laboratory. District policy requires that employees bear all expenses related 
to verification tests they request. 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 12 of 17 

The MRO shall honor such request if it is made within seventy-two (72) hours of the employee 
having been notified of a verified positive test. If an employee has not contacted the MRO within 
seventy-two (72) hours, the employee may present to the MRO information documenting that 
serious illness, injury, inability to contact the MRO, lack of actual notice of the verified positive 
test, or other circumstances unavoidably prevented the employee from timely contacting the 
MRO. If the MRO concludes that there is a legitimate explanation for the employee’s failure to 
contact the MRO within seventy-two (72) hours, the MRO shall direct that analysis of the split 
specimen be performed. The results of the test at the second DHHS-approved laboratory will be 
forwarded to the MRO. If the results of the second test fail to confirm the presence of the drugs 
or drug metabolites found in the primary specimen, the MRO shall cancel the test. 
 
If the MRO advises the District that the result of the drug test was negative, but that the test was 
diluted because the specimen contained a creatinine concentration greater than or equal to two 
(2) mg/dL, but less than or equal to five (5) mg/dL, the employee will be required to take another 
drug screen test immediately; the new test will be an observed collection. In this circumstance, 
the employee will be given as little advance notice as possible that he or she must return to the 
collection site. The test result from this test will be used to determine if the employee passes the 
drug test. 
 
If the MRO advises the District that the result of the drug test was negative, but that the test was 
diluted and the specimen contained a creatinine concentration greater than five (5) mg/dL, the 
employee will be required to take another drug screen test immediately; the new test will not be 
an observed collection. In this circumstance, the employee will be given as little advance notice 
as possible that he or she must return to the collection site. The test result from this test will be 
used to determine if the employee passes the drug test. 
 
The drug testing laboratory shall report test results to the MRO in writing, identifying the results 
of the test. The MRO will report to the DAPM whether the test is positive or negative, and will 
report the drug for which there was a positive test, but shall not disclose the quantitation of the 
test results (except in the case of a grievance, lawsuit, or other proceeding or inquiry initiated by 
the employee arising out of the verified positive drug test). All records pertaining to urine 
specimens shall be retained by the drug testing laboratory for a minimum of two (2) years. The 
drug testing laboratory shall retain all urine specimens confirmed as positive and place them into 
properly secured long-term frozen storage for a minimum of one (1) year. 
 
NCTD policy, not FTA regulations, requires that employees who are waiting to provide a breath 
or urine sample refrain from using electronic devices such as laptops, cell phones, iPads, and 
PDAs. Employees violating this rule will be suspended without pay for a minimum of one day. 
 
Miscellaneous Information Regarding this Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

A. Contact Person – Drug and Alcohol Program Manager (DAPM).  See Appendix A. 

B. Training 

The District provides training for all its supervisors in order for them to be able to make a 
determination of whether reasonable suspicion exists for an employee to be required to 
submit to reasonable suspicion alcohol testing and drug testing. This training includes a 
minimum of sixty (60) minutes of supervisor training on the effects of drug use and sixty 
(60) minutes of supervisor training on the effects of alcohol use and this policy. Training 
of newly promoted or hired supervisors will occur before they assume supervisory duties 
(unless they are under the direct supervision of a trained supervisor or manager). 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 13 of 17 

C. Notice of Certain Requirements in Addition to FTA-Mandated Requirements  

The policy is designed in part to comply with FTA regulations on prevention of prohibited 
drug use and alcohol misuse in transit operations, 49 CFR Part 655. However, NCTD has 
added certain additional requirements to this policy, including the following: 

1. The District requires post-accident alcohol and drug testing in cases where such 
testing is not required by the FTA. The FTA regulations limit the circumstances 
under which post-accident alcohol and drug testing will occur, as set forth in 
Section 5 (Post-Accident Testing) The District requires post-accident alcohol and 
drug testing using a much broader definition of accident. 

2. The District requires alcohol testing and drug testing following work injuries (if 
deemed necessary) as a result of an incident or unsafe action that had a direct 
result in causing the injury, which is not required by FTA regulations. 

3. This policy requires employees using prescription drugs, as defined under Illegal 
Drugs, Legal Drugs, and Alcohol, Section B in this policy, to report the prescription 
to the Drug and Alcohol Program Manager by using the “Prescription Drug 
Notification Form”. 

4. This policy sets forth the disciplinary action for violations of the policy, which is a 
District decision, and is not part of the FTA regulations. 

5. This policy requires that all costs of drug treatment and/or SAP evaluation be paid 
by the employee or former employee. This is a District decision, not an FTA 
requirement. 

D.  Substance Abuse Professional 

The District has secured the services of an SAP as noted in Appendix A. 

E.  Right to Examine Records 

Every employee has the right to review his/her drug and alcohol testing records (except 
SAP determined DOT follow-up testing plans), provide information to dispute the results 
of a drug or alcohol test and, upon written request, to obtain copies of any records 
pertaining to his or her drug and alcohol tests, including records pertaining to equipment 
calibration and laboratory certifications. 

 
F.  Reporting Alcohol/Drug Related Motor Vehicle Actions 

Employees must report any of the following alcohol/drug-related motor vehicle actions to 
the DER/DAPM within 48 hours:  

- DUI charge 
- Driver’s License cancellation 
- Driver’s License suspension 
- Conviction for DUI or any other related offense (i.e., reckless driving, “wet and 

reckless,” etc.) 
- Denial of Driver License issuance / renewal  

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 14 of 17 

 
Approvals 
 
 
 
 
     
Board Chair 

 
 
 
   
Date 

 
 
 
     
Chief Executive OfficerDirector 

 
 
 
   
Date 

 
 
 
     
Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer/Chief General Counsel 

 
 
 
   
Date 

 
  



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 15 of 17 

 
 
 
 
 

DATE REVISION NO. RESOLUTION NO. COMMENTS 

10/18/2012 ADOPTED 12-10  

10/17/2013 1 13-07 2013 REVISION 

10/16/2014 3 14-04 2014 REVISION 

11/19/2015 4 15-08 2015 REVISION 

10/20/2016 5 16-10 2016 REVISION 

01/19/2017 6 17-01 2017 REVISION 

10/19/2017 7 17-10 2017 REVISION 

12/21/2017 8 17-14 FTA DRUG SCHEDULE UPDATE. 

10/18/2018 9 18-09 
2018 REVISION; ADDRESSES FTA 49 CFR 

655.45 REVISION EFFECTIVE 01/01/2019 

10/17/2019 10 19-06 SECTION NO. 1 OF APPENDIX A UPDATED. 

6/18/2020 11 20-06 
SECTION NO. 1 AND 3 OF APPENDIX A 

UPDATED 

10/15/2020 12 20-08 
STRUCTURE OF POLICY UPDATED FOR 

BETTER FLOW OF INFORMATION. 

10/21/2021 13 21-05 2021 REVISION 

05/19/2022 14 22-07 
2022 REVISION; ADDS FTA SAFETY 

SENSITIVE POSITIONS 

10/20/2022 15 22-18 2022 REVISION 

10/19/2023 16 23-06 
2023 REVISION; ADDED REASONABLE 

CAUSE TESTING  

10/17/2024 17 24-08 

2024 REVISION: ADDED SECTION F IN 

MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATION 

ADDED NEW DAPM 

6/26/2025 18 25-XX04 
REVISION DUE TO ADDITION OF POSITIONS 

FOR BUS TRANSITION 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 16 of 17 

 
 
 
Appendix A 

 
1. DOT Safety-Sensitive Positions (effective June 2625, 20225):  

• SPRINTER Train Attendant 

• SPRINTER Train Operator 

• SPRINTER Maintenance Technician 

• SPRINTER Maintenance of Equipment Supervisor 

• SPRINTER Maintenance of Equipment Manager 

• SPRINTER Operations Supervisor 

• Bus Operations Manager  

• Road Supervisor/Dispatcher  

• Coach Operator  

• Demand Response Dispatcher  

 Paratransit Scheduler  

• Demand Response Driver  

• OCC Traffic Controller 

 Eligibility and Administrative Coordinator 

 Reservationist  

• Senior Operations Instructor, Bus  

• Operations Instructor, Bus  

• Maintenance Supervisor 

• Maintenance Manager  

• Auto Technician II 

• Auto Technician IIl 

• Body Technician III 

• Electronics Technician  

• Bus Servicer  

• Operations Supervisor, On-Demand Services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Board Policy No. 24 – Employee Drug and Alcohol Policy 
 

Page 17 of 17 

 
 

 
2. DAPM Contact Information 

Any employees having questions about the District’s Drug and Alcohol Policy should 
contact one of the following individuals: 

 
 

Albert Aguero 
Program Administrator – Drug & Alcohol 
760-435-9158 
 
 
 
Jesus Garcia 
Human Resources Business Partner 
760-967-2824 
 
Celeste Leichliter 
Human Resources Business Partner 
760-967-2815 
 
Karen TucholskiJoy Freeman 
Chief Safety and Security People Officer 
760-966-6574 435-9167 

 
3. SAP Provider Information 

 
American Substance Abuse Professionals (ASAP) 
10151 York Road, Suite 120 
Cockeysville, MS 21030 
(888)792-2727 
 

 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-014 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

14 

 

CONDUCT PUBLIC HEARING AND ADOPT THE FY2026 OPERATING 
BUDGET AND FY2026-FY2030 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM 
AND RELATED DOCUMENTS AND APPROVE THE FY2026–FY2030 
SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☒ Consent:  ☐ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Following receipt and consideration of public comment, Staff recommends that 
the North County Transit District’s Board of Directors: 

• Close the Public Hearing on the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget 
and FY2026–2030 Capital Improvement Program; and 

• That the Board take the following actions related to the Budget: 

o Adopt the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026–2030 
Capital Improvement Program; 

o Approve the Proposed FY2026 Employee Classification and 
Compensation Schedule; 

o Approve the Proposed FY2026 Cost Recovery Fee Schedule; and 

o Approve the Proposed FY2026–FY2030 Service Implementation 
Plan 

BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

The North County Transit District’s (NCTD/District) Board of Directors’ (Board) 
Policy No. 17 – Budget Development (Board Policy No. 17) guides the 
development and implementation of the District’s annual operating budget and 
capital improvement program. The Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and 
FY2026–2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) (collectively, the FY2026 
Proposed Budget) have been developed under Board Policy No. 17 guidelines, 
in compliance with all regulatory requirements, and represent a balanced budget 
in FY2026. 

Key Milestones 

The following key milestones have been completed in support of the overall 
development of the FY2026 Proposed Budget: 
 

• On January 23, 2025 (Agenda Item No. 13), the Board approved the 
proposed FY2026–FY2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) based on 
estimated federal and non-federal funding levels at that time and the 
projects were programmed in the 2025 Regional Transportation 
Improvement Program (RTIP); 

• On March 20, 2025 (Agenda Item No. 15), the Board waived the 
provisions of Board Policy No. 3 – Committees and External Appointments 
and Board Policy No. 17 – Budget Development, that require that the 
Performance, Administration and Finance (PAF) Committee to review and 
advance the annual budget to the full Board; 

• On March 24, 2025, the Marketing, Service Planning, and Business 
Development (MSPBD) Committee received the FY2026 Service 
Implementation Plan (SIP) key assumptions; 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-014 

 
• On April 17, 2025, the Board authorized staff to publish a public notice no 

later than May 26, 2025, related to the consideration and adoption of the 
capital and operating budget, and to release the budget documents for 
public review and comment no later than June 10, 2025; 

• On April 17, 2025, the Board set a public hearing for June 26, 2025, to 
consider adoption of the FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026–FY2030 
Capital Improvement Program; 

• On April 30, 2025, the Clerk of the Board published notice of the Public 
Hearing, including the date the documents would be made available for 
public review and comment; 

• On May 15, 2025 (Agenda Item No. 8), the Board received an update 
regarding the development of the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget 
and revisions to the FY2026–FY2030 CIP; 

• On June 10, 2025, NCTD posted the budget document for public review 
and comment at the following locations: NCTD’s General Administrative 
Offices (GAO), 810 Mission Avenue, Oceanside, CA; Customer Service 
Offices at Oceanside, Escondido, and Vista Transit Centers, and on 
NCTD’s website at: GoNCTD.com/about-nctd/accountability/. To date, 
NCTD has received no public comments. 

Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026–FY2030 Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) 

The Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget is submitted at $178,805,577, a 
reduction of $9,353,196 (4.97%) from the FY2025 Operating Budget. Line items 
were revised from the draft presented at the May 15, 2025 Board meeting 
(Agenda Item No. 8); however, the total FY2026 Proposed Operating Budget 
remains balanced at $178,805,577. 

The constrained FY2026–FY2030 CIP totals $106,229,695, of which  
$86,096,889 million is programmed for FY2026 (an increase of  $6,898,000 from 
the May 15, 2025 Board meeting). Prior years’ capital funding carryovers in the 
amout of  $7,918,706 will be utilized for the FY2026 CIP. 

Attachment 14A summarizes the proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and 
Attachment 14B provides the proposed FY2026–FY2030 Constrained CIP. The 
complete budget document is in Attachment 14C. 

Proposed FY2026-FY2030 Service Implementation Plan (SIP) 

The SIP outlines the District’s plans to provide multimodal transit services over 
the next five years. The SIP is a requirement under the Master Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with the San Diego Association of Governments 
(SANDAG) and is used to inform NCTD’s annual operating budget. 

The SIP development process consists of the compilation and review of historic 
service levels, ridership, and studies that outline capital and operating 
investments for the District. Planning coordinates with Finance, Bus Operations, 
and Rail Operations to review and develop the assumptions. NCTD uses 
conservative estimates to forecast ridership. The conservative projection is 
consistent with Board Policy No. 17 – Budget Development, which requires staff 
to conservatively estimate revenues and expenses. Finance staff calculates the 

https://www.gonctd.com/about-nctd/accountability/


June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-014 

cost associated with the proposed services; the costs are then included in the 
proposed NCTD annual operating budget for Board approval. 
 
Details of the 5-Year SIP and FY2026 service levels are included as Attachment 
14G to this staff report.  

Proposed FY2026 Cost Recovery Fee Schedule 

The Cost Recovery Fee Schedule is approved annually by the Board with the 
operating budget. NCTD Board Policy No. 11 – Real Estate, indicates that 
incidental use of real property, including right-of-way permitting, shall be at fair 
market value and/or charged the appropriate fees as approved by the Board 
through the District fee schedule established annually with the budget.  

The proposed Cost Recovery Fee Schedule is included as attachment 14F to this 
staff report and will be effective on July 1, 2025. 

Proposed Employee Classification and Compensation Schedule 

The Employee Classification and Compensation Schedules for FY2026 are 
included as attachments 14D and 14E to this staff report. The schedules have 
been separated between Represented and Non-Represented employee positions 
for ease of administrative management.   

Staff Recommendation: 

Following receipt and consideration of public comment, Staff further recommends 
that the NCTD Board of Directors: 
 

• Close the Public Hearing on the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget 
and FY2026–2030 Capital Improvement Program; and 

• That the Board take the following actions: 

o Adopt the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026–2030 
Capital Improvement Program; 

o Approve the Proposed FY2026 Employee Classification and 
Compensation Schedules; 

o Approve the Proposed FY2026 Cost Recovery Fee Schedule; and 

o Approve the Proposed FY2026–FY2030 Service Implementation 
Plan 

ATTACHMENT: Documents in support of the staff recommendation are available at the following 
web link: https://www.gonctd.com/about-nctd/accountability/ 
 
14A - Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget - Summary 
14B - Proposed FY2026–2030 Constrained Baseline Capital Improvement 

Program 
14C - Proposed FY2026 Budget Document 
14D - Proposed FY2026 Represented Employee Classification and 

Compensation Schedule 
14E - Proposed FY2026 Non-Represented Employee Classification and 

Compensation Schedule 
14F - Proposed FY2026 Cost Recovery Fee Schedule 
14G - Proposed FY2026–FY2030 Service Implementation Plan 
 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.:  SR-25-06-014 

FISCAL IMPACT: The fiscal impact of adopting the Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget is the 
acceptance and allocation of revenues in the amount of $178,805,577 and the 
authorization of $178,805,577 in expenditures. The fiscal impact of adopting the 
FY2026 Proposed Capital Improvement Program is the acceptance and 
allocation of $86,096,889 in revenues and the authorization of $86,096,889 in  
expenditures. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 
Date: 

 
Marketing, Service Planning, and Business Development Committee 
March 24, 2025 
 

  
STAFF CONTACT: 

 
Eun Park-Lynch, Chief Financial Officer 
E-mail: eparklynch@nctd.org Phone: 760-967-2858 

 



FY2026 OPERATING BUDGET - SUMMARY

Operating Revenues

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025 **

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Passenger Fares 10,732,805$     10,201,124$     11,263,584$     12,492,298$     2,291,174$       22.46% 1,228,714$       10.91%
Non-Transportation Revenues 7,725,055 4,528,000 7,191,895 4,731,200 203,200 4.49% (2,460,695) -34.21%
Auxiliary Revenues 12,373,406 11,623,114 11,973,464 11,199,184 (423,930) -3.65% (774,280) -6.47%
Federal Grants 46,058,066 53,721,004 48,188,834 37,254,595 (16,466,409) -30.65% (10,934,239) -22.69%
State Grants 10,056,331 23,579,635 16,498,745 33,654,670 10,075,035 42.73% 17,155,925 103.98%
Local Grants 75,862,156 84,505,896 79,699,870 79,473,630 (5,032,266) -5.95% (226,240) -0.28%

162,807,819 188,158,773 174,816,392 178,805,577 (9,353,196) -4.97% 3,989,185$      2.28%

Operating Expenditures

Salaries and Wages 30,548,023$     39,687,280$     34,601,055$     70,118,247$     30,430,967$     76.68% 35,517,192$     102.65%
Employee Benefits * 13,520,817 13,202,830 14,952,931 22,748,554 9,545,724 72.30% 7,795,623 52.13%
Professional Services 36,046,520 48,191,849 40,453,679 43,190,410 (5,001,439) -10.38% 2,736,731 6.77%
Materials and Supplies 11,577,426 17,534,936 13,299,719 22,700,459 5,165,523 29.46% 9,400,740 70.68%
Utilities 3,263,759 3,632,614 3,323,061 3,867,188 234,574 6.46% 544,127 16.37%
Casualty and Liability 6,763,295 8,651,736 7,615,657 9,709,267 1,057,531 12.22% 2,093,610 27.49%
Taxes 1,124,064 1,507,413 1,786,869 1,270,553 (236,860) -15.71% (516,316) -28.90%
Purchased Transportation 50,607,442 50,971,878 53,234,936 1,033,000 (49,938,878) -97.97% (52,201,936) -98.06%
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,216,972 2,157,881 1,540,095 1,847,204 (310,677) -14.40% 307,109 19.94%
Debt-Related Expense *** 622,260 737,200 563,487 674,300 (62,900) -8.53% 110,813 19.67%
Leases and Rentals 1,103,279 1,383,156 1,130,668 1,146,395 (236,761) -17.12% 15,727 1.39%
Contingency - 500,000 58,330 500,000 - 0.00% 441,670 100.00%

156,393,857 188,158,773 172,560,487 178,805,577 (9,353,196) -4.97% 6,245,090$      3.62%
6,413,962$      -$                     2,255,905$      -$                     -$                     (2,255,905)$     

* Excludes GASB 68 and GASB 75 non-cash adjustments and the required Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) pension contribution

** As originally adopted and does not reflect budget transfers made during the fiscal year

*** Excludes GASB 87 and GASB 96 interest adjustments

ATTACHMENT 14A



FTA Scope FTA Scope Description FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 5-Year

111 Bus Rolling Stock 4,295,573$      3,062,333$      -$                     -$                     -$                     7,357,906$     

113 Bus Stations, Stops and Terminals 1,585,000 - - - - 1,585,000

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 5,374,500 2,620,000 150,000 - - 8,144,500

121 Rail Rolling Stock 5,845,000 5,948,783 4,031,690 2,000,000 - 17,825,473

122 Rail Transitways and Lines 16,120,695 - - - - 16,120,695

123 Rail Stations, Stops and Terminals 37,296,621 - - - - 37,296,621

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 4,074,500 2,300,000 - - - 6,374,500

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 10,705,000 20,000 - - - 10,725,000

129 Fixed Guideway Associated Transit Improvements 800,000 - - - - 800,000

Total Constrained CIP 86,096,889$    13,951,116$    4,181,690$      2,000,000$      -$                     106,229,695$  

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

FY2026 - FY2030

CONSTRAINED BASELINE

Bus Rolling 
Stock
6.9%

Bus Stations, 
Stops and 
Terminals

1.5%

Bus Support 
Equipment and 

Facilities
7.7%

Rail Rolling 
Stock
16.8%

Rail Transitways 
and Lines

15.2%

Rail Stations, 
Stops and 
Terminals

35.1%

Rail Support 
Equipment and 

Facilities
6.0%

Rail Signals and 
Communications 

Equipment
10.1%

Fixed Guideway 
Associated Transit 

Improvements
0.8%

ATTACHMENT 14B



Scope and Project Name FY2026 CIP % of Total

111 Bus Rolling Stock 4,295,573$       5.0%

Two (2) Battery Electric Buses 2,754,023

One (1) Battery Electric Bus 1,541,550

113 Bus Stations, Stops, and Terminals 1,585,000$       1.8%

Bus Stops Improvements Phase II (Construction) 850,000

Bus Stop Improvement Phase III (Construction) 625,000

Sorrento Valley Bus Parking (Design) 110,000

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 5,374,500 6.2%

Non-Revenue Vehicles 965,000

HVAC Various Replacements 885,000

Trapeze Enterprise Asset Management 750,000

BREEZE Overhead Cranes 590,000

Wonder-Bread Lot Resurfacing 350,000

BREEZE Operations West Unleaded Dispensers 275,000

BREEZE Operations East Conference Room 250,000

BREEZE Operations East Outdoor Canopy Improvement 180,000

Network Upgrades 175,000

HASTUS Scheduling Software 150,000

BREEZE Operations West Employee Parking (Design) 150,000

BREEZE Hydrogen Sensors (Construction) 120,000

BREEZE Operations West Veeder-Root System 105,000

BREEZE Operations East Offices Remodel 100,000

BREEZE Operations West Hydrogen Fueling Station (Design) 85,000

Server Upgrades 72,000

BREEZE Operations East and West Gate System 70,000

BREEZE Operations East and West Signage 52,000

Hydro Enhance Elevator Upgrade 50,500

121 Rail Rolling Stock 5,845,000 6.8%

Bilevel Overhaul Materials 2,905,000

COASTER Brake Overhaul 1,200,000

COASTER Image Recorders (Construction) 750,000

Bilevel Overhaul Design 720,000

COASTER Diesel Engine Cooler Overhaul 140,000

COASTER Battery Overhaul 130,000

122 Rail Transitways and Lines 16,120,695 18.7%

SPRINTER Corridor Service Improvement (Environmental and Design) 12,760,695

Miramar Rail Replacement 2,610,000

Carlsbad Grade Crossing Safety Improvements 750,000

123 Rail Stations, Stops and Terminals 37,296,621 43.3%

San Dieguito Lagoon Double-Track and Fairgrounds Station 36,396,621

Platform Improvements 500,000

Drought Tolerant Landscaping 200,000

Oceanside Transit Center Platform Stormwater Improvements 200,000

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

FY2026 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

CONSTRAINED PROJECTS



Scope and Project Name FY2026 CIP % of Total

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

FY2026 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM

CONSTRAINED PROJECTS

Scope and Project Name FY2026 CIP % of Total

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 4,074,500 4.7%

Maintenance-of-Way Switch Tamper 2,000,000

Non-Revenue Vehicles 810,000

Maintenance-of-Way Building Improvements (Construction) 540,000

SPRINTER Fuel Dispenser 205,000

COASTER Fuel Dispensing System (Design) 150,000

PRONTO Fare Collection Equipment (Convention Center) 100,000

COASTER Turntables (Design) 100,000

Maintenance-of-Way Forklift 68,000

COASTER Waste Rigs Carts 60,500

Waste Pumping Carts 41,000

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 10,705,000 12.4%

SPRINTER Signal Modernization - Phase 8 5,675,000

SPRINTER Signal Modernization - Phase 9 4,900,000

Positive Train Control Disaster Recovery 130,000

129 Fixed Guideway Associated Transit Improvements 800,000 0.9%

Wayfinding Master Plan 800,000

TOTAL FY2026 CIP 86,096,889$     100.0%



Description FY2027 CIP % of Total

111 Bus Rolling Stock 3,062,333$       22.0%

Two (2) Zero Emission Buses 3,062,333

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 2,620,000 18.8%

Non-Revenue Vehicles 710,000

Trapeze Enterprise Asset Management 685,000

Fire Alarm System (Construction) 550,000

PRONTO Enhancements 400,000

HASTUS Scheduling Software 150,000

BREEZE Operations West Unleaded Dispensers 125,000

121 Rail Rolling Stock 5,948,783 42.6%

COASTER Image Recorders (Construction) 2,250,000

SPRINTER Engine Overhauls 2,200,000

SPRINTER WiTronix System 888,783

SPRINTER Wheelset Overhauls 320,000

SPRINTER Axle Gearbox Overhauls 290,000

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 2,300,000 16.5%

COASTER Train Wash (Construction) 2,300,000

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 20,000 0.1%

Positive Train Control Disaster Recovery 20,000

TOTAL FY2027 CIP 13,951,116$     100.0%

CONSTRAINED PROJECTS

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

FY2027 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM



Description FY2028 CIP % of Total

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 150,000 3.6%

PRONTO Enhancements 150,000

121 Rail Rolling Stock 4,031,690 96.4%

Bilevel Overhaul Materials 3,130,000

SPRINTER WiTronix System 901,690

TOTAL FY2028 CIP 4,181,690$       100.0%

CONSTRAINED PROJECTS

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

FY2028 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM



Description FY2029 CIP % of Total

121 Rail Rolling Stock 2,000,000 100.0%

Bilevel Overhaul Materials 2,000,000

TOTAL FY2029 CIP 2,000,000$       100.0%

CONSTRAINED PROJECTS

NORTH COUNTY TRANSIT DISTRICT 

FY2029 CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget 
and 

FY2026-FY2030 
Capital Improvement Program  

For the Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2026 

ATTACHMENT 14C



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and 
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

i | P a g e

Contents

Board of Directors .......................................................................................................................................................1

Organizational Chart ...................................................................................................................................................3

Message from the Chief Executive Officer .................................................................................................................4

Overview of North County Transit - San Diego Railroad ............................................................................................6
Mission .................................................................................................................................................................6
Vision ....................................................................................................................................................................6
History ..................................................................................................................................................................7
Service Area .........................................................................................................................................................7
BREEZE Fixed-Route Bus ...................................................................................................................................8
LIFT ADA Paratransit ...........................................................................................................................................8
FLEX Deviated Fixed-Route and Point-Deviated Fixed-Route ............................................................................9
COASTER Commuter Rail ...................................................................................................................................9
SPRINTER Hybrid Rail ..................................................................................................................................... 10
NCTD+ Microtransit Services ............................................................................................................................ 10
Bus Operations and Vehicle Maintenance ........................................................................................................ 11
Rail Operations and Vehicle Maintenance ........................................................................................................ 11
Facilities Maintenance ....................................................................................................................................... 11
Rail Maintenance-of-Way (MOW) ..................................................................................................................... 12
Maintenance of Signals (MOS) ......................................................................................................................... 12
Safety and Security ........................................................................................................................................... 12
Contracted Transit Services .............................................................................................................................. 13
Debt Overview ................................................................................................................................................... 13
Investment Policy .............................................................................................................................................. 15

San Diego County Profile and Economic Indicators ................................................................................................ 16
County Population ............................................................................................................................................. 16
Economic Environment ..................................................................................................................................... 17
State of Public Transit ....................................................................................................................................... 18
Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) ................................................................................................................. 21
Regional Transit Capital Improvement Program ............................................................................................... 22
NCTD Capital Improvement Program ............................................................................................................... 22

Strategic Framework................................................................................................................................................ 24
Strategic Areas of Focus ................................................................................................................................... 24
Divisional Performance Targets ........................................................................................................................ 26

Government Finance Officers Association Distinguished Budget Award ................................................................ 30

Budget Development Policy .................................................................................................................................... 31
Ongoing Operations .......................................................................................................................................... 31
Balanced Budget ............................................................................................................................................... 31
Basis of Accounting ........................................................................................................................................... 31
Finance Division Role ....................................................................................................................................... 31
Conservative Estimates of Revenues ............................................................................................................... 31
Expenses........................................................................................................................................................... 31
Capital Improvement Program .......................................................................................................................... 31
Intergovernmental Relations ............................................................................................................................. 32
Debt ................................................................................................................................................................... 32
Fund Balance .................................................................................................................................................... 32
Functional Level Budgeting ............................................................................................................................... 32
Cash Reserve Policy ......................................................................................................................................... 33
Budget Management ......................................................................................................................................... 33
Budget Monitoring and Controls ....................................................................................................................... 33



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and 
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

ii | P a g e

Budget Process ....................................................................................................................................................... 34
Stakeholders ..................................................................................................................................................... 34
Budget Calendar ............................................................................................................................................... 35

Service Implementation Plan (SIP) .......................................................................................................................... 38
SIP Key Assumptions ........................................................................................................................................ 38
Strategic Priorities ............................................................................................................................................. 38
System Summary .............................................................................................................................................. 39
Service Levels and Ridership Projections ......................................................................................................... 40

Financial Forecast and Significant Assumptions ..................................................................................................... 45
Grant Revenue .................................................................................................................................................. 45

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Formula Programs .......................................................................... 45
State Grant Revenue .................................................................................................................................. 47

Local Grant Revenue .................................................................................................................................. 48
Fare Revenue ................................................................................................................................................... 49
Other Operating Revenue ................................................................................................................................. 49
Operating Expenses .......................................................................................................................................... 49
Fiscal Year 2026 Assumptions.......................................................................................................................... 50

FY2026 Operating Budget ....................................................................................................................................... 53
Operating Summary .......................................................................................................................................... 53
Operating Revenues ......................................................................................................................................... 53
Operating Expenses .......................................................................................................................................... 57

FY2026 Budget Expenses by Department .............................................................................................................. 64
Summary of Expenses by Department ............................................................................................................. 64
Board of Directors ............................................................................................................................................. 65
Office of the Chief Executive Officer ................................................................................................................. 65
Office of Chief General Counsel ....................................................................................................................... 66

General Counsel ......................................................................................................................................... 66
Safety .......................................................................................................................................................... 66

Office of Chief of Staff ....................................................................................................................................... 67
Government Relations ................................................................................................................................ 67

Administration ............................................................................................................................................. 67
Communications and Marketing ................................................................................................................. 68

Customer Experience ................................................................................................................................. 68
Rail Operations ................................................................................................................................................. 69

Rail Operations ........................................................................................................................................... 69
COASTER Operators ................................................................................................................................. 69

SPRINTER Operators ................................................................................................................................ 70
COASTER Maintenance ............................................................................................................................. 70
SPRINTER Maintenance ............................................................................................................................ 71

Rail Vehicles Overhauls ............................................................................................................................. 71
Rail Vehicles Maintenance ......................................................................................................................... 72

Rail Technologies ....................................................................................................................................... 72
Rail Training ................................................................................................................................................ 73

Operations Control Center .......................................................................................................................... 73
Bus Operations ................................................................................................................................................. 74

Bus Operations Administration ................................................................................................................... 74
Bus Operators ............................................................................................................................................. 74

On-Demand Services ................................................................................................................................. 75
Bus Vehicles Maintenance ......................................................................................................................... 75
Non-Revenue Operations Support ............................................................................................................. 76

Right-of-Way Vehicles and Specialty Equipment ....................................................................................... 76



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and 
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

iii | P a g e

Security ....................................................................................................................................................... 77

Rail Right-of-Way .............................................................................................................................................. 77
Rail Right-of-Way Oversight ....................................................................................................................... 77
Maintenance-of-Way .................................................................................................................................. 78

Maintenance of Signals .............................................................................................................................. 78
Information Technology Systems ............................................................................................................... 79
Information Technology Operations ........................................................................................................... 79

General Services ............................................................................................................................................... 80
General Services ........................................................................................................................................ 80
Procurement and Contract Administration ................................................................................................. 80
Parts and Warehouse ................................................................................................................................. 81

Facilities ...................................................................................................................................................... 81
Business Intelligence .................................................................................................................................. 82

Development Services ...................................................................................................................................... 82
Development Services ................................................................................................................................ 82

Development Services Support Services ................................................................................................... 83
Engineering ................................................................................................................................................. 83

Project Management Office ........................................................................................................................ 84
Real Estate ................................................................................................................................................. 84

Finance .............................................................................................................................................................. 85
Financial Oversight ..................................................................................................................................... 85

Accounting .................................................................................................................................................. 85
Payroll ......................................................................................................................................................... 86

Grants ......................................................................................................................................................... 86
Fare Collection ............................................................................................................................................ 87

People ............................................................................................................................................................... 87
Human Resources ...................................................................................................................................... 87

Learning and Development ........................................................................................................................ 88
Planning ............................................................................................................................................................ 88

Service Planning ......................................................................................................................................... 88
Transit Systems Management .................................................................................................................... 89

Operations Support Services ............................................................................................................................ 89
Operations Support Services ...................................................................................................................... 89

Debt ................................................................................................................................................................... 90
Contingency ...................................................................................................................................................... 90

5-Year Plan and Capital Improvement Program ..................................................................................................... 91
5-Year Financial Assumptions .......................................................................................................................... 91
Sources of Revenue and Allocation of Funds ................................................................................................... 92
Allocation of Federal, State and Local Grant Funds ......................................................................................... 93
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) ..................................................................................... 94

FY2026-FY2030 Unconstrained Capital Needs ......................................................................................... 94
FY2026-FY2030 Constrained Capital Improvement Program ................................................................... 95

5-Year Service Implementation Plan (SIP) ............................................................................................................ 101

10-Year Long Range Planning .............................................................................................................................. 102
Mid-Range Forecast ........................................................................................................................................ 102
Low-Range Forecast ....................................................................................................................................... 103
High-Range Forecast ...................................................................................................................................... 104

Appendices ............................................................................................................................................................ 105
Passenger Fare Rates .................................................................................................................................... 105
Operating Statistics ......................................................................................................................................... 108
North San Diego County Community Profile................................................................................................... 111



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and 
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

iv | P a g e

San Diego County Employment by Industry ................................................................................................... 112
North San Diego County Major Employers ..................................................................................................... 113
San Diego County Demographics and Economic Statistics ........................................................................... 114

Glossary of Terms ................................................................................................................................................. 115



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

1 | P a g e

Board of Directors 

Jim O’Hara 
Council Member, City of Encinitas 

Marketing, Service Planning, and Business 
Development Committee, Member 

SANDAG Regional Planning Committee,  
Alternate 

Eric Joyce 
Deputy Mayor, City of Oceanside 

Marketing, Service Planning, and Business 
Development Committee, Member 

SANDAG Transportation Committee,  
2nd Alternate 

Priya Bhat-Patel 
Mayor Pro Tempore, City of Carlsbad 

Board Chair  
Executive Committee, Chair 
Performance, Administration, and Finance  
   Committee, Member

SANDAG Board of Directors, 1st Alternate 
SANDAG Transportation Committee, Voting 

Member 

Tracy Martinez 

Deputy Mayor, City of Del Mar 

Marketing, Service Planning, and Business 
Development Committee, Chair 

LOSSAN Corridor Board of Directors, 
Alternate

Joe Garcia 
Deputy Mayor, City of Escondido 

Marketing, Service Planning, and Business 
Development Committee, Vice Chair 

SANDAG Regional Planning Committee, 
Advisory Member

Jim Desmond 
District 5 Supervisor,  
County of San Diego 

Jewel Edson 

Council Member, City of Solana Beach 

Performance, Administration, and Finance 
Committee, Vice Chair 

SANDAG Board of Directors, Advisory Member 
SANDAG Transportation Committee,  
 1st Alternate 
LOSSAN Corridor Board of Directors, Member

Corinna Contreras 

Council Member, City of Vista 

Performance, Administration, and Finance  
   Committee, Member

Kent Lee 
Council Member, District 6, 
City of San Diego 

Non-Voting Board Member 

Mike Sannella 
Deputy Mayor, City of San Marcos 

Performance, Administration, and Finance  
   Committee, Chair

SANDAG Board of Directors, 2nd Alternate 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

2 | P a g e

Board of Directors (continued)

Shawn Donaghy 
Chief Executive Officer 
North County Transit -  
San Diego Railroad

Lori A. Winfree 

Deputy Chief Executive Officer/  
Chief General Counsel 
North County Transit - 
San Diego Railroad

Suheil Rodriguez 
Director of Administration/ 
Clerk of the Board 
North County Transit - 
San Diego Railroad

Mary Dover 
Chief of Staff 
North County Transit -  
San Diego Railroad



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

3 | P a g e

Organizational Chart 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

4 | P a g e

Message from the Chief Executive Officer 

June 10, 2025 

On behalf of the Board of Directors (Board) and staff of North County Transit - San Diego Railroad 
(“NCTD”), I am pleased to present the Fiscal Year 2026 (FY2026) Operating Budget and the FY2026-
FY2030 Capital Improvement Program. This document and Five-Year Plan have been developed to 
support NCTD’s strategic priorities in the current economic environment amid changing revenue 
forecasts. The FY2026 Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program prioritizes investments to 
further NCTD’s guiding principles – providing a world-class customer experience, supporting and 
fostering growth in our employees, ensuring the safety and security of employees and riders, and 
advocating for the needs of partner agencies and the communities we serve – all while maintaining fiscal 
responsibility. 

Beginning in FY2026, NCTD’s operating budget will reflect 100 percent direct operations of all transit 
services. NCTD began this transition in 2022 with rail operations and maintenance and is completing the 
transition on July 1, 2025, by bringing bus, paratransit, and microtransit operations and maintenance in-
house.  

The FY2026 Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program makes necessary investments to 
ensure the success of this transition, from providing adequate resources for employee benefits packages, 
to appropriating funds for capital improvements that maintain effective management of NCTD’s assets 
under this new service model. Purchased transportation costs decrease significantly compared to 
FY2025 while salaries and payroll expenses increase. This transition is the future of NCTD and is integral 
to meeting our goals to deliver a world-class customer experience and prioritize our employees.  

Safety and security are also front and center in this budget. The FY2026 constrained Capital Improvement 
Program includes investments in grade crossing safety improvements, Positive Train Control 
enhancements, bus stop improvements, and more. The Operating Budget includes an increase in funding 
for security at transit centers and on NCTD’s services. NCTD has received feedback from riders and 
members of the community recognizing the difference our focus on security has made and we are eager 
to continue that work through FY2026. 

In an effort to optimize our network, NCTD has re-envisioned some of its services. Following a suitability 
analysis and extensive outreach to the communities we serve, NCTD added a second NCTD+ 
microtransit zone in the City of Vista. The inaugural NCTD+ program in the City of San Marcos, as well 
as the newest service in Vista, are maintained in the FY2026 Operating Budget. These services are a 
direct response to community feedback and aim to improve first/last mile connections to expand transit 
reach and increase the convenience of utilizing NCTD’s fixed-route modes.  

NCTD is committed to advancing the needs of our community while managing an uncertain economic 
environment. In FY2026, NCTD will face a decrease in projected sales tax revenues, which funds 
operations. Sales tax and gas tax revenue projections are lower than initially anticipated through FY2030, 
impacting NCTD’s operating budget and capital programs over the next five years. Dedicated funding for 
transit will be subject to reauthorization at both the federal and state levels in the coming years.  

Diversification of revenue is critical to provide the stability necessary to maintain existing service levels. 
NCTD is exploring all avenues and pursuing partnerships with peer agencies, stakeholder groups, and 
private industry to manage costs and identify new funding sources. The Capital Improvement Program is 
in part funded through discretionary grants, which NCTD will continue to seek in collaboration with project 
partners to advance priority projects and maintain a reliable transit system.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

5 | P a g e

The above efforts provide the strategic framework that guides NCTD’s capital and operating investments. 
The Five-Year Plan furthers NCTD’s Mission and Vision and aligns with the Strategic Areas of Focus. A 
complete description of NCTD’s key Strategic Areas of Focus and other organizational goals are included 
within this budget document. NCTD’s FY2026-FY2035 Service Implementation Plan is also included. The 
Budget and supporting documents are the blueprint for NCTD to achieve this Five-Year Plan.   

The FY2026 Operating Budget and the FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program seek to advance 
NCTD’s priorities while managing a changing economic landscape. NCTD staff continue to work to 
ensure that opportunities for efficiencies are captured and this budget is successfully executed. 

Sincerely, 

Shawn Donaghy                                                  Eun Park-Lynch 
Chief Executive Officer                                        Chief Financial Officer 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

6 | P a g e

Overview of North County Transit - San Diego Railroad 

North County Transit - San Diego Railroad services are a vital part of San Diego’s regional transportation 
network. NCTD has projected that it will move approximately 8.6 million passengers in Fiscal Year 2025 
by providing public transportation for North San Diego County. The family of transit services includes: 

 BREEZE Fixed-route bus 

 LIFT ADA paratransit 

 FLEX On-demand, deviated fixed-route and point-deviated fixed-route 

 COASTER Commuter rail  

 SPRINTER Hybrid rail  

 NCTD+ On-demand microtransit 

Mission 

North County Transit - San Diego Railroad’s mission is to operate an environmentally sustainable and 
fiscally responsible transit network that provides seamless mobility for all while achieving organizational 
and operational excellence. 

Vision 

North County Transit - San Diego Railroad envisions a comprehensive transit and mobility system that 
connects all North County San Diego residents and visitors to a healthy, economically vibrant, and thriving 
region. 

We will achieve this by: 

 Placing service to our customers first 

 Ensuring the safety and security of our employees and customers 

 Delivering high-quality transit services 

 Developing and maintaining facilities that sustain and promote current and future transportation 
services 

 Securing adequate revenue, protecting our assets, and getting the maximum return on the public 
investment 

 Working in partnership with our communities and other stakeholders 

 Encouraging innovation, creativity, and leadership 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

7 | P a g e

History 

The North San Diego County Transit 
Development Board (NSDCTDB) was 
established by an act of the California 
State Legislature (Senate Bill 802) on 
September 20, 1975, to plan, construct and 
operate public transit systems in the 
northern region of San Diego County. The 
NSDCTDB acquired the municipal transit 
systems operated by the cities of 
Escondido and Oceanside and 
commenced operations in July 1976 by 
providing bus services to the region. In 1992, NCTD was designated by the San Diego Association of 
Governments (SANDAG) as the lead agency for providing commuter rail service in San Diego County. 
Rail services between Oceanside and San Diego (called the COASTER) began in February 1995. On 
January 1, 2003, a state law was enacted (Senate Bill 1703) that essentially transferred future transit 
planning, programming, development, and capacity enhancing construction projects to SANDAG, San 
Diego County’s Regional Planning Agency. In 2003, NCTD began the construction of a hybrid rail system 
between Escondido and Oceanside (called the SPRINTER), which consisted of the reconstruction of 22 
miles of railroad in the existing east-west corridor. Project management for the SPRINTER project was 
subsequently transitioned to SANDAG. The SPRINTER hybrid rail service commenced operations in 
March 2008. In January 2006, the North San Diego County Transit Development Board was renamed as 
the North County Transit District, now known as the North County Transit - San Diego Railroad. 

NCTD provides integrated public transit service primarily within North San Diego County with its BREEZE 
buses, FLEX deviated fixed-route, LIFT ADA-certified paratransit, COASTER commuter rail, SPRINTER 
hybrid rail, and NCTD+ on-demand microtransit modes of transportation. NCTD is unique within the 
transit industry given the size of its annual operating budget and its operations of multimodal services 
that are typically operated by larger transit systems. There are 30 commuter rail agencies in the United 
States that operate service like the COASTER and six agencies that operate diesel multiple units like the 
SPRINTER. Moreover, NCTD is responsible for maintenance of railroad tracks that support commuter, 
intercity, and freight operations. 

Service Area 

NCTD provides bus, van, and train service in San Diego 
County - from the rural areas of Fallbrook, Ramona, and the 
Camp Pendleton Marine Corps Base, to the cities of 
Carlsbad, Del Mar, Encinitas, Escondido, Oceanside, San 
Marcos, Solana Beach, and Vista, and the unincorporated 
parts of north San Diego County, with COASTER service 
extending to downtown San Diego. The total population of 
NCTD’s 340 square mile service area (1,029 jurisdiction 
area) is estimated to be 951,394 (SANDAG Regional Data 
Warehouse January 2023 estimate). 

NCTD provides connecting service to other transit agencies 
including the Metropolitan Transit Service (MTS) in San Diego via the Trolley, MTS buses and ACCESS; 
Metrolink commuter rail service at Oceanside; Amtrak trains connecting at Oceanside, Solana Beach, 
and San Diego; and Greyhound buses connecting at Oceanside and Escondido. BREEZE buses, 
SPRINTER trains, and LIFT vehicles also connect at each of the NCTD transit centers located in 
Oceanside, Vista, and Escondido. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

8 | P a g e

BREEZE Fixed-Route Bus 

The BREEZE currently operates 35 routes in the 
North County service area, from early morning to 
late at night, seven days a week. The active fleet 
in June 2025 consisted of 154 buses.  

Effective on October 1, 2019, the California 
Innovative Clean Transit (ICT) regulation requires 
that all public transit agencies gradually transition 
their bus fleets to zero-emission technologies. 
The ICT regulation requires gradual increases in 
the percentage of new bus purchases to be zero emission buses (ZEBs). The ZEB purchase 
requirements began in 2023 for large transit agencies as 25% of all buses purchased must be ZEBs. 
Starting in 2029, 100% of all transit agencies’ new bus purchases must be ZEBs, with a goal of complete 
transition to ZEBs (all buses in each transit agency’s fleet to be ZEBs) by 2040. NCTD is designated as 
a large transit agency under the ICT regulation. During FY2026, NCTD will have six battery electric and 
35 hydrogen fuel cell buses in service, which replace diesel and CNG vehicles that reached the end of 
their useful life.   

All BREEZE buses in the fleet are equipped with bicycle racks giving passengers the ability to bike and 
ride to their destinations and are accessible with low floors, ramps, or wheelchair lifts to assist the elderly 
and passengers with disabilities to board and ride with ease. BREEZE buses are equipped with fareboxes 
and PRONTO validators that allow passengers to use a regional transit card for seamless travel 
throughout San Diego County on all public transportation. Customers can utilize stored (prepaid) value, 
day passes, and monthly passes to ride transit throughout the San Diego region. 

LIFT ADA Paratransit 

NCTD maintains a fleet of 40 vans and small buses known as 
“cut-aways” that support LIFT services. The use of LIFT services 
requires the assessment and determination that the customer 
has a functional limitation that prevents the use of some or all 
parts of fixed-route service.   

LIFT is provided to areas that are within ¾ of a mile of an NCTD 
BREEZE bus route and/or SPRINTER rail station. LIFT provides 
curb-to-curb service for customers; however, assistance is 
available beyond the curb (for example to a front door) as 
necessitated by a rider’s disability.  ADARide is responsible for determining eligibility and certification, 
while NCTD is responsible for providing reservations, dispatching, and transportation. 

Persons who are certified to use LIFT and obtain an NCTD paratransit photo ID can ride the BREEZE 
buses, COASTER commuter rail, and SPRINTER free of charge. A personal care attendant (PCA) that 
accompanies a LIFT customer can also travel fare free on BREEZE and SPRINTER services.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

9 | P a g e

FLEX Deviated Fixed-Route and Point-Deviated Fixed-Route 

FLEX has two different service models: deviated fixed-route and 
point-deviated fixed-route. Deviated fixed-route service has a set 
schedule and route but can deviate from the route up to ¾ of a 
mile for scheduled pick-ups or drop-offs. This service model 
includes FLEX 392 and FLEX 395 which connects portions of 
Camp Pendleton and Oceanside. Point-deviated fixed-route 
service also has a set schedule and route but only allows 
scheduled deviations to specific points along the route. FLEX 
371 is the only point-deviated fixed-route. It connects Escondido 
and Ramona and allows passengers to schedule pick-ups or 
drop-offs at the San Diego Zoo Safari Park. Reservations are required for any trip not starting or ending 
at a designated stop.  

Additionally, NCTD operates the COASTER Connection service in the Sorrento Valley area, providing 
connectivity from the Sorrento Valley COASTER station to major employment centers, University of 
California, San Diego, and healthcare facilities.  

The FLEX fleet is comprised of 14 vehicles that are equipped with bicycle racks giving passengers the 
ability to bike and ride to their destinations and are accessible with wheelchair lifts to assist the elderly 
and passengers with disabilities to board and ride with ease. FLEX buses are also equipped with 
fareboxes and PRONTO validators that allow passengers to use a transit card for seamless travel. 

COASTER Commuter Rail 

The COASTER provides 41 directional miles of 
commuter rail service paralleling the busy Interstate 
5 corridor between Oceanside and San Diego. 
COASTER trains run 30 daily trips Monday through 
Friday with an additional 2 trips on Fridays, and 20 
daily Saturday and Sunday trips year-round. 
Additional trains also run for special events and for 
every Padres baseball game. COASTER fares must 
be purchased for the number of zones travelled. The 
additional COASTER trips that started on October 
25, 2021, are supported with TransNet 8.1% funds. 
The increase in service allowed commuters and recreational travelers an affordable and more flexible 
transportation option and helps reduce congestion along the Interstate-5 corridor. 

It takes approximately an hour to travel the entire COASTER route; 8 stations provide service points 
along the route, and travelers can connect to the MTS trolley and buses at both the San Diego Old Town 
and Santa Fe stations in downtown San Diego, and the MTS Sorrento Valley COASTER Connection at 
the Sorrento Valley station. Passengers can connect with Metrolink and Amtrak train service north to 
Orange County and Los Angeles from NCTD’s Oceanside Transit Center. NCTD and Amtrak have an 
agreement (Rail to Rail) to accept certain tickets and passes issued from each agency to be used on its 
trains at no additional cost for the passenger (with some blackout periods) for stops at Oceanside Transit 
Center, Solana Beach, Old Town, and Santa Fe Depot. This agreement increases the number of trains 
available to riders throughout the day.  

The COASTER fleets consists of nine state-of-the-art Siemens Tier-4 locomotives and 34 bi-level 
passenger coaches. The Siemens Tier-4 locomotives are among the cleanest passenger locomotives in 
the nation and reduce emissions by nearly 90% compared to Tier-0 locomotives.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

10 | P a g e

SPRINTER Hybrid Rail 

The SPRINTER hybrid rail extends 22 miles, roughly 
paralleling State Route 78, and provides connections at 
Oceanside, Vista, San Marcos, and Escondido by 
serving 15 stations along the corridor. SPRINTER 
service is operated with twelve diesel multiple units 
(DMUs). Passenger service runs seven days a week 
from 4:03 AM to 9:26 PM with Friday and Saturday 
service extended to 12:26 AM. Weekday service runs 
every 30 minutes and weekend trains run 30-minute 
frequencies during peak travel times and hourly service 
during non-peak times from 10:03 AM to 6:03 PM.   

The SPRINTER offers easy connections to the COASTER commuter rail, BREEZE bus service, Amtrak, 
Metrolink, Greyhound and to MTS’ Rapid Express bus service in Escondido. The SPRINTER carries 
passengers comprised primarily of workers, students, and tourists. 

NCTD+ Microtransit Services 

NCTD+ is NCTD’s new on-demand microtransit 
mode that was introduced on June 10, 2024, 
with the launch of the San Marcos pilot zone.  

Microtransit is one of several mobility solutions 
included in a category frequently referenced in 
the San Diego region as “Flexible Fleets.” 
Microtransit utilizes smaller capacity buses and 
vans to provide on-demand trips within defined 
service zones. On-demand trips are scheduled through a mobile application or via telephone with typical 
wait times of less than 20 minutes. All trips must start and end within the same service zone. 

Microtransit is a context sensitive solution that can meet a variety of mobility needs such as providing 
service where fixed route bus is unable to operate efficiently or where a lack of sidewalks and other 
infrastructure makes traditional fixed route service less safe; offering convenient first and last mile 
connections from existing fixed route service (bus and rail), particularly where connecting services are 
limited or operate infrequently (30+ minutes); and supplying local circulation to connect community scale 
destinations, particularly when there is inadequate pedestrian or bicycle infrastructure. 

As a demand response service, microtransit has a higher cost on a per passenger basis when compared 
to fixed routes. A one-way ride to/from a SPRINTER station is $1.50; all other destinations within the 
service zone are $3.00. Additional riders on the same booking can be added for $1.50 per person and 
youth 18 and under ride free. 

NCTD launched the second NCTD+ service zone in Vista on May 19, 2025. The FY2026 budget reflects 
operating costs for both the Vista and San Marcos zones.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

11 | P a g e

Bus Operations and Vehicle Maintenance 

Effective June 29, 2025, NCTD will directly manage and 
operate all aspects of bus operations and vehicle maintenance 
for its BREEZE, FLEX, LIFT, and NCTD+ services. For 
FY2026, NCTD has budgeted for 471 full-time equivalents 
(FTEs), which includes 313 vehicle operators and 70 
mechanics, all of whom are employed under NCTD’s 
operational structure. 

Bus operations and maintenance activities are conducted by 
NCTD staff at two primary facilities: the West Division in 
Oceanside and the East Division in Escondido. These facilities 
operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week, to ensure the fleet 
remains in a state of good repair and service interruptions are minimized. 

Each bus yard is equipped with comprehensive infrastructure for fueling and charging the fleet, 
maintenance and administrative buildings, parking for buses and service vehicles, and accommodations 
for bus operators. Inside the maintenance facilities, NCTD personnel utilize bus repair bays, servicing 
pits, bus lifts, hoists, engine repair benches, a body shop, a parts inventory storeroom, and a paint shop. 
In addition to servicing the transit fleet, NCTD maintenance staff are also responsible for the upkeep of 
support vehicles, including administrative automobiles, forklifts, and ride-on sweepers.

Rail Operations and Vehicle Maintenance 

Rail equipment is maintained by NCTD staff. The COASTER facility is located at Stuart Mesa inside the 
Camp Pendleton Marine Corps Base. The Stuart Mesa facility houses massive and specialized 
equipment, primarily booms, cranes, and lifts to assist with replacement of heavy parts. Dedicated 
mechanics and service workers perform daily train-washing and exterior and interior maintenance and 
repair, considering that trains regularly arrive for repairs and routine maintenance and are subject to 
substantial amounts of dirt, dust, and salt air, in addition to weather changes, during a single day. 

The SPRINTER operations facility is in the City of Escondido. The 40,000 square foot SPRINTER facility 
was constructed specifically to house the operations center and to maintain the SPRINTER DMU trains. 
The operations area is the home of the operations control center and security monitoring center. The 
facility includes storage, training rooms, lockers, and office areas for employees. The maintenance area 
can house up to four train sets. Two structurally supported tracks allow maintenance employees access 
underneath and on top of trains to fully service the vehicles via pits, suspended platforms, and overhead 
bridge cranes. The pits are fully functional with integrated electrical service, compressed air, and lube oil 
systems. 

Facilities Maintenance 

NCTD has three (3) administration buildings in Oceanside, two (2) bus maintenance buildings located in 
Oceanside and Escondido, three (3) transit centers, eight (8) multi-modal train stations along the coastal 
railroad, 15 train stations along the inland railroad, two (2) train maintenance facilities, and significant 
adjacent land and parking lots. To support bus and rail operations, facilities maintenance also includes 
maintenance of equipment such as fueling stations, vehicle lifts, and bus and train washes.  

NCTD performs minor, routine maintenance and improvement projects such as roof replacements, 
parking lot paving and striping, bus shelter replacements and repairs, heating and air-conditioning repair 
and replacement, and painting and repair of the administration buildings. NCTD also maintains various 
specialty contracts, such as landscaping, electrical, and plumbing, which further supports the 
maintenance of its facilities and equipment. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

12 | P a g e

NCTD staff is responsible for the janitorial and structural maintenance of rail operations facilities, 
administration facilities, bus operations facilities, transit centers, COASTER stations, and SPRINTER 
stations. Facilities maintenance staff maintain, clean, and repair most of the facilities using specialized 
equipment to keep the buildings in a state of good repair condition.  

Rail Maintenance-of-Way (MOW) 

NCTD owns the north-south railroad right-of-way 
between the Orange County border and the northern 
border of the City of San Diego, which is 41 directional 
route miles of track. MTS owns the north-south railroad 
right-of-way from the northern border of the City of San 
Diego to downtown San Diego, which is 21 directional 
route miles of track. NCTD also owns the east-west 
railroad right-of-way between Escondido and 
Oceanside, which is 22 directional route miles of track. 
The COASTER operates on the north-south railroad 
tracks and the SPRINTER operates on the east-west 
railroad tracks. NCTD maintains both railroad tracks, 
including the MTS portion.  

NCTD is responsible for the maintenance of numerous railroad bridges, railroad bed, sidings, grade 
crossings, turnouts, culverts and signals, land alongside the track, and NCTD property located within the 
right-of-way. Specialty equipment is used to maintain the railroad right-of-way including, but not limited 
to, clearing vegetation away from the tracks and replacing rail ties. Track maintenance equipment and 
personnel are housed in a facility located in Oceanside. 

Maintenance of Signals (MOS) 

NCTD is responsible for all signals and communications, including Positive Train Control (PTC), on all 
NCTD-owned and controlled railroad right of way, including the San Diego Subdivision from the County 
Line (Milepost [MP] 207.4) to San Diego (MP 267.51) and the Escondido Subdivision between Escondido 
Junction in Oceanside (MP 0) to the end of track in Escondido (MP 21.31). 

Safety and Security 

Fostering and maintaining safe and secure operations is one of NCTD’s top 
priorities. NCTD provides a safe, secure, and healthy environment for all 
employees and passengers while maintaining compliance with all federal and state 
laws, rules, and guidelines.  

Security at train stations, parking lots, and bus transfer centers is provided by 
deputies from the San Diego County Sheriff’s Department and on-call contracted 
security. Video security cameras at the COASTER and SPRINTER stations are 
monitored by NCTD staff who contact the Sheriff in case of incidents. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

13 | P a g e

Contracted Transit Services 

In December 2022, the NCTD Board approved a phased plan to bring bus operations, dispatching, 
vehicle and facilities maintenance, and full management of the LIFT ADA paratransit services in-house, 
with full transition targeted for FY2026. NCTD will retain some contracted taxi service to supplement 
LIFT service. 

Debt Overview 

SPRINTER Certificates of Participation 

In 2003, the Federal Transit Administration grant agreement for the SPRINTER project included a local 
match requirement of state and local funds. Of the local match, $80 million was to be provided by the 
State of California Traffic Congestion Relief Program (TCRP). However, allocations to the TCRP were 
suspended at that time, and NCTD did not receive the TCRP funding as scheduled. Due to the delay in 
the receipt of the $80 million of TCRP funds, in July 2004, NCTD completed a $114 million financing 
transaction through the California Transit Finance Corporation (CTFC) to finance a portion of the design, 
acquisition, and construction of the SPRINTER hybrid rail project. This financing provided an additional 
$34 million to cover additional project costs of approximately $24 million, to fund the debt service reserve 
fund of approximately $8 million, and to cover costs of issuance of approximately $2 million. NCTD 
received the proceeds of $114 million of Certificates of Participation, 2004 Series A Auction Rate 
Certificates issued as Auction Rate Securities by CTFC. In conjunction with this financing, NCTD entered 
into a lease agreement with CTFC whereby NCTD agreed to make lease payments to CTFC to retire the 
Certificates. The Certificates represent the proportionate interest of the registered owners in the lease 
payments NCTD is obligated to make from all funds legally available to NCTD. NCTD has granted a 
security interest in such funds to CTFC. The Certificates mature in 2035.  

In August 2005, the California Transportation Commission approved an allocation of $80 million from the 
TCRP for the SPRINTER project. NCTD used these funds as they became available to retire $69.2 million 
of the related debt and retired an additional $10.8 million in September 2006. In February 2006, NCTD 
entered into an interest rate swap agreement for $34 million of the SPRINTER-related debt. Essentially, 
per the synthetic fixed-rate swap agreement, NCTD paid the counterparty, UBS, a fixed interest rate, in 
exchange for UBS paying the variable interest rate for the outstanding debt. In addition, NCTD had 
insurance from the bond insurer MBIA for the $34 million of outstanding debt. 

During late 2007, subprime mortgage losses caused significant financial stress on bond insurers, who 
guaranteed the payment of municipal bonds in the event of default. NCTD had secured insurance from 
the bond insurer MBIA for the $34 million of outstanding debt. Stresses on the bond insurers, along with 
other aspects of the national credit crunch, created dislocations in the municipal bond market and in the 
market for auction rate securities. The market for auction rate securities was large, estimated between 
$325 and $350 billion. However, during February 2008, widespread failures were reported in the auction 
rate market. NCTD’s debt was affected by the disruptions in the overall market, and NCTD was notified 
in February 2008 that there were failures in the auctions for NCTD’s debt. It is important to note that the 
disruptions in the auction rate securities market generally had nothing to do with the creditworthiness of 
individual issuers. In fact, the rating on NCTD’s outstanding debt was upgraded by Moody’s on February 
22, 2008. 

In May 2008, the Board of Directors for NCTD and for SANDAG approved to restructure NCTD’s 
outstanding debt, involving SANDAG’s commercial paper program. SANDAG issued $34 million of 
commercial paper, which was then used by SANDAG to purchase the NCTD auction rate securities, 
effectively making SANDAG the holder of NCTD’s outstanding debt. The interest rate that NCTD pays 
SANDAG (as the holder of the $34 million of debt) is equal to the actual interest rate that SANDAG pays 
on the commercial paper. This results in no net cost to SANDAG but allowed NCTD to effectively reduce 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

14 | P a g e

its current interest rate down to the commercial paper rate. This arrangement allowed NCTD to reduce 
its borrowing costs, to retain the current interest rate swap structure, and to preserve the existing bond 
insurance. NCTD also paid its share of administrative costs associated with the commercial paper 
program (including letter of credit fees, trustee fees, rating agency fees, etc.) as well as legal and financial 
advisor fees related to the transaction. However, these transaction costs were substantially lower than 
the costs that would have been associated with other alternatives, such as a new issuance of fixed-rate 
debt or variable–rate demand notes. If market conditions merit in the future, NCTD can consider such 
alternatives as refinancing at a fixed rate or move back into the auction rate security market. If this were 
to occur, NCTD would pay down the outstanding commercial paper and the agreement with SANDAG 
would be terminated. 

The Certificates mature on September 1, 2034. Estimated future debt payments are as follows: 

COASTER Commercial Paper Program with SANDAG 

On September 27, 2019, the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) Board of Directors 
approved an amendment to the FY2020 Program Budget: Capital Improvement Program, which allocated 
$58.8 million to NCTD over four years, from FY2021 through FY2024, for the purchase of two additional 
train sets to provide more frequent COASTER commuter rail service.  

In order to take advantage of existing contracts and execute the procurement of the two train sets, in July 
2020, NCTD entered into a debt financing agreement through the TransNet program with SANDAG that 
provided for advanced funding. The agreement provides up to $46 million in a revolving amount and 
repayment of the principal amount commences within five years of the receipt of the proceeds and is due 
within ten years from the first receipt. Interest is payable monthly and is deducted from NCTD's monthly 
TransNet distributions. NCTD has not made any draws to date from the COASTER Commercial Paper 
Program with SANDAG. 

Estimated

Interest

Year Ending and Support Total

June 30, Principal Costs (1) Payments

2026 1,450,000 595,140 2,045,140

2027 1,500,000 542,360 2,042,360

2028 1,550,000 487,760 2,037,760

2029 1,600,000 431,340 2,031,340

2030 1,600,000 373,100 1,973,100
2031-2035 8,650,000 957,320 9,607,320

Total 16,350,000$    3,387,020$      19,737,020$    

(1) Based on a 3.64% fixed rate that includes interest and support costs



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

15 | P a g e

Investment Policy 

Board Policy No. 9 - Investment Policy, provides guidance and direction for the prudent investment of 
NCTD funds. The investment policies and practices of NCTD are based upon state law and prudent 
money management. All funds are invested in accordance with the Investment Policy and the California 
Government Code. The primary objectives of this policy are: 

a) Safety. Investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure preservation of capital 
in the portfolio. 

b) Liquidity. The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable NCTD to meet its cash 
flow requirements. 

c) Return on Investment. The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a 
market rate of return on its investments consistent with the constraints imposed by its safety 
objective and cash flow considerations. 

All NCTD investments are made in accordance with California Government Code Section 53600 et seq. 
The portfolio is diversified by security type and institution to avoid incurring unreasonable and avoidable 
risks regarding specific security types or individual financial institutions. At least annually, NCTD staff 
may review and suggest revisions to existing Board policies as appropriate and bring to the Board for 
consideration and approval. The Investment Policy was last updated in October 2024. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

16 | P a g e

San Diego County Profile and Economic Indicators 

County Population 

San Diego County (County) is the southernmost major metropolitan area in the state of California and is 
the second most populous county in the state. According to the State of California Department of Finance, 
the County’s population estimate was 3.29 million as of January 1, 2024, essentially unchanged from the 
prior year. San Diego County's population has grown an average of 0.5% annually since 2010, despite a 
constant decline in net migration since 2020. Population estimates from the San Diego Association of 
Governments (SANDAG) for the year 2040 indicate that the San Diego regional population will grow to 
approximately 3.43 million, a 22.0% increase from calendar year 2000 and an increase of 4.3% compared 
to 2023. 

SANDAG projects that in 2040, San Diego's population will continue to grow in its diversity with: 38.7% 
White; 34.3% Hispanic; 16.3% Asian and Pacific Islander; 4.1% Black; and 6.6% all other groups 
including American Indian. A significant growth in the region's Asian and Pacific Islander population and 
a decline in the region's White population is seen in this projection. 

North San Diego County (North County) includes nine incorporated cities, Carlsbad, Encinitas, 
Escondido, Del Mar, Oceanside, San Marcos, Solana Beach, Poway, and Vista, as well as 
unincorporated communities such as Bonsall, Fallbrook, Julian, Ramona, and Rancho Santa Fe. North 
County’s population, estimated at 1.2 million in 2022, has slightly declined over the past few years. The 
combination of COVID-19, high housing prices, and an aging population has led to some population loss. 
Demographic forecasts expect this to reverse, but it is unlikely that North County will see the kind of 
growth it experienced in earlier decades. Slowing population growth presents particular challenges for K-
12 school districts and for local governments, as sales tax growth is affected by population growth. 

North County’s population continues to grow considerably older, with those aged 65 years and over 
increased by 35% since 2015, while the population aged 64 and younger decreased by approximately 
2%. Most of the population growth is driven by people aged 55 and over and the younger population has 
decreased since 2015. 

The demographic of North County’s population has significant implications for its future economic growth. 
An older population creates more demand for healthcare services, specialized housing, long-term care, 
and other aging-related services. Some school districts may experience declines in students enrollment. 
The labor workforce will not expand significantly, which will create pressure on employment recruitment 
and retention and impede business growth. 

North County is more than half of the entire San Diego County territory. The area enjoys a wide variety 
of educational institutions, open spaces, beaches, lakes, parks, walking trails, mountain and canyon 
trails, nature preserves, and historic landmarks. North County’s median household income is higher than 
the rest of San Diego County. This higher median income creates demand for more goods and services; 
however, it has also creates a higher cost of living, stressing the budgets of the region’s less affluent 
households. A persistent regional challenge lies in fostering equitable prosperity, particularly between 
affluent coastal communities and working-class neighborhoods in the inland areas. 

North County residents work both locally and in the broader San Diego region with approximately half 
working locally and the other half commuting.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

17 | P a g e

Economic Environment 

According to the Federal Reserve (Fed) press release on January 29, 2025, recent indicators suggest 
that economic activity has continued to expand at a solid pace. The unemployment rate has stabilized at 
a low level in recent months, and labor market conditions remain solid. Inflation remains somewhat 
elevated (Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) January 28-29, 2025, Meeting Statement, Federal 
Reserve Press Release). In support of its goals, the Committee decided to maintain the target range for 
the federal funds rate at 4.25% to 4.5%. An increase in the federal funds rate generally reflects the Fed's 
objective to manage inflationary pressures and ensure long-term economic stability. By raising the rate, 
the Fed aims to moderate demand within the economy and prevent excessive inflation. In contrast, a 
reduction in the federal funds rate typically indicates the Fed’s intent to stimulate economic activity, 
particularly in periods of economic slowdown or low inflation. 

The San Diego region boasts one of the largest economies in the nation, surpassing the economic output 
of 25 states and 163 countries (San Diego Workforce Partnership, Navigating San Diego’s economic 
future: Insights from the 41st Annual Economic Roundtable, January 31, 2025). With breakthrough 
technology companies and research institutes, the largest military concentration in the world and a strong 
tourism industry, the San Diego region has one of the most dynamic economies in the United States. The 
region's quality of life attracts a well-educated, talented workforce and well-off retirees, which have 
contributed to local consumer spending. 

There is a significant decline in the San Diego labor force with one of the main reasons being a growing 
affordability crisis due to the high cost of living in the region. Nearly 35% of San Diego County residents 
struggle to meet San Diego County's Self Sufficiency Standard, which is approximately $58,745 per year 
for a single adult and around $97,861 per year per month for a household comprising two adults, one 
preschool-aged child, and one school-aged child. San Diego's job growth is lagging behind the state, with 
a trend of young people leaving due to high living costs. San Diego is one of the least affordable areas 
in the country with only a small percentage of workers able to afford a median-priced home. Conversely, 
San Diego continues to be a capital for attraction of venture funding, and billions have been invested in 
manufacturing, with San Diego being a key recipient of a lot of investments. 

North County has a strong and diversified economy, which includes life sciences, technology, software, 
defense, advanced manufacturing, and tourism. The economy is strengthened by a large healthcare, 
education, and uniformed military presence that is less impacted by the business cycle. North County 
has more than 600,000 employed individuals and unemployment remains low.  

After experiencing extraordinary growth in the three years following the onset of the COVID-19 public 
health emergency (FY2021-FY2023), sales tax revenue recorded negative growth in FY2024. SANDAG 
initially anticipated the dip in FY2024 to be a one-time occurrence; however, sales tax data in the first 
half of FY2025 pointed to another year of negative growth. In February 2025, SANDAG lowered its 
forecast for sales tax collections for FY2025 and the next five years. FY2026 sales tax revenue is 
anticipated to grow by 0.3% from FY2025 levels. After FY2026, sales tax revenue is forecast to gain 
momentum and converge on a long-term growth average that is slightly above 3% by FY2029. Several 
factors have contributed to softer performance in sales tax revenue, despite a relatively healthy economy: 

 General retail, which includes big box stores generally accounts for 28% to 30% of total sales tax 
revenues in the region. Revenue from this category has been depressed as big box stores have 
lowered prices to remain competitive. 

 Disinflation in gas prices and automobiles. While beneficial to consumers, the disinflation placed 
downward pressure on tax revenue from these sources. In the first five months of FY2025, 
gasoline prices in San Diego have averaged nearly 13% lower than the previous year. New and 
used vehicle prices fell 3% in FY2024 and have fallen another 3% in the first five months of 
FY2025. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

18 | P a g e

 Food products, which largely encompass restaurants (dine-in and take-out) and food delivery 
services, have also been facing headwinds as households are eating at home more. The cost of 
eating out has accelerated while the cost of food at home (e.g., food purchased at grocery stores) 
is growing in line with headline inflation. In the first five months of FY2025, the prices for food 
away from home climbed 11% compared to the same time last year; prices for food at home 
during the same period rose only 2%.  

Over the coming years, the District will face economic uncertainty and the District will need to consider 
additional cost reduction and revenue generating strategies such as adjusting service levels, 
reorganization, and leveraging resources outside of local revenue. District staff will continue evaluating 
opportunities to innovate and streamline efficient business processes. 

State of Public Transit  

Public Transportation Funding 

In 2021, U.S. President Joe Biden signed the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) providing historic levels 
of federal funding for transportation and infrastructure. The BIL authorized $108 billion for public transit 
and $102 billion for passenger and freight rail through federal fiscal year 2026 (NCTD’s FY2027). At the 
state-level, the California 2023-2024 budget package included $4 billion in additional formula funding for 
transit capital projects over two years and $1.1 billion for zero-emission capital projects over five years. 
NCTD, in partnership with SANDAG, submitted a work plan to receive $113 million in state funding from 
this package. In FY2025, NCTD received $54.4 million in new funding from the State which was primarily 
programmed for capital projects. Pending approval of the 2025-2026 State budget package, NCTD 
expects to receive an additional $51.8 million in FY2026, of which $37.1 million is programmed for capital 
projects.  

These significant investments have helped accelerate public transit’s positive impacts on the economy. 
According to estimates by the American Public Transportation Association (APTA), long-term investment 
in public transit generates a 5-to-1 economic return. Additionally, 87% of trips on transit directly benefit 
the local economy, with 50% representing trips to or from work and 37% representing trips to shopping 
and recreational spending. 

While funding for transit at both the state and federal levels has been strong in prior years, the outlook 
for continued or expanded support for transit is unclear. The IIJA is scheduled to expire on September 
30, 2026, and will need to be reauthorized by Congress to continue funding beyond its expiration date. 

Transit agencies in the United States are at an inflection point. Ridership, along with revenue generated 
from fares, remains below pre-pandemic levels. Costs continue to rise as agencies pay more to expand 
services and adopt innovations that are demanded by riders. Aging infrastructure is creating growing 
maintenance backlogs. Meanwhile, federal subsidies, which helped many agencies stabilize their 
operations and workforce during the disruptions caused by the pandemic, have largely been used. The 
end of federal support means that transit agencies must find new funding sources or be faced with the 
decision of making service cuts. 

National Ridership Picture 

According to a May 2025 report published by the American Public Transportation Association (APTA), 
public transit ridership is at 85% of the same period in 2019 as return-to-office policies and a strong job 
market both have aided in ridership recovery. Transit agencies continue to attract a wide range of 
commute and non-commute trips and indicators in several metro regions point to public transit recovery 
being led by trips to and from residential and commercial areas as opposed to office/work centers. 

The structure and makeup of local economies impacted the degree of ridership decline during the 
pandemic. Technology-focused economies with an existing and prominent work-from-home culture 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

19 | P a g e

initially noticed a steeper decline in ridership than those with more service industry jobs and essential 
workers who power the supply chain. Systems in college towns were also severely affected, as many 
universities closed and sent students home. Regions of the country that were hardest hit early in the 
pandemic (e.g., the Northeast, Seattle, and San Francisco Bay areas) had, in general, larger ridership 
drops than other areas of the country that saw the worst pandemic impacts later in 2020.  

Bus ridership recovery has been the consistent leader compared to other transit modes largely due to 
bus rider demographics. According to APTA’s Who Rides Public Transportation, 22% of bus riders are 
under the age of 25, twice the percentage of younger rail riders. With bus riders on average earning less 
than rail riders and often working non-office jobs, they have been a critical driver of ridership recovery for 
many public transit agencies. Bus and demand response have led the way followed by heavy/light rail 
and commuter rail trailing. In general, bus modes have been able to retain more riders than rail modes 
because they generally serve more essential workers, while rail modes serve more office commuters. 

NCTD Mobility Trends 

NCTD’s monthly systemwide ridership in FY2025 has surpassed budgeted figures and is projected to 
continue to for the remainder of the year. Systemwide ridership is projected to increase 4.9% in FY2026 
to almost nine million boardings or 86.4% of pre-pandemic levels. 

NCTD has seen a notable increase in the proportion of leisure riders. COASTER provides access to 
recreational activities along the coast, including events such as Padres baseball games, Comic Con, 
parades, and music festivals. NCTD increased service on COASTER in October 2021, including the 
addition of 10 weekday trips and 12 weekend trips. Since this service increase, the COASTER saw a 
38% increase in ridership between FY2022 and FY2023 following the service increase. Similarly, 
COASTER service sees a more than 50% increase in ridership on Padres’ gamedays versus non-
gamedays, underscoring the increased importance of leisure ridership.     

The economy is also impacting ridership. Rising transportation costs have contributed to a shift in 
consumer travel choices. The average price of new cars has risen by 30%, while the cost of purchasing 
used cars has seen an even greater increase at 40%. Furthermore, beginning on January 1, 2025, 
California’s minimum liability insurance requirements have doubled, increasing insurance premiums for 
drivers. Transit options offer relief from prohibitive transportation costs. In the City of San Diego, the 
annual savings by using public transit amounts to $14,929 per year. 

Regionally, several initiatives are changing the transit landscape within San Diego County, including the 
introduction of innovative new services, the activation of land near transit stations to generate organic 
ridership and create new housing opportunities, and the update of the region’s 40-year plan.   

Microtransit is making its debut into the public transit service industry. Microtransit is part of a broader 
range of mobility solutions known in the San Diego region as "Flexible Fleets." It involves the use of 
smaller buses and vans to offer on-demand trips within specific service zones. Microtransit is adaptable 
to various circumstances and can cater to different mobility needs, such as service in areas where the 
absence of infrastructure compromises the ability of fixed-route services to function, offering convenient 
connections for passengers traveling to and from existing fixed-route services and stations, and by 
facilitating local circulation by linking destinations at the community scale. NCTD launched its first NCTD+ 
service in June 2024 in San Marcos and subsequently in the City of Vista in May 2025.  

Throughout the county’s transportation network, SANDAG is leading regional efforts to improve modes 
of travel for all users. This includes Vision Zero, to eliminate collision harm on streets, expanding 
bikeways, and prioritizing specialized transportation for seniors and social services (SANDAG 2022 
Annual Report). Studies have shown that traveling by public transit is ten times safer per mile than 
automobile travel, and that a person can reduce their chance of collision by over 90% commuting by 
transit instead of car. In 2020, there were 134 times more fatalities on highways than on transit.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

20 | P a g e

To address housing supply issues and transit connectivity simultaneously, agencies are embracing 
Transit-Oriented Development (TOD) to provide convenient transit access. On a national scale, property 
values in proximity to public transportation were up to 24% higher than in other areas. NCTD is 
redeveloping multiple transit centers into mixed-use hubs. These efforts contribute to a more multimodal 
transportation system that is welcome to all types of users.  

The SANDAG draft 2025 Regional Plan invests in a multimodal transportation system that reduces travel 
times and improves access to essential destinations. More residents will be able to reach parks or retail 
stores within 15 minutes and access medical facilities within 30 minutes, enhancing quality of life and 
regional connectivity. The transportation system is categorized into several types of transportation 
projects: active transportation, Complete Corridors, transit, Flexible Fleets, and transportation system 
management. Complete Corridors accommodate multiple modes of travel including driving, transit, 
walking, and biking. They include managed lanes that are supported by technology and provide reliable 
travel times for rapid bus. The goal of a Complete Corridor is to provide safe, accessible, convenient, and 
flexible travel options among commonly traveled routes. Early insights from community outreach have 
revealed an interest in more frequent SPRINTER and COASTER service with expanded night and 
weekend service spans, as well as microtransit connections to transit stations, and demand for service 
connections to Palomar Airport and Riverside County.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

21 | P a g e

Regional Transportation Plan (RTP) 

Every four years, SANDAG prepares and updates a Regional Plan in collaboration with 18 cities and the 
County of San Diego along with regional, state, and federal partners. The Regional Plan combines three 
planning documents that SANDAG must complete per state and federal laws: the Regional 
Transportation Plan, Sustainable Communities Strategy, and Regional Comprehensive Plan. The most 
recent 2021 Regional Plan, which was adopted by the SANDAG Board of Directors on December 10, 
2021, provides the blueprint for how the San Diego region will grow through 2050 and beyond. The 2025 
Draft Regional Plan was released by SANDAG in May 2025 and is scheduled to be presented to the 
SANDAG Board in December 2025 for adoption. 

The 2021 Regional Plan has identified eleven major corridors of travel in the San Diego region, as well 
as improvements for each corridor, which includes the Interstate 5 North Coast Corridor and the North 
County Corridor. 

Interstate 5 (I-5) North Coast Corridor 

The I-5 North Coast Corridor provides people with vital connections to the San Diego metropolitan area, 
beach communities from Oceanside to Imperial Beach, dynamic academic and research communities at 
UC San Diego and the Torrey Pines Mesa, high tech employment centers in Sorrento Valley and in North 
County, numerous family attractions along the coast, coastal neighborhoods from La Jolla to Oceanside, 
and Orange County and beyond to the north. The LOSSAN Rail Corridor, which stretches 351 miles from 
San Diego north, includes NCTD's COASTER and SPRINTER service, along with Amtrak passenger 
trains and goods movement on the Union Pacific and BNSF railways. Recreation and commuting along 
the Coastal Rail Trail provides quality access for active transportation users. The 2021 Regional Plan 
focuses on highway capacity improvements on facilities that move more people, not just cars. The 
projects detailed in the 2021 Regional Plan will improve reliability and capacity along the rail corridor, 
increase facilities for walking and biking, and protect and enhance environmental resources.  

North County Corridor 

The North County Corridor stretches from the region’s North County beaches to its inland valleys and 
covers the cities of Oceanside, Vista, Carlsbad, San Marcos, and Escondido. It also includes 
unincorporated areas of San Diego County. Major transportation infrastructure in this area includes the 
SPRINTER hybrid rail between the Oceanside and Escondido transit centers; major local arterials, such 
as Palomar Airport Road, which connect residential neighborhoods with centers of employment and 
major highways including State Route 78 (SR 78) between I-5 and Interstate 15 (I-15); and western 
portions of SR 76. This corridor also includes the Inland Rail Trail bike path between Oceanside and 
Escondido. New mobility hubs situated along this corridor, and served by flexible fleets, will be vital for 
offering travelers numerous mobility options for the shorter trips they frequently take in this part of the 
region.  

The 2021 Regional Plan approach to the North County Corridor is to greatly expand transit offerings, 
while enhancing existing SPRINTER service. Numerous Rapid routes and an extension of the 
SPRINTER hybrid rail will provide access to North County employment, activity centers, and mobility 
hubs. 

2025 Draft Regional Plan 

The goal of the 2025 Regional Plan is to make transportation more convenient, equitable, healthy, and 
safe in the San Diego region. To ensure convenient and reliable movement, the Plan invests in a 
multimodal transportation system that reduces travel times and improves access to essential 
destinations. The Plan promotes equitable access to opportunities by expanding transit connections to 
mayor employment centers and higher education institutions.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

22 | P a g e

In the 2025 Regional Plan transportation network, managed lanes are used to offer priority access to 
transit, carpools and vanpools, motorcycles, and emergency vehicles. New and expanded transit services 
include improvements to regional rail, light rail, streetcar, a variety of bus options, including Rapid, 
express, local, local circulators, and rural. Flexible fleets (on-demand shared transportation services) are 
a key strategy for improving mobility and access.  

The most important near-term action related to transportation is to implement the Regional Transportation 
Improvement Program (RTIP), which includes the transportation projects and improvements scheduled 
to be built in the San Diego region over the next five year. Of significance to NCTD, the RTIP continues 
the double-tracking of the Los Angeles - San Diego - San Luis Obispo (LOSSAN) Corridor. 

Regional Transit Capital Improvement Program 

The Regional Transit Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a rolling 5-Year Plan, which outlines current 
transit needs and planned investments in transit capital, rehabilitation, and replacement projects. The 
program is updated annually and is designed to meet ongoing transit operational and infrastructure needs 
in a responsive and efficient manner.  

As the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for the San Diego region, SANDAG is the designated 
recipient for Federal Transit Administration (FTA) formula funds and is responsible for approving the grant 
applications for the San Diego region and programming the FTA Regional Transportation Improvement 
Program (RTIP). The RTIP is fiscally constrained, meaning that sufficient revenue is committed or 
reasonably assumed to be available from local, state, and/or federal sources for each phase of the project 
that is included in the RTIP. 

Three FTA formula programs: Section 5307 Urbanized Area Formula Program, Section 5337 State of 
Good Repair Program, and Section 5339 Bus and Bus Facilities Program, are the primary source of 
funding for the transit agency CIP and generally provide 80% of the cost of eligible activities. Additional 
state and local funding sources supplement the FTA programs. NCTD reviews and prioritizes its capital 
projects to ensure that operationally critical projects are funded. The NCTD Board of Directors approved 
the constrained FY2026-FY2030 CIP on January 23, 2025. The FY2026-FY2030 CIP was subsequently 
revised and is scheduled to be approved by the Board on June 26, 2025.  

NCTD Capital Improvement Program 

The Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a financial plan of adopted capital projects. The CIP is 
designed to meet NCTD’s ongoing operational and infrastructure needs in a responsive and efficient 
manner. NCTD Board Policy No. 29 - Capitalization and Asset Management, and Administrative Policy 
FIN-5054 - Capital Assets Recordkeeping, contain guidelines for defining a capital asset, generally 
described as an asset that has a unit cost of $5,000 or more with an expected life of more than one year. 
To aid in developing the CIP, NCTD Project Managers are directed to clearly identify projects that 
represent the ongoing operational and infrastructure needs that are in line with NCTD’s business plan, 
and proactively identify projects that can mitigate any potential service and safety issue.  

Project Managers also rely on the Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan, which identifies the assets 
owned, operated and/or maintained by NCTD, their condition, and how NCTD prioritizes funding to keep 
the transit network in a state of good repair. Key benefits of the TAM include reduced total costs of 
ownership by performing cost-effective activities at the right time, improved reliability of assets by 
predicting the condition and conducting preventative maintenance, and improved customer experience 
with reliable transit infrastructure. 

Budget preparation takes approximately nine months. The Project Management Office, in coordination 
with the Finance Division, is responsible for distributing instructions, materials, and the schedule for the 
annual CIP. Work typically begins in July/August with Project Managers submitting projects to be 
considered in the 5-Year CIP budget. Because project needs always exceed available funding, NCTD 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

23 | P a g e

has implemented the Capital Projects Steering Committee (CPSC) and a project evaluation and ranking 
tool to ensure that the most critical projects are funded. To meet regional deadlines, the CIP is approved 
by the Board in December or January and submitted to SANDAG to be incorporated into the Regional 
Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP) and, subsequently, in the State of California Transportation 
Improvement Plan. The District has the opportunity to make adjustments to the proposed CIP, which is 
reauthorized with the approval of the annual operating budget. All years beyond the current year are 
subject to change and require specific approval of the Board upon adoption of the annual operating 
budget. 

Below are the criteria considered by the CPSC during project evaluation for advancement in the CIP: 

Criteria Description 

Project Benefits What are the benefits provided by the execution of the project? 

TAM Plan Consistency Is the project included in the Transit Asset Management Plan? 

Useful Life Has the asset that is been replaced reached or about to reach the end 
of its useful life? 

Previously Funded by 
Contract 

Is this a previously funded project and is NCTD obligated under 
contract? 

Safety and Security Does the project help ensure the safety and security of our employees 
and customers? 

Mandated by Regulation Is the project required to meet legal obligations set forth by the state 
and/or federal government? 

Social Equity Does the project use public transit to address social equity by serving 
low-income or minority communities? 

Climate Change Is the project relevant in addressing climate change? 

During the CIP evaluation, NCTD implements a process to identify high priority capital projects for funding 
through the CPSC. This process includes reviewing and ranking submitted capital projects based on the 
aforementioned strategic value criteria. As capital projects require a significant investment, projects are 
evaluated individually during the CIP evaluation process leading to the NCTD Board approval. Division 
Chiefs rank their Division projects based on importance and priority. Once projects are prioritized through 
the evaluation process, the projects that will be advanced for funding will be based on financial constraints 
from federal, state, and local funds. 

After the Board approves the CIP in December or January, Project Managers are required to develop the 
scope of work (SOW) for their respective projects by April before the start of the new fiscal year. Capital 
projects that do not have a preliminary SOW submitted by April undergo further evaluation by the CPSC, 
which dependent on the project readiness, may be deferred to the next fiscal year’s CIP or be removed 
entirely from the CIP. This ensures that only capital projects that are ready for execution in the coming 
fiscal year are funded and can achieve their project milestones in a timely manner.  

NCTD’s Capital Improvement Program is highly contingent on receiving discretionary grant awards. Each 
year, NCTD develops a Discretionary Grants Program Strategy to support its goal of increased 
discretionary grant awards. The award of discretionary grants is critical in achieving a state of good repair 
as current dedicated funding sources are insufficient to meet NCTD’s annual needs for capital 
investment. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

24 | P a g e

Strategic Framework 

NCTD’s Strategic Framework is built upon the District’s “North Star”, which provides the framework on 
how the District prioritizes business initiatives and projects. The District’s North Star guides the District’s 
focus and commitment to the communities it serves, its customers, the environment, and its employees. 

Strategic Areas of Focus 

Each year, NCTD staff, its Board of Directors, customers, and key stakeholders identify Areas of Focus 
for the District. NCTD aligns its key business activities and initiatives with these identified objectives to 
ensure that budget, personnel, and business activities support the strategic direction and goals of the 
District. Below are the strategic areas of focus for FY2026:    

World-Class Customer Experience

 Enhance Service Reliability   

 Improve Customer Communications During Service Disruptions  

 Improve Real-Time Information  

 Maintain Service Needs for Essential Workers  

 Increase Oversight Over Operations Through Bus Transition  

 Explore Ability to Manage Corridor / Planning Studies  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

25 | P a g e

Safety and Security 

 Upgrade of Positive Train Control System  

 Prioritize Capital Improvements to Increase Rail Safety  

 Ensure Front Line Employee Safety and Security  

 Expand Reach of the District’s Sherriff’s Team  

 Increase Security on Modes and Transit Centers  

Fiscal Duty

 Manage Expenses Through the Bus Transition  

 Pursue Additional Operating Funding Sources  

 Actively and Aggressively Find Grant Opportunities for Priority Projects  

 Manage Work Conducted In-House vs. Externally  

 Understand the Impacts of Alternative Fuels on Agency Expenses  

 Identify Sustainable Revenue Source for Youth Opportunity Pass  

 Conduct Fare Analysis  

Community and Governmental Stewardship

 Support Local Economies Through Robust Transit Options  

 Ensure North County Communities Benefit from Project Opportunities  

 Continue Forging Partnerships Creating Short and Long-Term Successful Outcomes for 
Communities  

 Support City and County Projects Outside of the Transit Realm  

 Build on Relationships with Business Communities   

 Attend Community Events and Expand Involvement at City / County Planning Levels  

 Provide Feedback to Federal Reauthorization and Funding Opportunities  

 Explore Opportunities for Collaboration on the Los Angeles-San Diego-San Luis Obispo 
(LOSSAN) Corridor   

Employee Experience

 Enhance Employee Experience Through Bus Transition  

 Promote Succession Planning for Future Leaders  

 Provide Learning and Development Opportunities Available for All Employees  

 Manage Organizational Structure Effectively  

 Ensure the District is Competitive for Prospective Employees  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

26 | P a g e

Divisional Performance Targets 

The District’s North Star is supported by a series of metrics across all NCTD divisions that set specific benchmarks to measure progress 
toward meeting the objectives articulated in the Strategic Areas of Focus. The table below describes the Divisional Performance Targets 
for FY2026.   

Primary Division or 
Department Lead for 
Performance Target Metric Name Definition/Calculation Methodology FY2026 Target

District-Wide Ridership The number of passengers who board public 
transportation vehicles. Passengers are counted 
each time they board vehicles no matter how many 
vehicles they use to travel from their origin to their 
destination 

Ridership by Mode per the Service 
Implementation Plan: 

District-Wide Fare Revenue All income received directly from passengers, paid 
either in cash or through pre-paid tickets, passes, 
etc. 

Fare revenue by Mode per the Budget: 

District-Wide Responsible 
Delivery of Capital 
Improvement 
Projects 

Measurement from baseline schedule. For targets, 
on time delivery shall exclude delays outside of the 
Project Managers control, (i.e., funding availability, 
procurement issues, unforeseen conditions) and 
concludes when work is completed. As responsible 
as possible with the delivery of capital projects  

90% of FY26 projects completed on-
time to baseline schedule   

100% of FTA-funded capital projects 
with <33% delays and/or cost increases 

Customer Experience Percentage of 
Cases Researched 
in less than 3 Days 

Measures the time from when a customer concern 
is received and researched by the subject matter 
expert. Performance is dependent on operating 
divisions. 

> 90% of customer concerns must be 
researched in less than 3 business days

BREEZE 5,735,171
LIFT 118,861
FLEX 130,517
COASTER 919,746

SPRINTER 1,998,260
NCTD+ 77,514

BREEZE 6,033,114$   

LIFT 594,305
FLEX 310,769

COASTER 4,240,722

SPRINTER 1,252,430

NCTD+ 60,958



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

27 | P a g e

Primary Division or 
Department Lead for 
Performance Target Metric Name Definition/Calculation Methodology FY2026 Target

Customer Experience Percentage of 
Cases Closed in 
less than 5 Days 

Measures the time from when a customer concern 
is received, researched by the subject matter 
expert, a response provided, and the case is closed. 
Performance is dependent on operating divisions. 
Excludes claims, civil rights cases, and ADA 
determinations. 

> 95% of customer concerns must be 
closed in less than 5 business days 

Bus Operations Customer Feedback 
BREEZE 

Number of customer feedback when riding BREEZE Maximum negative feedback of 17 per 
100,000 boardings 

Bus Operations Customer Feedback 
LIFT 

Number of customer feedback when riding LIFT Maximum negative feedback of 1.5 per 
1,000 boardings 

Bus Operations Customer Feedback 
FLEX 

Number of customer feedback when riding FLEX Maximum negative feedback of 0.5 per 
1000 boardings 

Rail Operations Customer Feedback 
COASTER 

Number of customer feedback when riding 
COASTER 

Maximum negative feedback of 7 per 
100,000 boardings 

Rail Operations Customer Feedback 
SPRINTER 

Number of customer feedback when riding 
SPRINTER 

Maximum negative feedback of 5 per 
100,000 boardings 

Bus Operations On-Time 
Performance 
BREEZE 

On-time performance (OTP) is calculated using 
arrival times at time points with the Swiftly system. A 
bus is considered on time if it arrives at a time point 
no more than 5 minutes 59 seconds after the 
scheduled time. 

> 88% OTP 

Bus Operations On-Time 
Performance LIFT 

On-time performance (OTP) is calculated using 
arrival times at time points with the Trapeze system. 
A bus is considered on time if it arrives in the 30-
minute pickup window. 

> 92% OTP 

Bus Operations On-Time 
Performance FLEX 

On-time performance (OTP) is calculated using 
arrival times at time points with the Swiftly system. A 
bus is considered on time if it arrives at a time point 
no more than 5 minutes 59 seconds after the 
scheduled time or if it arrives in the 30-minute 
pickup window. 

> 88% OTP 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

28 | P a g e

Primary Division or 
Department Lead for 
Performance Target Metric Name Definition/Calculation Methodology FY2026 Target

Rail Operations  On-Time 
Performance - 
COASTER 

On-time performance (OTP) is calculated based on 
the scheduled run time from Oceanside to Santa Fe 
Depot. A train is considered on time if it arrives at 
the terminal location no more than 5 minutes and 59 
seconds after the scheduled arrival time. 

> 95% OTP 

Rail Operations On-Time 
Performance -
SPRINTER 

On-time performance (OTP) is calculated based on 
the scheduled run time from Oceanside to 
Escondido. A train is considered on time if it arrives 
at the terminal location no more than 5 minutes and 
59 seconds after the scheduled arrival time. 

> 95% OTP 

Security Part 1 Crimes Number of Part 1 crimes as defined by the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation Uniform Crime Reporting 
requirements (murder, forcible rape, aggravated 
assault, robbery, motor vehicle theft, burglary, 
larceny/theft, arson). Reduction through Transit 
Enforcement Services Unit (TESU) focused 
deployment/response. 

Reduction from FY2025 

Security Employee and 
Contractor Assaults 

Number of physical assaults perpetrated upon 
NCTD direct and/or contractor employees. 
Reduction through improved de-escalation training 
and improved reporting. 

Reduction from FY2025 

Security Customer Assaults Number of physical assaults perpetrated upon 
customers through high visibility law enforcement, 
Code Compliance Inspectors, and contracted 
security presence on board modes and at 
stations/transit centers, in conjunction with Control 
Center Technicians virtual patrols 

Reduction from FY2025 

Information 
Technology Systems  

System Reliability 
PTC 

The probability that a system adequately follows the 
defined performance specifications correctly while 
needed for operations 

99.99% (preventable delays) 

99.97% (preventable and non-
preventable delays) 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

29 | P a g e

Primary Division or 
Department Lead for 
Performance Target Metric Name Definition/Calculation Methodology FY2026 Target

Finance Timely Payment of 
Invoices 

Invoices paid based on contractor/vendor terms. 
NCTD standard is Net 30 after receipt of a properly 
billed invoice.  

Pay all invoices within terms 

Finance Monthly Financial 
Close 

Financial close of all revenues and expenses based 
on the accrual basis of accounting  

20 business days following the end of 
the calendar month 

Procurement and 
Contract 
Administration 

Timely Processing 
of Procurements 

Complete procurements within the timeframe set 
forth in Section 4.2 of the PCA Manual 

Varies based on each procurement’s 
specific schedule targets  

Information 
Technology 
Operations 

TVM Systems 
Customer 
Availability 

Percentage of time that NCTD ticket vending 
machines (TVMs) are fully functional and available 
to customers during transit hours (7 Days, 5:00 AM - 
9:00 PM) 

> 98% availability 

Real Estate Average Time to 
Process Right of 
Entry Request 

Processing Time = Agreement Execution Date - 
Complete Submittal Received Date (Initial submittal 
received date will also be tracked, but not measured 
in this goal) 

< 2 weeks processing time 

Office of Chief 
General Counsel 

Quality Assessment 
of Federal Contract 
Compliance 

Baseline deficient audited federal contracts  Reduce deficiencies in federal contract 
solicitation and award documentation 
compared to the prior audit 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

30 | P a g e

Government Finance Officers Association Distinguished Budget Award 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) presented a Distinguished Budget Presentation 
Award to the North County Transit District, California, for its annual budget for the fiscal year beginning 
July 1, 2024. The award represents a significant achievement for NCTD. It reflects the commitment of 
NCTD’s governing body and staff to meeting the highest principles of governmental budgeting. In order 
to receive the budget award, a governmental unit has to satisfy nationally recognized guidelines for 
effective budget presentation. These guidelines are designed to assess how well a budget serves as a 
policy document, financial plan, operations guide, and communications device. This award is valid for a 
period of one year only.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

31 | P a g e

Budget Development Policy 

NCTD’s budget policies are governed by NCTD Board Policy No. 17 - Budget Development. This policy 
ensures that proper procedures and controls are followed in the development and implementation of the 
annual operating budget and capital improvement program. This policy covers the basis of accounting 
and financial principles, budget development guidelines and conditions, budget development procedures, 
budget monitoring, and budget controls. 

Ongoing Operations 

NCTD funds ongoing operations with current revenues in a changing environment in which safety, 
compliance, and effectiveness are paramount. 

Balanced Budget 

NCTD adopts an annual balanced budget in which total revenues equal or exceed total expenses to 
support service, operations, and capital decisions by engaging staff and Board members to identify 
significant budget issues, focus on anticipated revenues and expenses, and integrate business capital 
needs to focus on maintaining an adequate level of capital investment into the Capital Improvement 
Program. Additionally, NCTD coordinates its long-range financial planning with the San Diego 
Association of Governments (SANDAG). 

Basis of Accounting 

NCTD accounting records are maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP) as established by the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB). NCTD uses the accrual 
basis of accounting for its audited financial statements. The budget for the enterprise fund is also 
prepared on the accrual basis except for depreciation expense, which is not budgeted. Accrual 
accounting records financial events based on economic rather than cash activity. Revenues are 
recognized when they are earned and realized, regardless of when actual payment is received. Expenses 
are recognized when incurred, regardless of when such expenses are paid. 

Finance Division Role 

The Finance Division is responsible for maintaining the records in accordance with GAAP, maintaining 
an effective capital assets financial record system, producing regular financial reports to the Board, 
overseeing the annual external audit, and adopting an investment policy that emphasizes safety, 
compliance, and liquidity before yield. 

Conservative Estimates of Revenues  

Revenues are estimated conservatively bearing in mind federal, state, and local conditions, considering 
new sources, and assessing fare and route changes as needed. One-time revenues generally should be 
used for one-time expenses or capital investments.  

Expenses 

Expenses are planned to support effective transportation by identifying priority services, establishing 
service levels, delivering efficient service, and ensuring fiscal stability.  

Capital Improvement Program 

NCTD adopts an annual Capital Improvement Program (CIP) based on need and in accordance with the 
long-term capital program. The District CIP has received scrutiny for cost, value, and priority to the 
District, and relevant details for each item have been reviewed for conformance to CIP requirements. 
Projects are funded only when revenues are already committed, or where budget savings or one-time 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

32 | P a g e

revenues can pay for such items, and for which consideration has been given to all funding sources and 
grants where applicable.  

Capital project expense differs from operating expense as capital expenses ordinarily result in the 
addition of a capital asset. NCTD Board Policy No. 29 - Capitalization and Asset Management, and 
Administrative Policy FIN-5054 - Capital Assets Recordkeeping, contain guidelines for defining a capital 
asset, generally described as an asset that has a unit cost of $5,000 or more with an expected life of 
more than one year. Once funding for a capital project is secured, the Grants department sets up each 
project with an expense and funding source budget. 

Some projects may not be capital but instead may be “operating projects”. This usually occurs when a 
grant is available to fund planning projects or other studies or operating activities that do not result in the 
creation of a capital asset. The expense that is charged to that project will ultimately be recorded as an 
expense in the operating accounts and must be budgeted in the operating budget. These operating 
expenses are set up as projects to facilitate grant reporting requirements and/or to track costs on special 
projects. 

Intergovernmental Relations 

NCTD maintains constructive relations with other government bodies that encourage shared use of 
facilities, joint purchases, and shared cost-of-service delivery to the end that transit services, connections, 
and accessibility will be improved. The NCTD Board of Directors adopted the calendar year 2025 
Legislative Agenda on December 19, 2024. The priorities for calendar year 2025 include; advocating for 
NCTD’s priorities within Federal Surface Transportation Reauthorization legislation, preserving and 
expanding public transportation funding options, supporting proposals to reform state and local funding 
mechanisms, exploring opportunities to maintain NCTD’s enabling legislation, and advancing efforts to 
streamline public transportation processes. 

Debt 

Short-term and long-term debt may be used for valid business reasons including temporary cash flow, 
emergency shortfalls, and urgent unfunded capital improvements, provided the Board reviews an 
analysis of the fiscal effect of the debt on District operations and adopts the debt by resolution. 

Fund Balance 

The District utilizes a single enterprise fund for operating and capital purposes; NCTD elected to have 
the enterprise fund as allowed under GASB Statement No. 20. Accordingly, the District does not have 
traditional fund balances as typically found at other government agencies. The enterprise fund is used to 
account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to a private business 
enterprise, where the expenses, including depreciation, of providing goods or services to the general 
public on a continuing basis are financed or recovered through user charges and grants. Although the 
District does budget for capital improvement projects, the related capital outlays are recorded as 
increases in “capital assets” and “net position - invested in capital assets” on the statement of net position 
of the enterprise fund. 

The FY2026 Operating Budget shows a balanced budget where total revenues equal total expenses; 
therefore, no changes are forecast for unrestricted net assets. 

Functional Level Budgeting 

The budget is prepared at the functional level by department to allow for accountability and control. After 
the initial functional budgets are prepared by department managers, budgets are reviewed by the Division 
Chiefs and executive staff. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

33 | P a g e

Cash Reserve Policy 

NCTD demonstrates prudence by maintaining reserves to adequately provide for unforeseen or special 
events. Board Policy No. 10 - Cash Reserve Funds, requires NCTD to maintain a minimum working 
capital balance of the lower of $15 million or 15% of the annually budgeted operating expenditures. In 
the event of unanticipated and unusual financial circumstances, including but not limited to spikes in the 
cost of fuel or other materials; urgent, high-priority needs; and unforeseen withdrawal or cutback of a 
revenue source, NCTD will propose an operating budget amendment per Board Policy No. 17. 

Budget Management 

NCTD maintains budget control through the formal adoption of an operating budget and CIP. Following 
approval, the budget is incorporated into the accounting system, at which point the budget is compared 
with actual performance throughout the fiscal year. Any unexpended appropriations from the operating 
budget automatically lapse at the end of the fiscal year. 

The budget is an evolving document that may change as economic and business conditions warrant. 
Changes to the budget take the form of budget transfers or Board-approved amendments. Budget 
transfers do not change the total appropriated amount and do not require Board action. Depending on 
the budget category affected by the transfer, approval may be granted as follows: 

 Division Chiefs have the discretion to reapportion funds between line items within their department 
or between departments in their division, except for salaries and wages, unless it is an adjustment 
to fund temporary staffing due to vacancies. Division Chiefs may not exceed the total appropriated 
amounts within their division. 

 The Chie Executive Officer may transfer funds between divisions but may not exceed the total 
appropriated amount for NCTD. 

An increase in the total appropriated amount for NCTD requires a budget amendment. Budget 
amendments require formal action by the Board of Directors.  

Budget Monitoring and Controls 

NCTD uses JD Edwards EnterpriseOne, an Enterprise Resource System (ERP), to process and record 
all its financial, accounting and procurement activities. The NCTD structure for operating revenue and 
expense accounts is driven by the Federal Transit Administration (FTA) National Transit Database (NTD) 
system of accounts. NTD is the primary repository for information and statistics on the transit systems of 
the United States. Recipients or beneficiaries of FTA grant funds are required to submit data in a 
standardized format to the NTD.  

The adopted budget becomes the main internal control document used to monitor and manage the 
District’s financial transactions. The Project or Department Manager must complete all the required 
documentation to support a request for procurement. These documents are reviewed by the department 
Management Analyst (MA) and, when complete, a requisition with the supporting documentation is routed 
through the ERP system for the required approvals. Once fully approved, the requisition is routed for 
processing by the Procurement and Contract Administration department. Special procurement 
requirements apply to purchases that use federal funds and may extend the time required for 
procurement.  

The Finance Division produces monthly budget to actual expenditures reports that are distributed to 
Division Chiefs and Department Managers intended to help staff control expenditures. The Finance 
Division also produces quarterly financial statements for the Board, which include the statement of 
changes and statement of net position compared to prior periods and budget, and explanations for 
significant variances. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

34 | P a g e

Budget Process 

Every year, NCTD develops its personnel, operating, and capital plans for the following fiscal year. This 
effort results in a Board-approved fiscal year budget. The budget outlines the expected funding sources 
and expenses that represent the District commitment to providing transit services and projects to serve 
the needs of our stakeholders and to maintain a state of good repair.  

Budget preparation takes approximately nine months. The Finance Division is responsible for distributing 
budget instructions and materials to each division and department for the operating budget. The Project 
Management Office distributes budget instructions and materials for the Capital Improvement Program 
(CIP). Work typically begins in July/August with project managers submitting projects to be considered in 
the 5-Year CIP budget. The operating budget cycle begins in January with departmental operating 
requirements and application of revised revenue projections and culminates by June with a public hearing 
and Board adoption of the budget. 

The operating budget is prepared from the bottom up to arrive at a functional-level and then a District-
level budget. Functional budgets are prepared first by Department Managers in collaboration with the 
Finance Division. The Finance Division then compiles the budget at the Division and District level. 
Additionally, the Finance Division is responsible for ensuring that the following critical documents for the 
upcoming fiscal year are submitted with the budget: 

1. Classification and Compensation Schedule 

2. Cost Recovery Fee Schedule 

3. Service Implementation Plan 

4. Allocation of Federal, State, and Local Funds 

5. Preventive Maintenance Funding Plan 

The proposed budget is typically first reviewed at the policy level by the Performance, Administration, 
and Finance (PAF) Committee of the Board to ensure the appropriateness of programs and expenses 
and to ensure that they meet District goals and objectives for the upcoming budget year. On March 20, 
2025, NCTD’s Board waived the requirement that the PAF review the budget before advancing to the 
Board and instead the full Board received an update on the development of the FY2026 Operating Budget 
and FY2026-FY2030 CIP at its May 15, 2025, meeting. The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer will present the draft operating budget to the NCTD Board for consideration and adoption on June 
26, 2025.  

Stakeholders 

For the development of the FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026-FY2030 CIP, responsibilities were 
assigned as follows: 

 The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) had the overall responsibility for planning, coordinating, 
analyzing, preparing, and issuing the budget, drafted the overall budget document, and presented 
the budget to the NCTD PAF Committee and the Board of Directors. 

 The Manager of Project Management Office and Chief Financial Officer had oversight of the 
Capital Improvement Program and lead the Capital Project Steering Committee (CPSC). 

 The Director of Service Planning was responsible for overseeing the development of the Service 
Implementation Plan (SIP) for the upcoming year, which includes service levels and ridership 
forecasts by mode of transportation. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

35 | P a g e

 Division Chiefs were responsible for preparing and submitting their Division budgets in 
accordance with the budget instructions. 

 Department Managers were responsible for preparing their departmental budgets in accordance 
with the budget instructions. 

 The Chief People Officer and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) reviewed staffing levels and requests 
for increased staffing or salary adjustments. 

 The CPSC evaluated and ranked capital projects to ensure that the most critical projects were 
funded. 

 Management Analysts coordinated the budget development process for their respective 
departments and divisions. 

 The Chief Executive Officer, in close consultation with the Division Chiefs and the Chief Financial 
Officer, made the final determination of the proposed budget to be submitted for approval to the 
Board of Directors. 

 The public reviews the proposed budget during the public hearing period conducted fifteen (15) 
days prior to the budget submission to the Board of Directors for approval. 

 The Board of Directors is responsible for adopting the annual operating budget and supplemental 
schedules, the annual CIP, and the 5-Year CIP. 

 Finance staff uploads the approved budget into the NCTD Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
system. 

Budget Calendar  

The District Fiscal Year begins on July 1 and ends on June 30.  

The FY2026-2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) kick-off meeting took place on July 23, 2024, and 
stakeholders received a presentation outlining the CIP process, roles and responsibilities, CIP evaluation 
criteria, project readiness, resources, and timeline. 

The FY2026 Operating Budget kick-off meeting took place on January 21, 2025, and stakeholders 
received a presentation outlining operating budget considerations, budget process, roles and 
responsibilities, accounting and budget financial principles, budget monitoring and controls, roles and 
responsibilities, and key dates.   

Below is the detailed summary of actions taken during the development process of the Fiscal Year 2026 
Operating Budget and FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP).  

Month(s) Description of Action 

July 2024 The Deputy Chief Development Officer presented the kick-off meeting for the 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) to include an overview of the CIP process, 
projects evaluation criteria, strategic priorities, roles and responsibilities, and 
timeline.   



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

36 | P a g e

Month(s) Description of Action 

July 2024 -  

August 2024 

Project Managers updated and added project information, funding requests, and 
project delivery schedules in the District's project management software for 
consideration in the 5-Year CIP. Project Managers reviewed previously 
approved capital projects to ensure that they were advancing as planned and 
reallocated funding from projects that had anticipated savings or were no longer 
advocated for various reasons. 

September 2024 Division Chiefs ranked projects within their divisions based on criticality (high, 
medium, low). The Capital Projects Steering Committee (CPSC) evaluated, 
ranked, and scored projects according to established criteria and prioritized on 
how well the respective project meets District goals and objectives. State of 
good repair, regulatory requirements, and safety and security were the highest 
priorities. 

October 2024 Capital projects were evaluated, ranked, and scored according to established 
criteria and prioritized on how well the respective project meets District goals 
and objectives. State of good repair, regulatory requirements, and safety and 
security were the highest priorities.  

October 2024 The CFO calculated the preliminary revenue estimates to determine the funding 
availability for the constrained CIP. Division Chiefs narrowed the list of their 
Division’s priority projects based on funding availability. 

November 2024 - 
December 2024 

The CPSC proposed the list of projects eligible for advancement in the 
constrained CIP based on established criteria and available capital funding. The 
Chief Executive Officer approved the final constrained CIP based on the 
preliminary revenue estimates. 

January 2025 NCTD Board approved the proposed FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement 
Program based on preliminary revenue estimates.  

January 2025 The CFO launched the kick-off for the development of the FY2026 Operating 
Budget with a presentation that included budget considerations, budget 
process, roles and responsibilities, accounting and budget financial principles, 
budget monitoring and controls, roles and responsibilities, and key dates. 

January 2025 The California State Controller Officer published the allocations for FY2026 for 
State Transit Assistance and State of Good Repair funds. 

February 2025 SANDAG’s Board approved the apportionments of Transportation Development 
Act (TDA), FTA, and Transnet Funds for FY2026, as well as SANDAG staff 
provided projections for the next four fiscal years to plan for capital projects and 
determine operating subsidies.  

February 2025 The FY2026-FY2030 CIP was programmed in SANDAG’s ProjectTrak system 
for inclusion in the Regional Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP). 

February 2025 - 

March 2025 

Management Analysts collaborated with Division Chiefs and Department 
Managers with budget responsibilities and completed the budget worksheets 
based on prior year fiscal results and trends and assumptions for the upcoming 
fiscal year. Open encumbrances were reviewed for rollovers to FY2026 due to 
timing of services and receipt of goods.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

37 | P a g e

Month(s) Description of Action 

March 2025 The Marketing, Service Planning, and Business Development (MSPBD) 
Committee received a presentation on the FY2026 Service Implementation Plan 
(SIP) key assumptions. 

April 2025 NCTD's Board set a public hearing date for June 26, 2025, for consideration of 
adoption of the proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and ratification of the 
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Plan. 

April 2025 The staffing plan, which included the insourcing of bus operations and 
maintenance, was completed and incorporated in the budget assumptions. 

April 2025 Constrained capital projects were re-evaluated, including considerations for 
funding needs and project readiness to determine whether these projects 
continued to be eligible for ratification by NCTD's Board. 

May 2025 The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) published the full year apportionments 
for Section 5307, 5337, and 5339 formula funds. 

May 2025 The Planning Department completed the draft of the proposed FY2026 Service 
Implementation Plan, which included ridership projections and revenue hour 
and revenue mile projections for all modes. 

April 2025 -  

May 2025 

The CEO, CFO, and Division Chiefs held multiple rounds of budget discussions 
to achieve a balanced FY2026 Operating Budget.  

May 2025 The CFO presented the proposed FY2026 Operating Budget to the full Board 
along with the key assumptions used and primary drivers for revenues and 
expenses. Revisions to the constrained FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement 
Program were also presented to the Board. 

June 2025 The FY2026 Operating Budget and FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Plan 
documents were released for public review and comment. 

June 2025 The Board will receive and consider public comment, close the public hearing, 
adopt the Operating Budget and Capital Improvement Program, and approve 
the Service Implementation Plan, Employee Classification and Compensation 
Schedules, and Cost Recovery Fee Schedule.  

June 2025 The approved budget will be entered into the District financial system. NCTD 
staff will submit applications as needed to funding agencies. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

38 | P a g e

Service Implementation Plan (SIP) 

The Service Implementation Plan (SIP) outlines the District’s plans to provide multimodal transit services 
over the next five (5) years. The SIP is a requirement under the Master Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) with the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) and is used to inform NCTD’s annual 
operating budget.  

The SIP development process consists of the compilation and review of historic service levels, ridership, 
and studies that outline capital and operating investments for the District. Planning coordinates with 
Finance, Bus Operations, and Rail Operations to review and develop the assumptions. Finance staff 
calculates the cost associated with the proposed services. The costs are then included in the proposed 
NCTD annual operating budget for Board approval. 

SIP Key Assumptions 

NCTD uses conservative estimates to forecast ridership. The conservative projection is consistent with 
Board Policy No. 17 - Budget Development, which requires staff to conservatively estimate revenues and 
expenses. The conservative forecast allows NCTD to stress test and confirm that the budget for the 
upcoming fiscal year will be balanced under the assumed worst-case scenario. 

Ridership estimates for the FY2026 SIP are based on observed mode-specific ridership trends. Both 
year-over-year (YOY) ridership changes and anticipated service levels for each mode factor into 
projections. Miles and hours projections are based primarily on scheduled daily service, while service 
statistics for on-demand modes, such as LIFT and NCTD+, are based on projected ridership. Absolute 
work windows, holidays, and special events are also considered in both service and ridership projections. 
Other factors, such as uncertain funding projections, changing travel patterns, station redevelopment 
efforts, and evolving land use and development patterns, influence the phasing of proposed service 
changes.   

Strategic Priorities 

Uncertain funding projections at all levels of government, coupled with decreasing sales tax revenues, 
pose significant challenges in projecting future service levels. Should the current forecast continue 
without the introduction of a new funding source, NCTD will likely need to reduce service levels in future 
years. This service reduction may impact all NCTD modes. With this uncertainty in mind, the FY2026 
Service Implementation Plan has been developed to support strategic investments that can be 
implemented over a five-year period that aim to increase ridership and address capital priority needs 
while being mindful of a constrained resource environment. Key strategic service priorities that are 
relevant to the five-year horizon of the Service Implementation Plan include: 

 Strategically expand first-last mile services through NCTD+ as funding permits 

 Conduct a Bus Network Redesign to restructure the BREEZE network of routes under a variety 
of funding scenarios 

 Complete grant-funded construction of two new stations along the COASTER corridor that will 
serve major regional events 

 Advance project activities that will support the future implementation of 15-minute frequencies on 
SPRINTER 

In January 2025, NCTD submitted a Caltrans Planning Grant application to conduct a Bus Network 
Redesign. At the time of the development of the Service Implementation Plan, NCTD is awaiting the 
results of the grant application. The Bus Network Redesign is a comprehensive study that will assess 
opportunities to restructure the BREEZE bus network to increase ridership. The study will include three 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

39 | P a g e

key scenarios, including a reduced funding scenario, maintenance of funding scenario, and increased 
funding scenario. Service scenarios and cost estimates would be developed as part of the study and 
incorporated in future Service Implementation Plans upon final adoption of the plan and appropriate 
financial outlook.  

System Summary 

Service statistics and ridership projections are reviewed each budget cycle to reflect actual performance 
and to assess the accuracy of previous forecasts. The FY2025 Service Implementation Plan (SIP), 
developed in the spring of 2024, incorporated ridership and service data from July 2023 to February 
2024. NCTD projected a 4% increase in ridership by the end of FY2025, aiming to reach 77.1% of pre-
pandemic levels. Forecasts were based on service restoration and additional service increases on high-
performing BREEZE routes, the introduction of new NCTD+ microtransit zones, and the continued 
ridership benefits of COASTER special event service and the Youth Opportunity Pass program.  

As shown in Figure 1 below, monthly systemwide ridership in FY2025 has surpassed budgeted figures 
and is projected to continue for the remainder of the year. Figure 2 shows a graphical perspective of 
NCTD boardings over the last five fiscal years by mode.  

Figure 1. FY2025 Systemwide Monthly Ridership 

Figure 2. Ridership – Last Five Years 

 -

 1,000,000

 2,000,000

 3,000,000

 4,000,000

 5,000,000

 6,000,000

FY2021
Actual

FY2022
Actual

FY2023
Actual

FY2024
Actual

FY2025
Projected

BREEZE LIFT FLEX COASTER SPRINTER NCTD+



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

40 | P a g e

Service Levels and Ridership Projections 

NCTD is implementing significant changes in the upcoming fiscal year that are expected to enhance 
service quality and customer satisfaction. Most notably, the District will be transitioning to in-house bus 
operations in FY2026. The change will impact BREEZE, FLEX, LIFT, and NCTD+, and the transition is 
expected to improve service reliability and reduce operator turnover. Systemwide ridership is projected 
to increase 4.9% in FY2026 to almost nine million boardings or 86.4% of pre-pandemic levels. NCTD 
continues to explore and advance additional customer-focused initiatives to attract new riders. 

Table 1 shows the projected ridership and operating statistics by mode for FY2026. Table 2 shows the 
projected operating statistics by mode for FY2026 compared to the FY2025 forecast and FY2024 actuals.

Table 1. FY2026 Projected Ridership and Operating Statistics  

Mode/Metric Ridership 
Revenue 

Miles 

Total  

Miles 

Revenue 

Hours 

Total  

Hours 

BREEZE 5,735,171 5,062,584 5,759,795 429,066 465,347

SPRINTER 1,998,260 518,850 521,083 23,585 23,738

COASTER 919,746 401,139 426,825 12,302 13,708

LIFT 118,861 1,186,922 1,282,687 66,037 78,884

FLEX 130,517 373,196 466,507 26,542 30,772

NCTD+ 77,514 230,635 312,883 23,546 31,464

System Total 8,980,069 7,773,326 8,769,780 581,078 643,913

BREEZE 

BREEZE service changes outlined in the FY2025 SIP included the restoration of service levels on 
remaining BREEZE routes that had been reduced due the COVID-19 operator shortage, the 
reintroduction of BREEZE 408 special event service, and frequency increases on four of NCTD’s highest-
performing BREEZE routes. The FY2025 SIP projected a 7.4% increase in ridership by the end of FY2025 
and annual ridership 77.1% of pre-pandemic levels.  

Restoration of BREEZE service levels were completed in June 2024. Further BREEZE frequency 
increases have been postponed and two low-performing routes were discontinued during the May 2025 
service change. Despite these changes, BREEZE ridership in FY2025 has benefited from more accurate 
reporting due to the Federal Transit Administration’s certification of its bus fleet’s automated passenger 
counters on May 23, 2024. As shown in Figure 3, BREEZE monthly ridership in FY2025 has exceeded 
all budgeted projections and total year-to-date (YTD) boardings are 8.9% above expectations. 

The only change to BREEZE service planned in FY2026 is the reintroduction of BREEZE 408 special 
event service in the fourth quarter. FY2026 ridership is anticipated to increase 4.3%, from an estimated 
5.5 million boardings in FY2025 to roughly 5.7 million in FY2026. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

41 | P a g e

Figure 3. FY2025 BREEZE Monthly Ridership 

LIFT 

As shown in Figure 4, LIFT ridership has largely outperformed monthly budgeted goals in FY2025, 
exceeding the budgeted goal for seven of the past nine months of actual data. Overall year-to-date (YTD) 
ridership in FY2025 has exceeded budget by 2.7% and is projected to exceed the annual budgeted goal 
by 1.7%. LIFT ridership is projected to increase to close to 120,000 boardings in FY2026. 

Figure 4. FY2025 LIFT Monthly Ridership 

FLEX  

Strong, sustained growth on the original FLEX routes and the introduction of COASTER Connection 
service in late FY2024 have contributed to the monthly overperformance illustrated in Figure 5. Year-to-
date FLEX ridership has surpassed projections by 58.9% and total boardings have increased 105.8% 
year-over-year. FLEX ridership is anticipated to continue to increase in FY2026. The inclusion of 
COASTER and FLEX services into the U-Pass program for the University of California San Diego’s 
students is expected to further improve ridership on COASTER Connection services.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

42 | P a g e

Figure 5. FY2025 FLEX Monthly Ridership 

COASTER 

Year-to-date ridership on COASTER has increased 5.3% compared to the previous fiscal year, higher 
than the 3.3% increase projected in the FY2025 SIP. However, as shown in Figure 6, COASTER monthly 
ridership compared to budgeted goals has been varied. July 2024 ridership, for example, was almost 
10% below budgeted while the Padres’ post-season appearance helped October 2024 ridership surpass 
the budgeted goal by 21.7%. 

Over 900,000 COASTER boardings are projected in FY2026, a 2.6% increase from FY2025. No service 
expansions are planned in FY2026 and the operating statistics in Table 1 largely reflect variations in the 
number of weekdays, Saturdays, and Sundays.

Figure 6. FY2025 COASTER Monthly Ridership 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

43 | P a g e

SPRINTER 

As shown in Figure 7, FY2025 SPRINTER ridership has largely exceeded budgeted goals with YTD 
ridership surpassing expectations by 4.1% and total boardings having increased 4.6% from FY2024. 
SPRINTER is expected to continue its growth trend, increasing by 4% to nearly two million boardings in 
FY2026. There are no SPRINTER service changes proposed in FY2026 and the operating statistics 
shown in Table 1 reflect variations in the share of weekdays, Saturdays, and Sundays. 

Figure 7. FY2025 SPRINTER Monthly Ridership 

NCTD+ 

In June 2024, NCTD introduced its on-demand microtransit service, NCTD+, as a pilot in San Marcos. 
As shown on Figure 8, the service ramped up quickly and started reaching its ridership targets after only 
four months of service. NCTD+ ridership is anticipated to increase significantly in FY2026 with a full year 
of microtransit service in Vista and San Marcos. Additionally, NCTD intends to pursue flexible fleets 
funding through the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) to support the launch of a third 
pilot zone in Fallbrook and Pala. 

Figure 8. FY2025 NCTD+ Monthly Ridership 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

44 | P a g e

Table 2. FY2026 Budget - Service Implementation Plan 

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025 

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026 

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

BREEZE

Ridership    4,876,019    5,012,883    5,497,704    5,735,171 14% 4.3%

Revenue Miles    4,892,488    5,157,363    5,068,291    5,062,584 -1.8% -0.1%

Total Miles    5,608,830    5,956,784    5,877,533    5,759,795 -3.3% -2.0%

Revenue Hours       411,851       421,320       429,154       429,066 1.8% 0.0%

Total Hours       441,144       455,034       463,297       465,347 2.3% 0.4%

LIFT

Ridership       105,244       113,699       115,683       118,861 4.5% 2.7%

Revenue Miles       903,563    1,079,769       967,296    1,186,922 9.9% 22.7%

Total Miles       995,221    1,189,805    1,045,379    1,282,687 7.8% 22.7%

Revenue Hours        53,654        63,167        56,259        66,037 4.5% 17.4%

Total Hours        61,515        71,375        64,288        78,884 10.5% 22.7%

FLEX

Ridership        48,663        62,055       100,882       130,517 110.3% 29.4%

Revenue Miles       320,948       405,196       392,137       373,196 -7.9% -4.8%

Total Miles       337,743       490,302       481,484       466,507 -4.9% -3.1%

Revenue Hours        17,414        24,697        25,948        26,542 7.5% 2.3%

Total Hours        18,472        37,827        33,146        30,772 -18.7% -7.2%

COASTER

Ridership       852,993       898,301       896,810       919,746 2.4% 2.6%

Revenue Miles       399,691       410,753       401,289       401,139 -2.3% 0.0%

Total Miles       425,396       436,530       426,959       426,825 -2.2% 0.0%

Revenue Hours *        12,274        12,647        12,320        12,302 -2.7% -0.1%

Total Hours        13,673        14,087        13,727        13,708 -2.7% -0.1%

SPRINTER

Ridership    1,822,849    1,890,347    1,922,174    1,998,260 5.7% 4.0%

Revenue Miles       512,781       519,070       503,962       518,850 0.0% 3.0%

Total Miles       516,671       521,305       506,892       521,083 0.0% 2.8%

Revenue Hours        23,296        23,595        22,911        23,585 0.0% 2.9%

Total Hours        23,497        23,749        23,081        23,738 0.0% 2.8%

NCTD+

Ridership             146        35,283        26,002        77,514 100.0% 198.1%

Revenue Miles             562        94,656        84,968       230,635 100.0% 171.4%

Total Miles          3,523       123,589       127,584       312,883 100.0% 145.2%

Revenue Hours             113        13,680          8,319        23,546 100.0% 183.0%

Total Hours             711        15,454        12,366        31,464 100.0% 154.4%

SYSTEM

Ridership    7,705,914    8,012,568    8,559,255    8,980,069 12.1% 4.9%

Revenue Miles    7,030,033    7,666,807    7,417,943    7,773,326 1.4% 4.8%

Total Miles    7,887,384    8,718,315    8,465,831    8,769,780 0.6% 3.6%

Revenue Hours       518,602       559,106       554,911       581,078 3.9% 4.7%

Total Hours       559,012       617,526       609,905       643,913 4.3% 5.6%

* Includes in-service hours and adjusted layover hours



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

45 | P a g e

Financial Forecast and Significant Assumptions 

Grant Revenue 

NCTD receives federal, state, and local revenue to support both capital projects and ongoing operations. 
SANDAG is responsible for the apportionment of these various funds, as well as forecasting revenues 
for the Transportation Development Act (TDA) and TransNet local sales tax programs. The State of 
California State Controller’s Office estimates the state apportionments of the State Transit Assistance 
(STA) and State of Good Repair (SGR) programs by January 31 of each year pursuant to statutory 
requirements. The Federal Register provides the apportionments for the federal programs, which are 
subject to Congressional appropriations. Federal Transit Administration (FTA) formula programs 
generally provide 80% of the cost of eligible capital and maintenance activities. Additional state and local 
funding sources supplement the FTA programs and fund operations. The District’s financial health is 
dependent on economic and political conditions that affect these revenue sources.  

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Formula Programs 

Section 5307 

Section 5307 Urbanized Area Program provides funding for transit capital and operating assistance in 
urbanized areas and for transportation-related planning. Eligible activities under this program include 
planning, engineering design, and evaluation of transit projects and other technical transportation-related 
studies; capital investments in bus and bus-related activities such as replacement of buses; overhaul and 
rebuilding of buses; crime prevention and security equipment; construction of maintenance and 
passenger facilities; and capital investments in new and existing fixed guideway systems including rolling 
stock, overhaul and rebuilding of vehicles, track, signals, communications, and computer hardware and 
software. All preventive maintenance and some Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) complementary 
paratransit service, while recorded as operating expenditures, are considered capital costs for purposes 
of eligibility. The FTA defines preventive maintenance as all maintenance costs related to vehicles and 
non-vehicles. Specifically, it is all the activities, supplies, materials, labor, services, and associated costs 
required to preserve or extend the functionality and serviceability of the asset in a cost-effective manner, 
up to and including the current state-of-the-art for maintaining such an asset.  

The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), as enacted in the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), 
increased funding for this Program by $33.5 billion over a five-year period (Federal FY2022-FY2026) to 
support transit operations in 500 communities across the country. The formula for determining each 
metropolitan area’s share of funds involves population, density, bus and rail vehicle miles, and rail route 
miles. The FTA publishes annually the allocations for the recipients. SANDAG is the designated recipient 
and then allocates the funds between NCTD and MTS. The FY2026 allocation is 30% for NCTD and 70% 
for MTS after SANDAG deductions for the Regional Vanpool Program. For FY2026, NCTD was allocated 
$27.9 million of Section 5307 funds (increase of 2.2% from FY2025). The 5-Year Plan assumes an 
extension of the IIJA through FY2030 at the same level as FY2026. 

Section 5337 

This State of Good Repair Program provides capital assistance for maintenance, replacement, and 
rehabilitation projects of high-intensity fixed guideway and bus systems to help transit agencies maintain 
assets in a state of good repair. Additionally, State of Good Repair grants are eligible for developing and 
implementing Transit Asset Management plans. This program reflects a commitment to ensuring that 
public transit operates safely, efficiently, reliably, and sustainably so that communities can offer balanced 
transportation choices that help to improve mobility, reduce congestion, and encourage economic 
development. Eligible activities include projects that maintain, rehabilitate, and replace capital assets as 
well as projects that implement transit asset management plans. High-intensity motorbus tier funds can 
only be used for vehicle state of good repair costs and not for roadway state of good repair costs.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

46 | P a g e

The IIJA increased funding for this Program by $23.1 billion over a five-year period (Federal FY2022-
FY2026) to assist in financing capital projects to maintain public transit systems. The FY2026 allocation 
for the San Diego region is 30% for NCTD and 70% for MTS after MTS takes the allocation specific to 
High Intensity Motorbus. For FY2026, NCTD was allocated $20.1 million of Section 5337 funds (increase 
of 0.6% from FY2025). The 5-Year Plan assumes an extension of the IIJA through FY2030 at the same 
level as FY2026. 

Section 5339 

The Bus and Bus Facilities Program makes federal funding available for the purpose of financing capital 
bus and bus-related projects which will support the continuation and expansion of public transportation 
services in the United States. There also is a sub-program that provides competitive grants for bus and 
bus facility projects that support low- and zero-emissions vehicles. The purpose of both formula and 
competitive programs is to provide capital funding to replace, rehabilitate, and purchase buses, vans, 
and related equipment, and to construct bus-related facilities. The FY2026 allocation for the San Diego 
region is 30% for NCTD and 70% for MTS. For FY2026, NCTD was allocated $1.8 million of Section 
5339 funds (increase of 2% from FY2025). 

Section 5311 

FTA Section 5311 provides capital, planning, and operating assistance to states to support public 
transportation in rural areas with populations of less than 50,000, where many residents often rely on 
public transit to reach their destinations. NCTD receives FTA 5311 funding through Caltrans. 

Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 

The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL), as enacted in the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) 
and signed into law on November 15, 2021, authorized up to $108 billion for public transportation 
(including $91 billion in guaranteed funding) - the largest federal investment in public transportation in 
the nation’s history. The legislation reauthorizes surface transportation programs for federal fiscal years 
FY2022-2026 and provides advance appropriations for certain programs. Key priorities for public 
transportation under the legislation include: 

 Safety: The law will enhance state safety oversight programs by strengthening rail inspection 
practices, protecting transit workers and riders from injuries, and ensuring safe access to transit. 

 Modernization: The law will reduce the maintenance backlog by repairing and upgrading aging 
transit infrastructure and modernizing bus and rail fleets. 

 Climate: Funding in the law will support replacement of thousands of transit vehicles, including 
buses and ferries, with cleaner, greener vehicles.  

 Equity: Investments in the law will improve transit service for communities that have historically 
had more limited access to transit and provide for substantial upgrades to accessibility. 

The IIJA is scheduled to expire on September 30, 2026, and will need to be reauthorized by Congress to 
continue funding beyond its expiration date. Reauthorization by Congress will be critical by NCTD in order 
for the District to be able to fund capital projects and its state of good repair program. The 5-Year Plan 
assumes an extension of the IIJA through FY2030 at the same level as FY2026. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

47 | P a g e

State Grant Revenue 

Transportation Development Act (TDA) and State Transit Assistance (STA) 

The Mills-Alquist-Deddeh Act (SB 325), or Transportation Development Act of 1971, was enacted by the 
California Legislature to improve existing public transportation services and encourage regional 
transportation coordination. TDA provides funding to be allocated to transit and non-transit related 
purposes that comply with regional transportation plans. The TDA provides two funding sources: (1) Local 
Transportation Fund (LTF), which is derived from a one-quarter of a cent of the general sales tax collected 
statewide and (2) State Transit Assistance fund (STA), which is derived from the statewide sales tax on 
diesel fuel. TDA funds a wide variety of transportation programs, including planning and program 
activities, pedestrian and bicycle facilities, community transit services, public transportation, and bus and 
rail projects. Providing certain conditions are met, counties with a population under 500,000 (according 
to the 1970 federal census) may also use the LTF for local streets and roads, construction, and 
maintenance. The TDA LTF program is the major funding source that supports the San Diego region’s 
public transit operators. The STA fund can only be used for transportation planning and mass 
transportation purposes.  

The State Board of Equalization, based on sales tax collected in each county, returns the general sales 
tax revenues to each county. The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG), as the Regional 
Transportation Planning Agency, is responsible for apportionment of TDA funds each year in 
conformance with state statute. Pursuant to state statute, the County of San Diego Auditor has the 
responsibility for providing the TDA apportionment for the upcoming fiscal year. The County Auditor 
develops the apportionment in consultation with SANDAG staff and with the transit operators, based on 
actual sales tax receipts and projections. The legislative priorities established by state law include certain 
categories for which TDA funds are taken “off the top.” These include the allocation to SANDAG for 
various planning, programming, and administrative-related expenses, funding of bike and pedestrian 
facilities, and support of community transit services. In addition, the County Auditor receives an allocation 
based on estimates of its costs to administer the TDA program. The remaining apportionment, along with 
any prior year carryover funds, is available to be claimed by North County Transit - San Diego Railroad 
(NCTD) and Metropolitan Transit System (MTS). 

Senate Bill 1 (SB1) 

Senate Bill 1, the Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017, was signed into law on April 28, 2017. 
The legislation increased both gasoline and diesel taxes, while also creating new vehicle taxes and fees 
to fund transportation. The tax increases took effect on November 1, 2017, and new vehicle registration 
fees began on January 1, 2018. Fees on zero-emission vehicles took effect on July 1, 2020. SB1 funds 
are programmed for: 

 State Transit Assistance (STA) Program: Funding to help transit agencies fund their capital 
infrastructure and operational costs and is distributed via current funding formulas based on 
agency revenue and population. 

 State of Good Repair Program (SGR): Funding for transit capital projects or services to maintain 
or repair existing transit fleets and facilities; new vehicles or facilities that improve existing transit 
services; or transit services that complement local efforts to repair and improve local 
transportation infrastructure. This money is made available to eligible transit operators based on 
the STA formula.



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

48 | P a g e

State Rail Assistance (SRA) 

Senate Bill 1 created the State Rail Assistance Program by directing a portion of new revenue specifically 
to intercity rail and commuter rail. Most of the program funding is directed by statutory formula to rail 
operators. Funds are allocated among the five California commuter rail operators based on a formula 
that combines a fixed guaranteed amount and a variable amount based on service levels. SRA-funded 
projects are focused investments by the state to improve commuter and intercity rail service across the 
state, reduce air pollution and ease traffic congestion.  

State Rail Assistance provides California's commuter and intercity rail agencies with dependable 
supplemental revenue that they can use to improve rail service in various ways, including: 

 Operations funding for expanded service; 

 Increased customer amenities such as discounted tickets; 

 Capital investments such as new and clean emissions rolling stock to increase capacity and 
reduce emissions; and 

 Track and station investments that can reduce travel times, delays, improve accessibility, and 
enhance the customer experience. 

Senate Bill 125 (SB125) 

In July 2023, the State of California passed Senate Bill 125 (SB125), which served as a trailer bill to the 
State’s FY2023-2024 budget and guides the distribution of $4 billion in General Fund through the Transit 
and Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP) on a population-based formula to regional transportation 
planning agencies, which will have the flexibility to use the money to fund transit operations or capital 
improvements. The transportation budget trailer bill also established the $1.1 billion Zero-Emission 
Transit Capital Program (ZETCP) to be allocated to regional transportation planning agencies on a 
population-based formula and another formula based on revenues to fund zero-emission transit 
equipment and operations. SB 125 included an accountability program to govern the distribution of these 
funds. To be eligible to receive money from these funding sources, regional transportation planning 
agencies must submit a regional short-term financial plan to the California State Transportation Agency 
(CalSTA). The FY2026 budget includes $48.3 million of SB125 and $3.5 million of ZETCP funds, of which 
$37.1 million are programmed for capital projects.   

Local Grant Revenue 

TransNet - Transit Services 

TransNet is a funding source created originally by Proposition Z, the one-half cent local countywide sales 
tax originally enacted in November 1987 to fund a 20-year transportation program that expired at the end 
of 2008. In November 2004, San Diego County voters approved Proposition A, which extended TransNet 
an additional 40 years through 2048 (Ordinance). Proposition A mandates the formation of an 
Independent Taxpayer Oversight Committee (ITOC) to provide oversight for the expenditures of TransNet 
funds and ensure that voter mandates are carried out. In addition, the ITOC makes recommendations to 
improve the program’s financial integrity and performance.  

After deducting costs associated with administrative expenses; the operation of the TransNet 
Independent Taxpayer Oversight Committee (ITOC); and the Bicycle, Pedestrian, and Neighborhood 
Safety program; the TransNet program is divided into Major Corridor (42.4%), New Bus Rapid Transit/Rail 
Operations (8.1%), Local System Improvements (33%), and Transit System Improvements (16.5%). 
Within the Transit System Improvements, services provided pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities 
Act of 1990 (ADA) and subsidies for seniors have specific earmarks (2.5% and 3.25%, respectively). The 
remaining revenues can be used by the transit agencies for operating or miscellaneous capital purposes. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

49 | P a g e

Similar to TDA, the transit share between NCTD and MTS is allocated based upon the respective 
population of the two transit agencies’ service areas.

TransNet - New Major Corridor Transit Operations (NMCTO) 

After deducting the costs associated with administrative expense, the ITOC, and the bicycle/pedestrian 
program, the NMCTO receives 8.1% of TransNet revenues. This funding is for the operation of new or 
expanded services only and is not available for the operation of services in existence prior to the effective 
date of the Ordinance. The following services were listed in the Ordinance:  

 Rapids: SuperLoop, I-15, Mira Mesa, Mid-City, South Bay  

 Mid-Coast Trolley 

 COASTER peak and midday frequency increases 

 SPRINTER peak and midday frequency increases 

 Blue Line midday frequency increases 

 San Ysidro-Sorrento Rapid 

On October 25, 2021, COASTER service was increased to 30 weekday daily trips, 32 Friday daily trips, 
and 20 weekend daily trips. The expanded COASTER service receives support from TransNet NMCTO 
funds. 

Fare Revenue  

Fare revenues include fare receipts collected from money deposited in the farebox and ticket vending 
machines (TVMs) or collected through sales of tickets and passes at various transit centers, ticket outlets, 
college agreements, employer agreements, mobile ticketing, and online. Fare revenues are based on 
ridership of the various modes of transportation. The COASTER and BREEZE generate the largest share 
of fare revenue. Despite the COASTER having a lower percentage of ridership in comparison to the 
BREEZE or SPRINTER modes, the COASTER’s higher fare generates significantly more revenue per 
trip than the other modes.  

Other Operating Revenue 

Other operating revenues are composed of auxiliary revenues and non-transportation revenues. Auxiliary 
revenues include transit-system generated revenues such as shared use of the railroads, dispatching, 
and concession revenues. Non-transportation revenues include leases, permits, investment income, 
administrative fees, federal Renewable Fuel Standard Program credits, and Low Carbon Fuel Standard 
(LCFS) credits managed by the California Air Resources Board. 

Operating Expenses 

The most significant cost drivers for NCTD are employees’ wages and benefits, contracted professional 
services, and fuel costs.  In FY2026, NCTD will no longer contract for bus operations and maintenance 
and will assume direct operations of all modes of transit. The FY2026 Budget increases the number of 
employees full-time equivalents (FTEs) from 420.75 FTEs in FY2025 to 878 FTEs in FY2026.   

Professional services include dedicated law enforcement and on-call security, technical support and 
material management services for COASTER and SPRINTER, legal services, fare collection costs, 
bridge inspections and repairs, right-of-way maintenance, Positive Train Control (PTC) costs, software 
support and maintenance, electrical, plumbing, landscaping, train cleaning, rail zero emissions planning 
and pilot program support, environmental services, maintenance facilities improvements, planning 
studies, and various other services for transit operations and maintenance. Operating expenses have 
been reduced in FY2026 compared to FY2025 as the District is re-baselining expenses as result of lower 
local funding from sales tax revenues forecasted for the next five years.  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

50 | P a g e

Fiscal Year 2026 Assumptions  

The significant assumptions used in the development of the FY2026 Operating Budget include: 

Operating Revenues 

 Formula-based federal grants are derived from the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) 
published apportionment tables. FTA formula funding under Section 5307, 5337, and 5339 
apportioned to the San Diego region for transit agencies are allocated 30% to NCTD and 70% to 
MTS. Funding from Section 5307, 5337, and 5339 can only be used for capital and maintenance 
expenses. FTA funding under Section 5311 for Rural Areas is funded through Caltrans. 

 The Transportation Development Act (TDA) has two major funding sources, the Local 
Transportation Fund (LTF) and the State Transit Assistance (STA). LTF is derived from a 1/4-
cent general sales tax and STA is derived from sales tax on diesel fuel. Pursuant to state statute, 
the County of San Diego Auditor and Controller has the responsibility for providing the LTF 
apportionment for the upcoming fiscal year in consultation with SANDAG staff based on actual 
sales tax receipts and projections. NCTD will receive 29% of San Diego County’s apportionment 
for LTF based on population estimates. 

 STA funds are appropriated by the legislature to the State Controller’s Office (SCO). The SCO 
then allocates the tax revenue, by formula, to planning agencies and other selected agencies. 
Statute requires that 50% of STA funds be allocated according to population (Public Utilities Code 
(PUC) 99313)  and 50% be allocated according to transit operator revenues from the prior fiscal 
year (PUC 99314). STA payments may be revised upward or downward depending on the actual 
stream of revenues funding the program. STA funds had been allocated in prior years to match 
Federal funds for capital projects and operating expenses; however, due to a shortage of 
operating funds in FY2026, all STA funds will be programmed for operations in FY2026 and TDA 
capital reserves from prior years will be programmed as a match for capital projects. 

 The State of Good Repair (SGR) Program is a formula-based program included under Senate Bill 
1:  The Road Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 (SB1). SB1 funds are deposited into the STA 
account and then distributed to regional transportation agencies using the STA Program formula. 
SGR funds can only be used for  for capital and maintenance expenses. 

 TransNet revenue is forecasted by the SANDAG before the start of the new fiscal year based on 
the growth rate in taxable sales in San Diego County. The most recent estimates were approved 
by SANDAG’s Board at its February 14, 2025 meeting. The distribution to NCTD is based on the 
January 2023 population; NCTD will receive 29% of San Diego County’s allocation. TransNet 
actual revenues will be dependent upon sales of taxable goods in San Diego County.  

 The TransNet Extension Ordinance requires that 8.1% of all TransNet revenue be used to fund 
transit operations for ten (10) specified projects, which includes COASTER frequency 
enhancements. 

 In July 2023, the State of California passed Senate Bill 125 (SB125), which served as a trailer bill 
to the State’s FY2023-2024 budget. SB125 created approximately $5.1 billion statewide, of new 
one-time source funding to help address transit providers’ operating and capital needs. The 
funding is distributed through two programs, the Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program 
(TIRCP) and the Zero Emission Transit Capital Program (ZETCP), over a two-year and four-year 
period, respectively. Eligible projects for SB125 and ZETCP funds are published by the California 
State Transportation Agency. NCTD has programmed SB125 for capital and maintenance 
expenses and ZETCP funds for zero-emission expenses. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

51 | P a g e

 The State Rail Assistance FY2026 budget was based on prior years’ levels; the actual estimate 
for FY2026 has not yet been provided by the California State Transportation Agency (CalSTA). 

 Customer fares revenue is based on the FY2026 Service Implementation Plan (SIP) ridership 
forecasts and historical average fares by mode. 

 SANDAG provides funding to NCTD for the Youth Opportunity Pass (YOP) program, which allows 
youth riders age 18 and under to ride free on NCTD services (except LIFT). In FY2026, SANDAG 
is providing NCTD with federal Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program 
(CMAQ) funds for YOP; however these funds are restricted to capital projects. No funding has 
been identified for YOP beyond FY2026. 

 Revenue projections for operations, use, maintenance fees, and dispatching (auxiliary revenues) 
from BNSF, Amtrak, and Metrolink are based on the terms specified in shared use/operating 
agreements. 

 Projections for other operating revenues such as permits, leases, and administrative fees are 
based on FY2025 levels. . 

Table 3 summarizes the sources and uses of revenues for FY2026. 

Operating Expenses 

 The bus operations and maintenance contract with MV Transportation (MV) under Agreement No. 
17033 ends on June 30, 2025. FY2026 budgeted expenditures associated with bus operations 
and maintenance are included in various line items (salaries and benefits, professional services, 
materials, and miscellaneous expenses).  

 The budget for salaries, wages, and benefits assumes full staffing of 878 full-time equivalents 
(FTEs), of which 471 FTEs are associated with the insourcing of bus operations and maintenance. 
13.75 FTEs were reduced compared to the FY2025 budget as result of organizational 
restructuring. 

 Professional services include dedicated law enforcement and on-call security, technical support 
and material management services for COASTER and SPRINTER, legal services, fare collection 
costs, bridge inspections and repairs, right-of-way maintenance, Positive Train Control (PTC) 
costs, software support and maintenance, electrical, plumbing, landscaping, train cleaning, rail 
zero emissions planning and pilot program support, environmental services, maintenance 
facilities improvements, planning studies, and various other services for transit operations and 
maintenance.  

 The fuel budget consumption is based on the FY2026 Service Implementation Plan (SIP). The 
fuel budget assumes that the Brent Crude oil price will average $90/barrel in FY2026 (Brent Crude 
is a major benchmark price for purchases of oil worldwide). The Brent crude oil price averaged 
$82/barrel in calendar years 2023 and 2024. Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) costs are budgeted 
at $0.447 per therm based on recent prices trend and projections from the U.S. Energy 
Information Administration. Increased fuel costs for bus services associated with hydrogen fuel 
are being partially offset with savings on SPRINTER service as NCTD is planning to strategically 
right-size singles and doubles Diesel Multiple Units (DMUs) based on peak-times ridership.    

 Purchased transportation includes $1 million for contracted taxi for paratransit services. 

 The FY2026 budget for property and liability insurance premiums assumes that rates will be stable 
compared to FY2025 and has factored the increased liability premiums associated with the 
insourcing of bus operations and maintenance. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

52 | P a g e

 A contingency expense of $0.5 million has been established for unforeseen circumstances or 
emergencies. 

 The FY2026 minimum required pension unfunded accrued liability payment of $4.2 million and 
SPRINTER debt principal payment of $1.45 million will be paid from net assets and are not 
included in the FY2026 Operating Budget..  

Table 3. FY2026 Sources and Uses of Revenues 

Revenue Source

 Capital and 

Maintenance 

 Restricted Use 

by Grant Operations

 Total

FY2026 

Passenger Fares and U-Pass 12,492,298$     12,492,298$     

Non-Transportation and Auxiliary Revenues 16,059,067 16,059,067

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5307 27,962,316 27,962,316

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5337 20,142,466 20,142,466

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5339 1,848,288 1,848,288

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5311 641,568 641,568
U.S. Department of Transportation - Rebuilding American 

   Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) 10,208,556 10,208,556

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Low No (carryover) 307,390 307,390

Federal Highway Administration - Congestion Mitigation 

   and Air Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program 1,233,240 1,233,240

Transportation Development Act (TDA) 4.0 49,733,819 49,733,819

Transportation Development Act (TDA) 4.5 2,608,917 2,608,917

TDA 4.0 (SANDAG Reimbursement) 221,043 221,043

State Transit Assistance (STA) 12,042,825 12,042,825

STA State of Good Repair 2,088,577 2,088,577

Caltrans Planning Grant 820,000 820,000

State Rail Assistance (SRA) 3,900,000 3,900,000

SB 125 Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP) 48,333,791 48,333,791

Zero-Emission Transit Capital Program (ZETCP) 590,000 2,877,415 3,467,415

TransNet - Transit Services (Senior and Disabled) 484,000 484,000

TransNet - Transit Services (Operations and Capital) 18,247,000 18,247,000

TransNet - New Major Corridor Transit Operations 8,178,851 8,178,851

Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) 3,062,333 3,062,333

California Department of Housing and Community 

   Development - Affordable Housing and Sustainable 

   Communities (AHSC) 12,900,000 12,900,000

Total Revenue 128,369,567$   4,646,373$       123,967,820$   256,983,760$   



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

53 | P a g e

FY2026 Operating Budget 

The Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget is submitted at $178,805,577 (includes contingency funds of 
$500,000), a reduction of $9,353,196 (4.97%) from the FY2025 Operating Budget and an increase of 
$3,989,185 (2.28%) from the FY2025 Forecast. Table 4 shows the proposed operating revenues and 
expenditures for FY2026. 

Operating Summary 

Table 4. FY2026 Operating Budget - Summary 

Operating Revenues 

Table 5 summarizes the FY2026 budgeted operating revenues and Figure 9 shows the percentage 
composition and amounts of operating revenues. 

Table 5. FY2026 Budget - Operating Revenues 

Operating Revenues

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025 **

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Passenger Fares 10,732,805$   10,201,124$   11,263,584$   12,492,298$   2,291,174$     22.46% 1,228,714$     10.91%

Non-Transportation Revenues 7,725,055 4,528,000 7,191,895 4,731,200 203,200 4.49% (2,460,695) -34.21%

Auxiliary Revenues 12,373,406 11,623,114 11,973,464 11,199,184 (423,930) -3.65% (774,280) -6.47%
Federal Grants 46,058,066 53,721,004 48,188,834 37,254,595 (16,466,409) -30.65% (10,934,239) -22.69%

State Grants 10,056,331 23,579,635 16,498,745 33,654,670 10,075,035 42.73% 17,155,925 103.98%

Local Grants 75,862,156 84,505,896 79,699,870 79,473,630 (5,032,266) -5.95% (226,240) -0.28%
162,807,819 188,158,773 174,816,392 178,805,577 (9,353,196) -4.97% 3,989,185$     2.28%

Operating Expenditures

Salaries and Wages 30,548,023$   39,687,280$   34,601,055$   70,118,247$   30,430,967$    76.68% 35,517,192$    102.65%
Employee Benefits * 13,520,817 13,202,830 14,952,931 22,748,554 9,545,724 72.30% 7,795,623 52.13%

Professional Services 36,046,520 48,191,849 40,453,679 43,190,410 (5,001,439) -10.38% 2,736,731 6.77%
Materials and Supplies 11,577,426 17,534,936 13,299,719 22,700,459 5,165,523 29.46% 9,400,740 70.68%
Utilities 3,263,759 3,632,614 3,323,061 3,867,188 234,574 6.46% 544,127 16.37%

Casualty and Liability 6,763,295 8,651,736 7,615,657 9,709,267 1,057,531 12.22% 2,093,610 27.49%
Taxes 1,124,064 1,507,413 1,786,869 1,270,553 (236,860) -15.71% (516,316) -28.90%

Purchased Transportation 50,607,442 50,971,878 53,234,936 1,033,000 (49,938,878) -97.97% (52,201,936) -98.06%
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,216,972 2,157,881 1,540,095 1,847,204 (310,677) -14.40% 307,109 19.94%

Debt-Related Expense *** 622,260 737,200 563,487 674,300 (62,900) -8.53% 110,813 19.67%

Leases and Rentals 1,103,279 1,383,156 1,130,668 1,146,395 (236,761) -17.12% 15,727 1.39%
Contingency - 500,000 58,330 500,000 - 0.00% 441,670 100.00%

156,393,857 188,158,773 172,560,487 178,805,577 (9,353,196) -4.97% 6,245,090$     3.62%

6,413,962$     -$                   2,255,905$     -$                   -$                   (2,255,905)$    

* Excludes GASB 68 and GASB 75 non-cash adjustments and the required Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) pension contribution

** As originally adopted and does not reflect budget transfers made during the fiscal year

*** Excludes GASB 87 and GASB 96 interest adjustments

Operating Revenues

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025 **

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Passenger Fares 10,732,805$   10,201,124$   11,263,584$   12,492,298$   2,291,174$     22.46% 1,228,714$     10.91%
Non-Transportation Revenues 7,725,055 4,528,000 7,191,895 4,731,200 203,200 4.49% (2,460,695) -34.21%

Auxiliary Revenues 12,373,406 11,623,114 11,973,464 11,199,184 (423,930) -3.65% (774,280) -6.47%

Federal Grants 46,058,066 53,721,004 48,188,834 37,254,595 (16,466,409) -30.65% (10,934,239) -22.69%

State Grants 10,056,331 23,579,635 16,498,745 33,654,670 10,075,035 42.73% 17,155,925 103.98%

Local Grants 75,862,156 84,505,896 79,699,870 79,473,630 (5,032,266) -5.95% (226,240) -0.28%
162,807,819 188,158,773 174,816,392 178,805,577 (9,353,196) -4.97% 3,989,185$     2.28%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

54 | P a g e

Figure 9. FY2026 Budget - Operating Revenues 
(in millions) 

Passenger Fares

The FY2026 Budget forecasts system ridership at 9 million boardings (see Table 1), an increase of 
12.07% from the FY2025 Budget and an increase of 4.92% from the FY2025 Forecast. FY2026 ridership 
forecasts and operating statistics by mode are described in detail in the Service Implementation Plan 
section above.  

Revenues generated from passenger fares vary across modes. The highest level of average revenue per 
passenger is generated by commuter rail (COASTER) and the lowest level is from hybrid rail 
(SPRINTER). Fare revenues for FY2026 were projected by multiplying the number of boardings and 
historical average fares by mode. 

Since May 2022, NCTD has partnered with SANDAG, MTS, and the County of San Diego to provide free 
transit to anyone age 18 and under through a program named Youth Opportunity Pass (YOP). Due to 
the lack of operating funds from SANDAG to continue the YOP program, SANDAG is instead providing 
NCTD with federal Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program (CMAQ) funds; however, 
these funds are restricted to capital projects. No funding has been identified for YOP beyond FY2026. 

Table 6 shows the projected passenger fare revenues by mode for FY2026.

Passenger Fares
$12.5 
7%

Non-
Transportation 

Revenues
$4.7 
3%

Auxiliary 
Revenues

$11.2 
6%

Federal Grants
$37.3 
21%

State Grants
$33.7 
19%

Local Grants
$79.5 
44%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

55 | P a g e

Table 6. FY2026 Budget - Passenger Fares Revenue 

Grant Revenues 

Formula-based federal grants are derived from the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) published 
apportionment tables. Federal revenues include Section 5307, Section 5337, and Section 5339 funds 
that are used for 80% of eligible capital and preventive maintenance expenses and Section 5311 funds 
as subsidy for service to rural routes. 

SANDAG’s forecast for TransNet and TDA is generated using the most recent historical collections and 
then projecting future revenue as the product of nominal retail sales per capita growth and population 
growth. The forecast methodology underwent SANDAG’s peer review process (PRP) in 2022, confirming 
per capita nominal sales growth rate as the primary predictor of retail sales and ultimately how TransNet 
and Transportation Development Act (TDA) revenues are likely to behave. 

The starting point in the TransNet forecast revision is replacing forecasted values with the most recently 
reported actual revenue collections. As noted earlier, comparing actual to projected values for FY2024 
and FY2025 (July 2024 through January 2025) suggested potentially negative, TransNet revenue growth. 
FY2024 actual collections did not meet expectations, and year-to-date values for FY2025 point to a slight 
downturn in nominal spending that had not been forecasted. Year-to-date TDA collections in FY2025 
(July 2024 through January 2025) are up 1.3%, which is promising. However, this gain is largely due to 
a strong performance in December rather than consistent month-over-month growth. SANDAG predicts 
FY2025 collections to finish on par with FY2024 actual collections. 

SANDAG economists adjusted the annual growth rates of the TransNet revenue forecasted by the model. 
The adjustments reflect a guiding principle of being conservative to minimize the risk of budget shortfalls.  
These adjustments result in retail sales expected to experience slow growth over the short-term and 
stronger growth returning over the long-term. The variable growth reflects retail sales finally 
normalizing after COVID; consumer response to ongoing price volatility as inflation moves at different 
paces and directions across the basket of taxable and nontaxable goods impacting households and 
businesses; and long-term expectations of prices stabilizing and ongoing, generally healthy economic 
conditions. 

Figure 10 shows the percentage composition and amounts of operating grant revenues budgeted for 
FY2026. 

Mode

FY2024

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(#)

Increase 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(%)

Increase

from FY2025 

Forecast 

(#)

Increase

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

BREEZE 5,144,552$       4,620,994$       5,087,607$       6,033,114$       1,412,120$   30.56% 945,507$        18.58%
LIFT 808,434 529,268 675,597 594,305 65,037 12.29% (81,292) -12.03%

FLEX 127,188 152,426 182,051 310,769 158,343 103.88% 128,718 70.70%
COASTER 3,575,431 3,759,051 3,996,054 4,240,722 481,671 12.81% 244,668 6.12%

SPRINTER 1,077,007 1,051,177 1,281,119 1,252,430 201,253 19.15% (28,689) -2.24%

NCTD+ 193 88,208 41,155 60,958 (27,250) 100.00% 19,803 100.00%

10,732,805$     10,201,124$     11,263,583$     12,492,298$     2,291,174$   22.46% 1,228,715$     10.91%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

56 | P a g e

Figure 10. FY2026 Budget - Operating Grant Revenues 
(in millions) 

Non-Transportation Revenues 

Non-transportation revenues include leases, permits, investment income, administrative fees, federal 
Renewable Fuel Standard Program credits, and Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS) credits managed by 
the California Air Resources Board. These revenues are projected based on FY2025 levels and planned 
consumption of renewable natural gas.

Auxiliary Revenues 

Auxiliary revenues include transit facility concession revenues, dispatching, and right-of-way shared-use 
agreements. Revenue projections for operations, use, maintenance fees, and dispatching (auxiliary 
revenues) from BNSF, Amtrak, and Metrolink are based on the terms specified in shared use/operating 
agreements. 

Transportation 
Development 

Act (TDA)
$52.6 
35%

Federal Transit 
Administration 
(FTA) Formula

$36.9 
25%

TransNet
$26.9 
18%

State Transit 
Assistance

$14.1 
9%

Other State 
Grants
$19.5 
13%

Other Federal 
Grants

$0.4 
0%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

57 | P a g e

Operating Expenses 

Table 7 summarizes the FY2026 budgeted operating expenses by category and Table 8 summarizes the 
FY2026 budgeted expenses by mode of service. Figure 11 shows the percentage composition and 
amounts of operating expenses.

Table 7. FY2026 Budget - Operating Expenses by Category 

Table 8. FY2026 Budget - Operating Expenses by Mode 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025 **

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 30,548,023$   39,687,280$   34,601,055$   70,118,247$   30,430,967$    76.68% 35,517,192$    102.65%
Employee Benefits * 13,520,817 13,202,830 14,952,931 22,748,554 9,545,724 72.30% 7,795,623 52.13%

Professional Services 36,046,520 48,191,849 40,453,679 43,190,410 (5,001,439) -10.38% 2,736,731 6.77%
Materials and Supplies 11,577,426 17,534,936 13,299,719 22,700,459 5,165,523 29.46% 9,400,740 70.68%
Utilities 3,263,759 3,632,614 3,323,061 3,867,188 234,574 6.46% 544,127 16.37%

Casualty and Liability 6,763,295 8,651,736 7,615,657 9,709,267 1,057,531 12.22% 2,093,610 27.49%
Taxes 1,124,064 1,507,413 1,786,869 1,270,553 (236,860) -15.71% (516,316) -28.90%

Purchased Transportation 50,607,442 50,971,878 53,234,936 1,033,000 (49,938,878) -97.97% (52,201,936) -98.06%
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,216,972 2,157,881 1,540,095 1,847,204 (310,677) -14.40% 307,109 19.94%

Debt-Related Expense *** 622,260 737,200 563,487 674,300 (62,900) -8.53% 110,813 19.67%
Leases and Rentals 1,103,279 1,383,156 1,130,668 1,146,395 (236,761) -17.12% 15,727 1.39%

Contingency - 500,000 58,330 500,000 - 0.00% 441,670 100.00%
156,393,857$ 188,158,773$ 172,560,487$ 178,805,577$ (9,353,196)$    -4.97% 6,245,090$     3.62%

* Excludes GASB 68 and GASB 75 non-cash adjustments and the required Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) pension contribution

** As originally adopted and does not reflect budget transfers made during the fiscal year

*** Excludes GASB 87 and GASB 96 interest adjustments

Mode

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

(%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

(#)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

BREEZE 59,364,947$     65,784,710$     64,466,345$   62,864,934$   (2,919,776)$  -4.44% (1,601,411)$   -2.48%

LIFT 13,074,330 13,941,676 14,101,761 14,025,323 83,647 0.60% (76,438) -0.54%

FLEX 3,816,542 6,152,186 4,378,182 7,279,846 1,127,660 18.33% 2,901,664 66.28%

COASTER 37,917,806 42,958,999 41,870,684 44,464,340 1,505,341 3.50% 2,593,656 6.19%

COASTER RIGHT-OF-WAY 8,488,894 15,788,844 11,546,235 12,107,635 (3,681,209) -23.32% 561,400 4.86%

SPRINTER 33,311,097 42,380,387 35,501,125 35,832,702 (6,547,685) -15.45% 331,577 0.93%

SPRINTER RIGHT-OF-WAY 294,064 446,948 316,520 464,015 17,067 3.82% 147,495 46.60%

NCTD+ 126,177 705,023 379,635 1,766,782 1,061,759 100.00% 1,387,147 100.00%

156,393,857$   188,158,773$   172,560,487$  178,805,577$  (9,353,196)$  -4.97% 6,245,090$    3.62%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

58 | P a g e

Figure 11. FY2026 Budget - Operating Expenses 
(in millions) 

Salaries, Wages, and Benefits

Budgeted salaries and wages include holidays and paid time-off. When employees take the actual 
holidays and time-off, these are reported as fringe benefits instead of salaries and wages. Budgeted 
fringe benefits include the normal cost of the CalPERS pension (the unfunded accrued liability payment 
is not included in the FY2026 Operating Budget and is funded from net assets), employer-paid 
healthcare, 401(a) employer matching contributions, railroad retirement, railroad unemployment 
insurance, workers compensation, Carpenter’s pension plan, and basic life and disability insurance. 
Fringe benefits also include the pay-as-you-go payments for health insurance for eligible retirees that 
participate in the postemployment benefit health plan. The FY2026 Operating Budget also assumes 
capitalized labor for staff time working on capital projects of $0.7 million. Actual expenses will vary from 
budgeted amounts depending on staff vacancies, timing of hires, benefits elections, and the amount of 
staff time spent on capital projects. 

The FY2026 budget for salaries, wages, and benefits assumes full staffing of 878 full-time equivalents 
(FTEs), of which 471 FTEs are associated with the insourcing of bus operations and maintenance. Table 
9 shows the FY2026 budgeted FTEs by Department for the last five fiscal year budgets and Table 10 
shows the FY2026 budgeted FTEs by Division, updated based on recent organizational changes. 

Salaries, Wages & 
Benefits

$92.9 
52%Professional 

Services
$43.2 
24%

Materials, Supplies 
& Taxes

$24.0 
13%

Purchased 
Transportation

$1.0 
1%

Casualty & Liability
$9.7 
6%

Utilities
$3.9 
2%

Other 
Expenses

$3.0 
2%

Debt-Related Expense
$0.7 
0%

Contingency
$0.5 
0%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

59 | P a g e

Table 9. FY2026 Budget - FTEs by Department 

Department FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026

Accounting 5.00 5.00 6.00 6.00 3.00
Administration 4.00 6.00 6.00 9.00 5.00

Bus Operations Administration 6.00 7.00 6.00 6.00 50.00

Bus Operators * - - - - 256.00

Bus Vehicles Maintenance * - - - - 83.00

Business Intelligence * - - - - 2.00

Chief Executive Officer 4.25 3.25 3.25 1.00 1.00

COASTER Maintenance * - - - - 19.00

COASTER Operators 22.00 32.00 36.00 36.00 36.00
Communications and Marketing 4.25 6.75 7.50 5.50 4.00

Customer Experience 16.00 14.00 16.00 16.00 16.00

Development Services 2.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 4.00

Development Services Support Services - - 5.00 4.00 3.00

Engineering 2.00 6.00 7.00 8.00 8.00

Facilities 10.00 30.00 23.00 46.00 54.00

Fare Collection 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

Financial Oversight 8.00 8.00 8.00 9.00 8.00
General Counsel 5.00 5.00 7.00 7.25 7.00

General Services * - - - - 1.00

Government Relations - - 1.00 1.00 2.00

Grants 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 3.00

Human Resources 6.00 7.25 6.00 9.00 10.00

Information Technology Operations 11.00 18.00 17.00 20.00 8.00

Information Technology Systems * - - - - 8.00

Learning and Development 3.00 4.00 7.00 8.00 4.00

Maintenance of Signals - 19.00 19.25 20.25 21.00
Maintenance-of-Way *** 2.00 43.00 27.00 27.00 27.00

On-Demand Services * - - - - 72.00

Operations Control Center 20.00 20.00 21.00 20.00 20.00

Operations Support Services 3.00 2.00 2.25 2.25 -

Parts and Warehouse * - - - - 8.00

Payroll * - - - - 4.00

Procurement and Contract Administration 8.00 9.00 10.50 9.50 9.00

Project Management Office - - - 4.00 3.00
Rail Operations 11.00 8.25 7.00 7.00 9.00

Rail Right-of-Way Oversight - - 1.00 3.00 2.00

Rail Technologies 3.00 3.00 4.00 2.00 1.00

Rail Training * - - - - 4.00

Rail Vehicles Maintenance 32.00 35.00 44.00 46.00 10.00

Rail Vehicles Overhauls * - - - - 7.00

Real Estate 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00

Right-of-Way Vehicles and Specialty Equipment - - 3.00 2.00 1.00

Safety 5.00 5.00 8.00 10.00 5.00
Security 10.00 16.00 15.00 17.00 17.00

Service Planning 4.00 6.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

SPRINTER Maintenance * - - - - 14.00

SPRINTER Operators 42.00 42.00 42.00 42.00 39.00

Transit Systems Management - - - 2.00 1.00

    Total 257.50 372.50 382.75 420.75 878.00

* New department in FY2026

Budget Positions



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

60 | P a g e

Table 10. FY2026 Budget - FTEs by Division 

Professional Services 

Professional services include dedicated law enforcement and on-call security, technical support and 
material management services for COASTER and SPRINTER, legal services, fare collection costs, 
bridge inspections and repairs, right-of-way maintenance, Positive Train Control (PTC) costs, software 
support and maintenance, electrical, plumbing, landscaping, train cleaning, rail zero emissions planning 
and pilot program support, environmental services, maintenance facilities improvements, planning 
studies, and various other services for transit operations and maintenance.  

Figure 12 provides the distribution of the costs by division and Table 11 shows the detail of major 
professional services of $31.7 million (73% of total of $43.2 million) that are budgeted for FY2026. 

Figure 12. FY2026 Budget - Professional Services by Division 

Division * FY2022 FY2023 FY2024 FY2025 FY2026

Bus Operations 16.00 23.00 24.00 25.00 479.00
Development Services 7.00 12.00 18.00 22.00 21.00
Finance 19.00 19.00 20.00 19.00 19.00
General Services 21.00 41.00 35.75 57.75 74.00

Office of Chief General Counsel 10.00 10.00 15.00 17.25 12.00
Office of Chief of Staff 24.25 26.75 30.50 31.50 27.00
Office of the Chief Executive Officer 4.25 3.25 3.25 1.00 1.00
People 9.00 11.25 13.00 17.00 14.00
Planning 4.00 6.00 5.00 7.00 6.00
Rail Operations 130.00 140.25 154.00 153.00 159.00

Rail Right-of-Way and Information Technology 13.00 80.00 64.25 70.25 66.00

    Total 257.50 372.50 382.75 420.75 878.00

* Departments have been reclassified to conform with current assigned Divisions

Budget Positions



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

61 | P a g e

Table 11. FY2026 Budget - Major Professional Services 

Major Professional Services

FY2026

Budget

San Diego Sheriffs Department 5,100,000$        

SPRINTER Technical Support and Materials Management 2,742,192

COASTER Technical Support and Materials Management 2,673,000

Wabtec Positive Train Control 1,984,177

Software Licenses and Support 1,585,708

On-Call Security 1,330,000

COASTER Injector Kits and Fuel Pump 1,205,000

BREEZE Operations and Maintenance Facilities Improvements 1,175,000

Debris, Vegetation Removal, and Weed Spraying 1,079,000

Landscape Services 1,064,605

Railroad Maintenance (Grinding, Ballast, Ultrasonic Testing, Track Geometry) 940,000

Legal Services 930,000

Caltrans Planning Studies 820,000

Maintenance of Non-Revenue Vehicles and Specialty Equipment 819,262

Fare Collection (INIT, Armored Services, MTS Regional Allocation) 753,000

Electrical 730,000

Bridge Inspections and Repairs 705,000

Environmental 690,000

Rail Zero Emissions Planning and Pilot Program Support 600,000

COASTER Bi-Level Vendor Managed Inventory 595,605

Rail Vehicles HVAC Maintenance 576,000

COASTER Operations and Maintenance Facilities Improvements 450,000

Right-of-Way Embankment Monitoring and Mitigation 425,000

RTMS Radio Equipment Maintenance 383,036

Rail Docs 350,000

Plumbing 319,832

Train Cleaning 314,662

Bus Lifts Maintenance 307,812

On-Board Cameras Maintenance 273,645

Facilities HVAC Maintenance 229,484

On-Call Marketing Consultant 200,000

Fire Systems Maintenance 191,060

Maintenance of Wayside Equipment 180,753

31,722,833$      



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

62 | P a g e

Materials and Supplies 

Materials and supplies include fuel costs for revenue and non-revenue vehicles and equipment (diesel, 
unleaded gasoline, compressed natural gas, hydrogen, electricity), fluids and oil, tires, parts, and various 
miscellaneous and office supplies.   

The fuel budget is based on the FY2026 Service Implementation Plan and levels of service by vehicle 
type (bus, commuter rail, hybrid rail, vans, cutaways) and type of fuel consumed. The diesel and gasoline 
fuel budget assumes that the Brent Crude oil price will average $90/barrel in FY2026 (Brent Crude is a 
major benchmark price for purchases of oil worldwide). The Brent crude oil price averaged $82/barrel in 
calendar years 2023 and 2024. Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) costs are budgeted at $0.447 per therm 
based on recent prices trend and projections from the U.S. Energy Information Administration. Increased 
fuel costs for bus services associated with hydrogen fuel are being partially offset with savings on 
SPRINTER service as NCTD is planning to strategically right-size singles and doubles Diesel Multiple 
Units (DMUs) based on peak-times ridership. 

Figure 13 illustrates the major categories for material and supplies expenditures. 

Figure 13. FY2026 Budget - Materials and Supplies 
(in millions) 

Fuel - Bus (pre-tax)
$4.70 
21%

Fuel - Rail (pre-tax)
$4.12 
18%

Fuel - Non-revenue 
Vehicles

$0.46 
2%

Coolant, Fluids and Oil
$1.11 
5%

Maintenance-of-Way and 
Signals

$1.32 
6%

Facilities Supplies
$1.22 
5%

Parts - Rail 
Vehicles

$3.37 
15%

Parts - Bus Vehicles
$5.30 
23%

Other Supplies
$1.07 
5%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

63 | P a g e

Utilities 

These expenditures are for electricity, gas, water, and trash collection services located at the various 
District facilities, transit centers throughout its service area, and right-of-way.  

Casualty and Liability 

This expenditure category represents costs incurred to purchase various business, liability, property, and 
right-of-way insurance to mitigate risk beyond the District self-insured coverage. The FY2026 budget 
assumes that property and liability insurance premiums will increase modestly compared to FY2025. In 
an April 2025 article from the Swiss Re Institute, the research arm of the Swiss Re Group, one of the 
world’s leading providers of reinsurance, insurance and other forms of insurance-based risk transfer, it 
expects that premium growth will decelerate to 5% in 2025, followed by 4% growth in 2026.  

The FY2026 budget for property and liability insurance premiums is 7.7% higher than the amount that 
was budgeted for FY2025 and factors both premium increases and increased coverage associated with 
the insourcing of bus operations and maintenance. 

Taxes 

The taxes in this expenditure class are related to fuel purchases in the Material and Supplies category 
above. 

Purchased Transportation Services 

The bus operations and maintenance contract with MV Transportation (MV) under Agreement No. 17033 
ends on June 30, 2025. The FY2026 budget for purchased transportation includes $1 million for 
contracted taxi for paratransit services.  

Miscellaneous Expenses 

This category of expense includes items such as advertising, permits, dues, memberships, travel, 
recruiting costs, and training.  

Debt-Related Expense 

This category represents the interest payments on the Certificates of Participation.  

Contingency 

A contingency expense of $0.5 million has been established for unforeseen circumstances or 
emergencies. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

64 | P a g e

FY2026 Budget Expenses by Department  

Summary of Expenses by Department 

Table 12. FY2026 Budget - Operating Expenses by Department 

Operating Expenditures *

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025 **

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Board of Directors 45,542$          88,000$          46,786$          66,000$          (22,000)$         -25.00% 19,214$          41.07%

Chief Executive Officer 781,855 566,920 585,246 559,459 (7,461) -1.32% (25,787) -4.41%

General Counsel 9,457,073 11,311,495 10,948,262 12,813,308 1,501,813 13.28% 1,865,046 17.04%

Safety 2,139,061 2,825,255 1,503,642 1,455,264 (1,369,991) -48.49% (48,378) -3.22%

Government Relations 454,865 968,535 865,201 831,344 (137,191) -14.16% (33,857) -3.91%

Administration 861,643 1,121,461 677,780 694,507 (426,954) -38.07% 16,727 2.47%

Communications and Marketing 2,328,768 2,627,631 1,570,269 1,740,317 (887,314) -33.77% 170,048 10.83%

Customer Experience 1,713,114 1,608,942 1,393,812 1,499,029 (109,913) -6.83% 105,217 7.55%

Rail Operations 14,119,322 8,924,414 7,378,723 2,008,372 (6,916,042) -77.50% (5,370,351) -72.78%

COASTER Operators - 5,238,056 4,344,493 4,461,302 (776,754) -14.83% 116,809 2.69%

SPRINTER Operators - 3,455,127 3,216,992 2,965,391 (489,736) -14.17% (251,601) -7.82%

COASTER Maintenance - - - 9,829,827 9,829,827 100.00% 9,829,827 100.00%

SPRINTER Maintenance - - - 7,103,491 7,103,491 100.00% 7,103,491 100.00%

Rail Vehicles Overhauls - - - 4,473,902 4,473,902 100.00% 4,473,902 100.00%

Rail Vehicles Maintenance 13,476,535 14,314,132 12,897,719 1,749,488 (12,564,644) -87.78% (11,148,231) -86.44%

Rail Technologies 1,768,796 1,471,807 880,853 860,304 (611,503) -41.55% (20,549) -2.33%

Rail Training - - - 868,285 868,285 100.00% 868,285 100.00%

Operations Control Center 2,631,686 3,054,808 2,942,736 2,713,964 (340,844) -11.16% (228,772) -7.77%

Bus Operations Administration 55,133,684 59,263,543 59,744,449 7,753,736 (51,509,807) -86.92% (51,990,713) -87.02%

Bus Operators - - - 20,612,747 20,612,747 100.00% 20,612,747 100.00%

On-Demand Services - - - 7,131,977 7,131,977 100.00% 7,131,977 100.00%

Bus Vehicles Maintenance - - - 15,911,160 15,911,160 100.00% 15,911,160 100.00%

Non-Revenue Operations Support - - - 261,112 261,112 100.00% 261,112 100.00%

Right-of-Way Vehicles and Specialty Equipment 656,152 1,763,369 1,132,556 1,249,013 (514,356) -29.17% 116,457 10.28%

Security 6,088,628 7,237,575 8,075,961 7,933,902 696,327 9.62% (142,059) -1.76%

Rail Right-of-Way Oversight 396,707 1,176,663 555,266 577,551 (599,112) -50.92% 22,285 4.01%

Maintenance-of-Way 6,228,285 7,633,672 6,977,512 6,518,570 (1,115,102) -14.61% (458,942) -6.58%

Maintenance of Signals 3,518,718 7,401,281 8,256,104 6,411,313 (989,968) -13.38% (1,844,791) -22.34%

Information Technology Systems - - - 1,229,850 1,229,850 100.00% 1,229,850 100.00%

Information Technology Operations 6,678,907 7,360,199 6,847,095 4,485,034 (2,875,165) -39.06% (2,362,061) -34.50%

General Services - - - 316,458 316,458 100.00% 316,458 100.00%

Procurement and Contract Administration 1,412,752 1,545,074 1,574,531 1,361,822 (183,252) -11.86% (212,709) -13.51%

Parts and Warehouse - - - 6,137,638 6,137,638 100.00% 6,137,638 100.00%

Facilities 11,046,778 14,163,002 13,133,471 13,579,854 (583,148) -4.12% 446,383 3.40%

Business Intelligence - - - 300,901 300,901 100.00% 300,901 100.00%

Development Services 2,425,016 3,978,760 3,440,110 2,540,267 (1,438,493) -36.15% (899,843) -26.16%

Development Services Support Services 592,792 516,356 431,227 372,590 (143,766) -27.84% (58,637) -13.60%

Engineering 2,437,219 3,121,111 1,971,335 4,259,024 1,137,913 36.46% 2,287,689 116.05%

Project Management Office - 594,301 645,826 571,977 (22,324) -3.76% (73,849) -11.43%

Real Estate 1,263,613 1,362,124 1,096,332 1,144,441 (217,683) -15.98% 48,109 4.39%

Financial Oversight 1,193,155 1,527,134 1,237,209 1,418,171 (108,963) -7.14% 180,962 14.63%

Accounting 650,022 802,712 703,793 347,424 (455,288) -56.72% (356,369) -50.64%

Payroll - - - 503,448 503,448 100.00% 503,448 100.00%

Grants 413,089 400,839 302,486 399,866 (973) -0.24% 97,380 32.19%

Fare Collection 498,524 841,733 572,500 774,468 (67,265) -7.99% 201,968 35.28%

Human Resources 1,499,913 2,339,993 1,907,225 2,626,282 286,289 12.23% 719,057 37.70%

Learning and Development 1,230,315 1,788,505 1,590,893 1,330,608 (457,897) -25.60% (260,285) -16.36%

Service Planning 2,289,345 3,145,777 1,696,721 2,239,331 (906,446) -28.81% 542,610 31.98%

Transit Systems Management - 970,914 583,814 637,188 (333,726) -34.37% 53,374 9.14%

Operations Support Services 339,723 410,353 268,070 - (410,353) -100.00% (268,070) -100.00%

Debt *** 622,260 737,200 563,487 674,300 (62,900) -8.53% 110,813 19.67%

Contingency - 500,000 - 500,000 - 0.00% 500,000 100.00%

156,393,857$  188,158,773$  172,560,487$  178,805,577$  (9,353,196)$    -4.97% 6,245,090$     3.62%

* Excludes GASB 68 and GASB 75 non-cash adjustments and the required Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) pension contribution

** As originally adopted and does not reflect budget transfers made during the fiscal year

*** Excludes GASB 87 and GASB 96 interest adjustments



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

65 | P a g e

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors consists of ten members, including one member from each of the city councils of 
Carlsbad, Del Mar, Encinitas, Escondido, Oceanside, San Marcos, Solana Beach, and Vista, one 
member from the San Diego County Board of Supervisors Fifth District, and one ex officio member from 
the City of San Diego. The FY2026 budget primarily includes funding to support attendance of meetings 
and travel.   

Office of the Chief Executive Officer 

The Office of the Chief Executive Officer provides leadership and strategic direction based on 
recommendations from the Board of Directors and collaborates with other agencies to achieve NCTD 
goals and objectives. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   0.00% -$                   0.00%

Employee Benefits - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Professional Services 33,607 44,000 29,535 43,000 (1,000) -2.27% 13,465 45.59%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 11,935 44,000 17,251 23,000 (21,000) -47.73% 5,749 33.33%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

45,542$          88,000$          46,786$          66,000$          (22,000)$         -25.00% 19,214$          41.07%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 492,493$        380,766$        372,712$        390,961$        10,195$          2.68% 18,249$          4.90%

Employee Benefits 210,540 85,104 89,412 68,498 (16,606) -19.51% (20,914) -23.39%

Professional Services - - 25,000 - - 0.00% (25,000) -100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 78,822 101,050 39,792 100,000 (1,050) -1.04% 60,208 151.31%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - 58,330 - - 0.00% (58,330) -100.00%

781,855$        566,920$        585,246$        559,459$        (7,461)$          -1.32% (25,787)$         -4.41%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

66 | P a g e

Office of Chief General Counsel 

General Counsel 

General Counsel provides in-house legal counsel and compliance functions to support NCTD’s focus on 
safety, contract management and regulatory/legal compliance in all business transactions. The Office of 
General Counsel is responsible for District-wide compliance and oversight and the management of all 
legal matters and claims, and includes internal audit, contract compliance, environmental compliance, 
and civil rights (Disadvantaged Business Enterprise [DBE], Equal Employment Opportunity [EEO], Title 
VI, and Americans with Disabilities Act [ADA] compliance). This strategic function provides legal advice 
and oversight in all NCTD business transactions and promotes legal and regulatory compliance District-
wide.  

Safety 

The Safety department has the overall responsibility to plan, organize, direct, manage, and oversee 
comprehensive safety programs to foster a proactive organizational safety culture and to ensure a safe, 
secure and healthy environment for all employees, passengers, contractors, and the general public in 
accordance with applicable federal, state, local and regulatory laws, rules, or guidelines. This division 
also develops, implements, manages, and evaluates the Risk Management program for the District, 
including workers’ compensation, general insurance, and property/liability claims. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 1,007,080$     1,252,009$     1,325,019$     1,457,084$     205,075$        16.38% 132,065$        9.97%

Employee Benefits 435,836 299,100 467,033 289,329 (9,771) -3.27% (177,704) -38.05%

Professional Services 1,179,465 1,024,200 1,453,432 1,306,900 282,700 27.60% (146,532) -10.08%

Materials and Supplies 3,971 5,000 1,496 5,000 - 0.00% 3,504 234.22%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability * 6,763,295 8,651,736 7,616,377 9,709,267 1,057,531 12.22% 2,092,890 27.48%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 67,426 79,450 84,905 45,728 (33,722) -42.44% (39,177) -46.14%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

9,457,073$     11,311,495$   10,948,262$   12,813,308$   1,501,813$     13.28% 1,865,046$     17.04%

* Previously budgeted under Safety

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 906,447$        1,251,835$     681,863$        522,104$        (729,731)$       -58.29% (159,759)$       -23.43%

Employee Benefits 886,605 826,134 719,076 825,997 (137) -0.02% 106,921 14.87%

Professional Services 310,168 672,284 63,777 58,912 (613,372) -91.24% (4,865) -7.63%

Materials and Supplies 4,763 1,500 3,339 19,250 17,750 1183.33% 15,911 476.52%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 31,078 73,502 35,587 29,001 (44,501) -60.54% (6,586) -18.51%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,139,061$     2,825,255$     1,503,642$     1,455,264$     (1,369,991)$    -48.49% (48,378)$         -3.22%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

67 | P a g e

Office of Chief of Staff 

Government Relations 

The Government Relations department has the overall responsibility for the oversight of the legislative 
program, including the development, implementation, and maintenance of government relation activities 
with state/federal executive and legislative bodies and other regulatory agencies and the management 
of legislative representation and other consultant contracts. This department also researches and 
pursues discretionary grants funding opportunities.  

Administration 

The Administration department provides general administrative services support for all divisions and 
departments within NCTD. This department oversees records management and document control 
services and has responsibility for overseeing NCTD Board of Directors meetings and calendars. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 90,609$          189,905$        195,929$        298,284$        108,379$        57.07% 102,355$        94.44%

Employee Benefits 37,705 39,780 72,821 40,410 630 1.58% (32,411) -5144.60%

Professional Services 224,370 546,000 429,500 296,000 (250,000) -45.79% (133,500) 53.40%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 102,181 192,850 166,951 196,650 3,800 1.97% 29,699 781.55%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

454,865$        968,535$        865,201$        831,344$        (137,191)$       -14.16% (33,857)$         24.68%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 404,527$        595,522$        358,888$        371,711$        (223,811)$       -37.58% 12,823$          3.57%

Employee Benefits 220,525 207,864 150,303 122,446 (85,418) -41.09% (27,857) -18.53%

Professional Services 122,955 109,500 35,466 35,000 (74,500) -68.04% (466) -1.31%

Materials and Supplies 81,029 150,000 100,993 110,000 (40,000) -26.67% 9,007 8.92%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 32,607 58,575 32,130 55,350 (3,225) -5.51% 23,220 72.27%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

861,643$        1,121,461$     677,780$        694,507$        (426,954)$       -38.07% 16,727$          2.47%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

68 | P a g e

Communications and Marketing 

The Communications and Marketing department supports operations through activities focused on 
increasing ridership, growing revenue, and focusing strategic communications to support achievement of 
NCTD’s mission and goals. This department develops and implements marketing, public relations, and 
customer communications programs that enhance the customer experience.  

Customer Experience 

The Customer Experience department is the front line for all NCTD customer service including selling 
fares, facilitating transit trip planning, and receiving and processing customer reports. The Customer 
Service department staffs in-person retail outlets, a call center, and the ADA Eligibility Center. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 858,316$        770,167$        433,760$        363,851$        (406,316)$       -52.76% (69,909)$         -16.12%

Employee Benefits 364,604 172,704 143,995 74,866 (97,838) -56.65% (69,129) -48.01%

Professional Services 564,165 927,500 375,638 658,000 (269,500) -29.06% 282,362 75.17%

Materials and Supplies 110,260 368,000 166,029 305,000 (63,000) -17.12% 138,971 83.70%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 431,423 389,260 450,847 338,600 (50,660) -13.01% (112,247) -24.90%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,328,768$     2,627,631$     1,570,269$     1,740,317$     (887,314)$       -33.77% 170,048$        10.83%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 708,973$        935,414$        750,313$        910,589$        (24,825)$         -2.65% 160,276$        21.36%

Employee Benefits 352,123 288,228 342,885 283,140 (5,088) -1.77% (59,745) -17.42%

Professional Services 499,767 320,000 281,405 240,000 (80,000) -25.00% (41,405) -14.71%

Materials and Supplies 148,976 40,000 10,158 40,000 - 0.00% 29,842 293.78%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 3,275 25,300 9,051 25,300 - 0.00% 16,249 179.53%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,713,114$     1,608,942$     1,393,812$     1,499,029$     (109,913)$       -6.83% 105,217$        7.55%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

69 | P a g e

Rail Operations  

Rail Operations 

The Rail Operations department manages the daily operations of NCTD’s COASTER and SPRINTER 
services. This department is responsible for ensuring that services are operated in compliance with the 
specifications and regulations of the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), the Federal Railroad 
Administration (FRA), the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), and other regulatory and 
governing agencies. Beginning in FY2025, the budget for COASTER and SPRINTER operators were in 
standalone departments and beginning in FY2026, rail mechanical staff are also budgeted in standalone 
departments, as listed below. 

COASTER Operators 

This departments includes the wages and benefits for COASTER locomotive engineers and conductors, 
who are responsible for the providing safe, efficient and customer-friendly passenger transportation by 
ensuring the safe operation of locomotives, complying with train orders, wayside signals, PTC 
procedures, railroad operating rules, special instructions, federal, state, and local regulation. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 5,060,969$     1,008,490$     1,081,728$     1,445,662$     437,172$        43.35% 363,934$        33.64%

Employee Benefits 2,191,357 376,380 505,961 440,370 63,990 17.00% (65,591) -12.96%

Professional Services 2,332,214 133,560 276,027 50,000 (83,560) -62.56% (226,027) -81.89%

Materials and Supplies 3,751,009 6,146,786 4,127,332 40,900 (6,105,886) -99.33% (4,086,432) -99.01%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes 909,593 1,233,951 1,366,747 - (1,233,951) -100.00% (1,366,747) -100.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses (125,820) 25,247 20,928 31,440 6,193 24.53% 10,512 50.23%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

14,119,322$   8,924,414$     7,378,723$     2,008,372$     (6,916,042)$    -77.50% (5,370,351)$    -72.78%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages * -$                   3,733,304$     2,777,491$     3,281,261$     (452,043)$       -12.11% 503,770$        18.14%

Employee Benefits * - 1,504,752 1,566,162 1,180,041 (324,711) -21.58% (386,121) -24.65%

Professional Services - - 60 - - 0.00% (60) -100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - 780 - - 0.00% (780) -100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   5,238,056$     4,344,493$     4,461,302$     (776,754)$       -14.83% 116,809$        2.69%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

70 | P a g e

SPRINTER Operators 

This departments includes the wages and benefits for SPRINTER train operators and attendants, who 
are responsible for the providing safe, efficient and customer-friendly passenger transportation by 
ensuring the safe operation of trains in accordance with applicable regulations and operating rules and 
practices. 

COASTER Maintenance 

This department includes the COASTER maintenance technicians, who perform a variety of maintenance 
tasks on COASTER revenue vehicles. The contracted technical support and material management 
services and fuel budget for COASTER are included in this department. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   2,444,415$     2,296,478$     2,230,108$     (214,307)$       -8.77% (66,370)$         -2.89%

Employee Benefits - 1,010,712 906,314 735,283 (275,429) -27.25% (171,031) -18.87%

Professional Services - - 1,340 - - 0.00% (1,340) -100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - 12,860 - - 0.00% (12,860) -100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   3,455,127$     3,216,992$     2,965,391$     (489,736)$       -14.17% (251,601)$       -7.82%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   1,463,744$     1,463,744$     100.00% 1,463,744$     100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 393,460 393,460 100.00% 393,460 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 3,592,609 3,592,609 100.00% 3,592,609 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 3,722,675 3,722,675 100.00% 3,722,675 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - 657,339 657,339 100.00% 657,339 100.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   9,829,827$     9,829,827$     100.00% 9,829,827$     100.00%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

71 | P a g e

SPRINTER Maintenance 

This department includes the SPRINTER maintenance technicians, who perform a variety of 
maintenance tasks on SPRINTER revenue vehicles. The contracted technical support and material 
management services and fuel budget for SPRINTER are included in this department. 

Rail Vehicles Overhauls  

This department includes the overhaul and repair mechanics, who are responsible for major disassembly, 
repair, rebuilding, assembly, diagnostic and testing duties in the process of overhauling rail vehicles. 
These mechanics work with power plants, transmissions, differentials, axles, wheels, hydraulic and 
electrical systems, climate control systems, valves, pumps, tanks, compressors, heat exchangers, piping, 
alternators, generators, distributors, starters, blowers, and fuel metering devices.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   1,079,614$     1,079,614$     100.00% 1,079,614$     100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 280,745 280,745 100.00% 280,745 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 3,567,552 3,567,552 100.00% 3,567,552 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 1,900,113 1,900,113 100.00% 1,900,113 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - 275,467 275,467 100.00% 275,467 100.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   7,103,491$     7,103,491$     100.00% 7,103,491$     100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   466,467$        466,467$        100.00% 466,467$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 109,327 109,327 100.00% 109,327 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 925,605 925,605 100.00% 925,605 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 2,972,503 2,972,503 100.00% 2,972,503 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   4,473,902$     4,473,902$     100.00% 4,473,902$     100.00%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

72 | P a g e

Rail Vehicles Maintenance  

The Rail Vehicles Maintenance department oversees the maintenance technicians and overhaul and 
repair mechanics and is responsible for ensuring that commuter and hybrid rail equipment are designed, 
maintained, and operated in a safe, reliable, and efficient manner and that transit services are operated 
in compliance with the specifications and regulations of the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), the 
Federal Rail Association (FRA), the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) and other regulatory 
and governing agencies.  

Rail Technologies 

The Rail Technologies department is responsible for the delivery of technology projects and programs 
necessary to deliver safe, convenient, reliable, and compliant public transportation services. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 3,243,502$     3,551,084$     3,357,822$     1,377,053$     (2,174,031)$    -61.22% (1,980,769)$    -58.99%

Employee Benefits 1,186,147 998,116 1,196,324 310,875 (687,241) -68.85% (885,449) -74.01%

Professional Services 7,026,292 9,197,882 8,076,276 - (9,197,882) -100.00% (8,076,276) -100.00%

Materials and Supplies 1,959,859 485,050 247,298 8,280 (476,770) -98.29% (239,018) -96.65%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 60,735 82,000 19,999 53,280 (28,720) -35.02% 33,281 166.41%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

13,476,535$   14,314,132$   12,897,719$   1,749,488$     (12,564,644)$  -87.78% (11,148,231)$  -86.44%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 179,265$        264,808$        227,497$        168,998$        (95,810)$         -36.18% (58,499)$         -25.71%

Employee Benefits 101,977 91,836 119,433 44,839 (46,997) -51.17% (74,594) -62.46%

Professional Services 1,367,707 942,563 416,586 539,476 (403,087) -42.76% 122,890 29.50%

Materials and Supplies 7,471 6,000 1,187 16,800 10,800 180.00% 15,613 1315.33%

Utilities 82,822 151,600 105,877 86,191 (65,409) -43.15% (19,686) -18.59%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 29,554 15,000 10,273 4,000 (11,000) -73.33% (6,273) -61.06%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,768,796$     1,471,807$     880,853$        860,304$        (611,503)$       -41.55% (20,549)$         -2.33%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

73 | P a g e

Rail Training 

The Rail Training department is responsible for the delivery and implementation of regulatory and 
custom-made training programs focused on rail operations delivery. This department develops 
curriculum, lesson plans, instructional procedures and program content, and training materials. This 
department conducts training and testing to employees related to passenger and hybrid rail operations 
service delivery. 

Operations Control Center  

The Operations Control Center (OCC) coordinates communications from bus, rail, paratransit operations, 
public safety personnel, customers, and other sources to support safe, efficient, and reliable operations. 
The OCC also supports service management for transit operations which includes the dispatch of 
passenger and freight services. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   525,926$        525,926$        100.00% 525,926$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 126,610 126,610 100.00% 126,610 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 134,149 134,149 100.00% 134,149 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 8,000 8,000 100.00% 8,000 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 73,600 73,600 100.00% 73,600 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   868,285$        868,285$        100.00% 868,285$        100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 1,789,356$     2,134,676$     1,881,700$     1,980,240$     (154,436)$       -7.23% 98,540$          5.24%

Employee Benefits 830,300 879,132 1,039,831 705,724 (173,408) -19.72% (334,107) -32.13%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies 878 10,000 4,522 4,000 (6,000) -60.00% (522) -11.54%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 11,152 31,000 16,683 24,000 (7,000) -22.58% 7,317 43.86%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,631,686$     3,054,808$     2,942,736$     2,713,964$     (340,844)$       -11.16% (228,772)$       -7.77%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

74 | P a g e

Bus Operations 

Bus Operations Administration 

The Bus Operations Administration department manages bus and shared mobility transportation 
operations and maintenance, which includes BREEZE, LIFT, FLEX, and NCTD+ transit services, and 
ensures operational goals are met, while also focusing on customer satisfaction, regulatory compliance, 
and continuous improvement of services. 

Bus Operators 

Beginning on June 29, 2025, NCTD will insource bus operations, which includes coach operators for 
BREEZE service and drivers for LIFT, FLEX, and NCTD+ services. This department includes the salaries 
and wages of BREEZE coach operators, who operate public transit buses, transport passengers, and 
perform safety inspections of bus equipment to assure their safe, efficient, and on-time operation. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 479,561$        843,731$        962,517$        4,808,645$     3,964,914$     469.93% 3,846,128$     399.59%

Employee Benefits 225,285 236,220 365,135 1,810,939 1,574,719 666.63% 1,445,804 395.96%

Professional Services 1,553,846 2,188,773 1,269,439 909,309 (1,279,464) -58.46% (360,130) -28.37%

Materials and Supplies 3,544,813 5,933,580 4,358,566 11,500 (5,922,080) -99.81% (4,347,066) -99.74%

Utilities 19,721 48,500 25,771 29,117 (19,383) -39.96% 3,346 12.98%

Casualty and Liability - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes 214,471 273,462 420,122 - (273,462) -100.00% (420,122) -100.00%

Purchased Transportation 49,074,873 49,574,854 51,986,875 - (49,574,854) -100.00% (51,986,875) -100.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 21,114 64,423 82,364 131,030 66,607 103.39% 48,666 59.09%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - 100,000 273,660 53,196 (46,804) -46.80% (220,464) -80.56%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

55,133,684$   59,263,543$   59,744,449$   7,753,736$     (51,509,807)$  -86.92% (51,990,713)$  -87.02%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   - 15,788,643$   15,788,643$   100.00% 15,788,643$   100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 4,740,195 4,740,195 100.00% 4,740,195 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 4,429 4,429 100.00% 4,429 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 74,480 74,480 100.00% 74,480 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 5,000 5,000 100.00% 5,000 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   20,612,747$   20,612,747$   100.00% 20,612,747$   100.00%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

75 | P a g e

On-Demand Services 

This department includes the salaries and wages of LIFT, FLEX, and NCTD+ drivers, who operate public 
transit buses, transport passengers, and perform safety inspections of bus equipment to assure their 
safe, efficient, and on-time operation. This department includes $1 million for contracted taxi for 
paratransit services. 

Bus Vehicles Maintenance 

Beginning on June 29, 2025, NCTD will insource bus maintenance, which includes bus servicers, auto 
technicians, and other bus maintenance staff. This department is responsible for activities such as 
cleaning of revenue and non-revenue equipment, including automobiles and buses; fueling vehicles; 
topping off fluids; cleaning interiors; diagnosing and conducting technical repairs; and performing 
preventative maintenance, diagnosis, service and repair of steering, suspension, brakes, engines, 
transmissions, differentials, electrical, wheelchair lifts, and air conditioning systems. The budget for 
compressed natural gas, gasoline, hydrogen, and electricity for bus services is included in this 
department. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   - 4,207,952$     4,207,952$     100.00% 4,207,952$     100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 1,499,454 1,499,454 100.00% 1,499,454 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 408,171 408,171 100.00% 408,171 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 10,000 10,000 100.00% 10,000 100.00%

Utilities - - - 2,400 2,400 100.00% 2,400 100.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 100.00% 1,000,000 100.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 4,000 4,000 100.00% 4,000 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   7,131,977$     7,131,977$     100.00% 7,131,977$     100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   6,495,033$     6,495,033$     100.00% 6,495,033$     100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 2,934,176 2,934,176 100.00% 2,934,176 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 994,049 994,049 100.00% 994,049 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 5,134,395 5,134,395 100.00% 5,134,395 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - 337,747 337,747 100.00% 337,747 100.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 15,760 15,760 100.00% 15,760 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   15,911,160$   15,911,160$   100.00% 15,911,160$   100.00%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

76 | P a g e

Non-Revenue Operations Support 

This department does not have employees and carries the budget for outsourced non-revenue vehicles 
and specialty equipment maintenance contracts. 

Right-of-Way Vehicles and Specialty Equipment 

This department manages the maintenance, repair, and servicing of non-revenue vehicles and specialty 
equipment including light, medium, and heavy-duty vehicles; hi-rail vehicle equipment; and rail, heavy, 
and general support equipment. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   0.00% -$                   0.00%

Employee Benefits - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 259,612 259,612 100.00% 259,612 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 1,500 1,500 100.00% 1,500 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   261,112$        261,112$        100.00% 261,112$        100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 99,442$          200,766$        141,266$        143,393$        (57,373)$         -28.58% 2,127$            1.51%

Employee Benefits 37,853 56,460 47,603 24,537 (31,923) -56.54% (23,066) -48.45%

Professional Services 250,642 969,907 632,374 819,263 (150,644) -15.53% 186,889 29.55%

Materials and Supplies 264,509 528,736 306,738 253,820 (274,916) -51.99% (52,918) -17.25%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 3,706 7,500 4,575 8,000 500 6.67% 3,425 74.86%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

656,152$        1,763,369$     1,132,556$     1,249,013$     (514,356)$       -29.17% 116,457$        10.28%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

77 | P a g e

Security 

The Security department implements and monitors security and emergency management programs for 
NCTD. Essential responsibilities include management and oversight of the Memorandums of 
Understanding with the San Diego Sheriff’s Department for armed law enforcement services as well as 
planning, coordination, and delivery of emergency training exercises for NCTD staff, contractors, and 
local public safety agencies. Additionally, the department has direct staff that monitor and provide 24/7 
response for various physical security technologies and emergency notification systems throughout 
NCTD from the Monitoring Center in Oceanside.  

Rail Right-of-Way 

Rail Right-of-Way Oversight 

The Rail Right-of-Way Oversight department oversees the railroad right-of-way maintenance operations 
to support safe and efficient rail operations in compliance with the specifications and regulations of the 
Federal Transit Administration (FTA), the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), the California Public 
Utilities Commission (CPUC), and other applicable regulatory and governing agencies. This department 
plans, directs, and in certain instances, coordinates the administration of maintenance of way, signal, 
positive train control (specified elements), and communication system (specified elements) operations to 
ensure service quality, and compliance with regulatory requirements and safety management system 
principles. This department also provides oversight for information technology departments. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 751,529$        1,044,443$     922,436$        1,036,807$     (7,636)$          -0.73% 114,371$        12.40%

Employee Benefits 382,151 396,132 428,384 371,047 (25,085) -6.33% (57,337) -13.38%

Professional Services 4,866,197 5,757,500 6,711,662 6,502,000 744,500 12.93% (209,662) -3.12%

Materials and Supplies 84,674 25,000 8,199 15,548 (9,452) -37.81% 7,349 89.63%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 4,077 14,500 5,280 8,500 (6,000) -41.38% 3,220 60.98%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

6,088,628$     7,237,575$     8,075,961$     7,933,902$     696,327$        9.62% (142,059)$       -1.76%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 275,856$        461,247$        373,611 440,316$        (20,931)$         -4.54% 66,705$          17.85%

Employee Benefits 120,601 126,816 142,631 79,635 (47,181) -37.20% (62,996) -44.17%

Professional Services - 516,000 - 16,000 (500,000) -96.90% 16,000 #DIV/0!

Materials and Supplies 250 42,500 27,694 31,600 (10,900) -25.65% 3,906 14.10%

Utilities - 20,000 8,807 10,000 (10,000) -50.00% 1,193 13.55%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - 10,100 2,523 - (10,100) -100.00% (2,523) -100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

396,707$        1,176,663$     555,266$        577,551$        (599,112)$       -50.92% 22,285$          4.01%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

78 | P a g e

Maintenance-of-Way  

The Maintenance-of-Way department performs maintenance activities within NCTD’s railroad right-of-
way enabling safe and efficient movement of trains. This department also oversees contractors 
performing right-of-way maintenance and construction and implements tasks such as track surfacing, rail 
replacement, rail flaw detection, spot ballast program, vegetation and erosion control, tie replacements, 
ultrasonic and geometry testing, and rail grinding.  

Maintenance of Signals 

The Maintenance of Signals department maintains various railroad signals and grade crossing warning 
devices and infrastructure to support the delivery of commuter, freight, and hybrid rail services along 
NCTD’s railroad right-of-way. This department ensures that the railroad signal communication facilities 
and systems function to support safe and efficient rail operations and comply with the specifications and 
regulations of the Federal Transit Administration (FTA), the Federal Railroad Administration (FRA), the 
California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), and other regulatory and governing agencies. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 2,736,536$     3,176,432$     2,787,307$     2,547,582$     (628,850)$       -19.80% (239,725)$       -8.60%

Employee Benefits 823,554 830,640 909,985 635,652 (194,988) -23.47% (274,333) -30.15%

Professional Services 2,039,751 2,341,100 1,939,411 2,300,737 (40,363) -1.72% 361,326 18.63%

Materials and Supplies 420,633 888,000 1,216,580 735,999 (152,001) -17.12% (480,581) -39.50%

Utilities 708 10,000 1,670 10,000 - 0.00% 8,330 498.80%

Casualty and Liability - - (720) - - 0.00% 720 -100.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 39,336 72,500 43,897 33,600 (38,900) -53.66% (10,297) -23.46%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals 167,767 315,000 79,382 255,000 (60,000) -19.05% 175,618 221.23%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

6,228,285$     7,633,672$     6,977,512$     6,518,570$     (1,115,102)$    -14.61% (458,942)$       -6.58%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 2,070,066$     2,223,069$     2,133,148$     2,272,139$     49,070$          2.21% 138,991$        6.52%

Employee Benefits 769,024 586,212 766,997 564,997 (21,215) -3.62% (202,000) -26.34%

Professional Services 160,324 3,269,200 4,135,902 2,565,077 (704,123) -21.54% (1,570,825) -37.98%

Materials and Supplies 242,666 970,500 828,313 585,000 (385,500) -39.72% (243,313) -29.37%

Utilities 256,006 286,000 263,288 330,000 44,000 15.38% 66,712 25.34%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 20,632 28,800 102,206 50,000 21,200 73.61% (52,206) -51.08%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - 37,500 26,250 44,100 6,600 17.60% 17,850 68.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

3,518,718$     7,401,281$     8,256,104$     6,411,313$     (989,968)$       -13.38% (1,844,791)$    -22.34%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

79 | P a g e

Information Technology Systems 

Previously combined with Information Technology Operations, this new standalone department is 
responsible for the design, implementation, and management of servers and other related hardware and 
software with a primary focus on NCTD's transit operation systems, including the effective utilization of 
these systems. 

Information Technology Operations 

The Information Technology Operations department manages the administrative technology for the 
District, such as networks, servers, hardware, software, security, and operating systems.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   - 959,858$        959,858$        100.00% 959,858$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 269,992 269,992 100.00% 269,992 100.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   1,229,850$     1,229,850$     100.00% 1,229,850$     100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 1,753,154$     2,199,981$     1,926,827 788,654$        (1,411,327)$    -64.15% (1,138,173)$    -59.07%

Employee Benefits 819,914 647,076 845,574 227,795 (419,281) -64.80% (617,779) -73.06%

Professional Services 3,299,026 3,205,041 2,702,330 2,477,702 (727,339) -22.69% (224,628) -8.31%

Materials and Supplies 265,863 668,151 827,906 265,824 (402,327) -60.21% (562,082) -67.89%

Utilities 401,955 461,200 423,918 540,800 79,600 17.26% 116,882 27.57%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 30,768 53,750 13,916 48,046 (5,704) -10.61% 34,130 245.26%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals 108,227 125,000 106,624 136,213 11,213 8.97% 29,589 27.75%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

6,678,907$     7,360,199$     6,847,095$     4,485,034$     (2,875,165)$    -39.06% (2,362,061)$    -34.50%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

80 | P a g e

General Services 

General Services 

The General Services department has oversight of procurements and contracts administration, parts and 
warehouse, facilities, and business intelligence. 

Procurement and Contract Administration 

The Procurement and Contract Administration department is responsible for the procurement of goods 
and services and contract administration for the District in accordance with State of California Public 
Contracting Code, Federal Transportation Administration Circular 4220.1F, NCTD Board policies, and 
internal compliance standards. This Division ensures that there is fair and open competition from 
prospective vendors and suppliers.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   281,664$        281,664$        100.00% 281,664$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 34,794 34,794 100.00% 34,794 100.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   316,458$        316,458$        100.00% 316,458$        100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 847,141$        1,070,798$     1,040,801 959,813$        (110,985)$       -10.36% (80,988)$         -7.78%

Employee Benefits 379,753 278,076 444,684 252,009 (26,067) -9.37% (192,675) -43.33%

Professional Services 178,542 167,000 74,798 119,500 (47,500) -28.44% 44,702 59.76%

Materials and Supplies - - 445 3,000 3,000 100.00% 2,555 574.16%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 7,316 29,200 13,803 27,500 (1,700) -5.82% 13,697 99.23%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,412,752$     1,545,074$     1,574,531$     1,361,822$     (183,252)$       -11.86% (212,709)$       -13.51%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

81 | P a g e

Parts and Warehouse 

Parts and Warehouse is a new department created as result of the insourcing of bus operations and 
maintenance. This department will order parts, receive and control inventory, issue parts, send out 
shipments, file warranty parts claims, and maintain vendor relations. 

Facilities 

The Facilities department manages and/or maintains transit centers, operations facilities, maintenance 
facilities, administrative offices, and bus stops. Professional services include landscaping, electrical, 
plumbing, HVAC maintenance, and bus stops and shelters cleaning.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   725,771$        725,771$        100.00% 725,771$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 296,658 296,658 100.00% 296,658 100.00%

Professional Services - - - 217,149 217,149 100.00% 217,149 100.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 4,898,060 4,898,060 100.00% 4,898,060 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   6,137,638$     6,137,638$     100.00% 6,137,638$     100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 1,816,698$     2,732,267$     2,496,499$     3,191,251$     458,984$        16.80% 694,752$        27.83%

Employee Benefits 811,127 1,081,776 1,135,546 1,156,677 74,901 6.92% 21,131 1.86%

Professional Services 4,017,948 5,124,340 4,708,819 5,083,760 (40,580) -0.79% 374,941 7.96%

Materials and Supplies 660,136 1,140,283 1,008,583 1,218,500 78,217 6.86% 209,917 20.81%

Utilities 2,502,547 2,655,314 2,493,730 2,858,680 203,366 7.66% 364,950 14.63%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation 1,184,981 1,313,024 1,225,261 - (1,313,024) -100.00% (1,225,261) -100.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 51,381 111,998 64,366 68,986 (43,012) -38.40% 4,620 7.18%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals 1,960 4,000 667 2,000 (2,000) -50.00% 1,333 199.85%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

11,046,778$   14,163,002$   13,133,471$   13,579,854$   (583,148)$       -4.12% 446,383$        3.40%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

82 | P a g e

Business Intelligence 

The newly created Business Intelligence department will combine business analytics, data mining, data 
visualization, data tools and infrastructure, and best practices to help the District more data-driven 
decisions. 

Development Services 

Development Services 

The Development Services department oversees NCTD real estate interests, environmental services, 
and project management.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   - 233,694$        233,694$        100.00% 233,694$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 62,207 62,207 100.00% 62,207 100.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 5,000 5,000 100.00% 5,000 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   300,901$        300,901$        100.00% 300,901$        100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 626,247$        638,249$        579,516$        782,391$        144,142$        22.58% 202,875$        35.01%

Employee Benefits 263,575 139,932 230,123 167,012 27,080 19.35% (63,111) -27.42%

Professional Services 1,522,656 3,188,379 2,624,617 1,587,000 (1,601,379) -50.23% (1,037,617) -39.53%

Materials and Supplies - 200 - - (200) -100.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 12,538 12,000 5,854 3,864 (8,136) -67.80% (1,990) -33.99%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,425,016$     3,978,760$     3,440,110$     2,540,267$     (1,438,493)$    -36.15% (899,843)$       -26.16%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

83 | P a g e

Development Services Support Services 

This department provides asset management and capital projects support. 

Engineering 

The Engineering department is responsible for developing and completing rail capital improvement 
projects managed by NCTD and for providing oversight over projects managed by SANDAG on the Los 
Angeles-San Diego-San Luis Obispo (LOSSAN) Corridor. Costs associated with bridge repairs and 
inspections, right-of-way embankment monitoring and mitigation, and facilities improvements that do not 
meet the capitalization criteria, are included in this department. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 413,545$        392,592$        311,189$        310,620$        (81,972)$         -20.88% (569)$             -0.18%

Employee Benefits 178,222 105,264 114,193 59,470 (45,794) -43.50% (54,723) -47.92%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies 199 7,500 1,250 1,000 (6,500) -86.67% (250) -20.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 826 11,000 4,595 1,500 (9,500) -86.36% (3,095) -67.36%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

592,792$        516,356$        431,227$        372,590$        (143,766)$       -27.84% (58,637)$         -13.60%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 632,905$        394,984$        596,957$        579,880$        184,896$        46.81% (17,077)$         -2.86%

Employee Benefits 304,131 101,928 283,987 137,574 35,646 34.97% (146,413) -51.56%

Professional Services 1,486,331 2,537,453 1,060,467 3,534,100 996,647 39.28% 2,473,633 233.26%

Materials and Supplies - 58,900 10,337 1,600 (57,300) -97.28% (8,737) -84.52%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 13,852 27,846 19,587 5,870 (21,976) -78.92% (13,717) -70.03%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,437,219$     3,121,111$     1,971,335$     4,259,024$     1,137,913$     36.46% 2,287,689$     116.05%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

84 | P a g e

Project Management Office 

This Project Management Office is responsible for project management functions and processes. The 
Project Management Office develops and maintains standards for projects life cycle and tracks and 
reports on projects progress. This department also oversees the development and prioritization of Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) projects input for funding and executive leadership approval. 

Real Estate 

The Real Estate department manages NCTD real estate activities through leases, licenses (crossings), 
easements, right-of-entry permits, and other real estate agreements.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   432,277$        340,176$        378,184$        (54,093)$         -12.51% 38,008$          11.17%

Employee Benefits - 142,524 123,070 82,388 (60,136) -42.19% (40,682) -33.06%

Professional Services - - 181,836 108,905 108,905 100.00% (72,931) -40.11%

Materials and Supplies - 5,000 - - (5,000) -100.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - 14,500 744 2,500 (12,000) -82.76% 1,756 236.02%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   594,301$        645,826$        571,977$        (22,324)$         -3.76% (73,849)$         -11.43%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 281,486$        329,850$        292,597 338,981$        9,131$            2.77% 46,384$          15.85%

Employee Benefits 106,095 64,860 99,877 69,120 4,260 6.57% (30,757) -30.79%

Professional Services 24,000 154,258 49,000 78,054 (76,204) -49.40% 29,054 59.29%

Materials and Supplies 36 250 40 - (250) -100.00% (40) -100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 26,671 11,250 10,733 2,400 (8,850) -78.67% (8,333) -77.64%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals 825,325 801,656 644,085 655,886 (145,770) -18.18% 11,801 1.83%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,263,613$     1,362,124$     1,096,332$     1,144,441$     (217,683)$       -15.98% 48,109$          4.39%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

85 | P a g e

Finance 

Financial Oversight 

The Financial Oversight department is responsible for financial management leadership. This department 
has oversight of the operating budget, financial compliance, and internal controls in all the Finance 
Division areas. It is responsible for ensuring that financial transactions are recorded accurately in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB) standards. In addition, this department maintains NCTD fixed assets records 
in accordance with promulgated compliance standards and prepares the Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report and other financial compliance reports for the District. 

Accounting 

The Accounting department is responsible for financial transactions in the areas of accounts payable and 
accounts receivable. Beginning in FY2026, payroll responsibilities will be in a separate department.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 721,737$        1,046,358$     788,765$        1,011,910$     (34,448)$         -3.29% 223,145$        28.29%

Employee Benefits 333,264 290,988 317,484 257,261 (33,727) -11.59% (60,223) -18.97%

Professional Services 136,366 161,988 123,599 121,000 (40,988) -25.30% (2,599) -2.10%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 1,788 27,800 7,361 28,000 200 0.72% 20,639 280.38%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,193,155$     1,527,134$     1,237,209$     1,418,171$     (108,963)$       -7.14% 180,962$        14.63%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 386,989$        503,848$        458,208$        242,716$        (261,132)$       -51.83% (215,492)$       -47.03%

Employee Benefits 161,163 152,364 171,425 65,708 (86,656) -56.87% (105,717) -61.67%

Professional Services 100,941 120,500 63,381 25,000 (95,500) -79.25% (38,381) -60.56%

Materials and Supplies 3,896 5,000 6,558 5,000 - 0.00% (1,558) -23.76%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses (2,967) 21,000 4,221 9,000 (12,000) -57.14% 4,779 113.22%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

650,022$        802,712$        703,793$        347,424$        (455,288)$       -56.72% (356,369)$       -50.64%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

86 | P a g e

Payroll 

The Payroll department, previously combined with the Accounting department, is responsible for the full 
range of payroll preparation, processing, and payment to employees, and the preparation of payroll 
reports and documents for the District’s payroll tax returns, W2, CalPERS, Railroad Retirement, and 
State Controller’s Office. 

Grants 

The Grants department is responsible for ensuring the proper accounting, billing, and financial reporting 
of projects and grants activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and relevant 
local, state, and federal regulations.    

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   385,582$        385,582$        100.00% 385,582$        100.00%

Employee Benefits - - - 103,866 103,866 100.00% 103,866 100.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - 2,000 2,000 100.00% 2,000 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - 12,000 12,000 100.00% 12,000 100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   -$                   -$                   503,448$        503,448$        100.00% 503,448$        100.00%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 270,588$        275,671$        196,810$        292,536$        16,865$          6.12% 95,726$          48.64%

Employee Benefits 135,637 101,928 100,944 88,130 (13,798) -13.54% (12,814) -12.69%

Professional Services 4,810 14,000 2,330 10,000 (4,000) -28.57% 7,670 329.18%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 2,054 9,240 2,402 9,200 (40) -0.43% 6,798 283.01%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

413,089$        400,839$        302,486$        399,866$        (973)$             -0.24% 97,380$          32.19%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

87 | P a g e

Fare Collection 

The Fare Collection department is responsible for the operations, accounting, and reconciliations of fare 
revenue. This department oversees revenue reporting, control of revenue collection, oversight for 
contracted armored services, servicing of transit centers and ticket vending machines, ticket inventory 
management, and fare products analysis. 

People 

Human Resources 

The Human Resources department is responsible for managing and overseeing all aspects of human 
resources activities in general personnel management including, compensation, benefits, 
employer/employee relations, labor relations and negotiations, recruitment and selection, classification, 
workers' compensation, training, employee and organizational development, and the drug and alcohol 
program. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 42,603$          60,592$          50,144$          59,758$          (834)$             -1.38% 9,614$            19.17%

Employee Benefits 25,753 19,860 25,742 17,010 (2,850) -14.35% (8,732) -33.92%

Professional Services 419,201 733,881 486,386 669,700 (64,181) -8.75% 183,314 37.69%

Materials and Supplies 10,967 25,000 9,828 25,000 - 0.00% 15,172 154.38%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - 2,400 400 3,000 600 25.00% 2,600 650.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

498,524$        841,733$        572,500$        774,468$        (67,265)$         -7.99% 201,968$        35.28%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 505,558$        1,076,713$     937,952$        1,330,744$     254,031$        23.59% 392,792$        41.88%

Employee Benefits * 347,826 488,280 500,163 417,538 (70,742) -14.49% (82,625) -16.52%

Professional Services 457,720 435,000 292,668 540,000 105,000 24.14% 247,332 84.51%

Materials and Supplies 10,213 15,000 6,728 11,000 (4,000) -26.67% 4,272 63.50%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 178,596 325,000 169,714 327,000 2,000 0.62% 157,286 92.68%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,499,913$     2,339,993$     1,907,225$     2,626,282$     286,289$        12.23% 719,057$        37.70%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

88 | P a g e

Learning and Development 

The Learning and Development department leads all employee learning and development programs, 
including administrative training, bus, rail and facilities technical training, talent management, leadership 
development, internship programs, and related organizational learning and development functions and 
activities. This department also oversees the District’s instructional design function, in support of direct 
and contractor staff training program development, implementation and delivery that meets both 
regulatory and District standards. 

Planning 

Service Planning 

The Service Planning department is responsible for reviewing, maintaining, and revising schedules to 
ensure reliable service to the public. This department coordinates the multimodal transit service 
operations planning and implementation activities of NCTD and participates in regional transportation 
studies and related service development activities in coordination with other agencies such as SANDAG 
and the LOSSAN Corridor working group.  

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 533,605$        990,937$        825,905$        563,186$        (427,751)$       -43.17% (262,719)$       -31.81%

Employee Benefits * 210,559 286,068 283,188 120,406 (165,662) -57.91% (162,782) -57.48%

Professional Services 465,133 482,500 457,843 627,016 144,516 29.95% 169,173 36.95%

Materials and Supplies 155 3,000 2,761 3,000 - 0.00% 239 8.66%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 20,863 26,000 21,196 17,000 (9,000) -34.62% (4,196) -19.80%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

1,230,315$     1,788,505$     1,590,893$     1,330,608$     (457,897)$       -25.60% (260,285)$       -16.36%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 336,318$        476,761$        359,395 520,797$        44,036$          9.24% 161,402$        44.91%

Employee Benefits 154,335 121,836 140,495 134,249 12,413 10.19% (6,246) -4.45%

Professional Services 1,401,626 2,327,040 1,129,442 1,541,286 (785,754) -33.77% 411,844 36.46%

Materials and Supplies 200 5,000 1,000 2,000 (3,000) -60.00% 1,000 100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation 347,588 74,000 20,498 25,000 (49,000) -66.22% 4,502 21.96%

Miscellaneous Expenses 49,278 141,140 45,891 15,999 (125,141) -88.66% (29,892) -65.14%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

2,289,345$     3,145,777$     1,696,721$     2,239,331$     (906,446)$       -28.81% 542,610$        31.98%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

89 | P a g e

Transit Systems Management 

The Transit Systems Management department plans, organizes, and coordinates a variety of business 
initiatives, financial, environmental, and operations sustainability planning, program/project development, 
and other strategic planning activities. This includes activities such as data gathering, data analysis, 
performance management analysis, concept development and strategy alternative analysis and 
management. 

Operations Support Services 

Operations Support Services 

The Operations Support Services Division and department has been discontinued as result of District 
reorganization. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   285,378$        156,879$        106,090$        (179,288)$       -62.82% (50,789)$         -32.37%

Employee Benefits - 87,336 73,904 36,098 (51,238) -58.67% (37,806) -51.16%

Professional Services - 580,500 343,333 484,000 (96,500) -16.62% 140,667 40.97%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - 10,000 2,302 8,000 (2,000) -20.00% 5,698 247.52%

Miscellaneous Expenses - 7,700 7,396 3,000 (4,700) -61.04% (4,396) -59.44%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

-$                   970,914$        583,814$        637,188$        (333,726)$       -34.37% 53,374$          9.14%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages 224,922$        317,941$        180,950 -$                   (317,941)$       -100.00% (180,950)$       -100.00%

Employee Benefits 113,276 80,412 82,247 - (80,412) -100.00% (82,247) -100.00%

Professional Services 750 - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - 1,000 2,199 - (1,000) -100.00% (2,199) -100.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses 775 11,000 2,674 - (11,000) -100.00% (2,674) -100.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

339,723$        410,353$        268,070$        -$                   (410,353)$       -100.00% (268,070)$       -100.00%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

90 | P a g e

Debt 

The Debt services department was created to separately account for debt-related expenditures. The 
primary source of debt for NCTD is related to the construction of the SPRINTER. This debt is expected 
to be retired by 2035.   

Contingency 
This department was created to separately account for unplanned expenses. The Chief Executive Officer 
approves any use of contingency funds to fund unplanned departmental expenses. 

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   0.00% -$                   0.00%

Employee Benefits - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense 622,260 737,200 563,487 674,300 (62,900) -8.53% 110,813 19.67%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

622,260$        737,200$        563,487$        674,300$        (62,900)$         -8.53% 110,813$        19.67%

Operating Expenditures

FY2024 

Actual

FY2025

Budget

FY2025 

Forecast

FY2026

Proposed 

Budget

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Budget

 (%)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast 

($)

Increase/ 

(Decrease) 

from FY2025 

Forecast

 (%)

Salaries and Wages -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   0.00% -$                   0.00%

Employee Benefits - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Professional Services - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Materials and Supplies - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Utilities - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Casualty and Liability - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Taxes - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Purchased Transportation - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Miscellaneous Expenses - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Debt-Related Expense - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Leases and Rentals - - - - - 0.00% - 0.00%

Contingency - 500,000 - 500,000 - 0.00% 500,000 100.00%

-$                   500,000$        -$                   500,000$        -$                   0.00% 500,000$        100.00%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

91 | P a g e

5-Year Plan and Capital Improvement Program 

5-Year Financial Assumptions 

The 5-Year Forecast is a planning tool designed to review the long-term outlook of the District’s major 
cost drivers and available funding sources. It is updated annually to help identify opportunities or issues 
and serves as the foundation to guide decision making during the development of the operating and 
capital budgets. It also provides a stress test to identify cash needs if sources of revenue came lower 
than projected.  

The following key assumptions were used in the 5-Year financial forecast: 

 Fare revenues: Fare revenues are based on the projected number of passengers by mode 
multiplied by historical average fares by mode. Forecasted ridership by mode was derived from 
the 5-Year Service Implementation Plan (SIP). There are no fare increases included in the 
projections. 

 Federal Formula Revenues: FY2026 amounts are based on the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) published apportionment tables. FY2027-FY2030 revenues remain flat, consistent with 
assumptions used by SANDAG in Agenda Item 7 of the SANDAG Board of Directors meeting on 
February 14, 2025. The 5-Year Plan assumes an extension of the IIJA through FY2030. 

 The TDA and TransNet apportionments for FY2026 and estimates for FY2027-FY2030 were 
provided by SANDAG and presented in Agenda Item 7 of the SANDAG Board of Directors 
meeting on February 14, 2025.  

 State Transit Assistance (STA) and STA State of Good Repair FY2026 allocation estimates were 
published by the California State Controller on January 31, 2025. Estimates for FY2027-FY2030 
remain unchanged from FY2026 levels. 

 State Rail Assistance (SRA): The FY2026 estimate is based on prior years’ levels; the actual 
estimate for FY2026 has not yet been provided by the California State Transportation Agency 
(CalSTA). FY2027-FY2030 are projected to remain the same as FY2026. 

 Allocations for State of California Senate Bill 125 (SB125) TIRCP and ZETCP funds were 
published by the California State Transportation Agency within the Final Guidelines dated 
September 29, 2023.  

 COASTER Service Expansion Program is funded with TransNet 8.1% funds based on the number 
of trips. 

 Revenue from the University of California San Diego (UCSD) U-Pass program is based on annual 
negotiated rates multiplied by the number of projected student enrollments. 

 Investment income is projected to decrease as interest rates fall in future fiscal years. 

 Other operating revenues are projected to increase by 3% annually.  

 Payroll costs are projected to increase by 3% in FY2026 and by 2% from FY2027 through FY2030. 

 Federal statute directs the U.S. Secretary of Transportation to adjust the cap on railroad liability 
every five years by applying the consumer price index. Few domestic insurers offer coverage 
beyond $50 million and agencies must recur to foreign-owned insurers willing to offer coverage 
up to the current federal cap of $323 million. Foreign-owned insurers are constantly re-evaluating 
their position in the U.S. market based on claims losses across all sectors and premium increases 
have exceeded the CPI in the past. The 5-Year Plan does not factor this uncertainty and assumes 
that premiums will increase by 3% annually from FY2027 through FY2030. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

92 | P a g e

 Other operating expenses are projected to increase by 3% annually. 

 Payments of long-term obligations for the pension unfunded accrued liability and SPRINTER 
principal payments will be made from net assets. 

Sources of Revenue and Allocation of Funds 

Based on revenue and expense assumptions, the District will achieve a balanced operating budget in 
FY2026 but will face a fiscal deficit in the upcoming years based on current funding levels. FTA formula 
carryover funds and TDA reserves will be used in FY2026 and FY2027 to cover capital expenditures, but 
net deficits are projected beginning in FY2028. Furthermore, payments for long-term obligations for the 
unfunded pension liability and principal payments on the Certificates of Participation will be made from 
net assets. Table 13 shows the projected revenues from all sources and allocations to the Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) and operating expenses in the next five years. Details on the projects funded 
in the CIP are provided in the following sections. 

Table 13. FY2026-FY2030 Sources of Revenue and Allocation of Funds 

FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 5-Year Total

TOTAL REVENUES

Passenger Fares 12,492,298$   12,726,285$   12,866,914$   13,007,612$    13,486,689$    64,579,798$    

Non-Transportation Revenues 4,731,200 3,930,336 3,721,908 3,769,571 3,823,023 19,976,038

Auxiliary Revenues 11,199,184 11,535,160 11,881,215 12,237,651 12,604,780 59,457,990

Federal Grants 62,383,824 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 264,922,376

State Grants 86,703,624 24,649,833 24,649,833 21,182,418 21,182,418 178,368,126

Local Grants 79,473,630 80,517,546 82,363,970 84,765,539 87,314,180 414,434,865

256,983,760 183,993,798 186,118,478 185,597,429 189,045,728 1,001,739,193

FUNDS ALLOCATION

Capital Improvement Program 86,096,889 13,951,116 4,181,690 2,000,000 - 106,229,695
Minimum Capital District Goal - 1,048,884 10,818,310 15,000,000 15,000,000 41,867,194

Preventive Maintenance and Operating 178,805,577 183,227,724 187,763,996 192,417,444 197,191,205 939,405,946

264,902,466 198,227,724 202,763,996 209,417,444 212,191,205 1,087,502,835

Deficit (7,918,706) (14,233,926) (16,645,518) (23,820,015) (23,145,477) (85,763,642)

Reserve for Capital Projects * 7,918,706 14,233,926 - - - 22,152,632

Net Deficit -$                  -$                  (16,645,518)$ (23,820,015)$   (23,145,477)$   (63,611,010)$   

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Funded from Net Assets)

CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability Payments 4,151,413$    4,455,000$    4,700,000$    5,260,000$      5,394,000$      23,960,413$    

SPRINTER Debt Principal Payments 1,450,000 1,500,000 1,550,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 7,700,000

Funded from Net Assets 5,601,413$    5,955,000$    6,250,000$    6,860,000$      6,994,000$      31,660,413$    

* Includes FTA formula carryover funds and TDA capital reserves



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

93 | P a g e

Allocation of Federal, State and Local Grant Funds 

Table 14 shows the projected grants funding allocations in the next five years (excluding Medi-Cal and 
reimbursements from the CPUC for maintenance of crossings and signals): 

Table 14. FY2026-FY2030 Grants Revenue and Allocation of Funds 

Grant FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 5-Year Total

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5307 27,962,316$      27,962,316$      27,962,316$      27,962,316$      27,962,316$      139,811,580$    

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5337 20,142,466 20,142,466 20,142,466 20,142,466 20,142,466 100,712,330

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5339 1,848,288 1,848,288 1,848,288 1,848,288 1,848,288 9,241,440

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Section 5311 641,568 641,568 641,568 641,568 641,568 3,207,840

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) Low No 307,390 307,390

U.S. Department of Transportation - Rebuilding American 

   Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) 10,208,556 - - - - 10,208,556

Federal Highway Administration - Congestion Mitigation 

   and Air Quality Improvement (CMAQ) Program 1,233,240 - - - - 1,233,240

Transportation Development Act (TDA) 4.0 49,733,819 50,240,000 51,285,000 52,706,000 54,207,000 258,171,819

Transportation Development Act (TDA) 4.5 2,608,917 2,635,000 2,690,000 2,765,000 2,844,000 13,542,917

State Transit Assistance (STA) 12,042,825 12,042,825 12,042,825 12,042,825 12,042,825 60,214,125

STA State of Good Repair 2,088,577 2,088,577 2,088,577 2,088,577 2,088,577 10,442,885

Caltrans Planning Grant 820,000 - - - - 820,000

State Rail Assistance (SRA) 3,900,000 3,900,000 3,900,000 3,900,000 3,900,000 19,500,000

SB 125 Transit and Intercity Rail Capital Program (TIRCP) 48,333,791 - - - - 48,333,791

Zero-Emission Transit Capital Program (ZETCP) 3,467,415 3,467,415 3,467,415 - - 10,402,245

TransNet - Transit Services (Senior and Disabled) 484,000 491,000 503,000 520,000 538,000 2,536,000

TransNet - Transit Services (Operations and Capital) 18,247,000 18,504,000 18,981,000 19,603,000 20,279,000 95,614,000

TransNet - New Major Corridor Transit Operations 8,178,851 8,424,216 8,676,943 8,937,251 9,205,369 43,422,630

Low Carbon Transit Operations Program (LCTOP) 3,062,333 3,062,333 3,062,333 3,062,333 3,062,333 15,311,665

California Department of Housing and Community 

   Development - Affordable Housing and Sustainable 

   Communities (AHSC) 12,900,000 - - - - 12,900,000

Total Grants Revenue 228,211,352$    155,450,004$    157,291,731$    156,219,624$    158,761,742$    855,934,453$    

Allocations

Capital Improvement Program 86,096,889$      13,951,116$      4,181,690$        2,000,000$        -$                   106,229,695$    

Minimum Capital District Goal * - 1,048,884 10,818,310 15,000,000 15,000,000 41,867,194

Preventive Maintenance 42,272,678 40,103,980 40,103,980 38,103,980 40,103,980 200,688,598

Available for Operating Expenses 99,841,785 100,346,024 102,187,751 101,115,644 103,657,762 507,148,966

Total Allocations 228,211,352$    155,450,004$    157,291,731$    156,219,624$    158,761,742$    855,934,453$    

* Minimum District goal of $15 million anually

NOTE: Grant revenues subject to change based on State allocation of funding and revised estimates from SANDAG and the State Controller's Office 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

94 | P a g e

FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 

FY2026-FY2030 Unconstrained Capital Needs  

Each year, North County Transit - San Diego Railroad (NCTD/District) prepares and submits an update 
of its baseline five-year CIP by ranking ongoing and new capital investments according to internally 
established criteria, which ranks state of good repair, regulatory requirements, and safety and security 
as the highest priorities. District staff also continually review previously approved capital projects to 
ensure that they are advancing as planned, reallocate funding from projects that have anticipated savings 
or are no longer being pursued for various reasons, and review capital projects spending regularly to 
ensure that funds are being spent according to the projects budgets. 

For the five fiscal years FY2026-FY2030, NCTD’s capital needs total $481.7 million for primarily state of 
good repair projects that NCTD implements and $1.7 billion for capacity enhancing projects implemented 
by SANDAG under the TransNet Program. NCTD’s Board of Directors approves the CIP for projects that 
are funded and implemented by NCTD. 

The FY2026-FY2030 unconstrained CIP identifies needs of $120.6 million for FY2026 and $481.7 million 
for the five-year period. Following is a summary of the needs of District managed projects in the next five 
years: 

 $92.4 million for Control Point Songs double-track design and construction 

 $77.8 million for BREEZE East and West operations and maintenance facilities master plan 
improvements 

 $68.6 million for Positive Train Control (PTC) and rail signals  

 $50.4 million for BREEZE fleet replacements  

 $36.4 million for the Del Mar Fairgrounds Station Platform 

 $24.8 million for bus maintenance facilities improvements 

 $18.5 million for bridge repairs and replacements  

 $17.4 million for rail right-of-way improvements 

 $16.6 million for rail maintenance equipment and facilities improvements  

 $13.2 million for SPRINTER corridor improvements 

 $12.5 million for stations and platforms improvements 

 $10.9 million for COASTER fleet overhauls 

 $6.8 million for wireless mesh nodes 

 $8.2 million for SPRINTER fleet overhauls 

 $5.7 million for various software 

 $3.1 for maintenance of way equipment 

 $3 million for COASTER image recorders 

 $2.5 million for non-revenue vehicles 

 $2.6 million for bus stop improvements 

 $2.0 million for Buena Creek grade separation design 

Table 15 and Figure 14 shows the unconstrained capital needs by asset class for the next five fiscal 
years.



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

95 | P a g e

Table 15. FY2026-FY2030 Unconstrained Capital Needs 

Figure 14. FY2026-FY2030 Unconstrained Capital Needs by FTA ALI 

FY2026-FY2030 Constrained Capital Improvement Program  

NCTD is required to financially constrain the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) based on funding 
availability. NCTD develops a Discretionary Grants Program Strategy to seek discretionary grant awards 
to augment its capital funding. The award of discretionary grants is critical as current dedicated funding 
sources are insufficient to meet NCTD’s annual requirements for capital investment. 

Projects that are approved with an identified funding source are included in the Capital Improvement 
Program (CIP). The FY2026 CIP is $86.1 million, which is $71.1 million above the District target of $15 
million for capital investment, and $39.8 million above the $46.3 million funded in FY2025. The FY2026 
CIP funds the San Dieguito Lagoon Double-Track and Fairgrounds Station platform, SPRINTER Corridor 
Service Improvement environmental and design, SPRINTER signal modernization design and 
construction, purchase of battery electric buses, bus stops improvements, BREEZE maintenance 
facilities improvements, COASTER overhauls, Miramar rail replacement, maintenance of way equipment, 
and wayfinding improvements.  

FTA Scope FTA Scope Description FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 5-Year

111 Bus Rolling Stock 4,295,573$         27,687,260$     19,010,000$     1,200,000$       -$                      52,192,833$    

113 Bus Stations, Stops and Terminals 1,905,000 970,000 - - - 2,875,000

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 8,425,400 22,336,500 3,830,000 25,685,000 49,535,000 109,811,900

121 Rail Rolling Stock 9,722,000 6,298,783 4,031,690 2,000,000 - 22,052,473

122 Rail Transitways and Lines 27,155,695 18,165,729 46,376,152 36,039,875 16,421,552 144,159,003

123 Rail Stations, Stops and Terminals 41,103,621 3,113,000 3,366,000 - - 47,582,621

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 8,729,000 11,050,000 5,748,000 4,705,000 3,000,000 33,232,000

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 18,445,000 33,972,500 16,650,000 - - 69,067,500

129 Fixed Guideway Associated Transit Improvements 800,000 - - - - 800,000

Total Unconstrained CIP 120,581,289$     123,593,772$   99,011,842$     69,629,875$     68,956,552$     481,773,330$  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

96 | P a g e

NCTD is advancing initiatives related to the development and eventual acquisition of zero-emissions (ZE) 
motive power for its rail operations. These efforts are designed to coincide with California Executive Order 
N-79-20 and pending regulations from the California Air Resources Board (CARB) which would require 
NCTD to transition to ZE rail operations by 2035. The SPRINTER fleet, which will reach the end of its 
useful life in 2033, is projected to cost between $120 million and $229 million depending on technology 
(hydrogen or electric). Additional costs for SPRINTER facilities and stations modifications to support a 
zero- emission fleet will be significant. No funding has yet been identified for a pilot program, future fleet 
replacement, or infrastructure modifications and the projected costs are not included in the unconstrained 
CIP calculations.    

Table 16 and Figure 10 summarizes the adopted capital projects by Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 
Activity Line Item (ALI) for each fiscal year in the FY2026-FY2030 CIP. 

Table 16. FY2026-FY2030 Constrained CIP 

Figure 15. FY2026-FY2030 Constrained CIP by FTA ALI 

FTA Scope FTA Scope Description FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 5-Year

111 Bus Rolling Stock 4,295,573$       3,062,333$       -$                      -$                      -$                      7,357,906$      

113 Bus Stations, Stops and Terminals 1,585,000 - - - - 1,585,000

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 5,374,500 2,620,000 150,000 - - 8,144,500

121 Rail Rolling Stock 5,845,000 5,948,783 4,031,690 2,000,000 - 17,825,473

122 Rail Transitways and Lines 16,120,695 - - - - 16,120,695

123 Rail Stations, Stops and Terminals 37,296,621 - - - - 37,296,621

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 4,074,500 2,300,000 - - - 6,374,500

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 10,705,000 20,000 - - - 10,725,000

129 Fixed Guideway Associated Transit Improvements 800,000 - - - - 800,000

Total Constrained CIP 86,096,889$     13,951,116$     4,181,690$       2,000,000$       -$                      106,229,695$  



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

97 | P a g e

Projects that are not constrained are unfunded. Below is a list of major unfunded FY2026-FY2030 capital 
needs: 

 $92.4 million for CP Songs double-track design and construction 

 $77.8 million for BREEZE West Division masterplan improvements design and construction 

 $57.9 million for PTC and rail signals 

 $43 million for BREEZE buses replacements 

 $22.5 million for bus maintenance facilities improvements 

 $14.8 million for rail right-of-way infrastructure replacements 

 $12.7 million for rail maintenance equipment and facilities improvements 

 $18.5 million for bridge repairs 

 $10.9 million for train stations improvements 

 $6.8 million for wireless mesh nodes 

Following is a summary of the major unfunded capacity enhancement projects to be implemented by 
SANDAG (excluding the San Diego LOSSAN Rail Realignment): 

 $610.2 million for Carlsbad Village Trench 

 $500 million for Leucadia Grade Separation and Trench 

 $246.9 million for Sorrento to Miramar Phase 2 

 $238.4 million for Leucadia Double-Track 

 $79.5 million for Eastbrook to Shell double-track 

Following is a detailed listing of all adopted projects for each fiscal year in the FY2026-FY2030 CIP 
timeframe. All years beyond FY2026 are subject to change and require specific approval of the Board 
upon adoption of the annual operating budget.



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

98 | P a g e

Table 17. FY2026 Constrained CIP Projects 

Scope and Project Name FY2026 CIP % of Total

111 Bus Rolling Stock 4,295,573$       5.0%

Two (2) Battery Electric Buses 2,754,023

One (1) Battery Electric Bus 1,541,550

113 Bus Stations, Stops, and Terminals 1,585,000$       1.8%

Bus Stops Improvements Phase II (Construction) 850,000

Bus Stop Improvement Phase III (Construction) 625,000

Sorrento Valley Bus Parking (Design) 110,000

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 5,374,500 6.2%

Non-Revenue Vehicles 965,000

HVAC Various Replacements 885,000

Trapeze Enterprise Asset Management 750,000

BREEZE Overhead Cranes 590,000

Wonder-Bread Lot Resurfacing 350,000

BREEZE Operations West Unleaded Dispensers 275,000

BREEZE Operations East Conference Room 250,000

BREEZE Operations East Outdoor Canopy Improvement 180,000

Network Upgrades 175,000

HASTUS Scheduling Software 150,000

BREEZE Operations West Employee Parking (Design) 150,000

BREEZE Hydrogen Sensors (Construction) 120,000

BREEZE Operations West Veeder-Root System 105,000

BREEZE Operations East Offices Remodel 100,000

BREEZE Operations West Hydrogen Fueling Station (Design) 85,000

Server Upgrades 72,000

BREEZE Operations East and West Gate System 70,000

BREEZE Operations East and West Signage 52,000

Hydro Enhance Elevator Upgrade 50,500

121 Rail Rolling Stock 5,845,000 6.8%

Bilevel Overhaul Materials 2,905,000

COASTER Brake Overhaul 1,200,000

COASTER Image Recorders (Construction) 750,000

Bilevel Overhaul Design 720,000

COASTER Diesel Engine Cooler Overhaul 140,000

COASTER Battery Overhaul 130,000

122 Rail Transitways and Lines 16,120,695 18.7%

SPRINTER Corridor Service Improvement (Environmental and Design) 12,760,695

Miramar Rail Replacement 2,610,000

Carlsbad Grade Crossing Safety Improvements 750,000

123 Rail Stations, Stops and Terminals 37,296,621 43.3%

San Dieguito Lagoon Double-Track and Fairgrounds Station 36,396,621

Platform Improvements 500,000

Drought Tolerant Landscaping 200,000

Oceanside Transit Center Platform Stormwater Improvements 200,000



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

99 | P a g e

Table 17. FY2026 Constrained CIP Projects (continued) 

Table 18. FY2027 Constrained CIP Projects 

Scope and Project Name FY2026 CIP % of Total

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 4,074,500 4.7%

Maintenance-of-Way Switch Tamper 2,000,000

Non-Revenue Vehicles 810,000

Maintenance-of-Way Building Improvements (Construction) 540,000

SPRINTER Fuel Dispenser 205,000

COASTER Fuel Dispensing System (Design) 150,000

PRONTO Fare Collection Equipment (Convention Center) 100,000

COASTER Turntables (Design) 100,000

Maintenance-of-Way Forklift 68,000

COASTER Waste Rigs Carts 60,500

Waste Pumping Carts 41,000

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 10,705,000 12.4%

SPRINTER Signal Modernization - Phase 8 5,675,000

SPRINTER Signal Modernization - Phase 9 4,900,000

Positive Train Control Disaster Recovery 130,000

129 Fixed Guideway Associated Transit Improvements 800,000 0.9%

Wayfinding Master Plan 800,000

TOTAL FY2026 CIP 86,096,889$     100.0%

Description FY2027 CIP % of Total

111 Bus Rolling Stock 3,062,333$       22.0%

Two (2) Zero Emission Buses 3,062,333

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 2,620,000 18.8%

Non-Revenue Vehicles 710,000

Trapeze Enterprise Asset Management 685,000

Fire Alarm System (Construction) 550,000

PRONTO Enhancements 400,000

HASTUS Scheduling Software 150,000

BREEZE Operations West Unleaded Dispensers 125,000

121 Rail Rolling Stock 5,948,783 42.6%

COASTER Image Recorders (Construction) 2,250,000

SPRINTER Engine Overhauls 2,200,000

SPRINTER WiTronix System 888,783

SPRINTER Wheelset Overhauls 320,000

SPRINTER Axle Gearbox Overhauls 290,000

124 Rail Support Equipment and Facilities 2,300,000 16.5%

COASTER Train Wash (Construction) 2,300,000

126 Rail Signals and Communications Equipment 20,000 0.1%

Positive Train Control Disaster Recovery 20,000

TOTAL FY2027 CIP 13,951,116$     100.0%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

100 | P a g e

Table 19. FY2028 Constrained CIP Projects 

Table 20. FY2029 Constrained CIP Projects 

Description FY2028 CIP % of Total

114 Bus Support Equipment and Facilities 150,000 3.6%

PRONTO Enhancements 150,000

121 Rail Rolling Stock 4,031,690 96.4%

Bilevel Overhaul Materials 3,130,000

SPRINTER WiTronix System 901,690

TOTAL FY2028 CIP 4,181,690$       100.0%

Description FY2029 CIP % of Total

121 Rail Rolling Stock 2,000,000 100.0%

Bilevel Overhaul Materials 2,000,000

TOTAL FY2029 CIP 2,000,000$       100.0%



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

101 | P a g e

5-Year Service Implementation Plan (SIP) 

The Service Implementation Plan includes a five-year outlook that is updated with each budget cycle. 
This planning horizon allows NCTD to align major capital and operating projects with future year operating 
projections. The SIP’s objectives include: 

Strengthen network foundations 

 BREEZE: Restructure the BREEZE bus network through a comprehensive Bus Network 
Redesign 

 SPRINTER: Modernize the fleet and improve service reliability, laying the groundwork for future 
service expansions 

 COASTER: Complete new station construction and provide direct connections to key landmarks, 
such as the San Diego Convention Center, Petco Park, and the Del Mar Fair Grounds 

 COASTER: Restructure service to reflect changing return-to-work patterns and leisure-based 
travel trends 

Complement network with on demand service: 

 NCTD+: Transition existing pilot zones to regular service 

 NCTD+: Strategically pilot on-demand zones to expand coverage and facilitate first-last mile 
connections to high-frequency corridors 

 LIFT: Maintain quality LIFT service to meet increased demand associated with changing 
demographics 

Five-Year Outlook 

Table 21 summarizes the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the FY2026-FY2035 Service 
Implementation Plan. As existing service is improved and coverage is expanded, NCTD estimates that 
ridership will reach over 11 million boardings in FY2035. 

Table 21. FY2026-FY2035 SIP System KPIs 

Fiscal Year Ridership

Revenue 

Miles

Total

Miles

Revenue 

Hours

Total

Hours

FY2026 8,980,069 7,773,326 8,769,780 581,078 643,913

FY2027 9,119,874 7,801,596 8,800,780 582,474 645,590

FY2028 9,211,764 7,815,939 8,816,923 583,380 646,706

FY2029 9,303,881 7,830,425 8,833,227 584,296 647,833

FY2030 9,476,010 7,912,277 8,921,220 587,281 651,270

FY2031 9,718,822 8,000,213 9,011,326 591,541 655,767

FY2032 9,993,558 8,174,199 9,197,370 597,362 662,365

FY2033 10,811,738 8,560,079 9,586,739 615,170 680,502

FY2034 10,919,855 8,575,304 9,603,874 616,131 681,688

FY2035 11,029,053 8,590,681 9,621,182 617,103 682,884



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

102 | P a g e

10-Year Long Range Planning 

This section highlights the long-term implications of operating revenues and expenditures needed to 
support core functions and to achieve District initiatives. This section provides three forecasts for the next 
ten fiscal years through FY2035, with revenue and expense assumptions primarily driven by low, 
medium, and high grant revenue forecasts. FY2026 through FY2030 remain the same under the three 
scenarios in alignment with the 5-Year Plan (assumptions are described on pages 92-93). The high and 
low ranges for FY2031 through FY2035 are determined by beginning with the prior year midpoint, 
applying the estimated growth rate for the current year, and then adding and subtracting the confidence 
interval range from the midpoint. In addition to evaluating mid-range grant revenue forecasts, NCTD 
performs sensitivity analysis using low-range grant revenue forecasts to develop contingency strategies 
to address expense structure and service levels should these conditions occur. For years six through ten, 
all scenarios assume a minimum investment of $15 million into the District annual capital program. 

Mid-Range Forecast  

This scenario represents the more likely scenario based on historical trends. FTA revenues from FY2026 
to FY2030 are based on SANDAG’s forecasts. The federal transportation bill passed in the Bipartisan 
Infrastructure Law (as enacted in the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA)) increased funding 
each year through FY2027; FY2028 through FY2030 are outside of the last year of the IIJA, however, 
the forecast assumes a continuation of the program through FY2030. The forecast then reverts FY2031 
FTA revenues to FY2022 levels (adjusted for inflation at 3% annually). TDA and TransNet revenues from 
FY2026 to FY2030 are based on SANDAG’s forecasts and anticipated to grow by 3% thereafter. The 
passenger fares forecast is based on the 5-Year Service Implementation Plan and projections provided 
by the Service Planning department. Payroll expenses are forecast to grow by 2% and other operating 
expenses are forecast to grow by 3% annually and capital expenditures remain at $15 million annually. 
Under the mid-range forecast scenario, the District will be required to reduce operating expenses and 
capital investments and identify new funding sources beginning in FY2028 in order to achieve a balanced 
10-Year budget.  

Table 22. 10-Year Outlook - Mid-Range Grant Revenue Forecast 

FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 FY2031 FY2032 FY2033 FY2034 FY2035

TOTAL REVENUES

Passenger Fares 12,492,298$   12,726,285$   12,866,914$   13,007,612$    13,486,689$    13,708,604$    14,593,145$    15,183,497$    15,329,585$    15,477,135$    

Non-Transportation Revenues 4,731,200 3,930,336 3,721,908 3,769,571 3,823,023 3,937,714 4,055,845 4,177,520 4,302,846 4,431,931

Auxiliary Revenues 11,199,184 11,535,160 11,881,215 12,237,651 12,604,780 12,982,923 13,372,411 13,773,583 14,186,790 14,612,394
Federal Grants 62,383,824 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 43,121,716 44,415,367 45,747,828 47,120,263 48,533,871

State Grants 86,703,624 24,649,833 24,649,833 21,182,418 21,182,418 21,817,891 22,472,428 23,146,601 23,840,999 24,556,229

Local Grants 79,473,630 80,517,546 82,363,970 84,765,539 87,314,180 89,933,605 92,631,613 95,410,561 98,272,878 101,221,064

256,983,760 183,993,798 186,118,478 185,597,429 189,045,728 185,502,453 191,540,809 197,439,590 203,053,361 208,832,624

FUNDS ALLOCATION

Capital Improvement Program 86,096,889 13,951,116 4,181,690 2,000,000 - - - - - -

Minimum Capital District Goal - 1,048,884 10,818,310 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000

Preventive Maintenance and Operating 178,805,577 183,227,724 187,763,996 192,417,444 197,191,205 203,106,941 209,200,149 215,476,153 221,940,438 228,598,651

264,902,466 198,227,724 202,763,996 209,417,444 212,191,205 218,106,941 224,200,149 230,476,153 236,940,438 243,598,651

Deficit (7,918,706) (14,233,926) (16,645,518) (23,820,015) (23,145,477) (32,604,488) (32,659,340) (33,036,563) (33,887,077) (34,766,027)

Reserve for Capital Projects * 7,918,706 14,233,926 - - - - - - - -

Net Deficit -$                  -$                  (16,645,518)$ (23,820,015)$   (23,145,477)$   (32,604,488)$   (32,659,340)$   (33,036,563)$   (33,887,077)$   (34,766,027)$   

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Funded from Net Assets)

CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability Payments 4,151,413 4,455,000 4,700,000 5,260,000 5,394,000 5,512,000 5,219,000 5,166,000 4,726,000 4,589,000

SPRINTER Debt Principal Payments 1,450,000 1,500,000 1,550,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,650,000 1,700,000 1,750,000 1,750,000 1,800,000

Funded from Net Assets 5,601,413$    5,955,000$    6,250,000$    6,860,000$      6,994,000$      7,162,000$      6,919,000$      6,916,000$      6,476,000$      6,389,000$      

* Includes FTA formula carryover funds and TDA capital reserves



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

103 | P a g e

Low-Range Forecast 

NCTD prepared the low-range forecast utilizing internal cost containment initiatives. The forecast for 
FY2026-FY2030 remains the same as the mid-range scenario; however, both payroll expenses and other 
operating expenses are forecast to grow at a rate of 2% beginning in FY2031. FTA, TDA, and TransNet 
revenues from FY2026 through FY2030 are based on SANDAG’s forecasts and are anticipated to grow 
by 2% thereafter. Under the low-range forecast scenario, the District will be required to reduce operating 
expenses and capital investments and identify new funding sources beginning in FY2028 in order to 
achieve a balanced 10-Year budget. 

Table 23. 10-Year Outlook - Low-Range Grant Revenue Forecast 

FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 FY2031 FY2032 FY2033 FY2034 FY2035

TOTAL REVENUES

Passenger Fares 12,492,298$   12,726,285$   12,866,914$   13,007,612$   13,486,689$   13,708,604$   14,593,145$   15,183,497$   15,329,585$   15,477,135$   

Non-Transportation Revenues 4,731,200 3,930,336 3,721,908 3,769,571 3,823,023 3,937,714 4,055,845 4,177,520 4,302,846 4,431,931
Auxiliary Revenues 11,199,184 11,535,160 11,881,215 12,237,651 12,604,780 12,982,923 13,372,411 13,773,583 14,186,790 14,612,394

Federal Grants 62,383,824 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 43,121,716 43,984,150 44,863,833 45,761,110 46,676,332

State Grants 86,703,624 24,649,833 24,649,833 21,182,418 21,182,418 21,606,066 22,038,187 22,478,951 22,928,530 23,387,101

Local Grants 79,473,630 80,517,546 82,363,970 84,765,539 87,314,180 89,060,464 90,841,673 92,658,506 94,511,676 96,401,910

256,983,760 183,993,798 186,118,478 185,597,429 189,045,728 184,417,487 188,885,411 193,135,890 197,020,537 200,986,803

FUNDS ALLOCATION

Capital Improvement Program 86,096,889 13,951,116 4,181,690 2,000,000 - - - - - -

Minimum Capital Board Goal * - 1,048,884 10,818,310 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000

Operating Expenses 178,805,577 183,227,724 187,763,996 192,417,444 197,191,205 201,135,029 205,157,730 209,260,885 213,446,103 217,715,025

264,902,466 198,227,724 202,763,996 209,417,444 212,191,205 216,135,029 220,157,730 224,260,885 228,446,103 232,715,025

Deficit (7,918,706) (14,233,926) (16,645,518) (23,820,015) (23,145,477) (31,717,542) (31,272,319) (31,124,995) (31,425,566) (31,728,222)

Reserve for Capital Projects * 7,918,706 14,233,926 - - - - - - - -
Net Deficit -$                  -$                  (16,645,518)$ (23,820,015)$ (23,145,477)$ (31,717,542)$ (31,272,319)$ (31,124,995)$ (31,425,566)$ (31,728,222)$ 

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Funded from Net Assets)

CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability Payments 4,151,413 4,455,000 4,700,000 5,260,000 5,394,000 5,512,000 5,219,000 5,166,000 4,726,000 4,589,000

SPRINTER Debt Principal Payments 1,450,000 1,500,000 1,550,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,650,000 1,700,000 1,750,000 1,750,000 1,800,000

5,601,413$    5,955,000$    6,250,000$    6,860,000$    6,994,000$    7,162,000$    6,919,000$    6,916,000$    6,476,000$    6,389,000$    

* Includes FTA formula carryover funds and TDA capital reserves



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

104 | P a g e

High-Range Forecast  

The forecast for FY2026-FY2030 remains the same as the mid-range scenario. Beginning in FY2031, 
the high-range forecast assumes a 5% growth for TDA and TransNet revenues and 4% for STA revenues. 
Operating expenses remain at the same level as the mid-range forecast. Under the high-range scenario, 
the District will be required to reduce operating expenses and capital investments and identify new 
funding sources beginning in FY2028 in order to achieve a balanced 10-Year budget. 

Table 24. 10-Year Outlook - High-Range Grant Revenue Forecast 

FY2026 FY2027 FY2028 FY2029 FY2030 FY2031 FY2032 FY2033 FY2034 FY2035

TOTAL REVENUES
Passenger Fares 12,492,298$   12,726,285$   12,866,914$   13,007,612$   13,486,689$   13,708,604$   14,593,145$   15,183,497$   15,329,585$   15,477,135$   

Non-Transportation Revenues 4,731,200 3,930,336 3,721,908 3,769,571 3,823,023 3,937,714 4,055,845 4,177,520 4,302,846 4,431,931

Auxiliary Revenues 11,199,184 11,535,160 11,881,215 12,237,651 12,604,780 12,982,923 13,372,411 13,773,583 14,186,790 14,612,394
Federal Grants 62,383,824 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 50,634,638 43,121,716 44,415,367 45,747,828 47,120,263 48,533,871

State Grants 86,703,624 24,649,833 24,649,833 21,182,418 21,182,418 22,029,715 22,910,904 23,827,340 24,780,434 25,771,651
Local Grants 79,473,630 80,517,546 82,363,970 84,765,539 87,314,180 91,679,889 96,263,883 101,077,077 106,130,931 111,437,478

256,983,760 183,993,798 186,118,478 185,597,429 189,045,728 187,460,561 195,611,555 203,786,845 211,850,849 220,264,460

FUNDS ALLOCATION

Capital Improvement Program 86,096,889 13,951,116 4,181,690 2,000,000 - - - - - -

Minimum Capital Board Goal * - 1,048,884 10,818,310 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000 15,000,000
Operating Expenses 178,805,577 183,227,724 187,763,996 192,417,444 197,191,205 203,106,941 209,200,149 215,476,153 221,940,438 228,598,651

264,902,466 198,227,724 202,763,996 209,417,444 212,191,205 218,106,941 224,200,149 230,476,153 236,940,438 243,598,651

Deficit (7,918,706) (14,233,926) (16,645,518) (23,820,015) (23,145,477) (30,646,380) (28,588,594) (26,689,308) (25,089,589) (23,334,191)
Reserve for Capital Projects * 7,918,706 14,233,926 - - - - - - - -

Net Deficit -$                  -$                  (16,645,518)$ (23,820,015)$ (23,145,477)$ (30,646,380)$ (28,588,594)$ (26,689,308)$ (25,089,589)$ (23,334,191)$ 

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (Funded from Net Assets)

CalPERS Unfunded Accrued Liability Payments 4,151,413 4,455,000 4,700,000 5,260,000 5,394,000 5,512,000 5,219,000 5,166,000 4,726,000 4,589,000

SPRINTER Debt Principal Payments 1,450,000 1,500,000 1,550,000 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,650,000 1,700,000 1,750,000 1,750,000 1,800,000

5,601,413$    5,955,000$    6,250,000$    6,860,000$    6,994,000$    7,162,000$    6,919,000$    6,916,000$    6,476,000$    6,389,000$    

* Includes FTA formula carryover funds and TDA capital reserves



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

105 | P a g e

Appendices 

Passenger Fare Rates 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

BREEZE Fixed Route

One-way Fare

Adult 2.50$   2.50$   2.50$   2.50$   2.50$   1.75$   1.75$   1.75$   1.75$   1.75$   
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75
Youth 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 2.50 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.75

Day Pass
Adult * * * * * 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 4.50

Senior/Disabled/Medicare * * * * * 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25
Youth * * * * * * * * * *

Regional Day Pass
Adult 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * * *

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 * * * * *
Youth 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 * * * * *

Premium Day Pass
Adult 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 * * * *
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * *

Youth 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * *

COASTER Regional Day Pass

Adult 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 * * * * *
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 * * * * *
Youth 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 * * * * *

Region Plus Day Pass * * * * * 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00

SPRINTER/BREEZE Monthly Calendar or
Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 59.00 59.00 59.00 * * 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 19.00 19.00 19.00 * * 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00

Youth 19.00 19.00 19.00 * * 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00

Regional Monthly Calendar or 
Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00
Youth 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00

Regional Premium Monthly Calendar or 

Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00
Youth 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00

Regional 14 Day Pass * * * * * 43.00 43.00 43.00 43.00 43.00

Regional Premium 14 Day Pass * * * * * 60.00 60.00 60.00 60.00 60.00

College Monthly Pass (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) 49.00 49.00 49.00 49.00 49.00

LIFT ADA/Paratransit

One-way Fare 5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   3.50$   3.50$   3.50$   3.50$   3.50$   

FLEX On Demand Bus Service

One-way Fare
Adult 5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50
Youth 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

106 | P a g e

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

COASTER Commuter Train Service 

ZONE 1
One-way Fare

Adult 5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   5.00$   4.00$   4.00$   4.00$   4.00$   4.00$   

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00
Youth 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00

Monthly Calendar or Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 140.00 140.00 140.00 140.00 140.00 120.00 120.00 120.00 120.00 120.00

ZONE 2

One-way Fare
Adult 5.75 5.75 5.75 5.75 5.75 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

Youth 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00
Monthly Calendar or Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 161.00 161.00 161.00 161.00 161.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 150.00

ZONE 3

One-way Fare
Adult 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50 6.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75 2.75

Youth 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 3.25 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50
Monthly Calendar or Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 182.00 182.00 182.00 182.00 182.00 165.00 165.00 165.00 165.00 165.00

Senior/Disabled/Medicare (all zones) 58.00 58.00 58.00 58.00 58.00 41.25 41.25 41.25 41.25 41.25
Youth (all zones) 58.00 58.00 58.00 58.00 58.00 82.50 82.50 82.50 82.50 82.50

COASTER Day 10-Pass Multi-Pack
Adult 75.00 75.00 * * * * * * * *

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 37.50 37.50 * * * * * * * *
Youth 37.50 37.50 * * * * * * * *

COASTER Day 5-Pass Multi-Pack
Adult 45.00 45.00 * * * * * * * *
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 22.50 22.50 * * * * * * * *

Youth 22.50 22.50 * * * * * * * *

SPRINTER Hybrid Rail Train Service

One-way Fare

Adult 2.50$   2.50$   2.50$   2.50$   2.50$   2.00$   2.00$   2.00$   2.00$   2.00$   
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Youth 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25 2.50 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

Day Pass

Adult * * * * * 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 4.50
Senior/Disabled/Medicare * * * * * 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25 2.25
Youth * * * * * * * * * *

Regional Day Pass
Adult 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * * *

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 * * * * *
Youth 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.00 * * * * *

Premium Day Pass
Adult 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 12.00 * * * *

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * *
Youth 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * *

COASTER Regional Day Pass
Adult 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 * * * * *

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 * * * * *
Youth 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 7.50 * * * * *



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

107 | P a g e

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

SPRINTER Hybrid Rail Train Service (continued)

Region Plus Day Pass * * * * * 12.00$  12.00$  12.00$  12.00$  12.00$  

SPRINTER/BREEZE Monthly Calendar or
Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 59.00 59.00 59.00 * * 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 19.00 19.00 19.00 * * 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00

Youth 19.00 19.00 19.00 * * 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00 59.00

Regional Monthly Calendar or 

Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00 72.00

Senior/Disabled/Medicare 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00 18.00
Youth 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 23.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00

Regional Premium Monthly Calendar or 
Rolling 30-Day Pass (a)

Adult 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00
Senior/Disabled/Medicare 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00
Youth 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 32.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00

Regional 14 Day Pass * * * * * 43.00 43.00 43.00 43.00 43.00

Regional Premium 14 Day Pass * * * * * 60.00 60.00 60.00 60.00 60.00

College Monthly Pass (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) 49.00 49.00 49.00 49.00 49.00

NCTD+ On Demand Microtransit

One-way Fare

Anywhere in service zone 3.00$   * * * * * * * * *
To/from SPRINTER stations 1.50 * * * * * * * * *
Additional riders 1.50 * * * * * * * * *

Fare Capping (Pay As You Go) (c)

Regional Daily Cap

Adult 6.00$   6.00$   6.00$   * * * * * * *
Senior/Disabled/Medicare/Youth 3.00 3.00 3.00 * * * * * * *

Regional Monthly Cap

Adult 72.00 72.00 72.00 * * * * * * *
Senior/Disabled/Medicare/Youth 23.00 23.00 23.00 * * * * * * *

Premium Daily Cap

Adult 12.00 12.00 12.00 * * * * * * *

Senior/Disabled/Medicare/Youth 6.00 6.00 6.00 * * * * * * *

Premium Monthly Cap

Adult 100.00 100.00 100.00 * * * * * * *
Senior/Disabled/Medicare/Youth 32.00 32.00 32.00 * * * * * * *

(a) Effective September 1, 2022 with the implementation of the PRONTO fare revenue system, Rolling 30-day passes are no longer available for sale.

(b) College Monthly Passes no longer have prescribed rates and are negotiated between the college/university and MTS.

(c) Effective September 1, 2022 with the implementation of PRONTO, customers have the option to "pay-as-you-go" and reach daily and monthly caps of fares, 

       following which they ride for free.

* Fare product not offered

Source:  NCTD Rider's Guide

NOTE: The SANDAG Board of Directors approves the region’s Comprehensive Fare Ordinance encompassing fares charged on all public transit vehicles in 

San Diego County operated by Metropolitan Transit System (MTS) and the North County Transit District (NCTD). All fare changes, including fare increases or 

changes in fare types, must be approved by the SANDAG Board of Directors or the Transportation Committee.  Effective September 2019, the region enacted a 

new fare program and rate increase. Effective April 2021, additional regional fare program changes were made in advance of the PRONTO Fare System roll-

out in September 2021 (fare capping) and to lower certain single-ride trips for Youth riders.



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

108 | P a g e

Operating Statistics 

FY2024 FY2025 FY2025 FY2026

Actual Budget Forecast Budget

PASSENGER BOARDINGS

BREEZE 4,876,019 5,012,883 5,497,704 5,735,171

LIFT 105,244 113,699 115,683 118,861
FLEX 48,663 62,055 100,882 130,517
COASTER 852,993 898,301 896,810 919,746
SPRINTER 1,822,849 1,890,347 1,922,174 1,998,260
NCTD+ 146 35,283 26,002 77,514

7,705,914 8,012,568 8,559,255 8,980,069

TOTAL MILES

BREEZE 5,608,830 5,956,784 5,877,533 5,759,795

LIFT 995,221 1,189,805 1,045,379 1,282,687
FLEX 337,743 490,302 481,484 466,507
COASTER 425,396 436,530 426,959 426,825
SPRINTER 516,671 521,305 506,892 521,083
NCTD+ 3,523 123,589 127,584 312,883

7,887,384 8,718,315 8,465,831 8,769,780

REVENUE MILES

BREEZE 4,892,488 5,157,363 5,068,291 5,062,584

LIFT 903,563 1,079,769 967,296 1,186,922
FLEX 320,948 405,196 392,137 373,196
COASTER 399,691 410,753 401,289 401,139
SPRINTER 512,781 519,070 503,962 518,850
NCTD+ 562 94,656 84,968 230,635

7,030,033 7,666,807 7,417,943 7,773,326

PASSENGER MILES

BREEZE 30,595,067 31,445,314 34,486,547 35,976,154

LIFT 1,409,295 1,888,427 1,921,379 1,974,162
FLEX 293,120 389,265 632,823 818,720
COASTER 23,659,154 24,913,480 24,872,129 25,508,236
SPRINTER 13,139,984 14,083,085 14,320,196 14,887,037
NCTD+ 292 70,566 52,004 155,028

69,096,912 72,790,136 76,285,078 79,319,337

REVENUE HOURS

BREEZE 411,851 421,320 429,154 429,066

LIFT 53,654 63,167 56,259 66,037
FLEX 17,414 24,697 25,948 26,542
COASTER 12,274 12,647 12,320 12,302
SPRINTER 23,296 23,595 22,911 23,585
NCTD+ 113 13,680 8,319 23,546

518,602 559,106 554,911 581,078



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

109 | P a g e

FY2024 FY2025 FY2025 FY2026

Actual Budget Forecast Budget

PASSENGER FARES

BREEZE 5,144,552$      4,620,994$      5,087,607$      6,033,114$      
LIFT 808,434 529,268 675,597 594,305
FLEX 127,188 152,426 182,051 310,769
COASTER 3,575,431 3,759,051 3,996,054 4,240,722
SPRINTER 1,077,007 1,051,177 1,281,119 1,252,430

NCTD+ 193 88,208 41,155 60,958

10,732,805$    10,201,124$    11,263,583$    12,492,298$    

COST BY MODE *

BREEZE 59,364,947$    65,784,710$    64,466,345$    62,864,934$    

LIFT 13,074,330 13,941,676 14,101,761 14,025,323
FLEX 3,816,542 6,152,186 4,378,182 7,279,846
COASTER 37,917,806 42,958,999 41,870,684 44,464,340
SPRINTER 33,311,097 42,380,387 35,501,125 35,832,702
NCTD+ 126,177 705,023 379,635 1,766,782

147,610,899$  171,922,981$  160,697,732$  166,233,927$  

PASSENGERS PER REVENUE MILE

BREEZE 1.00 0.97 1.08 1.13
LIFT 0.12 0.11 0.12 0.10
FLEX 0.15 0.15 0.26 0.35
COASTER 2.13 2.19 2.23 2.29

SPRINTER 3.55 3.64 3.81 3.85
NCTD+ 0.26 0.37 0.31 0.34

1.10 1.05 1.15 1.16

PASSENGERS PER REVENUE HOUR

BREEZE 11.84 11.90 12.81 13.37
LIFT 1.96 1.80 2.06 1.80

FLEX 2.79 2.51 3.89 4.92
COASTER 69.50 71.03 72.79 74.76
SPRINTER 78.25 80.12 83.90 84.73

NCTD+ 1.29 2.58 3.13 3.29

14.86 14.33 15.42 15.45

FARE REVENUE PER PASSENGER

BREEZE 1.06$              0.92$              0.93$              1.05$              
LIFT 7.68 4.65 5.84 5.00
FLEX 2.61 2.46 1.80 2.38
COASTER 4.19 4.18 4.46 4.61
SPRINTER 0.59 0.56 0.67 0.63
NCTD+ 1.32 2.50 1.58 0.79

1.39$              1.27$              1.32$              1.39$              

* Excludes GASB 68 and GASB 75 non-cash adjustments and Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) pension contributions.



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

110 | P a g e

FY2024 FY2025 FY2025 FY2026

Actual Budget Forecast Budget

COST PER PASSENGER

BREEZE 12.17$             13.12$             11.73$             10.96$             
LIFT 124.23 122.62 121.90 118.00

FLEX 78.43 99.14 43.40 55.78
COASTER 44.45 47.82 46.69 48.34

SPRINTER 18.27 22.42 18.47 17.93
NCTD+ 864.23 19.98 14.60 22.79

19.16$             21.46$             18.77$             18.51$             

FAREBOX RECOVERY RATIO

BREEZE 8.7% 7.0% 7.9% 9.6%

LIFT 6.2% 3.8% 4.8% 4.2%
FLEX 3.3% 2.5% 4.2% 4.3%

COASTER 9.4% 8.8% 9.5% 9.5%
SPRINTER 3.2% 2.5% 3.6% 3.5%
NCTD+ 0.2% 12.5% 10.8% 3.5%

7.3% 5.9% 7.0% 7.5%

COST PER PASSENGER MILE

BREEZE 1.94$              2.09$              1.87$              1.75$              
LIFT 9.28 7.38 7.34 7.10
FLEX 13.02 15.80 6.92 8.89
COASTER 1.60 1.72 1.68 1.74
SPRINTER 2.54 3.01 2.48 2.41

NCTD+ 432.11 9.99 7.30 11.40

2.14$              2.36$              2.11$              2.10$              

COST PER REVENUE MILE

BREEZE 12.13$             12.76$             12.72$             12.42$             

LIFT 14.47 12.91 14.58 11.82
FLEX 11.89 15.18 11.16 19.51
COASTER 94.87 104.59 104.34 110.85
SPRINTER 64.96 81.65 70.44 69.06
NCTD+ 224.67 7.45 4.47 7.66

21.00$             22.42$             21.66$             21.39$             

COST PER REVENUE HOUR

BREEZE 144.14$           156.14$           150.22$           146.52$           
LIFT 243.68 220.71 250.66 212.39

FLEX 219.17 249.11 168.73 274.28
COASTER 3,089.28 3,396.77 3,398.59 3,614.40
SPRINTER 1,429.91 1,796.16 1,549.52 1,519.30

NCTD+ 1,116.61 51.54 45.63 75.04

284.63$           307.50$           289.59$           286.08$           



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

111 | P a g e

North San Diego County Community Profile

2022 2029 2040 2050

Carlsbad 

Total Population 115,585 119,037 119,251 116,788

Total Households 44,991 47,899 49,713 49,926
Median Household Income * $142,296 $141,223 $137,967 $136,172

Median Age 43.4 44.7 45.8 46.2

Del Mar

Total Population 3,929 3,786 3,787 3,710

Total Households 1,974 1,945 1,997 1,994
Median Household Income * $190,670 $189,474 $184,884 $182,326
Median Age 55.9 57.8 58.3 57.9

Encinitas

Total Population 61,515 61,787 60,463 59,829

Total Households 24,597 25,460 25,733 26,078
Median Household Income * $155,238 $154,555 $151,849 $149,922
Median Age 44.6 46.4 47.6 48.2

Escondido

Total Population 150,679 150,642 155,289 151,079

Total Households 47,690 49,729 53,180 53,366
Median Household Income * $76,178 $76,125 $74,551 $73,631
Median Age 35.5 37.4 39.2 40.2

Oceanside

Total Population 173,048 177,287 187,093 183,415

Total Households 63,317 67,139 73,749 74,302
Median Household Income * $88,021 $88,577 $86,811 $85,740
Median Age 37.4 39.1 41.1 42.4

San Marcos

Total Population 93,585 97,305 112,280 109,912
Total Households 30,833 33,350 40,138 40,424

Median Household Income * $101,970 $102,231 $98,585 $97,353
Median Age 35.7 37.3 39.2 401.0

Solana Beach

Total Population 12,812 12,552 12,259 12,007
Total Households 5,586 5,619 5,654 5,660
Median Household Income * $142,444 $141,746 $138,301 $135,978

Median Age 46.9 48.7 50.0 50.6

Vista

Total Population 100,291 100,660 101,048 99,028
Total Households 32,414 33,774 35,138 35,472
Median Household Income * $87,542 $87,505 $85,410 $84,444

Median Age 34.5 36.6 38.8 40.1

* 2022 constant dollars

From SANDAG Series 15 Regional Forecast dated July 24, 2024



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

112 | P a g e

San Diego County Employment by Industry 

Figure 16. 2023 Percentage of Employment by Industry 

INDUSTRY 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Educational services, and health care and social assistance 21.1% 21.2% 21.4% 21.4% 21.9%

Professional, scientific, and management, and administrative

     and waste management services

15.5% 15.9% 15.9% 16.3% 16.5%

Arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and
     food services

11.8% 11.4% 10.9% 10.6% 10.2%

Retail trade 10.4% 10.1% 10.4% 10.2% 10.0%

Manufacturing 9.2% 9.5% 9.6% 9.8% 10.0%

Construction 6.0% 6.5% 6.4% 6.5% 6.4%

Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing 6.2% 6.3% 6.2% 6.1% 6.1%

Other services, except public administration 5.4% 5.4% 5.0% 5.0% 4.8%

Public administration 5.1% 4.9% 5.0% 4.9% 5.0%

Transportation and warehousing, and utilities 4.1% 4.0% 4.4% 4.5% 4.5%

Wholesale trade 2.3% 2.0% 2.1% 2.1% 1.9%

Information 2.2% 2.3% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining 0.8% 0.5% 0.7% 0.7% 0.7%

Percentage of Total Employment

2019 - 2020 Source: American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates Subject Tables for San Diego County. Website at 

https://data.census.gov

2021-2023 Source: American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates Subject Tables for San Diego County, S2405. Website at 
https://data.census.gov



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

113 | P a g e

North San Diego County Major Employers 

Rank

Number of 

Employees

Percent of

Total 

Employment Source

Marine Corps Base, Camp Pendleton 1 70,000 4.38% a

ViaSat 2 4,010 0.25% e

San Marcos Unified School District 3 3,519 0.22% d

Vista Unified School District 4 2,865 0.18% b

Palomar Medical Center 5 2,906 0.18% c

Thermo Fischer Scientific (Life Technologies) 6 2,332 0.15% e

Legoland California LLC 7 2,300 0.14% e

Tri City Medical Center 8 2,100 0.13% f

Palomar Community College 9 2,014 0.13% d

Escondido Union School District 10 2,077 0.13% c

Total San Diego County Labor Force 1,596,400 g

Sources:

a www.pendleton.marines.mil/Main-Menu/Introduction

b City of Vista, Annual Consolidated Financial Report FY23

c City of Escondido, Annual Consolidated Financial Report FY23

d City of San Marcos, Annual Consolidated Financial Report FY23

e City of Carlsbad, Annual Consolidated Financial Report FY23

f Tri City Medical Center website

g State of California Employment Development Department:

https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/geography/msa/san-diego-carlsbad.html

Employer



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

114 | P a g e

San Diego County Demographics and Economic Statistics 

Calendar 

Year North County 

Population 

[1]

Per Capita 

Personal 

Income 

(San Diego 

County) 

[2]

San Diego 

County Taxable 

Sales (000s) 

[3]

San Diego 

County Sales & 

Use Tax 

Revenues 

Allocation

[4]

San Diego 

County 

Transportation 

Tax Revenues 

Allocation

 [5]

North County 

Unemployment 

Rate

 [6]

San Diego 

County 

Unemployment 

Rate

 [6]

State 

Unemployment 

Rate

 [6]

US 

Unemployment 

Rate

 [7]

2014 871,660 $31,043 $52,711,639 $378,899,395 $126,367,594 8.00% 9.60% 7.10% 6.20%

2015 878,823 $31,266 $54,185,588 $399,501,827 $133,231,349 7.00% 8.70% 6.20% 5.30%

2016 885,084 $32,482 $55,407,866 $449,627,397 $136,355,183 6.10% 7.80% 5.50% 4.90%

2017 894,852 $34,350 Discontinued $562,678,663 $140,009,151 4.00% 3.50% 4.80% 4.40%

2018 901,849 $36,156 Discontinued $573,363,388 $144,039,585 3.40% 3.40% 4.30% 3.90%

2019 906,645 $63,729 Discontinued $613,506,282 $153,246,887 3.20% 3.20% 4.00% 3.70%

2020 902,178 $67,830 Discontinued $633,554,470 $156,915,000 9.20% 9.20% 10.10% 8.10%

2021 959,439 $72,637 Discontinued $776,197,728 $194,078,000 6.50% 6.50% 7.30% 5.30%

2022 889,257 $74,326 Discontinued $810,999,409 $202,683,000 3.50% 3.50% 4.30% 3.50%

2023 886,655 $79,122 Discontinued $804,054,543 $201,781,552 3.70% 3.70% 4.70% 3.60%

1 SANDAG Data Surfer Digital Visualizations estimates for North County West and East
2 US Dept of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis, https://www.bea.gov/data/income-saving/personal-income-county-metro-and-other-areas

3 California State Board of Equalization  **This data is no longer being published
4 California State Board of Equalization Table 21A,  Fiscal Year data; https://www.cdtfa.ca.gov/dataportal/dataset.htm?url=SUTDRevDistCityCounty

5 California State Board of Equalization Table 21B,  Fiscal Year data; https://www.cdtfa.ca.gov/dataportal/dataset.htm?url=SUTDRevDistCountiesCountyTransTax
6 Employment Development Division; Annual Average Unemployment Rate and Labor Force Data Table

https://www.labormarketinfo.edd.ca.gov/data/unemployment-and-labor-force.html
7 US Bureau of Labor Statistics calendar year averages; https://www.bls.gov/lau



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

115 | P a g e

Glossary of Terms 

Accessible Service: Transit vehicles equipped with wheelchair lifts. 

Accounting System: The set of records and procedures which are used to record, classify, and report 
information on the financial status and operations of an entity. 

Accrual Basis Accounting: Financial records are based on economic rather than cash activity. 
Revenues are recognized when they are earned and realized, regardless of when actual payment is 
received. Expenses are recognized when incurred, regardless of when such expenses are paid. 

Activity Line Item (ALI): An ALI is a code for project scope that is used by the Federal Transit 
Administration (FTA) to track and report on grant activities. FTA grants budgets are developed by listing 
the description, ALI, and dollar amount of the projects within the grant application. 

ADA: Americans with Disabilities Act, enacted by Congress in 1990 and subsequent amendments. 

Amtrak: The National Railroad Passenger Corporation, doing business as Amtrak, is the national 
passenger railroad company of the United States. It operates inter-city rail service in 46 of the 48 
contiguous U.S. states. 

Annual Budget: A budget applicable to a single fiscal year. NCTD’s fiscal year begins on July 1 and 
ends on June 30. 

Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR): The official financial report of a government agency 
that includes an audit opinion, management discussion and analysis, basic financial statements, notes 
disclosures, and supplementary schedules. Previously known as Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report (CAFR). 

BNSF: BNSF is a Class I rail carrier with operating rights over tracks owned or controlled by NCTD.  

Budget Calendar: The schedule of key dates which NCTD follows in the preparation and adoption of 
the budget. 

Budget Document: The official financial spending and resource plan submitted by the Chief Executive 
Officer, adopted by NCTD’s Board of Directors, and made available to the public and other interested 
parties. 

Budget Message: A general discussion of the budget that is included as a part of the budget document. 

Budget Year: Fiscal year for which the budget is being considered. 

CalPERS: The California Public Employees Retirement System (CalPERS) is an agency that manages 
pension and health benefits for California public employees, retirees, and their families. CalPERS is the 
nation’s largest public pension fund. 

Caltrans: The California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) is an executive department of the state 
of California. Caltrans manages the state's highway system, which includes the California Freeway and 
Expressway System, supports public transportation systems throughout the state, and provides funding 
and oversight for three state-supported Amtrak intercity rail routes. 

Capital Assets: NCTD Board Policy No. 29 - Asset Management provides the guideline for the 
determination of a capital asset, which is defined as the acquisition of rolling stock, land, facility, a unit of 
equipment, an element of infrastructure, and intellectual property that has an individual unit value of 
$5,000 or greater and has an expected useful life of more than one year. 

CARB: The California Air Resources Board (CARB) is charged with protecting the public from the harmful 
effects of air pollution and developing programs and actions to fight climate change. 

CIP:  The Capital Improvement Program (CIP) is a multi-year plan of capital projects with estimated costs 
and funding resources. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

116 | P a g e

Cash Basis Accounting: A basis of accounting under which transactions are recognized only when 
cash is received or disbursed. 

CNG: Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) is a fuel gas compressed to less than 1% of the volume it occupies 
at standard atmospheric pressure. The majority of the BREEZE fleet utilizes CNG as its fuel source. 

Coach: Bus used for public mass transit. 

Constrained CIP: Projects that NCTD has committed funding to implement. 

Contract Services: Services provided to NCTD under contract with vendors from the private sector or 
other public agencies. 

Contributed Capital: Resources that are externally restricted for the acquisition or construction of capital 
assets. This category includes, but is not limited to, capital grants, residual equity transfers in, and 
contributions from developers. 

CPI: The Consumer Price Index (CPI) is a measure of the average change over time in the prices paid 
by urban consumers for a market basket of consumer goods and services. Indexes are available for the 
U.S. and various geographic areas.  

DBE: A Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) is a for-profit small business where socially and 
economically disadvantaged individuals own at least a 51% interest and also control management and 
daily business operations. 

Deficit: The excess of an entity’s expenses over its revenues. 

Department: A sub-section of operational activities within a division which provides specific services. 
Also known as Business Unit. 

Depreciation: Allocation of the costs, less salvage value, of fixed assets, including equipment, buildings, 
and other structures, over their useful lives in a systematic and rational manner. Depreciation reflects the 
use of the asset(s) during specific operating periods to match costs with related revenues in measuring 
income or determining the costs of carrying out program activities. 

DMU: Self-propelled diesel multiple unit used for light or hybrid rail transit. The SPRINTER service is 
provided by DMUs. 

DOT: The U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT) was established by an act of Congress on October 
15, 1966, that is responsible for helping maintain and develop the nation's transportation systems and 
infrastructure. 

EIR: An Environmental Impact Report (EIR) is a detailed, written analysis of all the effects that a land 
development or construction project would have on the local environment, such as on the air quality, 
noise levels, population, traffic patterns, fire danger, endangered species, archeological artifacts, and 
community beauty. Many states require submission of such reports to local governments, with a process 
for public comment, before a development or project can be approved. 

Employee Benefits: Benefits paid in full or partially by NCTD on behalf of its employees. 

Encumbrance: Funds not yet expended but obligated or set-aside in anticipation of expenditures to be 
paid. 

Enterprise Fund: In governmental accounting, a fund that provides good or service to the public for a 
fee that make the entity self-supporting. It follows GAAP as does a commercial enterprise. 

ETC: The Escondido Transit Center (ETC) is a bus and train station located in Escondido, California. 

Expenditures: Also known as expenses. Where financial records are kept on an accrual accounting 
basis, expenditures are recognized when goods are received, or services are rendered. Where financial 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

117 | P a g e

records accounts are kept on a cash basis, expenditures are recognized only when the cash payments 
are mode. 

Farebox Recovery Ratio: Measurement of total customer fare revenues received divided by total 
operating costs. 

Financial Forecast: Estimates of future revenues and expenditures to help predict the future financial 
condition of NCTD. 

Fiscal Year (FY): A 12-month period to which the annual operating budget applies and at the end of 
which a government determines its financial position and results of its operations. NCTD’s fiscal year 
starts on July 1 and ends on June 30. 

Fixed Assets: Also known as capital assets. Refer to definition above. 

FRA: The Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) was created by the Department of Transportation Act 
of 1966. The purpose of the FRA is to promulgate and enforce rail safety regulations, administer railroad 
assistance programs, conduct research and development in support of improved railroad safety and 
national rail transportation policy, provide for the rehabilitation of Northeast Corridor rail passenger 
service, and consolidate government support of rail transportation activities. 

FTA: The Federal Transit Administration (FTA) is an agency within the United States Department of 
Transportation (DOT) that provides financial and technical assistance to local public transportation 
systems. 

FTE: Full-time equivalent. Employee positions are budgeted for the time a regular, full-time employee 
normally works in a year. For example, a full-time employee (1 FTE) is paid for 2,080 hours per year, 
while a 0.5 FTE would work 1,040 hours per year. 

GAO: General Administration Office. NCTD administrative office located in 810 Mission Avenue, 
Oceanside, CA 92054. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP): Uniform standards for financial accounting and 
reporting which govern the form and content of the basic financial statements of an entity. 

GFOA: Government Finance Officers Association. GFOA is an association comprised of federal, 
state/provincial, and local finance officer members. GFOA's mission is to advance excellence in state 
and local government financial management. GFOA best practice guidance, consulting, networking 
opportunities, publications including books, e-books, and periodicals, recognition programs, research, 
and training opportunities for those in the profession. 

Headway: The elapsed time between the arrival of transit vehicles traveling in the same direction on a 
given route, usually expressed in minutes. 

Hybrid Rail (YR): Rail system primarily operating routes on the national system of railroads, but not 
operating with the characteristics of commuter rail. This service typically operates light rail-type vehicles 
as diesel multiple-unit trains (DMUs). These trains, if they do not meet Federal Railroad Administration 
standards, must operate with temporal separation from freight rail traffic. 

Intermodal: Passengers on more than one type of transportation, such as from bus to rail. 

LOSSAN: Los Angeles-San Diego-San Luis Obispo Corridor. LOSSAN is a 351-mile Corridor that travels 
through a six-county coastal region in Southern California and is the second busiest intercity passenger 
rail corridor in the United States and the busiest state-supported Amtrak route. The LOSSAN Corridor 
service includes 41 stations.  

Metrolink: The regional commuter system connecting Los Angeles with Orange County, Riverside, San 
Bernardino, San Diego, and Ventura Counties. Service began in October 1991. 

Mode: A particular form of transportation identified by the vehicle used, such as bus, rail, and paratransit. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

118 | P a g e

MOW: Maintenance of the railway right-of-way. 

MTS: San Diego Metropolitan Transit System. 

Multimodal: Public transportation system which provides more than mode of transit service, such as 
bus, rail, ferry, or demand-response service. 

NCTD: North County Transit - San Diego Railroad. 

Net Assets: Net assets represent the residual interest in NCTD’s assets after liabilities are deducted. In 
accordance with GASB statement No. 34, the equity section on the statement of net assets reports total 
net assets in three broad components: invested in capital assets, restricted; and unrestricted. Net assets 
invested in capital assets included capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and related debt. Net 
assets are restricted when constraints are imposed by third parties or by law through constitutional 
provisions or enabling legislation. All other net assets are unrestricted. When both restricted and 
unrestricted resources are available for use, it is NCTD’s policy to use restricted resources first and then 
unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

Non-revenue Vehicles: Vehicles that do not carry fare-paying passengers. 

Operating Budget: The operating budget is the primary means by which most of the spending and 
service delivery activities of NCTD are controlled. 

OTC: The Oceanside Transit Center (OTC) is a bus and train station located in Oceanside, California. 

Paratransit: Paratransit refers to equivalent transportation service provided by vehicles accessible to 
mobility devises. 

PCA: A Personal care attendant (PCA) is someone whose services or presence is required by the 
customer to meet his or her personal needs or to assist in traveling.  

Performance Objective: Relates to employee’s evaluation. 

Performance Results: A summary of major accomplishment and objectives that are met. 

Personnel: NCTD’s employees. 

Revenue Estimate: A formal estimate of how much revenue will be earned from a specific revenue 
source for some future period, typically during a fiscal year. 

Revenue Vehicle Hours: Total number of schedule hours that a vehicle is in service. Excludes hours 
spent traveling to and from storage facilities and during other non-service travel.

Revenue Vehicle Miles: Total number of miles traveled by a vehicle operating on rail or tracks, bus, van, 
trolley, ferry, cable car, or other vehicle use to provide public transportation for which a fare is collected. 
Excludes miles spent traveling to and from storage facilities and during other no-service travel. 

Revenue Vehicle: Vehicle that carries fare-paying passengers. 

Ridership: The number of passengers who board public transportation vehicles. Passengers are 
counted each time they board vehicles no matter how many vehicles they use to travel from their origin 
to their destination. 

ROW: Right-of-way; land purchase or reserved for a transit system’s route, such as a bus lane, or a 
railway line. 

RTIP: The Regional Transportation Improvement Program (RTIP) is a plan required for the region to 
qualify for federal funding. 

RTMS: The Regional Transit Management System (RTMS) is a radio communication system that 
supports the fixed-route bus transit operations. 



Proposed FY2026 Operating Budget and  
FY2026-FY2030 Capital Improvement Program 

119 | P a g e

SANDAG: The San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) is the metropolitan planning agency 
for the County of San Diego and is the primary public planning, transportation, and research agency of 
the region. 

Service Area: A measure of access to transit service in terms of population served and area coverage 
(square miles). The reporting transit agency determines the service area boundaries and population for 
most transit services using the definitions contained in the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), 
i.e., a corridor surrounding the routes ¾ of a mile on either side, or for rail, a series of circles of radius ¾ 
mile centered on each station.  

Service Efficiency: Cost savings that are generated do to more efficient scheduling of routes. 

Single Audit: Previously known as the OMB Circular A-133 audit, is an organization-wide financial 
statement and federal awards' audit of a non-federal entity that expends $750,000 or more in federal 
funds in one year. 

STIP: The State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) is a multi-year capital improvement 
program of transportation projects on and off the State Highway System. 

TCRP: The Traffic Congestion Relief Program (TCRP) was created by California’s legislature in 2000 to 
provide funding for transportation projects that improve traffic mobility and relieve congestion, connect 
transportation systems, and provide for better goods movement. 

TDA: The Transportation Development Act (TDA) was enacted in 1971 by the California legislature to 
provide a major source of funding for public transportation. These funds are generated by a ¼ of a percent 
sales tax collected in each region of the state and allocated to each county based on population, taxable 
sales, and transit performance. 

Temporary Employees: Employees who work full or part-time but only for a limited period for the 
completion of a set task. These persons are not entitled to receive any benefits and do not have any job 
security rights. 

TOPR: The Transit Operations Performance Report (TOPR) is a monthly and quarterly report produced 
by NCTD staff that provides a report on key performance indicators. 

TransNet: A funding source created by Proposition A, the ½ cent sales tax enacted in November 1987. 
A 40-year extension of TransNet was approved by voters in November 2004. 

TVM: A ticket vending machine (TVM) is a vending machine that produces paper or electronic tickets, or 
recharges stored value on a transit card. 

Unconstrained CIP: The total amount of funding needed to implement all approved projects. 

VTC: The Vista Transit Center (OTC) is a bus and train station located in Vista, California. 

YOP: The Youth Opportunity Pass (YOP) program grants unlimited free access to San Diego public 
transportation for all riders under the age of 18.  



Class No. POSITION CLASSIFICATIONS Minimum Midpoint Maximum Minimum Midpoint Maximum

RA01 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$16.44 $19.73 $23.02 $34,203.42 $41,044.10 $47,884.78

RA02 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$18.28 $21.94 $25.59 $38,024.00 $45,628.79 $53,233.58

RB01 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$18.57 $23.12 $27.68 $38,616.76 $48,094.42 $57,572.08
Control Center Technician

SPRINTER Train Attendant

Facility Maintenance Technician I
Facility Custodian

RB02 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$22.01 $27.52 $33.02 $45,790.60 $57,232.47 $68,674.33

Code Compliance Inspector

Facility Maintenance Technician I Lead

RB03 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$24.66 $31.23 $37.80 $51,283.06 $64,953.40 $78,623.72

SPRINTER Train Operator
Facility Maintenance Technician II

RB04 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$30.77 $39.58 $46.15 $63,993.49 $82,319.91 $95,990.23
Assistant Dispatcher

SPRINTER MOE Technician
COASTER MOE Technician

COASTER Conductor

Facility Maintenance Technicaian III
Facility Maintenance Technician III Lead

Track Maintainer
Material Handler/Driver

Heavy Equipment Operator I

Track Maintainer Foreman
Assistant Signal Maintainer

RB05 CLASS SALARY RANGE…...........................................................$37.31 $48.49 $59.68 $77,596.69 $100,861.00 $124,125.30

Train Dispatcher

COASTER Locomotive Engineer
Track Inspector
Track Welder
Heavy Equipment Operator II

Eqipment Operator Foreman
Signal Maintainer
Rail Systems & Communications Technician
Signal Inspector

HOURLY SALARY RANGE ANNUAL SALARY RANGES

North County Transit District 
FY2026 REPRESENTED CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION SALARY SCHEDULE

July 1, 2025 - June 30, 2026 

ATTACHMENT 14D



Permit Cost Recovery Schedule (One Time)  
Right-of-Entry Permit Actual Cost *
Right-of-Entry Permit Amendment/Extension Actual Cost *
Special Event Permit Actual Cost *
Plan/Work Plan Review Process (hourly rate):

Submittal Review Actual Cost *

Right-of-Way Support Services  
Contractor Safety Training (Roadway Worker Protection):

Class per participant $173.50
Flagging Protection (prevailing wage projects)
   Hourly rate $175.51
   Overtime rate $203.29
   Double time rate $231.07
Flagging Protection (none prevailing wage projects)
   Hourly rate $141.82
   Overtime rate $222.91
Signal Mark-Out/Signal Support/Track Inspection Actual Cost *
Maintenance/Repair Work Actual Cost *

Incidental Use Fees  
Set-Up and Administration

Incidental Use Viability, Negotiations & License Set-Up Fee (One-Time) $1,800
Administration Fee (Recurring Annually) $228

Incidental Use Fees (Recurring Annually)
Standard Transverse Wireline Crossing (Electric, Telephone, CATV) $2,400
Telecommunication Fiber Optic Cable (0 - 432 strands) $5,400
Telecommunication Fiber Optic Cable (>432 strands) $12.50/strand per cable
Pipeline Utility Crossing (Sewer/Water/Storm Drain)

<0”-10” diameter $1,740
>10”-24” diameter $2,280
>24”-30” diameter $3,000
>30”-42” diameter $4,200
>42”-52” diameter $5,400
>52” diameter Case by Case

Longitudinal Installations 
Standard Wireline (Electric, Telephone, CATV) (≤ 200 feet in length) $2,400
Standard Wireline (Electric, Telephone, CATV) (> 200 feet in length) $12/linear foot
Pipeline Utility (Sewer/Water/Storm Drain) 

<0”-10” diameter (≤ 200 feet in length) $1,740
<0”-10” diameter (> 200 feet in length) $8.70/linear foot
>10”-24” diameter (≤ 200 feet in length) $2,280
>10”-24” diameter (> 200 feet in length) $11.40/linear foot
>24”-30” diameter (≤ 200 feet in length) $3,000
>24”-30” diameter (> 200 feet in length) $15.00/linear foot
>30”-42” diameter (≤ 200 feet in length) $4,200
>30”-42” diameter (> 200 feet in length) $21.00/linear foot
>42”-52” diameter (≤ 200 feet in length) $5,400
>42”-52” diameter (> 200 feet in length) $27.00/linear foot
>52” diameter Case by Case

Incidental Use Fees (One-Time)
Guy wires, arms, brackets and service drops $600
Cabinets and other permanent structures Fair Market Value

BOARD APPROVED COST RECOVERY FEE SCHEDULE 
Fiscal Year 2026

* Actual cost is generated from NCTD labor time applied to a specific process at a fully burdened hourly rate, plus costs incurred by NCTD 
directly related to the requested activity. Fully burdened hourly rates applied by NCTD include the base compensation of NCTD staff that 

are engaged in the requested activity, plus the associated employee benefits incurred by NCTD for that staff member such as payroll 
taxes,medical benefits, retirement plans, etc.

Revised 5/06/2025

ATTACHMENT 14F



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 1 

 

 

  

Service 
Implementation Plan 

FY 2026 
Presented June 2025 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 2 

 

Table of Contents 
  

Introduction ................................................................................................................. 4 

Background .............................................................................................................. 5 

Key Assumptions ....................................................................................................... 5 

Strategic Priorities ..................................................................................................... 6 

FY2025 Service Statistics & Ridership ............................................................................. 7 

System Summary ...................................................................................................... 8 

BREEZE ..................................................................................................................... 9 

SPRINTER ............................................................................................................... 11 

COASTER ................................................................................................................ 12 

LIFT ........................................................................................................................ 14 

FLEX ....................................................................................................................... 15 

NCTD+ .................................................................................................................... 17 

Ten-Year Outlook ........................................................................................................ 19 

 

 

List of Tables 
Table 1. Projected Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY2026 ............................................ 9 
Table 2. BREEZE Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 ........................................ 11 
Table 3. SPRINTER Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 ..................................... 12 
Table 4. COASTER Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 ..................................... 14 
Table 5. LIFT Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 .............................................. 15 
Table 6. FLEX Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 ............................................. 17 
Table 7. NCTD+ Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 ......................................... 18 
Table 8. BREEZE Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 ............................................. 22 
Table 9. SPRINTER Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 .......................................... 22 
Table 10. COASTER Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 ........................................ 22 
Table 11. LIFT Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 ................................................. 23 
Table 12. FLEX Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 ............................................... 23 
Table 13. NCTD+ Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 ............................................ 23 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 3 

 

List of Figures 
Figure 1. Systemwide Monthly Ridership, FY2025 ............................................................ 8 
Figure 2. BREEZE Monthly Ridership, FY2025 ................................................................ 10 
Figure 3. BREEZE Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 ............................................ 10 
Figure 4. SPRINTER Monthly Ridership, FY2025 ............................................................. 11 
Figure 5. SPRINTER Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 ......................................... 12 
Figure 6. COASTER Monthly Ridership, FY2025 .............................................................. 13 
Figure 7. COASTER Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 ......................................... 13 
Figure 8. LIFT Monthly Ridership, FY2025 ...................................................................... 14 
Figure 9. LIFT Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 .................................................. 15 
Figure 10. FLEX Monthly Ridership, FY2025 ................................................................... 16 
Figure 11. FLEX Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 .............................................. 16 
Figure 12. NCTD+ Monthly Ridership, FY2025 ................................................................ 17 
Figure 13. NCTD+ Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 ........................................... 18 
Figure 14. SIP Objectives ............................................................................................. 20 
Figure 15. Systemwide Actual & Projected Ridership and Service Levels, FY24-FY34........ 21 

  



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 4 

 

 

Introduction 
 

  
INTRODUCTION 
 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 4 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 5 

 

Background 
The Service Implementation Plan (SIP) outlines North County Transit District – San Diego 
Railroad’s (NCTD, District) plans to provide multimodal transit services over the next five (5) 
years. The SIP is a requirement under the Master Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
with the San Diego Association of Governments (SANDAG) and is used to inform NCTD’s 
annual operating budget.  

The SIP development process consists of the compilation and review of historic service 
levels, ridership, and studies that outline capital and operating investments for the District. 
Planning coordinates with Finance, Bus Operations, and Rail Operations to review and 
develop the assumptions. Finance staff calculates the cost associated with the proposed 
services. The costs are then included in the proposed NCTD annual operating budget for 
Board approval. 

Key Assumptions 
NCTD uses conservative estimates to forecast ridership. The conservative projection is 
consistent with Board Policy No. 17 - Budget Development, which requires staff to 
conservatively estimate revenues and expenses. The conservative forecast allows NCTD to 
stress test and confirm that the budget for the upcoming fiscal year will be balanced under 
the assumed worst-case scenario. 

Ridership estimates for the FY2026 SIP are based on observed mode-specific ridership 
trends. Both year-over-year (YOY) ridership changes and anticipated service levels for each 
mode factor into projections. Miles and hours projections are based primarily on scheduled 
daily service, while service statistics for on-demand modes, such as LIFT and NCTD+, are 
based on projected ridership. Absolute work windows, holidays, and special events are also 
considered in both service and ridership projections. Other factors—such as uncertain 
funding projections, changing travel patterns, station redevelopment efforts, and evolving 
land use and development patterns—influence the phasing of proposed service changes. 

 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 6 

 

Strategic Priorities 
Uncertain funding projections at all levels of 
government, coupled with decreasing sales tax 
revenues, pose significant challenges in 
projecting future service levels. Should the 
current forecast continue without the 
introduction of a new funding source, NCTD will 
likely need to reduce service levels in future 
years. This service reduction may impact all 
NCTD modes. With this uncertainty in mind, the 
FY2026 Service Implementation Plan has been developed to support strategic investments 
that can be implemented over a five-year period that aim to increase ridership and address 
capital priority needs while being mindful of a constrained resource environment. Key 
strategic service priorities that are relevant to the five-year horizon of the Service 
Implementation Plan include: 

• Strategically expand first-last mile services through NCTD+ as funding permits 
• Conduct a Bus Network Redesign to restructure the BREEZE network of routes 

under a variety of funding scenarios 
• Complete grant-funded construction of two new stations along the COASTER 

corridor that will serve major regional events 
• Advance project activities that will support the future implementation of 15-minute 

frequencies on SPRINTER 

In January 2025, NCTD submitted a Caltrans Planning Grant application to conduct a Bus 
Network Redesign. At the time of the development of the Service Implementation Plan, 
NCTD is awaiting the results of the grant application. The Bus Network Redesign is a 
comprehensive study that will assess opportunities to restructure the BREEZE bus network 
to increase ridership. The study will include three key scenarios, including a reduced 
funding scenario, maintenance of funding scenario, and increased funding scenario. 
Service scenarios and cost estimates would be developed as part of the study and 
incorporated in future Service Implementation Plans upon final adoption of the plan and 
appropriate financial outlook.  

 

 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 7 

 

 

FY2025 Service Statistics & Ridership 
  

FY2026 SERVICE 
STATISTICS & 
RIDERSHIP 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 7 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 8 

 

System Summary 
Service statistics and ridership projections are reviewed each budget cycle to reflect actual 
performance and to assess the accuracy of previous forecasts. The FY2025 Service 
Implementation Plan (SIP), developed in spring 2024, incorporated ridership and service 
data from July 2023 to February 2024. NCTD projected a 4% increase in ridership by the end 
of FY2025, aiming to reach 77.1% of pre-pandemic levels. Forecasts were based on service 
restoration and additional service increases on high-performing BREEZE routes, the 
introduction of new NCTD+ microtransit zones, and the continued ridership benefits of 
COASTER special event service and the Youth Opportunity Pass program. As shown in Figure 
1, monthly systemwide ridership in FY2025 has surpassed budgeted figures and is projected 
to continue to for the remainder of the year. 

Figure 1. Systemwide Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

NCTD is implementing significant changes in the upcoming fiscal year that are expected to 
enhance service quality and customer satisfaction. Most notably, the agency will be 
transitioning to in-house bus operations in FY2026. The change will impact BREEZE, FLEX, 
LIFT, and NCTD+, and the transition is expected to improve service reliability and reduce 
operator turnover. FY2026 service levels and ridership forecasts by mode are summarized 
in Table 1. Systemwide ridership is projected to increase 4.9% in FY2026 to almost nine 
million boardings or 86.4% of pre-pandemic levels. NCTD continues to explore and advance 
additional customer-focused initiatives to attract new riders. 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 9 

 

Table 1. Projected Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY2026 

Mode/Metric Ridership 
Revenue 

Miles 
Total  
Miles 

Revenue 
Hours 

Total  
Hours 

BREEZE 5,735,171 5,062,584 5,759,795 429,066 465,347 

SPRINTER 1,998,260 518,850 521,083 23,585 23,738 

COASTER 919,746 401,139 426,825 12,302 13,708 

LIFT 118,861 1,186,922 1,282,687 66,037 78,884 

FLEX 130,517 373,196 466,507 26,542 30,772 

NCTD+ 77,514 230,635 312,883 23,546 31,464 

System Total 8,980,069 7,773,326 8,769,780 581,078 643,913 

 

BREEZE 
BREEZE service changes outlined in the FY2025 SIP included the restoration of service levels 
on remaining BREEZE routes that had been reduced due the COVID-19 operator shortage, 
the reintroduction of BREEZE 408 special event service, and FY2025 Q3 frequency increases 
on four of NCTD’s highest-performing BREEZE routes. The FY2025 SIP projected a 7.4% 
increase in ridership by the end of FY2025 and annual ridership 77.1% of pre-pandemic 
levels.  

Restoration of BREEZE service levels were completed in June 2024. Further BREEZE 
frequency increases have been postponed and two low-performing routes are set to be 
discontinued during the May 2025 service change. Despite these changes, BREEZE ridership 
in FY2025 has benefited from more accurate reporting due to the Federal Transit 
Administration’s certification of its bus fleet’s automated passenger counters on 
May 23, 2024. As shown in Figure 2, BREEZE monthly ridership in FY2025 has exceeded all 
budgeted projections and total year-to-date (YTD) boardings are 8.9% above expectations.  



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 10 

 

Figure 2. BREEZE Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

The only change to BREEZE service planned in FY2026 is the reintroduction of BREEZE 408 
special event service in the fourth quarter. As shown in Figure 3 and detailed in Table 2, 
ridership is anticipated to increase 4.3%—from an estimated 5.5 million boardings in 
FY2025 to roughly 5.7 million in FY2026.  

Figure 3. BREEZE Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 

 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

FY24 FY25 FY26

Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 11 

 

Table 2. BREEZE Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 

BREEZE 
FY24  

Actuals 
FY25 Actuals  
& Projected 

FY26  
Proposed 

Change from  
FY24 to FY26 

Change from  
FY25 to FY26 

Total Ridership 4,876,019 5,497,704 5,735,171 17.6% 4.3% 

Total Revenue Miles 4,892,488 5,068,291 5,062,584 3.5% -0.1% 

Total Miles 5,608,830 5,877,533 5,759,795 2.7% -2.0% 

Total Revenue Hours 411,851 429,154 429,066 4.2% 0.0% 

Total Hours 441,144 463,297 465,347 5.5% 0.4% 

 

SPRINTER 
The FY2025 SIP projected SPRINTER ridership would increase 2.8% in FY2025 to just under 
1.9 million. As illustrated in Figure 4, monthly ridership has largely exceeded budgeted 
goals with YTD ridership surpassing expectations by 4.1% and total boardings having 
increased 4.6% over the same period last year.  

Figure 4. SPRINTER Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

As illustrated in Figure 5, SPRINTER is expected to continue its growth trend, increasing by 
4% to nearly two million boardings in FY2026. In addition, there are no SPRINTER service 
changes proposed in FY2026 and any changes in operating statistics shown in Table 3 reflect 
minor variations in the share of weekdays, Saturdays, and Sundays between each fiscal 
year. 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected



FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 12

Figure 5. SPRINTER Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 

Table 3. SPRINTER Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 

SPRINTER 
FY24  

Actuals 
FY25 Actuals 
& Projected 

FY26  
Proposed 

Change from 
FY24 to FY26 

Change from 
FY25 to FY26 

Total Ridership 1,822,849 1,922,174 1,998,260 9.6% 4.0%

Total Revenue Miles 512,781 503,962 518,850 1.2% 3.0%

Total Miles 516,671 506,892 521,083 0.9% 2.8%

Total Revenue Hours 23,296 22,911 23,585 1.2% 2.9%

Total Hours 23,497 23,081 23,738 1.0% 2.8%

COASTER 
Year-to-date ridership on COASTER has increased 5.3% compared to the previous fiscal 

year—higher than the 3.3% increase projected in the FY2025 SIP. However, as shown in 

Figure 6, COASTER monthly ridership compared to budgeted goals has been varied. July 

2024 ridership, for example, was almost 10% below budgeted while the Padres’ post-season 

appearance helped October 2024 ridership surpass the budgeted goal by 21.7%.  

0

500,000

1,000,000

1,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

FY24 FY25 FY26

Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 13 

 

Figure 6. COASTER Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

As illustrated in Figure 7, over 900,000 COASTER boardings are projected in FY2026—a 2.6% 
increase over current year. Like SPRINTER, no service expansions are planned in FY2026 and 
the slight changes in operating statistics detailed in Table 4 largely reflect variations in the 
number of weekdays, Saturdays, and Sundays. 

Figure 7. COASTER Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 

 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected

0
100,000
200,000
300,000
400,000
500,000
600,000
700,000
800,000
900,000

1,000,000

FY24 FY25 FY26

Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 14 

 

Table 4. COASTER Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 

COASTER 
FY24  

Actuals 
FY25 Actuals  
& Projected 

FY26  
Proposed 

Change from  
FY24 to FY26 

Change from  
FY25 to FY26 

Total Ridership 852,993 896,810 919,746 7.8% 2.6% 

Total Revenue Miles 399,691 401,289 401,139 0.4% 0.0% 

Total Miles 425,396 426,959 426,825 0.3% 0.0% 

Total Revenue Hours 12,274 12,320 12,302 0.2% -0.1% 

Total Hours 13,673 13,727 13,708 0.3% -0.1% 

 

LIFT 
As shown in Figure 8, LIFT ridership has largely outperformed monthly budgeted goals in FY 
2025—exceeding the budgeted goal for seven of the past nine months of actual data. Overall 
YTD ridership in FY2025 has exceeded budget by 2.7% and is projected to exceed the annual 
budgeted goal by 1.7% 

Figure 8. LIFT Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

As illustrated in Figure 9, LIFT ridership is projected to increase to close to 120,000 
boardings in FY2026. Table 5 shows that this 2.7% increase in ridership is expected result 
in a 22.7% increase in revenue miles and a 17.4% increase in revenue hours. 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 15 

 

Figure 9. LIFT Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 

 

Table 5. LIFT Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 

LIFT FY24  
Actuals 

FY25 Actuals  
& Projected 

FY26  
Proposed 

Change from  
FY24 to FY26 

Change from  
FY25 to FY26 

Total Ridership 105,244 115,683 118,861 12.9% 2.7% 

Total Revenue Miles 903,563 967,296 1,186,922 31.4% 22.7% 

Total Miles 995,221 1,045,379 1,282,687 28.9% 22.7% 

Total Revenue Hours 53,654 56,259 66,037 23.1% 17.4% 

Total Hours 61,515 64,288 78,884 28.2% 22.7% 

 

FLEX 
Strong, sustained growth on the original FLEX routes and the introduction of COASTER 
Connection service in late FY2024 have contributed to the monthly overperformance 
illustrated in Figure 10. Year-to-date FLEX ridership has surpassed projections by 58.9% and 
total boardings have increased 105.8% year-over-year.  

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

FY24 FY25 FY26

Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 16 

 

Figure 10. FLEX Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

As illustrated in Figure 11, FLEX ridership is anticipated to continue to increase in FY2026. 
The inclusion of COASTER and FLEX services into the U-Pass program for UC San Diego’s 
students is expected to further improve ridership on COASTER Connection services. Table 
6 shows annual ridership is projected to increase by 29.4% in FY2026. 

Figure 11. FLEX Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 

 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

FY24 FY25 FY26

Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 17 

 

Table 6. FLEX Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 

FLEX 
FY24  

Actuals 
FY25 Actuals  
& Projected 

FY26  
Proposed 

Change from  
FY24 to FY26 

Change from  
FY25 to FY26 

Total Ridership 48,663 100,882 130,517 168.2% 29.4% 

Total Revenue Miles 320,948 392,137 373,196 16.3% -4.8% 

Total Miles 337,743 481,484 466,507 38.1% -3.1% 

Total Revenue Hours 17,414 25,948 26,542 52.4% 2.3% 

Total Hours 18,472 33,146 30,772 66.6% -7.2% 

 

NCTD+ 
In late FY2024, NCTD introduced its on-demand microtransit service, NCTD+, as a pilot in 
San Marcos. As illustrated in Figure 12, the service ramped up quickly and started reaching 
its ridership targets after only four months of service. The District anticipates continued 
ridership growth with the launch of the Vista NCTD+ pilot zone and the continuation of 
regular service in San Marcos.  

Figure 12. NCTD+ Monthly Ridership, FY2025 

 

As shown in Figure 13, NCTD+ ridership is anticipated to increase significantly in FY2026 
with a full year of microtransit service in Vista and San Marcos. Additionally, NCTD intends 
to pursue Flexible Fleets funding through the San Diego Association of Governments to 
support the launch of a third pilot zone in Fallbrook and Pala. As a result, Table 7 shows 
annual ridership is projected to increase by 198.1% in FY2026. 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun

Budgeted Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 18 

 

 

Figure 13. NCTD+ Actual & Projected Ridership, FY24-FY26 

 

 

Table 7. NCTD+ Ridership & Operating Statistics, FY24-FY26 

NCTD+ 
FY24  

Actuals 
FY25 Actuals  
& Projected 

FY26  
Proposed 

Change from  
FY24 to FY26 

Change from  
FY25 to FY26 

Total Ridership 146 26,002 77,514 52,991.8% 198.1% 

Total Revenue Miles 562 84,968 230,635 40,969.7% 171.4% 

Total Miles 3,523 127,584 312,883 8,780.5% 145.2% 

Total Revenue Hours 113 8,319 23,546 20,726.1% 183.0% 

Total Hours 711 12,366 31,464 4,322.7% 154.4% 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

FY24 FY25 FY26

Actual Projected



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 19 

 

Ten-Year Outlook  
  Five-Year 
Outlook 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 19 

 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 20 

 

The Service Implementation Plan includes a five-year outlook that is updated annually with 
each budget cycle. This planning horizon allows the District to align major capital and 
operations projects with future operating projections. The FY2026 Service Implementation 
Plan was developed within the context of an uncertain funding outlook. The SIP’s 
objectives are outlined in Figure 14. 

Figure 14. SIP Objectives 

 

 

Figure 15 charts current and project ridership and service levels from FY2024 through 
FY2030. As existing services are improved and coverage is expanded, NCTD estimates 
ridership will increase 10.7% to over 9.4 million boardings in FY2030. Table 8 to Table 13 
detail projected modal ridership and operating statistics from FY2026 to FY2030. 

 

Strengthen network foundations

• BREEZE: Restructure the BREEZE bus network through a 
comprehensive Bus Network Redesign

• SPRINTER: Modernize the fleet and improve service reliability, laying 
the groundwork for future service expansions

• COASTER: Complete new station construction and provide direct 
connections to key landmarks, such as the San Diego Convention 
Center, Petco Park, and the Del Mar Fair Grounds

• COASTER: Restructure service to reflect changing return-to-work 
patterns and leisure-based travel trends. 

Complement network with on-demand service

• NCTD+: Transition existing pilot zones to regular service
• NCTD+: Strategically pilot on-demand zones to expand coverage and 

facilitate first-last mile connections to high-frequency corridors
• LIFT: Maintain quality LIFT service to meet increased demand 

associated with changing demographics



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 21 

 

 

Figure 15. Systemwide Actual & Projected Ridership and Service Levels, FY24-FY34 

 

  

Vista NCTD+ 

pilot launch & 

opening of 

hydrogen 

fueling 

station

Fallbrook-Pala 

NCTD+ pilot 

launch, 

expanded U-

Pass, & end of 

YOP program Convention Center 

Station opening

SPRINTER 

fleet 

replacement

COASTER 

service 

increase & 

Del Mar 

Fairgrounds 

special 

event 

platform 

opening

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

9,000,000

10,000,000

FY24 FY25 FY26 FY27 FY28 FY29 FY30

R
id

e
rs

h
ip

 &
 T

o
ta

l 
M

il
e
s

Total Boardings Total Miles



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 22 

 

Table 8. BREEZE Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 

BREEZE FY2026 FY2027 FY 2028 FY2029 FY2030 

Total Ridership 5,735,171 5,826,574 5,884,840 5,943,688 6,003,125 

Total Revenue Miles 5,062,584 5,062,584 5,062,584 5,062,584 5,062,584 

Total Miles 5,759,795 5,759,795 5,759,795 5,759,795 5,759,795 

Total Revenue Hours 429,066 429,066 429,066 429,066 429,066 

Total Hours 465,347 465,347 465,347 465,347 465,347 

 

Table 9. SPRINTER Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 

SPRINTER FY2026 FY2027 FY 2028 FY2029 FY2030 

Total Ridership 1,998,260 2,018,243 2,038,425 2,058,809 2,079,397 

Total Revenue Miles 518,850 518,850 518,850 518,850 518,850 

Total Miles 521,083 521,083 521,083 521,083 521,083 

Total Revenue Hours 23,585 23,585 23,585 23,585 23,585 

Total Hours 23,738 23,738 23,738 23,738 23,738 

 

Table 10. COASTER Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 

COASTER FY2026 FY2027 FY 2028 FY2029 FY2030 

Total Ridership 919,746 941,964 951,384 960,898 1,049,596 

Total Revenue Miles 401,139 412,384 412,384 412,384 479,596 

Total Miles 426,825 438,790 438,790 438,790 510,306 

Total Revenue Hours 12,302 12,647 12,647 12,647 14,708 

Total Hours 13,708 14,092 14,092 14,092 16,389 

 



 

FY2026 SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION PLAN | 23 

 

Table 11. LIFT Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 

LIFT FY2026 FY2027 FY 2028 FY2029 FY2030 

Total Ridership 118,861 120,335 121,538 122,753 123,981 

Total Revenue Miles 1,186,922 1,201,641 1,213,654 1,225,787 1,238,049 

Total Miles 1,282,687 1,298,594 1,311,576 1,324,687 1,337,939 

Total Revenue Hours 66,037 66,853 67,521 68,196 68,878 

Total Hours 78,884 79,862 80,661 81,467 82,282 

 

Table 12. FLEX Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 

FLEX FY2026 FY2027 FY 2028 FY2029 FY2030 

Total Ridership 130,517 134,469 136,505 137,870 139,249 

Total Revenue Miles 373,196 373,196 373,196 373,196 373,196 

Total Miles 466,507 466,507 466,507 466,507 466,507 

Total Revenue Hours 26,542 26,542 26,542 26,542 26,542 

Total Hours 30,772 30,772 30,772 30,772 30,772 

 

Table 13. NCTD+ Ridership & Service Forecast, FY26-FY30 

NCTD+ FY2026 FY2027 FY 2028 FY2029 FY2030 

Total Ridership 77,514 78,289 79,072 79,863 80,662 

Total Revenue Miles 230,635 232,941 235,271 237,624 240,002 

Total Miles 312,883 316,011 319,172 322,365 325,590 

Total Revenue Hours 23,546 23,781 24,019 24,260 24,502 

Total Hours 31,464 31,779 32,096 32,417 32,742 

 



Set Public Hearing for Proposed 
Elimination of BREEZE Route 323

NCTD Board of Directors Meeting
June 26, 2025

RELATED TO 

AGENDA ITEM 15



Background

• Funding Context

• Funding-constrained environment requires NCTD to be 
intentional with operational resources to ensure effective 
service delivery

• NCTD’s Service Design Guidelines provides guidance for 
monitoring route performance and making service adjustments 
over time

1



2

BREEZE 323



Average Daily 
Boardings

3

Average Daily Boardings



Ridership Comparison

4

Route Category FY24 Total Boardings

303 Core 756,239

101 Corridor 565,633

309 Corridor 336,180

302 Core 320,703

318 Local 129,693

315 Corridor 114,675

313 Local 69,818

311 Commuter 39,812

325 Local 36,601

323 Local 17,201

• BREEZE 323 total FY24 
ridership compared to 
adjacent routes in the 
surrounding area

• BREEZE 323 accounts for 
0.3% of total BREEZE 
ridership



Public Outreach

• Website, stop messaging, and onboard materials

• Legal notice published in English and Spanish 
newspapers

• Route ride-alongs:

• Wednesday, June 4 between 8:20 a.m. – 10:30 a.m.

• Tuesday, June 10 between 1:20 p.m. – 3:30 p.m.

• Thursday, June 12 between 11:20 a.m. – 1:30 p.m.

5



Staff Recommendation

• Set Public Hearing for Proposed Elimination of BREEZE 
Route 323

6



Questions?

7



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-015 

 

Agenda  
Item #  

15 

 

SET PUBLIC HEARING AND AUTHORIZE STAFF TO RECEIVE 
PUBLIC COMMENT FOR THE PROPOSED ELIMINATION OF 
BREEZE ROUTE 323 
 

 Time Sensitive:  ☒ Consent:  ☐ 
 

STAFF 
RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends that the North County Transit District’s (NCTD) Board of 
Directors (Board): 

1. Set a public hearing for July 17, 2025, for the Board to consider the 
proposed elimination of BREEZE Route 323;  

2. Authorize staff to provide detailed information to the public and receive 
and consider public comment regarding the proposed elimination of 
BREEZE Route 323 in advance of the public hearing.  

 
BACKGROUND 
INFORMATION: 

 
The North County Transit District (NCTD) regularly monitors the service 
performance of its modes in accordance with its Service Design Guidelines and 
budgeted goals. Performance is reported monthly and annually via the Transit 
Operations Performance Report and Service Implementation Plan. As part of this 
process, NCTD monitors route-level performance throughout the network. 
Routes that fail to meet performance standards for two or more consecutive years 
are considered for modification or elimination to ensure effective resource 
allocation. To ensure NCTD is best maximizing its use of limited resources, 
NCTD is proposing to eliminate BREEZE Route 323. 
 
Service Background 
BREEZE Route 323 provides weekday hourly bus service in eastern 
Oceanside.The route is not anchored by a major transit center, but does connect 
to the College Blvd SPRINTER Station. Due to the route’s failure to meet 
performance standards set forth in NCTD’s Service Design Guidelines as 
outlined below, NCTD staff are proposing to eliminate BREEZE Route 323 
effective Sunday, October 5, 2025.  
 
BREEZE Route 315 and 325 provide parallel service within a half-mile of 
BREEZE Route 323 with connections to Carlsbad Village Station to the south 
and San Luis Rey Transit Center to the north. BREEZE Routes 311 and 318 also 
provide overlapping service with portions of BREEZE 323.  
 
Service Performance  
NCTD’s Service Design Guidelines provide guidance on performance 
measurements and monitoring over time to ensure transparency in resource 
allocation decisions. Measures used to monitor route performance include 
passengers per revenue hour and cost per passenger. These measures are 
compared to the respective modal average, with tiers to determine performance 
as shown in Table 1. NCTD’s Service Design Guidelines recommend that routes 
deemed deficient for two or more consecutive years should be considered for 
elimination.  
 
 



June 26, 2025 Board Meeting  Staff Report No.: SR-25-06-015 

 
 
Table 1: Route Performance Measurements 

Measure Pass Watch Fail 

Passengers per 
revenue hour 

> 50% of 
average 

< 50% of 
average 

< 40% of 
average 

Cost per passenger 
<140% of 
average 

>140% of 
average 

>150% of 
average 

 
Table 2 includes the performance metrics for BREEZE 323 compared to the 
BREEZE modal average.  
 
Table 2: BREEZE Performance Metrics, FY2024 

Route 
Total FY24 
Ridership 

Weekday Passengers 
per Revenue Hour 

Net Cost per 
Passenger 

BREEZE 323 17,201 4.4 $29.92 

BREEZE (All) 4,864,770 12.4 $14.00 

 
BREEZE Route 323’s passengers per revenue hour and net cost per passenger 
are both deemed deficient according to NCTD’s Service Design Guidelines.  
 
Major Service Change Designation 
The proposed change constitutes a major service change under Board Policy No. 
30 - Threshold for Major Service Change because it represents the elimination 
of routes within NCTD’s service offering. The Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA) Circular 4702.1B requires transit agencies to evaluate major service 
changes to identify whether the changes have a disparate impact on minority 
communities or a disproportionate burden on low-income communities. NCTD 
will conduct an equity analysis and hold a public hearing as required by NCTD 
Board Policy No. 5 - Public Notice and Participation.  
 
NCTD will seek public feedback regarding the proposed service by holding in-
person outreach events to share information with the public and gather input. All 
public comments will be presented to the Board of Directors at the public hearing. 
 
Based on the foregoing, staff recommends that the Board of Directors: 

1. Set a public hearing for July 17, 2025, for the Board to consider 
eliminating BREEZE Route 323;  

2. Authorize staff to provide detailed information to the public and receive 
and consider public comment regarding the proposed elimination of 
BREEZE Route 323 in advance of the public hearing.  

 
ATTACHMENT: 15A – BREEZE Route 323 Public Hearing Presentation 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: This staff report has no fiscal impact. 

 
COMMITTEE REVIEW: None 

 
STAFF CONTACT: 

 
Katie Persons, Director of Service Planning 
E-mail: kpersons@nctd.org Phone: 760-966-6683 

 



Set Public Hearing for Proposed 
Elimination of BREEZE Route 323

NCTD Board of Directors Meeting
June 26, 2025

RELATED TO 

AGENDA ITEM 15



Background

• Funding Context

• Funding-constrained environment requires NCTD to be 
intentional with operational resources to ensure effective 
service delivery

• NCTD’s Service Design Guidelines provides guidance for 
monitoring route performance and making service adjustments 
over time

1



2

BREEZE 323



Average Daily 
Boardings

3



Ridership Comparison

4

Route Category FY24 Total Boardings

303 Core 756,239

101 Corridor 565,633

309 Corridor 336,180

302 Core 320,703

318 Local 129,693

315 Corridor 114,675

313 Local 69,818

311 Commuter 39,812

325 Local 36,601

323 Local 17,201

• BREEZE 323 total FY24 
ridership compared to 
adjacent routes in the 
surrounding area

• BREEZE 323 accounts for 
0.3% of total BREEZE 
ridership



Public Outreach

• Website, stop messaging, and onboard materials

• Legal notice published in English and Spanish 
newspapers

• Route ride-alongs:

• Wednesday, June 4 between 8:20am – 10:30am

• Tuesday, June 10 between 1:20pm – 3:30pm

• Thursday, June 12 between 11:20am – 1:30pm

5



Staff Recommendation

• Set Public Hearing for Proposed Elimination of BREEZE 
Route 323

6



Questions?

7


	Board Agenda 06_26_2025
	Board Minutes 05_15_2025
	001 Monthly IG Report - JUN
	002 Receive Monthly TOPR April 2025 - JUN
	003 Receive MSPBD Committee Chair Report - JUN
	004 FY2025-Q3 Investment Report - JUN
	005 Receive FY2025-Q3 Unaudited Quarterly Financial Report - JUN
	006 Quarterly Safety Report Q3 FY2025 - JUN
	007 Quarterly Security Report - JUN
	008 Q3 FY25-Customer Experience Report - JUN
	009 Contract Actions Q3 FY25 - JUNE
	010 Ratification of Contract Items for the Bus Transition - JUN
	011 MOU Accelerate Clean Public Transit Program - JUN
	012 Execute MOU ARC Bus Ops Transition - JUN
	013 BP 24 Mods Staff Report - JUN
	014 Adopt FY2026 Budget - JUN
	015 Set Public Hearing 323 - JUN
	Insert from: "015A 323 Public Hearing PPT - JUN REVISED.pdf"
	Slide 0: Set Public Hearing for Proposed Elimination of BREEZE Route 323
	Slide 1: Background
	Slide 2: BREEZE 323
	Slide 3: Average Daily  Boardings
	Slide 4: Ridership Comparison
	Slide 5: Public Outreach
	Slide 6: Staff Recommendation
	Slide 7: Questions?




